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EXTRACT FROM THE MINUTES OF THE ORDINARY AND EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL
MEETING HELD ON 21 MAY 2025

On 21 May in the year two thousand and twenty-five at 11.00 a.m., the sharehaldars of BMP Parbas
Personal Finance met at 143 Rue Anatole France, Levallols-Perret (92300) in the form of an Ordinary
and Extraordinary General Meeting, called by the Board of Direciors,

Tha Statutory Auditors had been given due notice of this General Meeting; apologies for absence had
been received from Deloitte & Associés and BDO.

Im the absence of the Chairman of the Board of Directors and in accordance with Article R. 225-100 of
the Franch Commercial Code, the shareholders of the Company elected Mr Jean-Frangois Simon as
chairman of their Ordinary and Extraordinary General Meeting (the “Chairman”).

The Chairman called BNP Paribas 1o act as scrutineer, in its capacity as the mamber of the meeting
holding the highest number of voles, BNP Paribas refused that function.

The Chairman called Anlin Participation 5 to act as scrutineer, as the member of the meeting with the
sacond largest number of votes and represented by Mr Timotheé Drezet, who sccapied that function
(the “Scrutineer”).

Ms Sonia Ohanessian was appoinied 1o act as secretary (the “Secretary”).
The ofiicers of the meeting had therefore baen appointed.
The following persons also attended the meating:

- Ms Adeline Le Coquil, Chief Financial Officer of BMP Paribas Persanal Fimance,
- Mr Stéphane Furlan, emploves representative, and
= M= Jubette Pelat, Corporata Lawyer.

Ms Florance Lamamy, amployas represeniative, was absent and excused.

The attendance sheet, cedified an accurale record by the officers of the meeting, showed that
shareholders holding all the shares with voling rights making up the share capital were present or
represented.

Accordingly, as the siatutory quorum requirement had been met, the shareholders at the General
Mesating could validly transact both ordinary and exiraordinary business.,

The Chﬂlrmﬂn submitted and made availabla to the members of the General Meeting:

a copy of the notice of the meeting sent to the sharehalders;

- acopy of the notices of the meeting sent to the Statutory Auditors;

- @& copy of the notices of the meeting sent to the Staff Representatives,
the attendanca sheet for the (General Meeting;
the proxy appointments for shareholders represenied by proxies;
a copy of the company’s aricles of association;
e Board of Direclors’ management report;

= the Corporate Governance Report, included in the management report;

- the additional report of the Board of Drectors dated 1 April 2025;

- the Statutory Auditors’ repans;

- the annual financial statements;




- the consolidated financial statements;

- fthe texi of the draft resolutions.
All the docurments required by law had been sant to the shareholders or made available to them at the
registered office, on the terms and for the period prescribed by law.

The Chairman noted that the Ordinary and Extraordinary General Meeting had bean called to transact
the business listed on the following agenda:

Within the competence of the Ordinary General Meeting:

1. The Board of Direclors’ report on the business activities of the company and the Group over
the 2024 financial year and the resolulions proposed to the shareholders: Statutory Auditors'
report on the annual inancial statements for the year ended 31 Dacember 2024;

2. Approval of the financial statements and appropriation of profithoss;

a Approval of the annual consolidated financial statements; Statutary Auditors’ report on the
annual consolidated financial statemeants for the year ended 31 December 2024,

B. Powers o complete statulory formalities.

At the Chairman's request, Ms Le Coquil gave a brief presentation and explanation of the Group's
business activities and earnings for the 2024 financial year, as set out in the Board of Direclors’
management report, and then reporled back to the shareholders on the work and reports of the
Statutory Auditors,

The Chairman of tha meeting then opened up the floor for discussion.

As there were no requests for explanations or comments from the shargholders, the Chairman
submitted the resolutions to the shareholders for their vote.

To be voted on as an Ordinary meeting

FIRET RESOLUTION
{REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS ON THE ACTIVITY OF THE COMPANY AND THE

GROUP DURING THE 2024 FINAMCIAL YEAR AND ON THE DECISIONS PROFOSED TO THE
MEETING; REPORT OF THE STATUTORY AUDITORS ON THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024)

The shareholders, after reviewing the Board of Directors’ report and vating in accordance with the
quorum and majority requirements for Ordinary General Meetings, approved the Board of Directors'
report on the Company's position and business activities over the 2024 financial year and all the
transactions referred to in the report,

The sharehalders acknowledged the Statutory Auditors’ reports prepared pursuant to Article L Z£25-
100 of the Franch Commercial Code (Code de Commerce) and accapled their findings.

The sharehaolders approved the annual financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
and recorded a loss of €399,544 649,50,

The shareholders approved the amount of non-tax-deductible expanses and charges under Article 38-
4 of the French General Tax Code (Code Général des Impdfs) amounting to €318,879 as at 31
Decamber 2024,

This resolution was put to a vote and adopted unanimously.




SECOND RESOLUTION
(APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND APPROPRIATION OF NET INCOME)

The shareholders, after reviewing the Board of Directors’ report and voting in accordance with the
guorum and majority requirements for Ordinary General Meetings, and noting that the Company had
generated a loss of €309 044 849 50 and had available retained earnings of €565,870,588.91,
resolved 1o appropriate ils loss as follows:

In euros

Mt loss = 354,544, 645.50
Retained eamings CEEEM.803.91
Total 166,535,339.41
Allcation

Legal resarva

Spedal reserve for original wark

Releazed Inwest Prov, Reserse

Dividend payment
Retained earmings in oredit 166,935,339.41
Total 166,935,339.41

After appropriation of income, the retained sarmings account will thus appear in credit in the amount of
€166,935,335.41.

It iz reiterated that no dividends were paid in respect of the 2022, 2023 and 2024 financial years.

This rezsolutlon was put to a vote and adopted unanimoushy,

THIRD RESCLUTION
(APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS: STATUTORY
AUDITORS' REPORT ON THE CONSOLIDATED ANMNUAL FINAMCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024)

The shareholders, afier reviewing the Board of Directors’ report and the Statutory Auditors” repon and
voling in accordance with the quorum and majority requirements for Ordinary General Mestings,
approved the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 Decamber 2024, showing a
loss of €116 million, with the BMNP Paribas Personal Finance Group's share amaunting to -£226
millicn at 31 December 2024.




EIGHTH RESOLUTION
(POWERS TO COMPLETE LEGAL FORMALITIES)

The shareholders granted full powers o the holder of an ariginal, copy or extract of the minutes of this
Ordinary and Extraordinary Ganeral Maeling 1o complete all statutory or administrative formalities and
all filing and public notice procedures required under the legislation in force for all the foregoing
rasolutions.

This resolution was put to a vote and unanimously adopted.

As there was no further business on the agenda, the meeting was adjourned by the Chairman.

Extract certified a true copy by the Secretary of the meeting

04 JUN 2025
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EXTRAIT DU PROCES-VERBAL DE L'ASSEMELEE GENERALE ORDINAIRE ET
EXTRAORDINAIRE DU 21 MAI 2025

L'an deux mil vingt cing, le 21 mai & 11h, kes actionnaires de BNP Paribas Personal Finance se sont
reunis au 143 rue Anatole France, & Levallois-Perret (82300), en Assemblée générale ordinaire el
Extraordinaire sur la convocation faite par ke Conseil dadministration.

Les Commissaires aux comples ont dté réguliéremeant convoqués a la présente Assemblde ; la Cabinet
Delpitte & Associes et ke Cabinet BDO, sont absents ef excusés,

En labsance du President du Conseil d'administration ef conformement & Farticle R. 225-100 du Code
de commerce, les actionnaires de [a Socidté disent M. Jean-Frangols SIMON en gqualité de président
la présente Assemblée géndrale ordinaire et extraordinaire (le « Président =],

Le Président appelle au bureau en qualité de scrutateur BMP Paribas en qualité de membre de
l'assemblée disposant du plus grand nomibre da voix. Cette derniére rafusa cette fonction.

La Président appelle au bureau en qualité de scrutateur Antin Participation 5, en gualité de deuxieme
mambre de 'aszemblée disposant du plus grand nombre de volx et représentds par Monsieur Timotheé
DREZET, qui accepte cette fonction (le « Scrutateur »).

Mme Sonia OHANESSIAN est designée comme secrétaire (la « Secrétaire =),
Le bureau est ainsi constitué,
Assiste également & ka réunion ;

= Mme Adeline LE COQUIL, Directrice financikére de BNP Paribas Personal Finance,
- M, Stéphana FURLAN, représentant des salariés, el
= Mme Juliette PELAT, Juriste corporate.

Mme Florence LAMAMY  représentante des salariés, est absente et excusde.

La feuille de présence cerifibe exacte par les membres du bureau permet de consfater que les
aclionnaires possédant la totalité des aclions ayant ke droit de vote et compaosant le capital social, sont
préasents ou représentes.

L'Assemblée, réunissant le guorum requis par la loi, peul donc valablement délibérer en la forme
ordinaire et extraordinaire.

Le F'réslu:lant d&pusa sur le bureau et met 4 la disposition de FAssemblée :
la copie de |a lattra da convocation das actionnaires |
la cople des letires de convocation adressées aux G-ummalres aux comples ; E
la copie des letires de convocation adress€es aux Représentants du Personngl ; i
la fewille de présance de NAssemblée ;
les pouvoirs des actionnaires représentés par les mandataires ;
un axemplaire des statuts de la sociéts ;
= lerappor de gestion du Conseil & Adminisiration ;
- le rapport sur |2 Gouvernement d'Entreprise, inclus dans le rapport de gestion ;
- |erapport complémentaire du Conzell d'administration en date du 1er avril 2025 ; & ==

= les rapporis des Commissaires aux comptes ; B ram.

- les comples annuals |




= les comples consolides |

- letexte des résolutions proposées,
L'enzemble des documenis prévus par la boi ont &ié adressas ou tenus A la disposition des actionnaires
au sigge social, dans les conditions et pendant be délai ficé par la loi,

Il rappelle que FAssamblée générale ordinaire et extraordinaire a été convoqués a l'effet de délibérar
sur l'ordre du jour suivant ;

De la compétence de I'Assemblée générale ordinaire :

1. Rapport du Conseil d'Administration sur I'activité de la société et du Groupe pendant 'exercice
2024 et sur les décisions proposées a MAssemblée ; Rappont des Commissaires aux Comptas
sUr les comples annuels au 31 décembre 2024 ;

p Approbation des compies annuels et affectation du résultal ;

3. Approbation des comptes annuels congolidés ; Rapport des Commissaires aux Comples sur
les comptes annuels consolidés au 31 décembre 2024 ;

8. Pouvairs an vue de l'accomplissement des formalitas [egales.

A la demands du Président, Mme LE COQUIL présente et commente brigvement lactivite el les
résultats de Nexercice 2024 du Groupe retracés dans ke rapport de gestion du Conseil d'administration
puis rand compte des travaux el rapports des Commissaires aux comptes,

Le Président de séance déclare ensuite la discussion oumerte.

Aucune demande d'explication ou observalion n'étant formulée par les actionnaires, le Prasident
soume les résoluthons au vote des actionnaires.

A titre ordinaire

PREMIERE RESOLUTION

(RAPPORT DU CONSEIL D'ADMINISTRATION SUR L'ACTIVITE DE LA SOCIETE ET DU GROUPE
PENDANT L'EXERCICE 2024 ET SUR LES DECISIONS PROPOSEES A L'ASSEMBLEE ; RAPPORT
DES COMMISSAIRES AUX COMPTES SUR LES COMPTES ANMUELS AU 31 DECEMBRE 2024)

L'assamblée géndrale, connaissance prise du rapport du Consed d'administration el staluant aux
conditions de quorum et de majorité requises pour les Assemblées générales ordinaires, approuve le
rapport du Consell d'administration sur la situation et 'activite de la Société pandant l'exercice 2024 et
toutes les operations gui iy sont mentionnsas.

Elle prend acte des rapporis des Commissaires aux Comptes établis en application des articles L. 225-
100 du Code de commerce doni elle acceple les conclusions.

L'Assamblée génédrale approuve les comptes annuels armétés au 31 décembre 2024 el constate
Fexistence d'un résultat negatif da 380 944 649,50 euros.

L'Assemblée générale approuve le montant des dépenses et charges sompluaires au titre de I’ﬂru_r:le A
39-4 du Code général des impdis s'&levant & 918 879 euros au 31 décembre 2024, ik

"-.'_

Cette résolution mise aux voix est adoptée & I'unanimité.

DEUXIEME RESOLUTION 1y
{(APPROBATION DES COMPTES ANMNLUELS ET AFFECTATION DU RESULTAT) b et

& ¥
L'Assemblée géndrale, connaissance prise du rapport du Conseil d'administration et statuant e, 5%
conditions de quorum et de majorité requises pour las Assemblées générales ordinaires, constatant

L=



l'existence d'un résultat social négatif de 359 544 649,50 euros &l d'un report & nouveau bénéficiaire
disponible de 566 879 988,91 euros, décide d'affecter ces résultats de la fagon suivantes :

En &uros

Faria Nette E - 389 041 £48,50
Report & nduvesu S 585 5?:5—53-5;311
Total 156 935 339,41
Emphei

Raserve legala

— - — = = =TT

Rézerce sastiale Euvre ariginale

iHESEI"‘l“E Frov Invess Lioeree

e e e =TT

versemeni de Dividendes .
A S T L R T L T e T e e T T T T N T O T I

Reoort anouwveady Crediteur 166935 339,41

S e

Tatal 1646935 339 a1

Aprés affectation des résultats, le compie de Repor & Mouveau apparaitra ainsi créditeur pour un
mantant de 166 935 339,41 euros.

Il est rappelé qu'aucun dividende sur le résultat des exercices 2022, 2023 et 2024 n'a éld versé.

Cette résclution mise aux volx est adoptée a I'unanimité.

TROISIEME RESOLUTION
(APPROBATION DES COMPTES ANNUELS CONSOLIDES ; RAPPORT DES COMMISSAIRES AUX
COMPTES SUR LES COMPTES ANNUELS CONSOLIDES AU 31 DECEMBRE 2024)

L'Assemblée générale, connaissanca prise du rapport du Consedl d'administration &t du rapport des
Commissaires aux Comptes et statuant aux conditions de quomum et de majorité requises pour les
Assemblées générales ordinaires, approuve les comples consolidés arrétés au 31 décembre 2024 qui
font apparaitre un résullat négatif de 116 millions d'euros, la part du Groupe BNP Parbas Personal
Finance s'établissant & -226 millions d'ewros au 31 décamibra 20249,

Cette résolution mise aux voix est adoptée a I'unanimité.

HUITI
(POUVOIRS EN VUE DE L'ACCOMPLISSEMENT DES FORMALITES LEGALES)

L'Assembléa générale donne lous pouvoirs au porteur d'un original, d'une copie ou d'un extrait du
procés-verbal de la présente Assemblée générale Ordinaire et axraordinaire pour affactuer loutes |es
formalités légales ou administratives et faire tous dépdts et publicité prévus par la légiskation en vigueur
ralatifs & l'ensemble des résolutions qui précédent.

Cette résolution mise aux voix est adoptée a I"unanimité.




- o

Aucun point n'étant plus & Nordre du jour, la séance ast leviée par le Présidant.

Exirait cerlifié conforme par le Secrétaire de séance

04 JUIN 2023
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PERSONAL FINANCE

. BNP PARIBAS
*‘:\"

2024 ANNUAL MANAGEMENT REPORT

I- ACTIVITY
1.A - Changes in consolidation scope

In 2024, the most significant changes in consolidation scope were:

> The sale of 80% of BNP Paribas Personal Finance's stake in Cetelem SA de CV in Mexico to
Banco Inbursa on 27 March 2024. The BNP Paribas Personal Finance Group lost exclusive
control of this entity but kept a significant influence. This partial disposal is accompanied by an
agreement for the future disposal of the residual interest and leads to the recognition of a
receivable;

» The sale, on 2 April 2024, of the business of the BNP Paribas Personal Finance Bratislava
Branch SK in Slovakia;

» The dilution of the BNP Paribas Group's stake in BoON BNPP Consumer Finance Co Ltd in
China with the entry of a new shareholder via a reserved capital increase in the third quarter of
2024. The BNP Paribas Group's stake was reduced from 33.08% to 31.72% and that of BNP
Paribas Personal Finance from 1.8% to 1.73%, with the entity remaining consolidated under the
equity method for the BNP Paribas Personal Finance Group at 31 December 2024;

> The sale of Magyar Cetelem Bank Zrt in Hungary by BNP Paribas Personal Finance to the
Cofidis Group in the third quarter of 2024;

» The deconsolidation of Opel Finance SA in Switzerland in the fourth quarter of 2024 due to
thresholds.

1. B - Highlights

The main highlights of 2024 were as follows:

= Finalisation of the reorganisation of the business model: geographical refocusing of activities through
the sale or run-off of entities and the restructuring of corporate functions

= Signature, renewal or extension of partnerships with major players in several of BNP Paribas Personal
Finance's key markets, in the retail sector and in mobility, including for example:

» The launch of the partnership with Orange in Spain and France;

» The new financial partnership between Cetelem Spain and Smart;
» BNP Personal Finance UK's new financial partnership with car manufacturer Chery;
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» Cetelem Spain’s new offering and Fintech Raisin;
Cetelem Spain has teamed up with German fintech Raisin to offer a new Cetelem interest-
bearing account. Customers can subscribe to Cetelem deposit accounts via the raisin.es
platform.

= Commitment to the energy transition:

> Joint investment by Arval and BNP Paribas Personal Finance in Shift4Good, the largest
independent venture capital fund dedicated to decarbonising the transport sector;

» Ambition to maintain leadership in financing energy-efficient home renovation and double
production volume to reach €5 billion of green loans in Europe by 2025;

> On the occasion of its 20th anniversary, donation to the Réseau Eco Habitat association by
Domofinance, to contribute to the financing of six energy renovation projects for families
living in extreme poverty.

= Development and strengthening of the use of new technologies and new solutions:

> Optimisation and acceleration of credit granting processes thanks to the integration of Open
Banking functionalities into the customer journey;

» Following in the footsteps of Spain and Italy, deployment in France of the unique multi-
financing technology within a single basket.

1. C - Economic environment

2024 was marked by moderate growth in the European Union economy. The process of disinflation that began
in 2023 continued, despite a slight pick-up in inflation at the end of 2024.

= GDP - based on seasonally and calendar adjusted quarterly data - rose by 0.7% in the Eurozone and
0.9% in the European Union in 2024, compared with 0.4% and 0.5% respectively in 2023.

= The seasonally-adjusted unemployment rate for the Eurozone was 6.3%, down from 6.5% in
December 2023; the EU rate of 5.9% was also down from 6.0% in December 2023. After remaining
stable for the first three quarters, the unemployment rate fell slightly in the fourth quarter.

= The year-on-year inflation rate in the Eurozone stood at 2.4% in December 2024, compared to 2.9%
in December 2023. The year-on-year inflation rate in the European Union it was 2.7% in December
2024, compared to 3.4% in December 2023.

= New vehicle registrations were up +0.8% in 2024 compared with 2023, when production was affected
by component shortages. Electric vehicles now account for 13.6% of the market and hybrid vehicles
30.9%.

Concerning BNP Paribas Personal Finance's main markets:

= In France, GDP growth increased by an average of +1.1% over the year compared to 2023, with a rise
in the first three quarters followed by a slight decline in the last quarter of 2024. The unemployment
rate of 7.8% in December was up from 7.5% a year earlier and rose mainly in the fourth quarter.
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France posted year-on-year inflation rate of 1.8% in December 2024. New vehicle registrations fell
by -3.2% in 2024. BNP Paribas Personal Finance saw its loan outstandings in the French market
increase slightly in 2024.

» In Italy, GDP rose by an average of 0.5% over the year compared with 2023. The unemployment rate
of 6.2% in December was down from 7.1% a year earlier, and fell virtually throughout 2024 Italy's
annual inflation rate reached 1.4% in December 2024, one of the lowest in the European Union. New
vehicle registrations fell by -0.5% in 2024. BNP Paribas Personal Finance saw its loan outstandings
in the Italian market grow steadily over the year.

* In Spain, GDP rose by an average of 3.1% over the year compared with 2023. The unemployment
rate of 10.6% in December was down from 11.9% a year earlier, having fallen throughout the year.
In December 2024, Spain posted an annual inflation rate of 2.8%. New vehicle registrations rose by
+7.1% in 2024. BNP Paribas Personal Finance saw its loan outstandings in the market grow over the
year.

1.D - BNP Paribas Personal Finance activity (management data)

In 2024, new financing totalled €33 billion, up +8.3% from 2023.

= New consumer loans (€33 billion) grew by +8.4%.
» There was a sharp rise in vehicle financing, which accounted for €13 billion in 2024 (39% of
the total, compared with 35% in 2023), up +21.6% on 2023, mainly as a result of the new
Stellantis partnership signed in April 2023. At the same time, new consumer loans excluding
cars came in at €20 billion in 2024, up +1.3% from 2023.
= New mortgage loans were insignificant at €20 million.

At €86 billion, loan outstandings ) increased by +1.0% from 2023.

= Consumer credit outstandings (€81 billion) increased by +2.2% from 2023.
= Mortgage loan outstandings (€6 billion) fell by -13.4%.

(*) Outstandings include vendor financing outstandings

1T - SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

Details of the information relating to subsidiaries and associates are provided in section “I.1.A - CHANGES
IN CONSOLIDATION SCOPE”
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III - CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE BNP PARIBAS PERSONAL
FINANCE GROUP

In 2024, operating income was €119 million, compared with an operating loss of €398 million in 2023.

Net banking income totalled €3,345 million, down 7%.

General operating expenses were €2,101 billion, down 18%.

The cost of risk totalled €1,125 million, down 22%.

The share of earnings of equity-method entities was a loss of €16 million, compared with an income of €4
million in 2023.

Net gains on other non-current assets represent an income of €65 million, compared with an expense of €377
million in 2023.

There were no changes in goodwill in 2024 and 2023.

After deducting corporate income tax of -€284 million and minority interests of +€110 million, net income
attributable to equity holders was a loss of €226 million, compared with a loss of €870 million in 2023.

At 31 December 2024, total balance sheet assets were €95.4 billion, down 3% from 31 December 2023.
Receivables due from customers totalled €81.9 billion, down 3% and receivables from credit institutions
totalled €6 billion, down 1% on the assets side, while payables to credit institutions amounted to €67.7 billion
(down 4%), debt securities €4.3 billion, down €2.1 billion or 34%, and shareholders' equity attributable to the
Group, including profit for the 2024 financial year, €8.8 billion on the liabilities side.

IV - PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In 2024, the parent company financial statements of BNP Paribas Personal Finance including its branches
(Czech Republic, Slovakia, Austria, Romania and Portugal), showed a net loss of €400 million.

The current loss before tax was €299 million and comprises:
= Operating loss, which was €304 million, comprising net banking income of €1,097 million, general
operating expenses of €1,009 million and a cost of risk of €392 million.
= Losses on non-current assets of €5 million.

Total balance sheet assets amounted to €27.8 billion.

On the assets side, receivables due from customers totalled €16.9 billion, while receivables from credit
institutions and bonds and other fixed-income securities amounted to €5.5 billion. Investments and equity
securities held for long-term investment and investments in subsidiaries and affiliates represent €4.4 billion.
On the liabilities side, amounts due to credit institutions totalled €18.7 billion.

Equity, including profit for the year, amounted to €6 billion.

In accordance with Article R. 225-102 of the French Commercial Code, the five-year results table is appended
to this report (Appendix 1).

The total amount of luxury expenses and charges referred to in Article 39-4 of the French general tax code is
€918,879 and corresponds only to the portion of non-deductible rentals from leased vehicles.

V - SIGNIFICANT EVENTS SINCE THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR

On 30 January 2025, the Spanish Supreme Court handed down an unfavourable ruling on the aspects of
transparency. This post-balance sheet event was covered by an additional provision in Banco Cetelem's local
financial statements in addition to the existing provision and was not included in BNP Paribas PF's
consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2024.
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VI - MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL RISKS

Financial risk management and the company’s exposure to interest rate, credit, liquidity, cash flow and foreign
exchange risks are described in Note 4 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements of the BNP Paribas
Personal Finance Group.

VII - PERSPECTIVES

In the current economic, geopolitical and regulatory environment, BNP Paribas Personal Finance continues to
transform its activities in order to stimulate growth and profitability through:

Continued implementation of the geographical refocusing of activities;

Continued selectivity in granting loans and controlling the cost of risk;

The development of major multi-country partnerships and the pursuit of the auto loan partnership
strategy;

A transformation of the operating model (finalisation of the restructuring plan in France and
internationally);

Continued technological and industrial transformation (setting up shared infrastructures and using
Artificial Intelligence to optimise processes).

VIII - TERMS OF PAYMENT

Under “Other miscellaneous liabilities”, BNP Paribas Personal Finance’s trade payables amounted to €12,760
thousand at 31 December 2024 and break down as follows, in accordance with Article D.441-6 of the French
Commercial Code.

Invoices received but not settled on the closing date of the financial year the due date of which has passed

0 day Total
(indicative) 1to 30 days 31to 60 days 61 to 90 days 91 days or more (1 day and more)
Number of invoices concerned 74| 295
Total amou nt of invoices in 2,302 1,245, 1,759 436 7,018] 10,458|
[question including tax (in €k)
Percentage of total purchases for 0.43% 0.23% 0.33% 0.08% 1.32% 1.96%

the financial year, including tax

The reference terms of payment used are the legal terms.

This information does not include banking and related transactions, since BNP Paribas Personal Finance
considers that they do not fall within the scope of the information that needs to be provided.

Accounts receivables that fall outside the scope of banking and related transactions principally constitute
receivables from BNP Paribas Group entities.

Note 6.B to the parent company financial statements on the maturities of assets and liabilities provides
information on the residual term of receivables and payables with BNP Paribas Personal Finance’s customers.
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IX - RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT ACTIVITIES OF BNP PARIBAS PERSONAL FINANCE

In accordance with the provisions of Article L. 232-1 of the French Commercial Code, the Board discloses
that the Company did not undertake any significant research and development activities during the past
financial year.

X - INFORMATION ON CORPORATE OFFICERS

Composition of the Board of Directors

Thierry Laborde has served as Chairman of the Board since 17 May 2021.
At 31 December 2024, the members of the Board of Directors were as follows:

= Thierry Laborde, Chairman of the Board of Directors,
=  Francine Calvet,

®  Charlotte Chevalier

= Charlotte Dennery,

= Sylvie David-Chino,

=  Hugues Maisonnier,

=  Bruno Salmon,

= Caroline Tcheckhoff,

=  Alain Van Groenendael.

Executive management

Since 28 November 2023, the Company's executive management has been ensured by Charlotte Dennery,
assisted by Vincent Sussfeld as Deputy Chief Executive Officer.

XI - MANDATES OF THE STATUTORY AUDITORS

Note that the company’s auditing is entrusted to two Statutory Auditors:

= Deloitte et Associés, as joint statutory auditor represented by Laurence Dubois, for a period of six
financial years, i.e. until the end of the General Meeting called in 2030 to approve the financial
statements for the 2029 financial year.

= BDO Paris, as joint statutory auditor represented by Benjamin Izarie, for a period of six financial years,
i.e. until the end of the General Meeting called in 2029 to approve the financial statements for the 2028
financial year.

XII - DECISIONS PUT FORWARD AT THE MEETING

Approval of the financial statements - Appropriation of net income

If the company financial statements are approved by adopting the first resolution, the Board proposes, in the
second resolution, the following appropriation of the company's net income, plus retained earnings:
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In euros

Net loss (399,944,649.50)

Retained earnings 566,879,988.91
T
Total 166,935,339.41
/Allocation

Legal reserve

Special reserve for original work

Released Invest Prov. Reserve

Dividend payment

Retained earnings in credit 166,935,339.41

Total 166,935,339.41

It is proposed that the 2024 loss be appropriated to retained earnings.
Note that no dividends were paid in respect of the 2022, 2023 and 2024 financial years.

The BNP Paribas Personal Finance sub-group's solvency ratio at the end of December 2024, after taking into
account 2024 profit, was 10.66% in Core Tier 1 and 15.02% in total ratio.

In their report, the Statutory Auditors will set out their assessments of the parent company and consolidated
financial statements.

Under the third resolution, shareholders are asked to approve the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2024, which show a consolidated loss of -€116 million, with a share attributable to BNP
Paribas Personal Finance's amounting to -€226 million at 31 December 2024.

In the fourth resolution, the Board asks shareholders to take note of the special report of the Statutory Auditors
provided for by Article L.225-38 of the French Commercial Code.

The purpose of the fifth resolution is to vote on the overall remuneration package for the persons referred to
in Article L. 511-71 of the French Monetary and Financial Code.

The purpose of the sixth resolution is to approve an increase in the annual remuneration package allocated to
the Board of Directors.

The purpose of the seventh resolution, on an exceptional basis, is to renew the authorisation granted by the
General Meeting to the Board of Directors on 14 May 2024 to increase the share capital by up to €300,000,000,

with shareholders’ preferential subscription rights being maintained.

For information purposes, in accordance with the last paragraph of Article L.225-129-6 of the French
Commercial Code, as the parent company BNP Paribas SA has put in place a capital increase mechanism from

Classification: Internal



which the company's employees may benefit, the General Meeting is not required to vote on a draft resolution
to carry out a capital increase reserved for employees.

Finally, the purpose of the last resolution is to grant all necessary powers to the filings and publications
prescribed by law.

The Board asks that the resolutions to be put to the vote be adopted.

XIII - SHARE CAPITAL - DISTRIBUTION

Transaction involving the share capital

Capital increase of 27 November 2024

In accordance with the authorisation granted by the Combined General Meeting of 14 May 2024 in its tenth
resolution, the Board of Directors meeting of 27 November 2024 decided to carry out a capital increase with
shareholders’ preferential subscription rights maintained, for a gross amount (including issue premium) of
€500,000,000, by issuing 4,777,923 new shares, at a unit price of €104.65, i.e. with an issue premium rounded
to €97.65 per share and a total issue premium of €466,554,539.

As a result of the capital increase, the share capital of BNP Paribas Personal Finance was increased from
€583,834,454 to €617,279,915, representing a nominal capital increase of €33,445,461.

Allocation of share capital

At 31 December 2024, the Company's share capital stood at €617,279,915, divided into 88,182,845 shares
with a par value of €7 each.

In accordance with the provisions of article [.233-13 of the French Commercial Code, note that at
31 December 2024 BNP Paribas SA held 99.99% of the Company's share capital.

Treasury shares

The Company does not hold any treasury shares.

Transactions carried out by the company on its own shares

None

XTIV — SUSTAINABILITY ISSUES AND SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

Information on the BNP Paribas Personal Finance consolidated group's sustainability issues is prepared and
published by BNP Paribas SA, the company that controls BNP Paribas Personal Finance.

BNP Paribas Personal Finance is exempt from having to draw up its sustainability report in accordance with
the provisions of the CSRD (Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive), transposed into French law by
order no. 2023-1142 of 6 December 2023, since it is included in the scope of consolidation of BNP Paribas
SA. The registered office of BNP Paribas SA is located at 16 Boulevard des Italiens, 75009 Paris (France).
BNP Paribas SA is subject to sustainability reporting under the CSRD Directive from 2025 (for the 2024
financial year). Please find below the link to the consolidated management report of BNP Paribas SA which
includes the report on sustainability information and the certification report on this report issued by the
statutory auditors.
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BNP Paribas website link: https://invest.bnpparibas/en/document/universal-registration-document-annual-
financial-report-2024-pdf

XV - INACTIVE BANK ACCOUNTS

These inactive bank accounts relate to savings products.
At 31 December 2024:

- Number of inactive accounts: 1,969.
- Total amount of deposits and assets recorded in these accounts: €375,735.34

- Number of accounts whose deposits and assets are deposited with the CDC: 466.
- Total amount of deposits and assets deposited with the CDC: EUR 62,552.06

XVI - REPORT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

In accordance with the last paragraph of Article L. 225-37 of the French Commercial Code, the Board of
Directors has prepared this report on the corporate governance of the Company, which is presented in a specific
section of the Management Report for the financial year ended 31 December 2024.

LIST OF POSITIONS HELD AND FUNCTIONS CARRIED OUT IN ALL COMPANIES BY EACH
COMPANY OFFICER DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR

As required by Article L. 225-37-4, 1° of the French Commercial Code, a list of positions held and functions
carried out is included in Appendix 2 to this report.

STATUTORY AUDIT - REGULATED AGREEMENTS

You are invited to read the special report of the Statutory Auditors.

Pursuant to Article L. 225-37-4, 2° of the French Commercial Code, the Board notes that no regulated
agreements as referred to in Article L. 225-38 of the French Commercial Code were entered into during the
past year.

SUMMARY OF DELEGATIONS OF AUTHORITY GRANTED TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS FOR
CAPITAL INCREASES

As required by Article L. 225-37-4, 3° of the French Commercial Code, the delegations of authority granted
to the Board of Directors to carry out capital increases and the use thereof are set out in Appendix 3.

CHOICE OF MANAGEMENT PROCEDURE

In accordance with the European banking principles applicable to credit institutions, from which derives the
principle of separation of functions transposed to the provisions of Article L. 225-37-4, 4° of the French
Commercial Code, the Board points out that the functions of Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief
Executive Officer are separated in the Company.
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Appendix 1

RESULTS OF THE LAST FIVE FINANCIAL YEARS OF BNP Paribas Personal Finance SA

Financial position at year-end

la.) Share capital (in euros)

b) Number of shares issued

ic) Number of bonds convertible into shares

546,601,552

78,085,936

546,601,552

78,085,936

546,601,552

78,085,936

583,834,454

83,404,922

617,279,915

88,182,845

Comprehensive income (loss) from operations in euros

la) Revenue excluding taxes

b) Profit before tax,
depreciation, amortisation and provisions

ic) Corporate income tax

d) Profit after tax,
depreciation, amortisation and provisions

le) Amount of distributed profits (1)

2,600,040,107|

675,011,153

34,197,865

228,862,439

1,825,031,878|

147,880,488

-122,108,613]

-206,840,099

2,275,302,100]

561,386,620

75,925,232

243,135,968

2,764,505,895

-148,991,712|

-232,921,646|

-473,854,180|

2,715,858,529

112,907,681

100,636,997}

-399,943,808|

Earnings per share in euros

la) Profit after tax,
but before depreciation, amortisation and provisions

b) Profit after tax
[depreciation, amortisation and provisions

ic) Dividend per share (1)

8.21

3.46)

-2.65|

8.16)

-3.11

1.01

-5.68|

0.14]

Staff

la) Number of employees as at 31 December
b) Amount of payroll
ic) Total benefits paid during the year (social

security contributions, company benefit
schemes, efc.) (in euros)

8,455

336,962,127,

127,174,719

8,136

339,128,471

133,730,869

7,731

341,864,626

134,355,994

5,875

335,926,255

150,613,890

5,043

324,374,336

143,475,625

(1) subject to approval by the General Meeting of 21 May 2025

10

Classification: Internal



Appendix 2

List of positions held and functions carried out
by BNP Paribas Personal Finance's corporate officers as at 31 December 2024

CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND DIRECTOR:

Thierry Laborde Deputy Chief Executive Officer of BNP Paribas -
Head of Sales, Personal Banking & Services

(As Chairman of the Board of Directors and Director, dates of appointments: 14 May 2024, current terms of
office expire: May 2027)

In France:

= Director of BNP Paribas Personal Finance and Chairman of the Board of Directors - Member of the
Remuneration Committee,

= Director of Arval Service Lease,

= Director of BNP Paribas Lease Group,

= Manager of SCI Taro & Associés - family SCI,

= SCI Lafleur

Outside France:
= Director of EPI Company (Belgium),

= Director of BNL (Italy),
= Director of BNP Paribas Leasing Solutions (Luxembourg).

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND DIRECTOR

Charlotte Dennery

(In her capacity as Chief Executive Officer, date of first appointment: 18 May 2021; renewed on 15 May 2023;
end of current term of office: May 2026 - As director, date of first appointment: 28 November 2019;
reappointed on 18 May 2020 and 15 May 2023; current term of office expires: May 2026)

In France:

= Chief Executive Officer and Director of BNP Paribas Personal Finance,

= Director of Arval Service Lease,

= Director and Chairman of the Board of Directors of Stellantis Bank SA - Member of the
Appointments Committee - Member of the Remuneration Committee (terms of office expires on
31 May 2026),

"  French Association of Finance Companies (AFS) Vice-Chairman, Member of the Executive
Committee and of the Board,

= Manager of SCI Chaignolles - family SCI.

11
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Outside France:
= Director of Findomestic S.p.a (ltaly).

DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER:

Vincent Sussfeld
(Date first appointed: 28 November 2023; current term of office expires: May 2026)
In France:

= Deputy Chief Executive Officer of BNP Paribas Personal Finance,
= Director of FLOA.

Outside France:
= Director of Cetelem Business Consulting (Shanghai, China).
Outside the BNP Paribas Group:

= Director of UGC.

DIRECTORS:
Sylvie David-Chino Head of Professional Ethics & Clients Tax Regulations Compliance BNP
Paribas
(Date first appointed: 24 May 2016; reappointed on 14 May 2024, current term of office expires: May 2027)
In France:

= Director of BNP Paribas Personal Finance - Member of the Risk Committee

Hugues Maisonnier Head of Risk, Domestic Market - BNP Paribas (retired on
1January 2024) - Independent Director* since
1 January 2024

(Date of appointment: 15 March 2022; reappointed on 14 May 2024; current term of office expires: May 2027)
In France:

= Director of BNP Paribas Personal Finance - Chairman of the Risk Committee,

= Member of the Supervisory and Audit Committees of Financiére des Paiements Electroniques

Nickel,
= Manager of SCI La Frégate d’llkirch - family SCI.

12
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Charlotte Chevalier Deputy Chief Executive Officer BNP Paribas Cardif
(Date of co-option: 22 March 2024, reappointed on 14 May 2024; current term of office expires: May 2027)
In France:
e CEO of BNPP CARDIF EMEA (in charge of CFC coverage) since October 2023, member of the Executive
Committee.
e Director of BNP Paribas Personal Finance

Outside France:

= Director of Emeklilik,
= Director of Hayat
= Director of Sigurta

Francine Calvet HR Manager for BNP Paribas Senior Executives (retired on
1 March 2022) - Independent Director* (since
1 March 2022)

(Date of appointment: 15 September 2021; reappointed on 14 May 2024; current term of office expires:
May 2027)
In France:
= Director of BNP Paribas Personal Finance - Member of the Appointments Committee - Member of
the Remuneration Committee,
= Director of BNP Paribas Asset Management Holding - Member of the Remuneration Committee -
Member of the Appointments Committee.

Bruno Salmon Independent Director *

(Date first appointed: 29 October 2003; reappointed on 14 May 2024; current term of office expires:
May 2027)

In France:
= Director of BNP Paribas Personal Finance - Member of the Appointments Committee - Member of
the Remuneration Committee,
= Director of VICAT - Member of the Remuneration Committee - Member of the CSR Committee,

= Director and Vice-Chairman of ADIE (association),
= Director of ALGOAN (SAS),

= Director of ADMICAL (association),
=  Manager of SCI Beauregard

Caroline Tchekhoff Independent Director*
(Date first appointed: 27 August 2020; reappointed on 15 May 2023; current term of office expires: May 2026)
13
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In France:

= Director of BNP Paribas Personal Finance - Member of the Risk Committee,
®=  Chairwoman of Satya SAS.

Alain Van Groenendael Chief Executive Officer of Arval Service Lease

(Date first appointed: 12 May 2009; reappointed on 14 May 2024; current term of office expires: May 2027)

In France:
= Director of BNP Paribas Personal Finance - Member of the Appointments Committee,

= Chief Executive Officer of Arval Service Lease,
= Director of BNP Paribas Lease Group SA,

* Economic independence is understood here to mean that the person concerned does not hold his/her main position
within one of the entities of the BNP Paribas Group or that he/she does not have an employment contract with one of
the entities of the BNP Paribas Group.
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Annex 3:

Summary table of delegations of authority granted by the shareholders at the General Meeting

Use of
Date of the Contents of the delegation Duration delegation
General
Meeting
The shareholders at the General Meeting, having reviewed the Board of Directors'
report and voting under the quorum and majority conditions required for The
. Extraordinary General Meetings, authorise the Board of Directors, for a period of delegatiqn of
Ordlnary' and eighteen months beginning on the date of this Meeting, to decide on the basis of its 18 authority
Extraordinary ) . ) . . ) months | granted to the
General own deliberations, to increase the share capital on one or more occasions and, at its Board of
Meeting of sole discretion, to increase the share capital by a maximum nominal amount of Directors by
€300,000,000: the Combined
14 May 2024 General
- through the issuance of new shares to be paid up in cash or offset against Meeting of 14
receivables, with or without a share premium, with preferential subscription May 2024 to

rights for existing shareholders, who will have the right to subscribe the new
shares on both a reducible and non-reducible basis;

- through the incorporation into the share capital of part or all of the existing
reserves or share premiums, the distribution of bonus shares or the increase
in the par value of existing shares;

- by simultaneously carrying out both the above-mentioned procedures;

The shareholders at the General Meeting decide to maintain their preferential right
to subscribe for new shares issued under this delegation in favour of BNP PARIBAS
SA, and delegates to the Board of Directors the task of determining the number of
new shares to be issued up to a maximum nominal amount of €300,000,000 for all
capital increases that may be carried out pursuant to this delegation of authority.

The shareholders at the General Meeting grant full authority to the Board of Directors
to carry out such capital increase(s), subject to the aforementioned limits and in
keeping with the timeframe and procedures to be set by the Board itself, in
accordance with the law and the articles of association, such authority to include:

- setting the number of new shares to be issued and the date on which their
holders become entitled to receive dividends or the amount by which the
nominal value of the existing shares will be increased and, in the latter case,
determining the date on which the increase in the nominal value will be
effective for the purposes of dividend payments;

- setting, in the event that shares are issued in consideration for payment in
cash, the issue price as well as all dates, deadlines and conditions for
exercising any subscription rights restricted, on a preferential basis, to
owners of existing shares, collecting subscriptions for new shares and
payments relating thereto, distributing the remaining balance of the capital
increase if it is not subscribed for in full, possibly limiting the capital increase
to the amount of subscriptions received on condition that at least three
quarters of the amount of the approved capital increase is subscribed for,

the Board of
Directors to
carry out one
or more
capital
increases was
used by the
Board on 27
November
2024. The
terms of this
transaction
are detailed in
the annual
report
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provided that the Board of Directors may make use of the options provided
for above or only some of those options in the order that it chooses;

- deducting amounts from existing reserves and the share premium account
and allocating such amounts to the legal reserve up to a maximum of 10% of
the share capital that is thereby increased;

- making consequential amendments to the articles of association.

In general, deciding on and carrying out any operations or formalities, and taking all
necessary steps to complete the capital increase(s).

This delegation of authority cancels and replaces the delegation of authority granted
to the Board of Directors by the shareholders at the General Meeting held on 15 May
2023.

16
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PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31
DECEMBER 2024

Interest income 24 1,664,384 1838638
Interesl expense 2.4 (1,408,081} (1,219,214}
Incame fam laasing and simlar iransactions 20,652 30,709
Expenses on leasing and samilar ransactons {25 407) (&6,.315)
Income on equites and athar variable instruments 2.8 214,782 446,017
Commission income Fi o 84,237 §F 46T
Coemmisskon expansa 2C {24, 800) (34.426)
et gains on irading accouni securiles &0 B4 1,071
Met gains on secudlies available lar sale 20 (1) .
Crhar banking income 2= 403 4T2 550,601
Ciher banking expernses 2E {180,037} (16,728)
MNET BANKING INCOME 1,097,403 1,467 820
Salaries and employes benefil expenses 5 [420,673) (TUBBTT)
Ciher adransiralive expenses (532,960 {B0B.531)
Deprecialion, amorisalion and impairment on

inlangibde assels and propary, plant and equipmant (55.966) (F5.743)
GROSS OPERATING INCOME BT,.TE4 36,607
Cezt of risk 2F (331,883) (558,086)
OPERATING INCOME [304,058) {322,375}
el gains of lsses on disposals af long-lenm

invealments 20G 5,044 (200,651)
it allocations 1o or revarsals of regulaled provisions (253) 16,455
INCOME BEFORE TAX [255,308) {T0&,7Ta)
Exiraprdinary result - -
Corparale income 1ax ZH (100,635) 237,921
NET INCOME (395,044) [473,854)
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BALANCE SHEET AT 31 DECEMBER 2024

l'-.
"

-

3
-

K.

nlfousandsoteuros ~ © | Noles | 31 Decemoer 024 | i December20s
A.SSETE

Cash and amounts due from central banks and

CCP 1 8241
Treasury bills and money-market instruments = -
Die from credil institutions 1B 5,308,157 4,665,251
Cuslamer itams ac 16,887 568 17,921,414
Bonds and other fixed-income securnities 4E 214,184 350,076
Equities and other variable-income securities 2E o2 82
Investments in subsidiaries and equity sacurilies

held for long-term investment 3E 580,278 036,520
Investments in affiliates 3E 3,859 605 4,238 238
Finance leases and leases with a purchass option 3.F 72,266 83,760
Intangible assets LG 194,808 196,493
Proparly, plant and equipmeant 4G 27T 32,500
Other assels IH 00,617 530,511
Aocrued income - 3. o 328,597 456,583
TOTAL ASSETS 27,787,950 20,051,684
LIABILITIES

Amounis due 1o central banks and CCP 382 a0g
Due ta credit institutions 38 18,729,563 10,321,242
Customer items c 257172 375,368
Dietit securities = -
Cther liabilities +H 13,736 3893 448
Accrued income al 328,036 340,740
provisions 3. 276,276 519,257
Funds for general banking risks - 2
Subordinated dabt 4K 1,802,290 2,221 562
TOTAL LIABILITIES 21,808,355 23172416
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY B.A

Share capital 617,280 583834
Additional paid-in capital 4 BR9, 306 4,422,751
Resarvas and retainad earnings 872,953 1,346,527
Met income for the period (399,944) (473.854)
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 5,979,595 5,870,258
TOTAL LINEILITIEE. AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 27,787,050 29,051 GE4
;"::;-'q:-f 1E 1| -."'j = 'I} -zmb“ ". a-:: : =¥ -1.* & . "'J'.LTIJ:F: 31 December 2024 i: 'l‘—r'ﬁ-r f:".'."i"" E-"":;l
COMMITMENTS GIVEN

Financing commitments 4.4 7,735,528 B,124.074
Guaraniee commitments 4.8 1,328,693 3,670,623
COMMITMENTS RECEIVED

Financing commitments 4.4 194,000 2.."1'121"2Ifﬂ-'ll"I Te,
Guarantee commitments 4B 4,215,181 'll Dq ,Iﬂﬂﬂg ,I,:t
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The annual financial sfatements were approved by the Board of Directors of BMP Paribas Personal Finance
on 1 April 2025.

1-SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES APPLIED
BY BNP PERSONAL FINANCE SA

The parent company financial statements of BNP Paribas Personal Finance have been drawn up in
accordance with general accounting principles applicable in France for credit institutions as included in AMC
{(Autorité des Mormes Comptables - French Accounting Standards Authority) Regulation 2014-07 of 26
Movember 2014 and the regulations that have amended it since said date.

The highlights of the year are as follows:
. CETELEM SA de CV (Meaxica)

On 31 March 2024, BMP Paribas Personal Finance and Banco Inbursa completed the sale of an 80% stake
in Cetelern Mexico. The residual 20% holding will remain in its original category ("Equity securities”), The
capital loss on disposal amounted o EUR 206 milion and was recognisad in Od 2023 in Net gain on non-
current assels.

. BNP Parlbas Personal Finance Bratislava branch (Slovakia)

The sala of the activities of the BNPF PF Bratislava Branch SK in Slovakia was completed on 2 Agpril 2024,
The capital loss on dizposal amounted to EUR 22,7 million.

Magyar Cetelem Bank ZRT (Hungary)

Cetelemn Hungary was sold in its entirety 1o Cofidis SA on 30 September 2024. The capital gain on disposal
amaunted to EUR 13.7 millian,

* Capital Increase

By a decision of the Board of Directors on 27 November 2024, acting on a delegation of authority granted by
extraordinary resolution of the shareholders dated 14 May 2024, the company's share capital was increasad
by EUR 33,445 461, through the issue of 4,777,923 new shares with a nominal value of EUR 7 each, to EUR
617,279,915, and additional paid-in capital of EUR 466,554,539 was recorded. This capital increase was
recorded by decision of the Chief Executive Officer on 5§ December 2024,

LA - TRANSLATION OF ACCOUNTS IN FOREIGN CURRENCIES

All assat and liability items, both monetary and non-monetary, of foreign branches expressed in foreign
currencies are translated at the exchange rate pravailing on the balance sheal data.

Any difference arising on the translation of capital provided to foreign branches (s recognised in the
adjustment accounts.

LB - FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS

Forelgn currency positions are generally measured at the official year-end exchange rates. Exchange gains
and lpsses on transactions in foreign currencies carried out in the normal course of business are recognised
ir the prafit and loss accounl

Exchange differences arising from the translation of assels held on a long-term basis, including equity
securiies hedd for long-term investment, allocalions of capital to branches and securities of foreign
subsidiaries and associates denominaled in foreign currencies and financed in ewros, are reuu-gmsed as.
translation adjustments for the balance sheet items recording the assets. o
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Exchange differences arising from the translation of assets held on a long-lerm basis. including equity
securities hedd for long-term investment, allocations of capital to branches and securities of foreign
subsidiaries and associates denominated and financed in fareign currencias, are recognised symmetrically
as exchange differences for the corresponding financing.

LC - CUSTOMER TRAMSACTIONS
The amount of customer receivablas includes doubiful loans mat of impalrment,
The lollowing categories of kans are distinguished:

= Healthy loans are made up of credits which have no significant incidents in terms of payment of
capital and interast al maturity.

= Restructured loans are a sub-category of haalthy boans ard are made up of receivables which
have bean rensgotiated due to the financial situation of the debtar.

= Doubtful debts are those for which the Bank considers that there is a risk that deblors will be
unabda to honour all ar part of thelr commitments. The definition of default is consistent with that of
Basel, which takes account of the EBA guidelines of 28 September 2016, in particular the thresholds
applying to unpaids and probationary periods. Loans with unpaids of more than 20 days and loans
subject to litigation are considered doubtful. When a koan is classified as doubtiul, all other loans
and commitments to the debtor are automatically assigned the same classification.

= Compromised doubtful debt is made up of unpaid amounts and outstanding capital af loans
classified as doubtful for more than one year, recaivablas in litigation, loans which have been
subjact 1o a reschaduling plan or restructuring with at least one unpaid, as well as [cans awaiting a
rescheduling plan, particularly in the context of tha law an individuals® over-indebiedness, for more
than one year.

For real estate koans, compromised doubtful debt comprises loans which have been classified as
doubtful for mare than one year, for which there has been a payment default and recovery of which
Is not almost entirely covered by guarantees.,

In the case of doubtful loans where the debtor has resumed making regular paymenis in accordance with the
original repayment schadule, the loan is reclassified as healthy. Doubtful loans that have bean restructurad
are also reclassifiied as sound, provided that the restructuring terms are mat.

A dabt is classified as a loss when it is deamed irmecoverable,

An Impairment loss I8 recognised against loans and receivables on an individual and collective basis when
(11 there is an objective indication of a decreasa in value as a result of an event occurming after the inception
al the loan or the acquisition of the asset; (i) the event affects the amaunt or timing of future cash flows; and
i} the consequences of the event can be reliably estimated. Loans are initially assessed for evidence of
impairment on an individual basis or on a portfolio basis.

In particular any observable fact relating to any of the following events constitules an ohjective indication of
a decrease in valua: the existence of amounts overdug, knowledge or observation of any other significant
financial difficulty of the counterparty, and concessions with respect 1o the credit terms granted to the debtor
that the lendar would not have granted had the borrower not been experiencing financial difficulties.



The impairment is measured as the difference between the carrying amount before impairment and the
present value of the recoverable estimated fulure cash lows discounted at the original effective inlarest rate
of the asset, based on & statistical approach to risk of on a case-by-case basgis, taking inlo account any
guarantess. Two stalistical approaches are applied: the statistical method based on EAD (Exposure at
Default), PD (Probability of Default) and LGD (Loss Given Default) of expected credit losses, which is
applicable to the consumer koan porifiolio in France; and the historical stalistical methed for measwring
expected credit losses on olher koan portfolics.

In view of the characteristics of its credit portficlios and in the inlerests of simplicity, BMP Paribas Personal
Finance uses conlraciual interast rates with clients rather than effective interest rates for DCF purposes.

In specific cincumstances, BNF Paribas Personal Finance may recognise additional adjustments in cost of
risk, where necassary.

When a debt is restructured due to financial difficulties encountered by the borrower, this s specifically
identified and gives rise to the calculation of 8 mark-down representing the difference, at present value,
between the new remuneration conditions and the initlal remuneration conditions aof the debi. The mark-
downs incorporated into the restructuring are deducted from the asssts. They are transferred to profit or loss
an an actuarial basis over the residual lifetime of the dalt

In the profit and loss sccount, movements in provisions and impairment, losses on imecoverable loans,
amounts recovered on [oans wrillen off and mark-downs calculated on restructured loans are grouped
together under "Cost of risk”,

The allacation, on an actuarial basis, of the mark-dowmn on restructured loans and tha reversal of the effects
of discounting to present value are included, like interest, under net banking Incone.

1D - SECURITISATION TRANSACTIONS

BMP Paribaz Personal Finance carries out securitization transactions through fraditional special purpose
vehicles and securitisation mutual funds, which are reloadable or which include sub-funds,

The amount of the loans in the balance sheet is reduced by the receivables sold in the context of these
transactions.

A reserve set up within the fund is either deducted from the surplus cash flows in the first months, or called
upaon for the creation of the fund. It is used as a guarantes for priority or specific units issued by the fund,

LE - SECURITIES

Securities are classified in the following categones: securities available for sale, equity securities held for
long-term irvestment, investments in subsidiaries and affiliates

Securities available for sale

Are acquired with the aim of holding them for more than six months, but not necessarily until maturity, are
valued at the lower of historical cost and market price.

In accordance with the regulations, specific units issued by the special purposa vehiclas, as a prionty, 1o
cover the risk of insalvency of the debtors of loans which make up these funds enter in this category,

Equity securities held for long-term investment, investments in subsidiaries and affiliates

Equity securities held for long-term invesimenl are shares and related instrumeants that the company intends
to hold on a long-term basis in order fo eam a satisfactory long-term rate of return without taking an active
part in the manageamant of the issuing company, but with the intentian of promoting the development of |EIS.I‘|:II]g
businezs relationships by creating special lies with the Bsuer.
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Equily interesis include investments in subsidiaries and affiliates in which BNP Paribas Securities Services
exarcises significant influence over management and investments considered sirategic to BNP Paribas
Securities Services' business development.

Investments in subsidiarias and affiliales consist of sharas and other variable income sacurities in companies
ovar which BMP Paribas Personal Finance has exclusive control, i.e. thosa that may ba fully consolidated in
the Groug.

Sacurities held in the above calegories are recognised individually at the lower of their acquisition cost and
valug in use. Fair value for each security is determined on the basis of avaidable Information, including
discountad future cash flows. net revalued assets andior multiples commaonly used to assess fulure yields.

Disposals, gains or losses and provision movements are recorded in the profit and loss account under “Gains
or losses on disposals of long-term invesimenis”.

Dividends are recognised as soon as payment has been approved by the Annual Ganeral Meeting or when
they are received if the shareholders’ decision is unknown. They are recorded under “Income on equities and
olher variabla-income securities”.

LF - FINANCE LEASES AND RENTAL TRANSACTIONS WITH PURCHASE OPTION

Leases of assets leased 1o third parties, for which there is a transfer to the lessee of tha significant risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset, are recorded under this haading.

These assels are recognised as fixed assets. This item includes non-current assets, net of depreciation and
outstanding rents net of impairment. This impairment corresponds to the difference between the gross value
of the debt and the present value of the recoverable estimated future cash flows, discounted at the internal
rate of return, using a statistical risk approach,

The doubtful debt in finance leases and leasing ransactions with a purchase option includes unpaid amounts
whare rental payments are overdue at least once for more than three months. Shorter reclassification periods
may be used, particularly for debts which are due or impaired.

Compromised doubliul debt, which forms a sub-category of doubtiul debt, is made up of receivables in
litigation and unpaid rentals in cases that have been classified as doubtful for more than one year.

The depreciation periods used for the main categones of equipment financed are:;
- four vears for cars, two-wheeled vehicles and camper vans,

- five years for caravans,

- five to tan yvears for boats.

BHP Paribas Personal Finance follows the recommendations of the press release by the CNC {French
Mational Accounting Council) of & December 2005 as well as opinion 2006C of 4 October 2006 issued by the
Emergency Committes of the CMC relating to the depreciation terms of assets acquired under finance leases
or leasing operations with a purchase option and equivalent, as provided under Articles 313-1 and 313-T of
the French Monetary and Financial Code. This option allows lessors to apply the financial depreciation
method. Tha depreciation charge for each financial year is then equal to the fraction of the rent earned for
that financial year, which cormesponds to the depreciation of the capital committed to acquire the leased
assels.




LG - NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Mon-current assals are initially recognised at acquisition cost plus directly atiributable costs, tagether with
borrowing costs where & period of construction or adaptation is required before the asset can be brought into
sarvice.

Software developed internally by the Bank that fulfils the criteria for capitalisation is capitakised at direct
development cost, which includes external costs and employee expenses directly attributable to the project.

Subseqguent to initial recognition, fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation or amortisation
and any impairment losses.

Mon-current assats are amortised using the straight-line mathod over the usaful life of the asset. Amortisation
expense is recognised in profit or boss under “Depraciation, amartisation and impairment of property, plant
and equiprment and intangible assets™.

The portion of recognised amortisation thal exceeds the normal economic depreciation or amortisation,
mainly calculated on a straight-line basis, is shown as a liabilily in the balance sheet under “Regulated
provisions: accelerated depreciation and amorisation™. Mo deferred tax effect is calculated on accelerated
amarlisation.

Where an assel consists of a number of components which may require replacement at regular intervals, or
which have different uses or generale aconomic banafits at different rates, each companent is recognised
saparately and amortised using & method appropriate to that component. This companani-basad approach
has been adopted for real estate used in oparations.

The depreciation pericds used for office property are as follows: 60 years for tha shall; 30 years for facades;
20 years for genaral and lachnical installations; and 10 years for fixtures and fittings.

Software is amortised according to its type, over periods of no more than 3 ar 5 years in the case of software
developed primarily for the purpose of providing services to customers, and 8 years in the case of
infrastructure development.

Furtharmare, amortisable non-current assets are tested for impairment if there is any indication of a potential
loss in value at the balance shest date. Non-amortisable non-current assets are systematically tested for
impairmant at least annually,

If there is any indication of impairmeant, the new recoverable amount of the asset is compared with its carrying
amount. If the asset is found to be materially impaired, an impairment loss is recognised in the profit and loss
accouwnt. This koss is reversed in the event of a change in the estimated recoverable amount or if there is no
langer any indication of impairment, axcept in the casa of goodwill and residual technical loss (see below)
allocated to goodwill, Impairment losses are recognised in profit and loss under "Depreciation, amordisation
and impairment of proparty, plant and aguipmeant and intangible assets”,

- Goodwill in the business is now presumed 1o have an unlimited period of use. It is therefore not
amortisable, and there is no need to justify its non-amortisation. However, this i2 a rebuttable
presumption, which means that if there |5 a period of use which is limited in time, the goodwill must
be amortised over its actual period of use or the standard period of use (10 years) if it is not possible
to evaluate this period reliably. Besides, although goodwill is not amortised, it must be subjected to
an annual impairmeant test irespective of whether ar not there is any Indication of impairmeant.

- The merger premium is allocated to the varous assets contributed as a result of mergers and similar
transactions up to the limit of ientified unrealized gaing This allecation is made to dedicated sub-
accounts of the assets concernad and follows the depreciation, amortisation and provisioning rules
for these assels
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After allocation to the different underlying assets (see abova), the nat balance of the residual merger
premium is carried to goodwill.

Gains and losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment and intangible assels used in operations are
recognised in profit and loss under "MNel gaing or oS85 of non-current angets”,

LH - AMOUNTS DUE TO AND FROM CREDIT INSTITUTIONS

Receivables and payables as regards credit institutions are presentad according to their type. Interest
accruing on thesa receivablas and payables is recognized in the balance sheet amaong tha related receivables
and payablas,

Cuie from credit instifutions

Amounts due from credit institutions include all receivables, including subordinated loans made in connection
with banking transactions wilh eredil institutions, with the exception of debt securities. Amounts due from
credit institutions are stated on the balance sheet at nominal value plus accrued nterast.

Dwe ta eredit institutions

Amounts due to credit ingtitutions are presented according to their natura: sight or term for credit institutions;
securities and assets given under repurchase agreements. Accrued interest on these amounts is recorded
an the balance sheat in related payvablas.

LI - FORWARD FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Forward financial instruments are purchased on various markets for use as specific or general hedges of
assets and liabilities, or for transaction purposas.

Commitments related to these instruments are recognised off-balance sheet al nominal value. The
accounting treatment of these insiruments depends on the cormasponding investment strategy.

Derivative financial instruments hald for hedging purposes: Income and expenses related to forward
derivatives held for hedging purposes and designated at the outset to one instrument or a group of
homogeneous instruments are recognised in income symmaetrically with the income and expenses on the
underlying instrument, and under the same heading. Income and expenses related to forward financial
instruments used to hedge overall interest rate risk ara recognised in income on a pro rata basis.

L] - EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Empluwe benefits at BNP Paribas Personal Finance are classified in four categories:
Termination benefils, payable primarily in the case of eary termination of an employment
coniract;

Shaort-term banefits, such as salary, annual leave, incentive plans, prafit-sharing and additional
payments;

- Long-term benefits, including compansaled leaves of absence (employee time savings
account), long-service awards, and other types of cash-based deferred compensation;

. Post-employment benefits, consisting mainly in France of supplementary pension benefits paid
by the BNP Paribas Personal Finance pension funds and end-of-career bonuses, and in other
countries by pension plans, some of which are funded by pension funds,



. Termination banefits

End-of-service indemnities are among the benefits granted to emplovees. When BMP Paribas Personal
Financa lerminatas an employee’s employment contract before the legal retirement age, or when an
employee decides 1o accept voluntary redundancy in exchange for an indamnity. Termination benefils due
more than 12 months after the reporting date are discounted to present value,

. Short-term benefits

The company recognises an expense when it has used the services rendered by its members of staff in
axchange for banafits granted to them.

+  Long-term benefits

Long-term benefits are banefits other than posi-employment benefils and termination bemefits, which are not
due whally in the 12 months following tha end of tha financial yaar in which employvees rendared the related
senvices, The attuarial valuation method used is similar 1o the one used for defined-benefit post-employment
benefits, except that actuarial gains and losses are recognised immediately, as are the effects of any plan
amendments.

This relates in particular to cash compensalion deferred for more than 12 months, which is accrued in the
financial stalements for the periods during which the employes provides the corresponding services. IT this
deferred variable compensation is subject to the employee's continued presence at the vesting date, the
services are presumed o be rendered during the vasting period and the comesponding compensation
expense i recognised on a pro rata basis over that period, This charge is adjusted to take into account any
non-fulfiment of tha presence requirements or performance conditions, and changes in the BNF Faribas
share price, for deferred compensation indexed 1o the share.

If there is no presence requirement, the deferred variable compensation is immediately provisioned in the
financial statements of the year to which it refers, withoul being spread. The liability is then revised on each
reporiing date until setilement, to account for any performance conditions, and regarding deferred
compensation indexed to the BNP Paribas share price, to account for changes in the share price.

In France, the changes browght about by the pension reform enacted on 14 April 2023 constitute an
amendment o tha plan for retiremeant banefits for which the impact recognised in the income statement is not
rmaterial.

«  Post-employment benefits

The post-amployment benefits provided to BMP Paribas Perscnal Finance emplovees in France and abroad
include both defined contribution and defined benefit plans.

Defined contribution plans such as Caisse Nationale d' Assurance Vieillesse and supplementary national and
inter-professional plans that pay pensions 1o French emplovees of BNP Paribas Personal Finance, do not
give rise to an ohiigation for the Company and do not require any provision. The amount of the emplovers
contributions made during the financial year is recognised as an expensa.

Oy plans classified as defined benefit plans, i.e. particularly the supplementary pension benefits paid by the
BHP Paribas Personal Finance pension funds and relirement bonuses represent commitments of the
Company that must be measured and provisioned,

L A
'I..'L' ‘E_.l_
i



The classification of plans into these two categories is based on the economic substance of the plan, which
is reviewed o determine whather the Group has a contractual or constructive obligation to pay the agreed
bensfits to employvees,

Post-employment benefit cbligations under dafined benefit plans are measured wsing actuarial technigues
that take into account demographic and financial assumptions, The amount provisioned in respact of the
chbligation is determined using the acluarial assumplions made by the company and by applving the projected
unit credit method. This measurement method takes into account various parametars, such as demographic
assumplions, early retirements, salary increasas, a discount rate and the inflation rate. These parameters
reflect the conditions spacific 1o the country of the company. The value of any plan assels is then deducted
from the amount of the commitment, When the value of the plan assels exceeds the amount of the
commitment, an assal i5 recognised only i it reprezents a future economic benefit in the form of a reduction
in future contributions or an expected partial refund of amounts paid into the plan.

Measuremeant of the chbligation resulling from a plan and the value of its plan asseis may change significantly
from one financial year to the next depending on changes in actuarial assumptions and may result in actuarial
gains and lossas. Actuarial gains and losses and the impact of capping the asset are recognised in full in
profit or loss; expected investment income is determined wsing the discount rate for the commitments.

Regarding retirement benefits recognisad in post-amployment benefits, IFRES Interpretations Commitiee
(IFRS IC, formerly IFRIC) issued a proposed decision in June 2021, validated by the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB), which changes the way commitments related to cerain defined benefit
commitments of the end-of-service indemnity type are calculated, These plans grant a lump sum geared to
the number of consecutive years in service at retirement age, payable only if the employee is still in service
when reaching that age and actually retires, and capped at a certain number of years of servica. Previously,
benefits wera recognised on & straight-ine basis from the date on which an employea jolined the company
undil the effective date of retirament, without taking the cap into account. Entitlements to benefits are now
recognised on a straight-line basis over the pericd remaining until relirement age subject to the cap. Under
French accounting standards, righls will also be recognised in the same way, by using method 2 b) providad
fior in ANC recommendation No, 2013-02 of 7 November 2013, as amendad on 5 November 2021.

LK - RECOGNITION OF REVENUE AMIX EXPENSE

Interest and fees and commissions qualified as interest are recognised on an accrual basis on a pro rala
basis These include the commissions received by the Bank as part of an overall loan package (application
feas). Incremental transaction costs borne by the Bank when granling or acquiring loans are also spread over
the effective life of the loan,

Fees and commissions not qualified as interest that relale to the provision of services are recognised when
the services are performed or, for ongoing services, on a pro rata basis over the length of the service
agresment.

The acquisition costs of securities are recognised direclly as expensas.

L.L - COST OF RISK

“Cost of risk” includes expenses resulting from counterparty and credit risks, dispules and fraud inharent in
banking activities with third pariies.

Met mevements in provisions that do not fall under the category of such risks are classified in the profil and
loss account according to their type.
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1AL - CORPORATE INCOME TAX

A charge for corporate income tax is taken in the period in which the related taxable income and expenses
are booked, regardiass of the pariod in which the tax is actually paid

When the period in which the income and expenses confributing to the accounting result occur differs from
that in which the incoma is taxed and the expensas deducied, BMNF Paribas Personal Finance recognises a
deferred tax, determined using the variable deferral method, based on all temporary differences betweean the
accounting and lax values of the balance sheet ilems and the tax rates applicable in the future a5 scon as
they have been approved.

Defered fax assets are recognised in accordance with the likelihood of thedr being recovered.

Following the recommendations of Pillar |1 of the Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development
(OECD) on the reform of international taxation, on 14 December 2022, the European Union adopited Directive
20222523 establishing a minimum taxation of international groups with respect to corporate income lax,
applicable from 1 Januwary 2024, As is the case in the Group's consolidated financial statements, BMP Paribas
Persanal Finance also applies in ils parent company financial staiements the mandatory and temparary
exceplion offered by the IASE not o recognise deferred tax relating to this addiional taxation. The Pilkar 11
reform has no impact on the Group when adopled, as at 1 January 2024 the Group had no subsidiary with &
tax rate of lezs than 15%.

LN - EMPLOYEE PROFIT-SHARING

Ag required by French law, BNP Parbas Personal Finance recognises employes profit-sharing In the income
statement in the yvear in which the employee entitlement arises. This charge is recognised in "Employee
benefits”.
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2 - NOTES TO THE PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT FOR THE YEAR

ENDED 31 DECEMEER 2024

2.A - INTEREST AND RELATED INCOME AND EXPENSES

Cradit institutions 154 4848 (985,963) 132,253 (910,720)
Demand accounts, loans and borrowings 109,382 (B43,866) 63,756 (764,083)
Securities recelved (glven) under repurchase S

% : i {d, 8200 {5,438
Subordinated loans 45,085 (147,277} 4B, 497 {141,189
Customars 1,001,484 {2,711) 1,026,479 {6,515)
Darnand accounts, loans and term accounts DOR, 350 (2,711 1,023.407 {8,515}
Subordinated koans 3,144 - 3072 -
Dabt securities - - -
Bonds and other fixed-income securities 22,105 [932) 36,506 1,399}
Securities available for sale 22,105 (832 36506 [1,309)
Long-tarm immestment securilias - - - =
Macro-hedging instruments 708,317 (408.475) 843,310 (300,580)
Interest incorme and expanse 1,864,364  (1,40E.081) 1,638,638  (1,219,214)

2.8 - INCOME ON EQUITIES AND OTHER VARIABLE INSTRUMENTS

Investiment seacurilies and equivalent

Inwasimenis in subsidiaries and aquity securities held for lbng-larm

| i 20,352 43,192
Investments in affiiales 194,440 402,825
Income on equitias and othar variable instruments 214,792 446,017




2.C - NET COMMISSIONS

In thousands of euros

Incomea

Banking and financing transactions 35,225 (9,151) 40,149 {18,1635)
Customer itlems 34,988 (8,573) 39,929 {17.928)
Others 237 {578} 220 (1.237)
Financial services provided 49,012  (15748) 57,318 (15,281)
Commission income and expenses B4 237 {24,809) a7 467 (34,426)

2D - GAINS OR LOSSES ON TRADING ACCOUNT TRANSACTIONS

Results of financial instrumant transactions . (o)
Fesults of foreign axchange transactions 9,421 1084
Met gains on trading account securitias B4 1,071
Profit or less on invesimen securities transastions 13} -
Met gaing on securities available for sals [31) .

2.E - OTHER BANKING INCOME AND EXPENSES

This ilem natably includes the following:

- Vanous rebales and relrocassions from tha insurance companias hat participate in covering the risks
related to credit ransactions,

- Commissions from placing life-insurance, capitalisation and assistance products with customers,

= The ghare of eamings of joint ventures and partnerships of which the company iz a member.
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Dutstanding loans managed by joint ventures of which BNF Paribas Personal Finance is a member, and
which are nol included in its own balanca sheet, have devalopad as fallows:

Inthousands of euros kR %

- Joint ventures with retail partners 3,082,353 2,867,215
- Joint ventures with financial partners 727,130 703,075
TOTAL 3.809,483 3,620,330

BMNP Paribas Personal Finance has joned forces with partners in the form of joint ventures. To this end, the
company receives from these partners income which remunerates its contribution to joint cradit operations in
the form of a share of earnings. In exchange, it records directly in its financial statements, without resorting
to the results of the joint ventures, the expenses borne by it as it makes its contribution.

The assals managed may be recorded either in the balance sheeal of anolher associale of the joint venture
company with the status of financial institution, which may be a compamy held jointly by BMP Paribas Personal
Finance and ifs pariner, or directly in tha balance shieet of BNF Paribas Parsonal Financa.

Income generated from joint credit operations camed out, i.e, the share of eamings owed to it, is included
urder “Other banking income”,

2.F - COST OF RISK

Met additions to or write-backs of provisions fior the year {5,649) 250,730
Customars and credit institutions (312) 254,934
Off-baslanca shasat commitmeants {8,338) (4,.203)
Securilies 1 (1)
Irrecoverable loans [424,004) |846,323)
Recoverles of loans writien off 41,770 36,607
Cost of risk (391,B63) (358,986)
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2.G - NET GAINS OR LOSSES ON DISPOSALS OF LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS

2024

InCoime | Expensss

MI:I ll.ll:u]dlml':lu and equity securitles hald 10,447 (54,828) 3,459 (52,387)
Divestments 3 {1,901 L] {10}
provisions 10444  (52,925) 2770 (52,377)
Investments in affiliates 219,693 [145654) 449,509  (579,923)
Civestmeanis 219,683 - 18,609  (491,417)
pravisions - [(145B654) 430,900  (BB,5086)
Dperating assots 160 [24,7TE) 184 (21,683)
Total 230,300 (225256) 453,152  (654,003)
Gains or losses on long-term investments 5,044 (200,851)

2H - CORPORATE INCOME TAX

The company is a member of the tax consalidation group of which BMP Paribas is the parent company. The
itemn “Corporale income tax” breaks down as follows:

“

Current taxes for the year {17, 9B4) 120,308
Deferred tax axpanse (82,652} 103,612
Corporate income tax (100,636) 232,91

In 2024, the tax consolidation agreement betwesn BMP Paribas SA and BNP Paribas PF SA was amended,
and an amendment was signed in 2024 with refroactive effect from 1 January 2024, This amendment reverts
to 8 so-called "standard” system, whereby the gains and losses linked to the 1ax consolidation are retained
by the head of the Group.




3 -NOTES TO THE BALANCE SHEET AT 31 DECEMBER 2024

3.A - FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS

| 34 Decamber 2024 [_1g:1=uq____ o 2023
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Liabilities 727,278 1,248,226

These transactions mainly concern equity interests and shares in affiliated companies, customer receivables
and the corresponding refinancing.

1.B - AMOUNTS DUE TO AND FROM CREDIT INSTITUTIONS

3 December 2024

Loans and receivables 5308157 4,665,272
Cremand accounis 166,907 176,464
Term accounds and loans 4 626 452 3,769 524
Subordinated loans 514 888 716,284
Loans and advances to credit institutions before 5,308,157 4,665,272
impairment

o v Beerined ibarest 32 299 25618

- Relatad recenalies prov.
Impairment of loans & receivables 1o credst instilutions - [21)

Loans and receivablas to cradit Institutions net of

impalrment 5,308,157 4,665,251

1 December 0314

Deposits and borrowings 18,645,562 19,210,815
Demand depasils 167 441 143,743
Term deposits and bormowings 16,478,141 18,067,072
Securities given under repurchase agreements 83.881 110,427
Due ta credit institutions 18,729,563 19,321,242
of wihich accrred ileresd 378 657 324,586

d‘:- e s .



3.C - CUSTOMER TRANSACTIONS

In thousands of eoros ; 31 December 2024 31 December 2023

Loans and receivables 17,837,436 18,833,818
Loans 1o customens 17,763,775 18,541,935
Loans 1o financial clients 22670 232, 492
Subordinated loans 50,991 59,387
Customer Items befora impalrmeant - Assets 17,837,436 16,833,816
o which gcorued inferes! 108, 286 28,349
Of wihich tYscound on resfroctured Joans® (43, 184) (247,567}
O wivich doubiful laans 1,510,765 1,474,841

Of winch irrecaverahie faans THE 346 BIB447
Impairments an receivables dus from customars (249,566} (912 404)
Customers items net of impairment - Assets 16,887 568 17,921,414

* Inehading ifré discouml refated lo Hefeed Immo

In thatsands of euros 3 December 2024 31 December 2023

Term accounts 192 347 309,044
Regulated savings accounts B3 1,308
Olher sums due to customers 63,932 63,015
Customer items - Liabilities 257,172 375,368
of which accrusd inleres! a0 367

3D - SALES OF RECEIVABLES (SECURITISATION TRANSACTIONS)

Surplus at |
3

Dt gaibssr

Date of AT FTE Ackditional Aadditlanal

in thousands of
BUroSs

Capital shinl

ifispos s Since S

Eraalian of originally ditposalsd in the

e franad sold yoar cerigin S0
Sepl-18 aaan| 0 -
- Moiria 2021 Juily-21 B00.000 - 323,651 310,676
- Moria 2023 July-23 500000 133,578 215,166 | 445 164

The securitisation fund Autonoria 2019 was liquidated in February 2024,
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J.E - SECURITIES HELD

hmwmﬂ'ﬁj:m

Securities available for sale 214,184

Investments = =
Bonds and other fixed-income securities 214,184 330,076
Securities available for sale 92 82
Equities and other variable-income securities 92 92
Associated companies 588,882 555,852
of which provisions {181,344) (129,2086)
Equity securities held for long-term investment 396 666
of which provisions {3 (1}
Investments |i‘1 subsidiaries and equity securities held 589,278 556,520
for long-term investment

Investments In afflliates 3,859,605 4,238,238
of which provisions (378,804) (240,768)
Investments in affiliates 3,859,605 4,238,238

Changes in equity securities held for long-term investment and investments in subsidiares and affiliates
during the year ane shown bebow:
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Dizposals of Magyar Cetelern Bank ZRT (Hungary) amd 80% of Cetelem SA de CV (Mexico), with the
remaining 20% reclassified as equity securities held for lopng-term investment.



3.F = LEASING OPERATIONS

In thowsands af euros 31 i | P - M Divesiments ecember 2024

Grogs values 120,005 31,524 (46.633) 114,796
Depreciationtamortisation (48, 129) (24,200} 2B,016 {44,313)
Net carrying amount 81,776 7,324 {18.617) 70,483
Related racaivables 1.798 1617
Diowbtful debd 1,364 1,930
Impairment af doubtiul debl {1,178) {1,764)
Finance leases B3,760 T34 {18,617) 72,266

3.G - NON-CURRENT ASSETS USED IN OPERATIONS

ks thousanids uf-ium-. = |
o WEINE | y Mt amount

| and impirmant

B26,652 (734,640) 92,012 ar.3e8
Other intangible assets BO08,34B (T05,552) 102,786 111,125
Of which inlangible assels - Menger presmim 729,500 (13, TER) 25,732 0,878
Intangible assets 1,635,000 (1,440,182) 194,808 195,403
Land and buildings #7780 (15,2500 12,530 12,708
Equiprmient, furniture and fixtures 126,063 (105.816) 20,247 19,782
Property, plant and equipment 153,843 [121,068) 2,7 32,500

TOTALS 1,780,843 (1.561,258) 227,585 230,953




3.H - OTHER ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

i3 December 2003

Selllement accounts relaled 1o seourities Iransackons = 1,063
State, taxes and duties 89,501 323,290
Permanant advances o the GIE (economic interest

woups) 18,470 18,630
Miscellansous assets 182 646 187,538
Other assets 0,617 530,511
.In Lhulnandtulnllm-‘! . i .. TR .- | | i 31 Decembar 2024

Stabte, taxes and dulies 11,156

Guarantes deposils 292

Miscellaneous liabilibes A0z 289 a76.518
Other ligbilities 376 303,448

3.1 - ACCRUED INCOME AND EXPENSES

IAthousinds temos . i et T 1) Docomber 2024

Accrued Income 292,231 368,237
Collection accounts 3,343 53,057
Frepaid expenses 7,183 19,948
Dithear actruad incamea 25,240 25,346
Accrued incomea 328,597 466,538

|.I'! u'lf'llﬂll'ldﬂ--ﬂ[ BUrcE i y : i 31 Dpcember 2024 ﬂnﬂlﬂ'lbﬂf w23

Remeasurement of cumrency instruments and desivatives - (&7}
Accred expensas 285 228 275,524
Deferred income 9421 11,146
Other accrued expeanses 34 287 54,137
Accrued expenses 328,936 340,740
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3] = PROVISIONS

4 {8,823) 2,081 25,881
33,375 £.538 (10,858 i1 31,853
450,343 adsED  (283721) (542) 218,742
510,257 EL004  {300.403) 4418 205,276

Reversals of “Other provisions™ consist mainly of the reversal of a EUR 89 million provision for Réimagine
restructuring and the reversal of a EUR 157 million provision for the Helvet immo dispute,

3K - SUBORDINATED DEBT

In thnusands af euras

H December 2024 A1 December 2023

Redeemable suborcinated debt @ 1,888,175 2 204,550
Related debt 14115 17.012
Subardinated debt 1,902,290 2,221,562

These redeemable subordinated [oans have the following maturities:

‘Maturity schedule
In thousands of curos Uplo3 3 months = 1
months L

More than 5
yaars

1,902,290

| 1-35 years !
|

Fixed-term loans 1,802,280
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4 - FINANCING AND GUARANTEE COMMITMENTS

4.A - FINANCING COMMITMENTS

The financing commilmenis given relate to customer loans which are not yet financed. The financing
commitments received cormespond mainly to the refinancing lines granted by BNP Paribas SA,

4B - GUARANTEE COMMITMENTS

The guarantee commitments given mainky concam the guaranteas that BNP Paribas Personal Finance grants
io cover the dafault risk of its subsidiaries when they bormow from banks, and the guaraniees granted to

subsidiaries of the BNP Paribas group.

4.C - COMMITMENTS ON FORWARD FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The transactions on forward financial instruments shawn under off-balance sheat items, are entered into with
the aim of hedging interest rate and exchange rate fluctuations. The notional amounts of the various financial

instruments used are presanted balow:

B e n

g A AR . o oy ! ] T e L T

Qutright over-the-counter transactions 24,325 508
aff which nfeves! rale swaps 21.325.508
of which currency swaps -
TOTAL 21,325,508

24,552,649




5 - SALARIES AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Salanies (324,374) (335.9286)
Tax and social security charges 63, 218) (361,032)
Employee profit-sharing and incentive plans (33,081) (28.819)
Total salaries and employee benefit expenses (420,673) {746,877)

The average permanent headcount in 2024 breaks down as follows:

Of which banking technicians 1.843 2,237

Total BNP Paribas Parsonal Finance 3,043 2875

Compensalion and benalits awarded to directors and officers totalled EUR 1,375 million in 2024, compansd

with ELIR 1,537 million in 2023,
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6.A - STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Sharchofgers o ¥ December 322 SESE pt e B EED LELTER 1290 136i ATR1IEE
Wl reomw o A2 IR L e

L=l srmrer FIH a2 re s
Rpu e S TRlLET FIF] nx
Orar arme i el ] L

Wi rerew for 221 T PN L
Smgtcidory vty ot 1 Cocwror 233 1.2 L LT 114 L4188 14732
bl rorew for 2033 HILE FESFTT

Coarlal ~crmeem p 2] | k] Lt
R e Fova o M b

[ i il ! - aw

Mol mew B TRIE THRR=| [Eacat o]
TRamcian wqaty al 31 Cecarcow 7380 Hiram TN W (¥ T30 5] LT

6.B - SCHEDULE OF USES AND SOURCES OF FUNDS
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6.C - ABSETS GIVEN OR RECEIVED AS COLLATERAL

There ware no financial guaranies commitments recenved al 31 Decemnber 2024, compared with EUR 10
millicn at 31 December 2023,
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6.0 - EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Mo evenis after the reporting period

6.E - INFORMATION ON AFFILIATED COMPANIES AND COMPANIES LINKED

THROUGH SHAREHOLDING
|~ Companles
| | Affiliated companies || Enked throwgh a
| _i' sharehclding
OFF-BALANCE SHEET
Commitments given o credit Instintions 330, 824 115
Commitments received from credit inslitulions 80,000 -

Affiliated companies include all companies confrolled exclusively, which are fully consalidated or susceplible
of being fully consofidated in the consolidated financial statements of BNP Paribas.
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6.F - INFORMATION ON SUBSIDIARIES, EQUITY INTERESTS AND SHARES
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6.G - IDENTIFICATION OF THE CONSOLIDATING COMPANY

BrF Faribas Personal Finance is fully consolidated in the financial statements of BNP Paribas, whose
registared office is at 16, Boulevard des ltalians, 75009 Paris.

6.H - MANAGEMENT REPORT

The management repor is available to shareholders at the company's adminisirative headquarters, located

at 143 Rue Anatole France, 92300 Levallois-Perrat,

12 JUIN 2025, . . ,
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BNP Paribas Personal Finance

Sociate Anonyme (French pubdic limited comipany)
1 boulavard Haussmann
75009 Paris

Report of the Statutory Auditors on the
consolidated financial statements

Year ended 31 December 2024




DO Paris

A3 mvermie de la Grarde Armés

15116 Paria

Smplified joint sicck company with share capital al £5, (00,000

Paris Trade and Comganiss Registar ia, SO0 497 D04

Member firm of the regicral instAute of statuiory audidors of
Versailles

BNP Paribas Personal Finance

Sociétd Anomyme (Freanch public limiled company)
1 boulevard Haussmann
75008 Paris

Report of the Statutory Auditors on the
consolidated financial statements

Year anded 31 Dacember 2024

Dalaitbe & AR SosidE

&, place de ka Pyramide

52508 Paris-La Défense Cedex

Simplified joint stock company with share capieal of
2,201,434

Hantere Trade and Companies Register no. 571
D22 041

Mémmber im of tha regional instilue of statulory
Audiod of Wariadbic and 1 Canira

To the General Meeting of Shareholders of BMP Paribas Personal Finance

Opinion

In compliance with the engagement entrusted to us by the Genaral Mesting, we have audited the
accompanying consolidated flinancial stalemeants of BMP Paribas Personal Finance for the year ended 31

Dacembar 2024.

We certily thal the consalidated financial slatemants give a trua and fair view of the results of the operations
during the pasl financial year and of the financial position and assets and liabilities at the end of the financial
year of tha group formed by the persons and enfities included in the consolidation, in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the Eurcpean Unian,

The apinion expressed above is consistent with the content of our repon (o the Board of Directars. fulfilling
the functions of the specialised committee referred to In Article L.B21-67 of the French Commercial Code,
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[Logo: BDO] [Logo: Deloitte]

Basis for opinion

Auelit framework

We conducted our awdit in accordance with the professional standards applicable in France. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Our responsibilities under these standards are further described In the Responsibilities of the Statutory
Auditors ralating to the audit of the consolidated financial staternents section of gur report.

Indepandence

We conducted our audit engagement in complance with the independence rules provided for in the French
Commercial Code (Code de commerce) and the French Code of Ethics (Code de déantolegie) for Statutory
Auditars for the period from 1 January 2024 to the date of our report, and, in particular, we did nol provide
any non-audit services prohibited by article 5{1) of Regulation (ELJ) No. 537/2014.

This year, services other than the ones required for the statutory audit that we provided to your company
and the entites it controls and which are not mentioned in the management report or the notas o
consolidated financial statements mainly refer to issuance of attestation of accounting and financial
information and the issue of cerificates concerning the agreed procedures relating to certain data used to
caloulate contributions o the Single Resolution Fund "SRF7).

Justification of assessmenis

In accordance with the requirements of articles L.821-53 and R.821-180 of the French Commercial Code
relating to the justification of our assessments, we inform you of the key audit points relating to the risks of
material misstatement that, im our professional judgement, were of mast significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements for the year, as well as how we addrassed those risks.

These matters were addressed as part of our audit of the consalidated financial statements as a whaole,
and therefore contributed to the opinion we formed as expressed above. We do not provide a separale
opinion on specific items of the consolidated financial statements,

Assessmen! of credlt risk and measurement of impalrment losses (steges 1, 2 and 3) on customer loan
portfalios
(Please refer to Matas 1.e.4, 1.2.5 2.e. 4.b and 5.2 to the consolidaled financial statements)

How our audit addressed this risk
Description of risk

BENP Paribas recognises impairment losses to hedge  |We carried out a review of coverage rates by level, the
the credit risks inherent to its banking activities. cost of risk and non-recurring items,

For portfolios that have migrated to the new
miethodology, we have carried out specific due
iligence procedures:

wiew af the new methodobogy and its complianoe
ith IFRSY principles.

gl Teads -
T | BMP Paritias Porsanal Finance | Statutory Auditors’ seport an the consolidated financial statemsesis | Yesr ended 31 December 3074 - 3
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th the BMP Paribas group, BMP Paribas Personal
inance has gradually introduced a new method far
assescing expected credit losses (new estimate of the
criterion for a significant increase In credit risk,
jexposure at default, probability of default and loss
given default), For portfolios not migrated by
31.12.2024, the historical statistical method is skill

Elth a view to harmenising credit risk assessment

ppliad.
Fﬂr both these methods, the estimation of impairment
nvolves management judgement, especially for;

- Assessing significant deterioration of credit risk
to classify outstandings into stage 1, stage 2 or
stage 3;

- Estimating the risk parameters used to caloulate
ECLs

Adjusting model estimations where necessary to
take account of uncertainties that are not
captured by existing models {additional
provisions).

In this context, we considerad that the estimation of
expected credit losses (and in particular additional
provisions) was a key point of the audit.

31 Decemnber 2024, the gross amount of customer
an outstandings exposad to oredit risk was EUR
3,185 million; the total amount of impalrment losses
r credit risk was EUR 3,302 millign.

- Review of the operational calculation process
and identification of key controls to cover the
operational risks associabed with this process;
we assessed the design and implementation of
these controls as well as their operational
effectiveness,

- Review of the methods wsed to calculate the risk
parameters used to estimate the expected
losses from the model [CHE, EAD, PD, LGD-
cure, LGE Mon Cure, Forward Looking), the
independent validation process; we re-
performed the calculation of a selection of
indicators.

= Review of additional provisions estimated
outside the model

- Implementation of 8 counter-calculation of
expected losses, on a representative scape, to
ensure the correct application of the parameters
to the different risk classes as well as the
correct application of the rules relating to the
significant increase in credit risk,

- Detailed analyses of the impact of the transition
from the old standard to the new, and a review
of the stability of cakoulations between the
transition date and the 31.12.24 balance sheet
date

For non-migrated portfolios, we reviewed the
backtesting of risk parameters,

Lastly, we examined the disclosures required by IFRS
9 in respect of credit risk.

Impairment of goodwill

(Please reler fo Noles 1.5.4 and 51 fo the consolidaled financial statemants)

Description of risk

How our audit addressed this risk

The accounting procedures for acquisitions leads the
[BNP Paribas Personal Finance group o recognise

goodwill as an asset in its oonsolidated balance sheet.

These goodwill items correspand to the difference
between the acquisition price of the shares of the
companles acquired and the valwe of the share of
nterest acquired, At 31 December 2024, the canrying
@mount of this goodwill was EUR 1,128 million.

O swdit approach is based in particular on an
assessment of the procedures relating to goodwill
impairment tests and the controls implemented within
BMF Paribas Personal Finance to Identify Indications of
impairment of these assets.

The work on the financlal statements for the year
ended 31 December 2024 carried out with our
waluation specialists consisted in particular of;
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These goodwill items are the subject of impairment
tests at least once a year, or moare aften if indications
of impalrment are detected. The comparison of the
carrying amount of homogeneous groups with their
recoverable amount is an essential element in
assessing whether an impairment adjustment is
NECEESArY.

We considered goodwill impairment to be a key audit
int due to the judgement exercised by management

n making assumptions about future results of

cquired companies and in evaluating the recoverable

maunt of homogeneous groups of business lines,

An analysis of the methodalogy used by BNP
Faribas Personal Finance;

& critical review of the forsard-looking business
plans approved by the General Management of
BMP Paribas Personal Finance to ensure that the
estimates of future cash flows were reasonable
{especially when the forecasts are out of step
with past performance),

& critical analysis of the main assumptions and
parameters used (growth rate, cost of capital,
MPY discount rate) considering the external
infarmation available;

An assessment of the analyses of sensitivity of
estimates to key parameters.

nally, we wverified the appropriateness af the
isclosures related to the results of these impairment
sb5 in the notes to the financial statements.

Specific verifications

As required by lagal and regulatory provisions and in accordance with professional standards applicable in
France, we performed the specific verifications on the information pertaining to the group prasentad in the
Board of Diractors’ management report.

We have no matters to report as to its fair presentation and its consistency with the consalidated financial
statements.

Other verifications and information pursuant to legal and regulatory
requiraments

Appointment of the Statutory Auditors

We were appointed Statutory Auditors of BMP Paribas Personal Finance by the General Mesting of
Sharahalders of April 2006 as regards Deloitte & Associés and by the General Meeting of Shareholders of
May 2023 for BDO Paris.

At 31 December 2024, Deloitte & Associés and BDO Paris were in the ningteenth consecutive year and in
the second consacutive year of thelr engagement, respectively,

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for
the consolidated financial statements

Managemant is responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statemants giving a true and fair
view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union
and for implementing the internal controls as it desms necessary to enable the preparation of consolidatesd
financial statements that are free of material misstatement, whathar due to fraud or eror. ot
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, Management Is responsible for assessing the
Company's abdity 1o continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 1o gaing
concern, and using the going concern basis of accounting, unless it expacts 1o liquidata the Company or to
caase oparations

The Board of Directors fulfilling the functions of the specialised committee referred to in Article L.821-67 of
the French Commercial Code is responsible for monitoring the financial reporting process and the
effectivanass of the intermal control and risk management sysiems and, where applicable, internal awdit,
with regard to procedures relating to the preparation and processing of accounting and financial information.

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Direciors on 1 April 2025,

Responsibilities of the Statutory Auditors relating to the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Objective and audit approach

Dwr role is to issue a report on the consolidated financial statements. Our objeclive is to cbtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial siatemenis 8s a whole are free of material
misstatement. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with professional standards will albways detect a material misstatement when it
exists Missiatements can arise from fraud or ermor and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected o influence the economic decisions taken by users on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As specified in article L.821-55 of the Franch Commercial Code, our audit does not include assurance an
e viability or quality of the company’s managament.

As part of an audit conducied in accordance with professional standards applicable in France, the Statutory
Auditor exercises professional judgement throughaout the audit and furthermore:

« identifies and assesses the rsks of material misstatement in the consolidated financial
slaternents, whether due o fraud or error, design and parforms audit procedures in response to
those risks, and oblains audit evidence considered fo be sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for its opindon. The risk of not detecting a material misstatemeant resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as frawd may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of intemal control;

«  pblaing an understanding of the intemal contral procedures relevant to the audit in arder to design
audit procedures thal are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpese of exprassing
an opinkan on the effectiveness of the Internal control;

evaluates the approprialeness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting

estimates made by management and the related disclosures in the notes to the consclidated
[ e
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= assesses the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the awdit evidence obtained, whether a material uncarainty exists related to events
or condilions that may cast significant doubt on the company's ability to confinue as a going
concern. This assassment is based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of the audit
report. However, fulure events or conditions may cause the company to cease to continue as a
going concern. If the Statutory Auditor concludes that a material uncertainty exisis, it is required
o draw attention in the audit repont to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are not provided or are inadequate, to issue a qualified cpinion
or a disclaimer of apinion;

evaluates the overall presentation of the consolidated financial stalements and assesses
whether these statements represent the underlying transactions and evenls in a manner that
achieves fair presantation;

»  oblaing sufficient appropriale awdit evidenca regarding tha financial information of the antities or
business activities within the group to express an opinion on lhe consolidated financial
slalemeants. [ is responsible for the management, supervision and performance of the audit of
the consolidated financial statements as well as the opinion expressed on these financial
statemants.

Report to the Board of Directors fulfilling the functions of the specialised committee
referred to in Article L.821-67 of the French Commercial Code

We submit to the Board of Directors fulfilling the functions of the specialised committes referred to in Adicle
L.821-67 of the French Commercial Code a report that outlines the scope of the audit and the audit
programme implemented, as well as the results of our audit. We also report significant deficiencies, if any,
in internal control regarding the accounting and financial reporting procedures that we identified,

We have also provided the Board of Directors fulfiling the functions of the specialised committes referred
o in Aricle L.821-67 of the French Commercial Code with the declaration prowvided by Article 6 of
Regulation (EU) Mo, 537-2014 confirming our independence, within the meaning of the rules applicable in
France as laid down in particular by Anticles L821-27 to L.82134 of the French Commercial Code and in
the Fremch Codae of Ethics for Statutory Auditors. If necessary, we discuss with the Board of Direclors
Tulfilling the funclions of the specialised committes referrad to in Article L.B21-67 of the French Commercial
Caoda the risks weighing on our independence and the safeguarding measures applied.

Paris and Paris-La Défense, 24 April 2025

The Statutory Auditors

BDO Paris Deloitte & Assockés
Daculigrad bwy: Ducufigeed by
| B Lk St g Pty warabey
ErsDaIop P [REO AT | 5400
Benjamin [ZARIE Laurence DIUBCHS R
& Fa "
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.i; -
; -
6 | BMP Paribas Permonal Finance | Statutony Auditors” régan oo ihs consolidated finandial statemands | Year anded 31 Decorian 074"



BNP PARIBAS

PERSONAL FINANCE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

Audited financial statements



LAl BNF PRl e MedLITdFL i L

Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024

CONTENTS

| CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4
INCOME STATEMENT FOR THE 2024 FINAMCLAL YEAR Fl
STATEMENT OF NET INGCOME AND CHANGES IN ASSETS AND LIAEBILITIES RECOGNISED DIRECTLY IN EQUITY FOR
THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 5
BALANCE SHEET AT 31 DECEMBER Z0Z4 B
CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 T
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY B

| NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 10
1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES APPLIED BY THE GROUP 10
1.8. Accounting standards 10
1.b.  Consolidation 11
16 Translabon of foreign currency iransaclions 15
1.d. Hat interest incoma, incame and expenses from commissions and other activities 16
1.e. Financial assels and financial kabdities 17
1. Property, plani, equiprment and intangibe assets M
1.9. Leases 3z
1.h.  Assets held for sale and discontineed operations B3
1.l. Employee bansfits -
1. Share-tased payments a5
1.k. Provisions recorded under iabilities 3]
1.1 Current and defemed tax 36
i.m. Cash flow slatement ar
1.n. Use of estimates in the praparation of the financial statements ar
Z. HOTES TO THE PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 33
2.8 Met interest income 38
2b.  Commissions 348
2. Net gain (loss) on financial instruments &t fair value through profit or loss 39
2d.  Income and expenses from other activilies 40
2.8. Mher operaling expenses b i
21 Costofrisk 40
2.9, Oiher nel expenses for risk on financial instruments 46
2h. HMat gain on mon-curen assels 46
24, Corporgte income lax 46
1 SEGMENT INFORMATION 47
4, RISK EXPOSURE 48
4.8. Summary of fisks 49
d.b. Credi risk 49
4e  Imesest rabe risk (market risk) relatad to the banking portiolio 51
4.d. Liguidity risk 52
4.¢.  Forelgn exchange risk 52
= MOTES TO THE BALANCE SHEET AT 31 DECEMBER 2024 54
5.a. Financial instrumants at fair value through prafil o loss 54
Bh.  Derivabiees used for hedging purposes 54
5.c. Financial instrumenis al far value [hrgugh equity 85
54,  Measurement of the fae vales of financial nstrumants 56
5.e.  Financial assels of amortised cogl 5 57
51 Financial kabilities al amortisad cost due bo credil instibulions and cuslomears ; )
5.0 Debl securilies and subordinated debt o



L man s ooaoies p en s iR N

5.h.
5L
B
Bk
.l
Hu
sn.

G.a.
&b,
g.c.
G.d.

T.a.
Th
T.E
T.d
T

Ba.
&b
B
H.d.
&a.
ar
&g
i h.
ai

&

Consolidated financial staternents for the year ended 31 December 2024

Currant and dafemad laxes
Accrued income'expensa and other asssls/liabiilias
Equity-mathod mvestments

Properiy, plant. equipment and intengible assets used in operalions, investment property

Goodwill
Prowisions for contingancias and charges
Transfers of financial assels

COMMITMENTS GIVEN OR RECEIVED
Financing commiiments given or received
Guaranbee commilments given by signature
Qiher guaraniae commimants
Secwilisslion ransections

SALARIES AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Salaries and employes bensefit expenses
Post-employrnent benelils

Oither lang-tarm banefits

Tarminalion banafils

Share-based paymenls

ADDITIOMAL INFORMATION

Changes in share capital and earmings per share

Bassiness combinations and loss of controd or significant influencea
Minority interasts

Soynificant restrictions in subsidiaries, joint veniures and associates
Remuneration awardad 1o the Group's corporate officers

Oiher related parties

Fair valua of fmancial instrumants carried at amorised cost
Exents after the repodting period

Scope of consolidation

Fees paid to the stabutory auditors

FELRE DEZRB2EE




gt BEPRTT BT RIS T it e 3 AR

T |

Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) as adopted by the European Union

The consolidated financial stafements of the BNP Panbas Personal Finance Group are presented for the years ended
31 Decernber 2024 and 31 December 2023, Information for the year ended 31 December 2022 s included in the
consoldated fnancial statements for the vear ended 371 December 2022, which are avaitable on the websife of the
Franch Official Journal of legal announcameanls (www foumal-officiel gou, frl.

INCOME STATEMENT FOR THE 2024 FINANCIAL YEAR
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STATEMENT OF NET INCOME AND CHANGES IN ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES RECOGNISED DIRECTLY IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
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BALANCE SHEET AT 31 DECEMBER 2024
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Share capital, additional paid-in capitad and retained
parmings

e ———

Posilon a5 at 31 Oscember 222 4,317

e s =i

i 454

Appregeislion of nat incoms for 2033

DEstribution of nesenees

Increases; in capitsl and isaues 50
Capital reduclion o repayments

Mawaments in own sjuly inslnmgnis

Share-tased payment plang

Reemnunerslion on pralésred shases

Inbamal Irmsactions alfecting minonty sharetoldes &
Impact of niermdl Ianesctions on mingoly shamtoidenrs
Acousiions of additional infesests or parfial sales ol inmsnedls
Changes in commimeanis §a refurchaie mindiity Sharsholdans’
intgrests

Cithes wafslions.

Tranefar of nonsgcyclable lems lo esenes

Gherges i aesals md Rabiliies recognised direcly in equity

Hat income as at 31 December 2023

100

&)

)

Posiion as at 31 December 2023 B 4,857

e ==

Approgeintion of nel income for 2023

Distribution of resenees

ICEaSes N capial and issues L1l
Capial reductions

Remunaraticn on prelered shares

Impact of nfemal irensactions on minosly sharshokiers

Acquisfiors of pldtional inlemsts or parial sales of inlenesis

Ghanges in commilmnis $0 repurchats mitdty sharehildan’
intaraels

Ot warsalicns

Transfer ol nonescyclable ilems (o resanas

Changes in a32818 end liabiliiss scognisad diseclly in eguy

Het income &4 4F 31 Dacamber 2004

100 2505

i i

{100)

i

iam)

{100j

Foaition ag ab 31 Dicember 2024 & 807

£ ]

£.550




e TR LA B =l el TR F TNl )

Consolidated financial statements for the vear ended 31 December 2024

FROM 1 JANUARY 2023 TO 31 DECEMBER 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) as adopted by the European Union

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
APPLIED BY THE GROUP

1.a. Accounting standards

1.a.1. Applicable Accounting standards

The consolidated financial stalements of the BNP Paribas Personal Finance Group have been prepared in
accordance with international accounting standards (International Financial Reporting Standards - IFRS) as adopled
for use in the European Union". Accordingly, certain provisions of 1AS 39 on hedge accounting have been excluded.

Information on the nature and extent of risks relating to financial instruments as required by IFRS 7 “Financial
Instruments: Disclosures” akong with infarmation on regulatory capital required by 1AS 1 “Presentation of Financial
Statemenis” will be presented in the *Risks and Capital Adequacy of the ENP Paribas Personal Finance Group as at
31 December 2024° report. Chapter 3 Cradit risk of Pillar |1] presents, in paricular, IFRS 7 information on credit risk
exposures and relaled impairment broken down according to whether the underlying loans are performing or non-

performing, by geographic area and by industry.

Further to the Pillar Il racommeandations of the Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD)
in relation to the international tax reform, the Ewropean Lnion adopted in December 2022 the 202272523 directive
Instituting & minimum corporate income lax for international groups, effective 1 January 2024, This diractive was
transposed by tha 2024 Finance Act in France in December 2023

Te clarify the directive’s potential impacls, on 23 May 2023 the |ASB issued a series of amendments Lo IAS 12
“Income Taxas”, which were adopted by the European Union on B Mavembar 2023, In accordance with the
provisions of these amendments, the Group applias the mandatory and temporary exception not to recognise
defarred taxes associated with this additional taxation,

Tha Pillar 1| reform had no impact on the Group when adopted, as al 1 January 2024 the Group has no subsidiary
with @ tax rate of less than 15%.

In France, changes resulting from the pension reform enacted on 14 April 2023 constitule a change in
post-employment benafits, based on |AS 19 § 104, The non-material impact of this change was recorded in the
profit and loss account for the period.

The introduction of ather standards, amendments and interpretations that are mandatory as from 1 January 2024, in
particular the amendment to IFRS 16 on Lease liabilities in a sale and |ease back, had no effect on the Group's
financial statements at 31 December 2024.
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Consolidated financlal statements for the year ended 31 December 2024

1.a2. New major accounting standards, published but not yet applicable

The Group did not early apply new standards, amendments and inerpretations endorsed by the European Union
when the application in 2024 was optional.

The impact assessment of the new standards and amendments nol vet applicable by the Group |5 presented below:

«Amendments to IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments™ and IFRS 7 "Financial Instruments: Disclosures” relating to the
classification and measurement of financial instruments.

On 30 May 2024, the IASE published amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7, which will be applicable for annual periods
beginning on 1 January 2026, These amendmeants:
» clarify the date of recognition and derecognition of certain financial assets and liabilities, with a new
exception for certain financial Kabilities sattled throwgh an electronic paymeant system:
* clarify and add indications for assessing whether a financial asset meets the cash flow criterion, e.g. s
cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding (SPP1);
* require disclosuras in the notes to financial statements for certain instruments with contraciual terms that
can change the time ar amount of cash flows upon the occurrence or non-occurrence of 8 contingent event
{e.g. financial instruments with characterstics linked o the achisvement of environmental, social and
governance objectivas); and
* ypdate the information requirements for equity instruments designated at fair value through equity.

* Publication of IFRS 18 “Presantation and disclosure in financial statements” in replacement of 1AS 1,
IFRS 18 will be mandalory from 1 January 2027, with retrospective apgplication.

IFRS 18 includes many of the requirements of LAS 1 without changes and supplements them with new requirements
refating to:

« the presentation of specific categories (operating, investment and financing) and sub-tolals in the
staterment of profit or loss account;

* information to be disclosed in the notes to the financial statements on management-defined performance
measures (MPM];

* aggragation and disaggregation of information in the statement of profit or loss account.

The Bank is currently assessing the detailed implications of applying IFRS 18 to the Group's consolidated financial
siataments.

1.b. Consolidation

1.b4 SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION

The consalidated financial statements of BMP Paribas Personal Finance include all enfities that are controlled by the
Group, joinily controlled, and under significant influence, with the exception of thase enlities whose consolidation is
regarded as immaterial to the Group. Companies that hald shares in consolidated companies are also consalidated.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains effactive control. Entities under temparary
control are alse incleded in the consalidated financial statements uniil the date of disposal,
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1.b.2 CONSOLIDATION METHODS

Excillisive comlr

Controlled entities are fully consolidated. The Group conlrols a subsidiary when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involverment with the entity and has the ability to affect thosa returns through its power over the antity.

For entities governed by vating rights, the Group generally controls the entity if it holds, directly or indirectly, the
majority of the voting rights (and if there are no contracteal provisions that aller the power of these voting rights) or if
the power to direct the relevant activities of the entity is conferred an it by contractual agreements.

Struciured entities are entities established so that they are not governad by voting rights, for instance when those
vating rights only relate 1o administrative decisions, whereas the relevant activities are directed by means of
contractual arrangaments. They often present characteristics such as limited activities, a pracise, clearly-defined
purpose and insufficient equity 1o allow them to finance their activities without requiring subordinated financial
suppart.

For these enfilies, the analysis of control consider the purpose and design of the entity, the risks ta which the enlity
is designed to be exposed and to what extent the Group absorbs the related variability. The assessment of control
shall consider all the facts and circumstances relevant to the Group's practical abiity to make decisions that could
significantly affect its returns, even if such decisions are contingent on uncertain future events or CiFCUMSances.

In assessing whather it has power, the Group considers only substantive rights which it holds or which are held by
third partias. For a right to be substantive, the halder must have the practical ability o exercise that right when
dacizions about tha relevant activities of the entity need to be made.

Control is reassessad If facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes 1o one or more of the elements of
caniral.

Where the Group contractually holds the decision-making power, for instance where the Group acts as fund manager,
it shall determine whether It Is acting as agent or principal. Indeed, when associated with a certain level of exposure
to the variability of retumns, this decision-making power may indicate that the Group is acting on its own account and
that it thus has confrol over those antities.

Minority interests are presented separately in the consolidated profit and loss account and balance sheet within
consobdated equity. The calculation of minarity interests takes into account the oulstanding cumulative preferred
shares classified as equity instruments issued by subsidiaries, when such shares are held outside the Group.

As regards fully consolidated funds, units held by third-party investors are recognised as debls at fair value through
profit or loss, inasmuch as they are redeemable at fair value at the subscribar’s initiative.

For transactions resulfing in @ loss of contral, any equity interest retained by the Group is remaasured at its fair value
through profit or loss.

Jaint confrol

Where the Group carries out an aclivily with one or more partners, sharing control by virtue of a contractual
agreemant which requires unanimous consent on relevant activities (i.e. those that significantly affect the entity’s
returns), the Group exercises joint control aver the activity. Where the jointly controlled activity is structured through
a separate vehicle in which the partners have rights to the net assels, this joint venture is accounted for using the
equity method Where the jointly controlled activity is not structured through a separate vehicle or where the partners
have rights o the assels and cbligations for the Rabilities of the joinlly controlled activity, the Group accounts for its
share of the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses in accordance with the applicable IFRS.

Significant influence

Entities ower which the Group exercises significant influence (associates) are accounted for using the equity method.

Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions ol a sompany without

exercising control, Significant influence is presumed to exist when the Group direclly or indirgctly holds 20% or more

of an enlity's voling rights. Interests of less than 20% can be included in the consoliddtion scopeil the Group

effectively exercisas significant influence. This is the case for example for entities developed in partnership with ather
a4, p
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associates, where the BMP Paribas Personal Finance Group participates in strategic decisions of the enterprize
through represantation on the Board of directors or equivalent governing body, or exercisas influence over the
enterprise’s operational management by supplying management systems or senior managers, of provides technical
assislance to support the enterprise’s development.

Changes in the net assels of associates (companies accounted for under the equity method) are recognised on the
assels side of the balance sheal under “Invesimants in equity-method entities™ and in the relevant companent of
shareholders’ equity. Goodwill recorded on associates is also included under “Investments in equity-method entities”,

Whenever there is an indication of impairment, the carrying amount of the invesiment consolidated under the equity
mathod (including goodwill) is subjected to an impairment tesl, by comparing its recoverable value (the higher of
value-in-use and market value less costs to sell) to its carmying amounl. Where appropriate, impairment is recognised
under "Share of earnings of equity-method entities” in the consolidated income statement and can be reversed at a
[atar date.

If the Group's share of losses of an equity-method entity equals or exceeds the camrying amount of its investment in
this entily, the Group discontinues including its share of further kosses. The investment is reporied at nil value
Additional losses of the equity-method entity are provided for only to the extent that the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation Io do so, or has made payments on behall of this antity.

Where the Group holds an interest in an associate, directly or indirectly through an entity thal is a venlure capital
organisation, 8 mutual fund, an open-ended investment company or similar entity such as an investment related
insurance fund, it may elect to measure that interest at fair value through profit or loss.

Realised gains and losses on investments in consolidated undertakings are recognised in the profit and loss account
under “Met gain on non-current assets”,

The consolidated financial stalements are prepared using sccounting policies that are consistent for similar
transactions and other events in simikar circumstances.

1.b.3 CONSOLIDATION RULES

Elimination of Intragroup balances and transactions

Intragroup balances arising from transactions between consolidated Group companies and the fransaclions
themselves (including income, expenses and dividends) are eliminated. Profits and losses arising from intragroup
sdles of assets are eliminated, except where there is an indication that the asset sold is impaired, Unrealised gains
and losses included in the value of financial instruments at fair value through equity are maintained in the consolidated
financial statements.

*  Translation of accounts expressed In foreign currencies

The consolidaled financial statements of BNP Paribas Personal Finance are prepared in euros.

The financial statements of enterprizes whosa functional currency is not the euro are translated using the closing
rate method. Under this mathod, all assets and liabilities, both monetary and non-monatary, are translated using the
spot exchange rate at the balance sheet date. Income and expense items are franslated at the average rate for the
period.

Financial statements of the Group's subsidianes located in hyperinflationary economies, previously adjusted for
inflation effects by applying a general price index, are translaled using the closing rate. This rate applies to the
translation of assels and liabilities as well as income and expenses.
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Differences arising from the translation of balance sheet tems and profit and loss ilems are recorded in shareholdars
aquily under "Foreign curmency translation adjustments” for the portion attributabla 1o equity holders of the parent and
under "Minority interests” for the portion atiributable to other investors. Under the optional treatment permitted by
IFRS 1, the Group has reset to zero all foreign currency ranslation adjustments atiributable to shareholders and to
minority interests by reclassifying them to retained eamings in the opening consolidated balance sheel al 1 January
2004,

Upan liquidation or disposal of all or part of an interest held in a foreign enterprise located gutside the Eurozone,
leading to a change in the nature of the investment (loss of control, loss of significant influence or lcss of joint control
without keeping a significant influence), the cumulative exchange difference at the date of liquidation or sale 3
recognised in the profit and loss acocount.

Should the percentage of interest change without leading to a modification in the nature of the investment, the
exchange difference is reallocated between the portion atiributable to shareholders and that attributable to minority
interests if the entity is fully consalidated; if the eniity is consolidated under the equity method, it is recorded in profit
of loss for the portion related to the interest sold,

1b4 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND MEASUREMENT OF GOODWILL

. Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition methed.

Under this methed, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabiities assumed for the acquired entity are recognised
at the fair value at the acquisition date, except for non-current assals classified as held for sale which are racognised
al fair value less costs to sell.

The acquiree's contingent kabilities are not recognised in the consolidated balance sheet unless they represent a
present obligation on the acquisition date and their fair value can be measured reliably.

The acquisition cost is equal to the fair value, at the exchange date, of the assels transferred, liabilities incurred or
assumed, and equity instruments issued to obiain control of the acquiree. Costs directly attributable to the business
combination are treated as a separate transaction and recognised through profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration, measured at its fair value at the acquisition date, iz included in the acguisition cosl
from the date the control is obtained, Subsequent changes in the value of any contingent consideration classified as
a financial liability are recognised through profit or loss.

The Group may recognise any adjustments to the provisional accounting within 12 months of the acquisition date.

Goodwill represents the difference between the acquisiion cost and the acquirer’s interest in the fair value of the
identifiable assels and liabdlities at the acquisition date. Positive goodwill is recognised in the acquirer's balance
shaet, while negative goodwill is recognised immediately in profit or loss, at the acquisition date. Minority interests
are measured at their share of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities. However, for each
business combination, the Group may elacl to measure minority interests at their fair value, in which case a portion
of goodwill is allocated to them. To date, the Group has never used this latter eption.

Goodwill is recognised in the functional currency of the acquiree and translated at the closing exchange rate.

On the acquisition date, any previously held equity interest in the acquires is remeasured at its fair value through
profit or loss. In tha case of a step acquisition, the goodwill is therefore determined by reference to the acquisition-dale
fair walue.

Since the revised IFRS 3 has been appled prospectively, business comblnations completed prior to 1 January 2010
were not rastated for the effects of changes to IFRS 3.

As permifted under IFRS 1, business combinations that took place belore 1 January 2004 and were recorded in
accordance with the previous applicable French accounling standards {French GAAP), had not been restated in
accordance with the principles of IFRS 3. SR B,
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Measurement of goodwill
The Group tests goodwill for impairment on & regular basis,

- Cash-generating units

The Group has split all its activities into cash-generating units® representing major business lines. This split is
consistent with the Group’s organisational structure and management methods and reflects the independence of
each unit in terms of results and management approach. It Is reviewad on a regular basis to take into account any
events that could affect the composition of cash-generating units, such as acquisitions. disposals and major
reorganisations.

- Testing cash-generating unils for impairment

Goodwill allocated to cash-generating unils is testad for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that
a unit may be impaired, by comparing the carmying amount of the unit with its recoverable amount. If tha recovarable
amount is less than the camrying amount, an irmeversible impairment loss is recognised, and the goodwill is written
down by the excess of the camrying amount of the unit over its recoverable amount.

- Recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of a cash-generaling unit is defined by its value in use,

Value in use is based on an estimate of the future cash flows to be generated by the cash-generating unit, derived
from the annual forecasts prepared by the unit's management and approved by Group Executive Management, and
from analyses of changes in the relalive positioning of the unit's aclivities on their marketl. These cash flows are
discounted at a rate that reflects the return that investors would require from an investmant in the businass sector
and region involved.

1.c.  Translation of foreign currency transactions

The methods used to account for assels and liabilities relating to foreign currency transactions carried out by the
Group, and to measure the foreign exchange risk arising on such transactions, depand on whether the asset or
liability in question is classified as 8 monetary or 8 non-monetary tem.

* Monetary assets and llabilities” axpressed in foreign currencies

Monetary assels and liabilities expressed in foreign currencies are franslated into the functional currency of the
relevant Group entity &t the closing rate. Foreign exchange differences are recognised in the profit and loss account,
excepl for thosa arising from financial instruments designated as a cash flow hedge or a net foreign invasiment
hedge, which are recognized in sharaholdars” agquity.

(=
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» Non-monetary assets and liabilities expressed In foreign currencies

Mon-monetary assels may be measured either at historical cost or at fair value. Mon-monetary assets expressed in
foreign currencies are converted using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction, meaning the date of initial
recognition of the non-moneatary assel, when measured at historical cost. When measured at fair value, the closing
rate is considerad.

Foraign exchange differences relating to non-maonetary assets denominated in foreign currencies and recognised at
fair value (equity instruments) are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is classified in “Financial assets at fair
valua through profit or loss”™ and in equity when the asset is classified under “Financial assets at fair value through

euity”.

1.d. Net interest income, income and expenses from commissions and
other activities

1.d41  NET INTEREST INCOME

Income and expenses relating to debt instruments measured at amortisad cast and at fair value through shareholders’
@quity are recognised in the income statemeant using the affective interest rate method.

The effective interest rate is the rate that ensures that the discounted estimated future cash flows through the
axpecled life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period. is equal to the camying amaount af the
asset or liahilty in the balance sheet. The affective interest rate measurement considers:

- fees received or paid that are an integral part of the effective interest rate of the contract (e.g. credit
undenwriting fees),

- fransaclion costs (e.g. referral fees paid o an inlermediary),
and premiums and discounts,

Commissions considered as an additional component of interest are included in the effective interest rate and are
recognised in the profit and loss account in “Met interest incoma”. This calegory includes notably commissions on
financing commitments when it is considered that the setting up of a loan is mare likely than unlikely. Commissions
racaived in respect of financing commitments are deferred until they are drawn and then included in the effective
interest rate calculation and amoriised over the life of the loan.

Referral feas on unused revolving credit cards are recorded directly as inlerest expense.

1.d.2 INCOME AND EXPENSES FROM COMMISSIONS AND OTHER ACTIVITIES

Commissions received with regards to banking and similar services provided (except for those that are integral par
of the effective interest rate), revenues from property development and revenues from services provided in
eonnection with lease contracts fall within the scope of IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers™.

This standard defines a single modal for recognising revenue based on five-step principles. Thase five steps enable
to idantify the distinct performance obligations included in the contracts and allocate the transaction price among
them. The income related 1o those performance obligations is recognised as revenue when the latter are satisfied,
namely when the control of the promised goods or sarvices has been transferred,

The price of a service may conlain a varlable component. Variable amounis may be recognised in the income
statemant anly il it is highly probable that the amounts recordad will ot result in a significant downward Elllrl,‘ljuﬁtmani.
W et i

% -

.
=
E,



Consolidated financial staterments for the year ended 31 December 2024

Commissions

The Group records commission income and expenses in profit or loss:

- aver time as the service s rendered when the client receives continuous service. These include, for example,
cartain commissions on transactions with customers when services are rendersd on a continuous basls,
commissions on financing commitments that are not incleded in the interest margin, because the probability that
thay give rise to the drawing up of a loan is low, commissions on financial guaranisas, clearing commiSSions on
financial instruments, commissions related to trust and similar activities, securities custody fees, etc.

Commissions received under financial guarantes commitments are deemead o represent the initial fair value of
the commilmenl. The resulting Rability is subsequently amortised over the term of the commitment, in
COMImission income; or

al a point in time when the service is rendered, in other cases, These include, for example, distribution fees
received (e.g. for the distribution of insurance products), advisory fees, etc,

Income and expenses from other activities

Income and axpansas from senvices provided in connection with lease contracts are recorded under “Income from
other activities™ in the profit or loss account

Regarding income from senvices provided in connection with lease contracts, the Group records them in profit or loss
as the service is rendered, i.e. in proportion to the costs incurred for maintenance contracts.

The corresponding expenses are recognised when the service is rendered.

1.e. Financial assets and financial liabilities

Financial assets are classified at amortised cost, at fair value through shareholders’ eguity or at fair vahue through
profit or loss depending on the business model and the contractual features of the instruments at initial recognition.

Financial liabililies are classified at amortized cost or al fakr value through profit or loss at initial recognition.

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised in the balance sheet when the Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrumenl. Purchazes and sales of financial assate made within a pariod establishad
by lhe regulations or by a convention in the relevant marketplace are recognised in the balance sheet at the
settlement date.

1.e.1  Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are classified al amortised cost if the fallowing twao criteria are met: the business model objective is
to hold the instrument in order to collect the contractual cash flows and the cash flows consist solely of paymenis
relating to principal and interest on the principal.
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Business model criterion

Financial assets are managed within a business madal whose objective is to hold inancial assets in order to collect
cash flows throwgh the cellection of confractual payments over the life of the instrument

The realization of disposals dose to the malurity of the instrument and for an amount close 1o the remaining
contractual cash flows, or due to an increase in the counferparty’s credit risk is consistent with & business moded
whose objective |5 10 collect the contractual cash flows (“collect’). Sales imposed by regulatory requirements or 1o
manage the concentration of credit risk {without an increase in the asset’s credit risk) are also consistent with this
businass modal when they are infrequent or insignificant in valua.

Cash flow criterion

The cash flow criterion is satisfied if the contractual terms of the debt instrument give rise, on specified dates, (o cash
Nows that are solely repayments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

The criterion is not met in the event of a contraciusl characteristic that exposes the holder to risks or to the volatility
of confractual cash flows that are inconsistent with those of & non-structured or “basic lending” arrangement. It is also
nol satisfled in the event of leverage that increases the variability of the contractual cash flows.

Interest consists of consideration for the time value of monay, for the credit risk, and for the remunaration of ather
risks (e.q. liquidity risk), costs {e.g. administration fees), and a profit margin consistent with that of a basic lending
arangement. The existence of negative interest does not call into quastion the cash flow criterion.

The time value of money is the component of interest - usually referred to as the “rate” component - which provides
consideration for only the passage of time, The relationship between the interest rate and the passage of time must
not be modified by specific characleristics thal could call into guestion the respact of tha cash flow criterion.

Thus, when the variable interest rate of the financial asset is pericdically reset at a frequency that does nod malch
the duration for which the interest rate is established, the lime value of money may be considered as maodified and,
depending on the significance of that modification, the cash fow criterion may not be mat. Somea financial assels hald
by the Group present a8 mismatch between the interest rate reset frequency and the maturity of the index, or interest
rafes indexed on an average of banchmark rale. The Group has devealoped a consistent meathadalogy for analysing
this altteration of the time value of money,

Some contractual clauses may change the iming or the amount of cash lMows. Early redemplion oplions do not call
into guestion the cash flow criterion if the prepayment amount substantislly represents the principal amount
outstanding and the interest thereon, which may include reasonable compansation for the eary termination of tha
contract. For example, as regards loans to retail customers, the compensation limited to & monthe of interest or 3%
of the capital outstanding is considered as reasonable. Acluarial penalties, correspanding 1o the present value of the
difference between the residual coniractual cash flows of the loan, and thedr reinvestment in a lcan to a similar
counterparty or in the interbank market for & similar residual maturity are also considered as reasonable, even when
the compensation can be positive or negative (e “symmetric® compensation). An option that permits the issuer or
the holder of a finandial instrument to change the interest rate from floating fo fived rate does not breach the cash
flow criterion if the fixed rale is datermined at orgination, or if it represents the time value of monay for the residual
maturity of the instrument at the date of exercize of the option,

In the particular case of linancial assels conlractually linked 1o payments recaived on a porifolio of underlying assels
amnd which include a pricrity order for payment of cash flows between invesiors (“tranches™), thereby creating
concentrations of cradit risk, a spacific analysis is carried oul. The contractual characieristics of the tranche and those
of thee underhying financial instrument portfolios must meet the cash flow criterion and the credit risk exposure of the
tranche must be aqual to or lowser than the exposure 1o cradit risk of the underlying pood of finandial instrumanis.

Certain loans may be “non-recourse”, either contractually, or in substance when they are granted to a special purpose
antity. That is particularly the case of numerous project financing or asset financing leans. The cash flow criterion is
met if these kbans do not represent a direct exposure on the assels acting as collateral. In practice, the sole fact that
the financial assel explicitly gives rise to cash flows that are consisient with payments of principal and interest is not
sufficient to conclude that the instrument meets the cash flow criterion. In that case, the underlying assktstg which
thara is limited recourse shall be analyvsed using the “look-through” appraach. If thoss assets doaiot theamsalves meet
the cash flow criterion, an assessment of the existing credit enhancement is perormed. 'I'hg“‘fnllqﬁmng aspects are
considered: structuring ard sizing of the fransaction, awn funds lavel of the structure, expecited source EIF mpayrneﬂt
prica volatility of the underlying assets.

. ,;_-I.-_ [l

o D
L S— £
A 2



..

Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024

The “financial assets at amortised cost” category includes, in particular, loans granted by the Group, as well as
reverse repurchase agreements and securities held by the Group ALM Treasury to collect contractual flows and
meeting the cash flow criterion.

Recognition

On initlal recognition, financial assets are recognised at fair value, including transaction costs directly atiributabile to
the transaction as well as commissions related to the origination of tha loans,

Thay are subsequenlly measured at amortised cost, including accrued interest and net of repaymeants of principal
and interest during the past period. These financial assets are also subject from their initial recognition, 1o the
measurement of a loss allowance for expected credit losses (note 1.0.5),

Interest is calculated using the effective interest method determined at inception of the contract.

1.2.2 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH EQUITY

Debt instrumeants

Debt instruments are classified at fair value through sharehaolders” equity if the following two criteria are met;

businass model critarion: financial assats ane held in a business model whose objective is achieved by both
holding the financial assets to collect contractual cash flows and selling the financial assets (“collect and sala”).
The latter is not incidental but is an integral part of the business model;

- cash flow crilerion: the principles are identical 1o those applicable to financial assets al amortised cost.

The securities held by the Group ALM Treasury to collect contractual flows or to be sold and meeting the cash flow
criterion are classified in this calegory

On Initial recognition, financial assets are recognised at fair value, including transaction costs directly attributable to
the transaction. They are subsequently measured at fair value and changes in fair value are recognised under a
specific line of sharaholdars’ aquity entitled *Changes in assets and lisbilities recognised directly in aguity thal may
be reclassified to profit or loss”. Thesa financial assats are also subject to the measurement of a loss allowanca for
axpacted credit losses on the same approach as for debt instruments at amortised cost. The countarparty of the
related impact in cost of risk is recognised in the same specific line of shareholders’ equity. On disposal, changes in
fair value previously recognised in shareholders” equity are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, interest is recognised in the income statement using the effective interest method determined at the
inceplion of the contract.

Equity instruments

Imvestments in equity instruments such as shares are classifiad on option, and on a case by case basis, at fair valua
through shareholdars” equity (under a specific line). On disposal of the shares, changes in fair value previously
recognised in equity are not recognised in profit or loss. Only dividands, if they represent remuneration for the
investment and not repayment of capital. are recognised in profit or loss. These instruments are not subject (o
impairment,
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Investments in mutual funds puttable o the issuer do not meet the definition of equity instruments. Thay do not meet
the cash flow crilarion either and thus are recognised at fair value through profit or loss.

1.8.3 FINANCING AND GUARANTEE COMMITMENTS

Financing and financial guarantee commitments that are not recognised al fair value through profit or loss are
presented respectively in notes 6.a and 6.b. They are subject to the measurement of a loss allowance for expecled
credit logses, These loss allowances are presented under “provisions for liabilities and charges”.

1.e.4 IMPAIRMENT OF FINAMCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST AND DEBT INSTRUMENTS
MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

The impalrment model far credit rigk is based on axpacted losses,

This model applies to loans and debl instruments measured at amortised cost or fair value through equity, to loan
commitments and financial guarantes contracts that are not recognised at fair value, as well as to lease receivables,
trade receivables and confract assats.

BMP Paribas Personal Finance applies two impairment models: the general model and the simplified model describad
berlow.

To be noted that the general model includes two methods for measuring axpactad cradil Insses:

- Statistical method based on EAD (Exposure al default), PD (Probability of default) and LGD (Loss Given
Default) of expected cradit losses

- Historical statistical method for measuring expecied credil losses

Since the introduction of IFRS9, BNP Paribas Personal Finance has been using a specific siatistical method for
measuring expecled credit losses for all its entities (historical statistical method for measuring expected credit losses)
compared with the BNP Paribas Group's method, which Is based on Basel concepls (statistical methed based on
EAD PD, LGD).

During the 2024 financial year, for the purposes of harmanisation with the BNP Paribas Group, the measurement of
expecied credit losses on the retail portfalios of some of BNP Paribas Personal Financa geographies (Italy, France,
Spain and the Netherlands) was determined by applying a new mathod based on Basel concepts (EAD, PD, LGD).

The other geographies do not have thesa parameters yet and kept on using the historical statistical methed for the
2024 financial year.

« Genaral model

The Group identifies three “stages” that cormespond each to a specific status with regards 1o the evolution of
counterparty credit risk since the initial recognition of the assat.

12-month expected cradit losses (*stage 17): If at the reporting date, the credit risk of tha financial instrument
has not increased significantly since its initial recognition, this instrument is impaired at an amount equal to
12-month expected credit losses (resulling from the risk of default within the next 12 manths)

- Lifetime expected cradit lossas for non-impaired assets (‘stage 27): the loss allowance is measured at an
amoaunt aqual to the lifetime expected credit losses if the cradit risk of the financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition, but the financial assal is not considered credit-impaired u-‘duuh.t_l'uénl.

- Lifetime expected credit losses for credit-impaired or doubtful financial assels rstagaa::l: ;hq_lpas_a]lnw’éme
is also measured for an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit losses. o | ot BT

"
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This general model is applied to all instruments within the scope of IFRS 2 impalrment.

The IFRS 9 expected cradit loss approach is symmetrical, i.e. if lifetime expacted credit losses have been recognised
in 8 previous reporting period, and if it is assessed in the current reporting period that there is no longer any significant
incraasa in credit risk since initial recognition, the loss allowance reverts o @ 12-months expected credit loss.

As regards inferest income, under “stages” 1 and 2, It Iz calculated on the gross carrying amount. Under “stage 37,
interast income s calculated on the amortised cost {i.e. the gross carrying amount adjusied for the loss allowance).

Definltlon of default

The definition of default is aligned with the Based regulatory default definition, with a rebuttable presumption that the
default occurs no later than 50 days past due. This definition considers the EBA guidelines of 28 September 2016,
particularly those regarding the thresholds applicable for the counting of past-dus and probation perods.

The definition of default is used consistently for assessing the increase in credit risk and measwuring expected credit
losses.

Doubtful credit-impaired financial assets

Dafinitian

A financial assel is considered doubtful and classified in "stage 3" when one or more events that have a detrimental
impact on the estimaled fulure cash flows of thal financial asset have ocourred.

Al an individual level, objeciive evidence That a financial assel is credit-impaired includes observable data regarding
the following evenis: the existence of accounts that are more than 90 days past due; knowledge or indications that
the borrower is experiencing significant financial difficulties, such that a risk can be considered to have arisan
regardiess of whather the bormower has missed any payments; any concession granied to the borrower at the credit
tarm that the lendar would not have considered if the bormower had not been in financial difficulty (see section
"Restructuring of financial assets for financial difficulties™).

Specific case of purchesed or onginaled credit-impaired assels
In some cases, linancal assels are credil-impaired at their initial recognition.

Far those assels, no loss sllowance is recorded on initial recognition. The effective interest rate is calkoulated
considering the lifetime expecltad credit lossas in the initial estimated cash flows. Any changa in lifetime expacted
credit losses since initial recognition, positive or negative, is recognised as a boss allowance adjustment in profit or
kss.

Significant increase In credit risk

A significant increase in credit risk may be assessed on an individual basis or on a collective basis (by grouping
financial instruments according to comman credit risk characleristics), considerng all reasonable and supporiable
information and comparing the risk of default of the financial insirument at the reporting date with the risk of default
of the financial instrument at the dale of initial recognition.

There is also, according to the standard, a rebuttable presumption thal the credit risk of an instrument has significantly
increased since nitial recognition whean the contraciual paymenis are mora than 30 days past due.
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Far entities still applying the Historical Statistical Method for measuring expected cradit losses as at 31 December
2024, the assessment of deterioration is also based on the axistence of a regularised payment incident that has
occurred over the past 12 manths.

The principles applied to assess the significant increase in credit risk are detailed in note 2.f Cost of risk,

Measurement of expected credit losses

Expected credil losses are defined as an estimate of credit losses (i.e. the prasent value of all cash shortfalls)
weighted by the probability of occurrence of these lossas over the expected life of the financial instruments.

Statistical Method for measuring expected credit losses based on EAD, PD; LGD

In practice, for exposwres classified in stage 1 and stage 2, expected cradil losses are measured as the product of
the probability of default ("PD"), Loss Given Default ("LGD") and Exposure at Default ("EAD"), discounted at the
affective interest rate (or an approximation thereof) of the exposure. They resull from the risk of default within the
next 12 months (stage 1), or from the: risk of default over the maturity of the facility (stage 2).

For exposures classified in stage 3, expected credit losses are measured as the value, discounted at the effective
interest rate (or an approximation thareof, of all cash shortfalls over the Iife of the financial instrument. Cash shartfalls
reprasant the difference between the cash flows that are due in accordance with the contract, and the cash flows that
are expected to be received. Where appropriate, the estimate of expected cash flows takes into accounl a eash flow
scenario arising fram the sake of the defaulted loans or groups of loans. The proceads from the sale are recognised
net of disposal cosis.

Maturty

Al eantractual terms of the financial instrument are taken into account, including prepayment, extension and similar
options. In the rare cases where the expectad lile of the financial instrument cannot be estimated reliably, the residual
contractual term is used. The standard specifies that the maximum period to consider when measuring expected
credit losses is the maximum contractual period. However, for revolving credit cards and overdrafts, in accordance
with the exception provided by IFRS 9 for these products, the maturity considered for measuring expected credit
losses is the period over which the entity is exposed to credit risk, which may extend beyond the contractual maturity
{notice period). For revalving credils and overdrafts to non-retail counterparties, the contractual maturity ean be used,
for exarmngple il the next review date is the contractual maturity as they are individually managed.

Probabilites of Default (PO}
Probability of Default is an astimate of the likelihood of default over a given time harizon.

The measuremeant of axpected credit losses requires the estimation of both 1-year probabilities of default and lifetime
probabilities of default,

1-year PDs are derived from long term average regulatory “through the cycle” PDs to reflect the current situation and
MBCroaconamic Scenarios

Lifetime PDs are determined based on the rating migration matrices reflecting the expected changes in the rating of
the exposure until maturity, and the associated probabilities of default,

Loss Green Defaull (LGD)

Loss Given Default is the differance betwean contractual cash flows and expected cash-flows, discounted using the
effective interest rate (or an approximation thereof) at the default date. LGD is expressed as a percentage of the
Exposure at Default (EAD).

The estimate of expacted cash flows takes into account cash flows resulting from the sale of collataral hald or other
credit enhancements if they are part of the contractual terms and are nat accounted for separately by the entity (for
example, 8 morigage associated with a residential laan), net of the costs of obltaining and sslling the collateral. .

5 efrict . %
For guaranteed loans, the guarantes is considered as integral to the loan agreement if it I8 @fibedded in the
contractual clauses of the loan, or f it was granted concomitantly to the kan, and i the E:pet:tle_d reimbursement
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amaunt can be attached to a loan in particular {i.e. absence of pooling effect by means of a tranching mechanism, or
e exestence of a global cap for a whaole porifolia). In such case, the guarante s laken inlo account when measuring
the expected credit losses. Otherwise, it is accounted for as a separate reimbursement asset,

Exposure af Defawll (EAD)

Expasure at Default (EAD) of an instrurment is the anticipated outstanding amount owed by the obligor at the time of
default. It is determined by the expected payment profile taking inte aceount, depending on tha product type: the
contractual repaymant schedule, expacted early repayments and expected future drawings for revaolving facilities,

Forward-iookimg information
The amount of expacted credit losses is measured on the basis of probability-weighted scenanos, in view of past
events, current conditions and reasonable and supportable economic forecasts,

The principles applied to take into account forward looking information when measuring expected cradit losses are
detailed in note 2.f Cost of rigk.

Historical Statistical Method for measuring expected credit losses

This method s based on discounted loss rates after term forfieiture and on the probability of transition to term
forfeiture. The measurement of thesa parameters is parfformed on a statistical basis for homogeneous populations.

In practice, for exposures classified in stage 2 and stage 3, expected credit losses are calculated as the product of
the probabdity of transition to term forfelture, the loss in the event of term forfeiture and the amount of tha expasura
(outstanding + use of off-balance sheet items) discounted at the effective interest rate (or an approximation thereof).

For exposures classified in stage 1, expected credit losses are measured as the product of the probability of transition
1o dafawlt (stage 3) at 12 months, the loss associated with the stage 3 to which they migrate and the amaunt of the
exposure (outstanding + use of off-balance sheet items) discounted at the contractual customer interest rate.

Probabilities of fransifion fo ferm forfellurs

The: probabilities of transition to term forfeiture are determined using migration matrices composed on the basis of a
partfolio history showing the 1-year trand in the stalus of contracts and their outstandings.

For stage 1, the probability of transition to stage 3 is defined directly from the matrices.

For stage 2 and stage 3 excluding term forfeiture, the 1-year migration matrices are iterated, assuming that the
bahaviour of a stalus remains the same over ime, in order 1o define the probabilties of term forfeiture al maturity.

Lazs rate i the event of term forfeifure

Thay are calculated on the basis of actual cash-flows per “buckels” recorded per generation of entry into term
forfeiture, by extrapolating future cash receipts per "time step” in order to compose a curve of cash receipts over the
antire term; these cash receipts are discounted with an average contractual interest rate; the koss rate is equal to (1
- dizcounted cash recaipts rate).
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Two loss rates gre then calculated:

- A loss rate on new transition o term forfeiture. This rate applies to casas that will ransition to term forfeiture. I s
determined by taking into account all cash recelpls expectad on term forleliure;

- A loss rate on outstanding contracts already in term forfeiture. It is determined by taking into accoun! the amoums
still to be received by generation of term forfeiture.

For guaranteed loans, the guarantee is considered as integral to the loan agreement if it is embedded in the
contractual clauses of the lsan, or if it was granted concomitantly 1o the lcan, and if the expecled reimbursement
amount can be atiached fo a loan in particular, In such case, the guarantee is taken inlo account when measuring
the expected credit losses.

ExXposiing

Exposure is defined as the sum of oufstandings and the use of off-balanca sheet iterns at the reporting dabe. In order
to defing the off-balance sheet portion to e hedged, annual use matrices based on historical data are composed
with & direct reading of the 1-year use of canfracts in stage 1 and their iteration to define the use at maturity for stages
2 and 3 excluding term forfeiture.

Forward-looking infarmation

The amount of expected credit losses s measured on the basis of probabdity-weighted scenarios, in view of past
esnents, current conditions and reascnable and supportable economic forecasts.,

The principles applied to laks into account forward looking informalion when measuring expecled credit losses are
detailed in note 2.1 Cost of risk.

* Simplified model

The simplified approach consisls in accounting for a loss allowance corraspanding to [fatime axpacted credil loszes
since initial recognition, and at each reporting date.

The Group applies this model to trade receivables with a maturity shorter than 12 manths.
+ Write-offs

A write-off consists in reducing the gross carrying amount of a financial asset when there are no longer reasonable
expectations of recovering that financial assat inits entiraty or @ portion thereof, or when it has baen fully or partially
forgiven. The write-off iz recorded when all other means avallable 1o the Bank for recovering the receivables or
guarantees have failed, and also generally depends an the specific conlext to each jurisdiction.

If the amount of (o885 on wrile-off i greater than the accumulated loss allowance, the difference iz an additional
impairment loss posted in "Cost of risk”. For any recovery once the financial asset (or part thereof) is no longer
recognised on tha balance sheal, the amount recenvad i recorded as a gain in “Cosl of risk”.

* Recoveries through the repossession of the collateral

When a loan is secured by a financial or @ non-financial asset serving a3 a guarantee and the counterparty is in
defaull, the Group may decide (o exercisa the guaraniea and, dapanding on the jurisdiction, it may than becomea
owner of the assal. In such a situation, the loan is written-olf in counterparty of the assel received as ﬂnlhtgrfa.

Onoe ownership of the azset is effective, it iz recognised at fair value and classified acmrﬁngt'fu the inllanl of Use.
. g™
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Restructuring of financial assets for financial difficulties

A restructuring due to the borrower's financial difficulties is defined as a change in the terms and conditions of the
initial transaction that the Group is considering anly for economic or legal reasons related to the borrower's financial
difficulties.

For restructurings nol resulting in derecognition of the financial assel, the restructured asset is subject to an
adjustment of its gross carrying amount, 1o reduce it to the discounted amount, at the onginal effective inlerest rate
of the asset, of the new expacted future flows. Tha changa in the gross carrving amount of the asset is recorded in
the income statement in “Cost of risk”

The existence of a significant increase in credit risk for the financial instrument is then assessed by comparing the
risk of defaull after the restructuring {under the revised contractual terma) and the risk of default al the mitial
recognition date (under the original contractual terms). In order to demonstrate that the criteria for recognising lifetime
axpacted credil losses are no longer mel, good quality payment behaviour will have to be cbserved over a certain
period of time,

When the restructuring consists of a parial or Iotal exchange against other substantially different assets {for example,
the exchange of a debt instrumant against an equity instrumeant), it results in the extinction of the original asset and
the recognition of the assels remitied in exchange, measured at their fair value at the date of exchange. The
difference in value is recorded in the income statement in *Cost of risk”.

Modifications of financial assats that are not due to the borrower's financial difficulties, or granted in the context of a
meratarium (i.e. commercial renegotiations) are generally analysed as the early repayment of the former loan, which
is then derecognised, followed by the set-up of a new loan at market conditions. If there is no significant repayment
penalty, they consist in reselling the interest rate of the [can at market conditions, with the client being in a position
to change lender and not encouniering any financial difficulties.

Probation periods

Tha Group applies observation periods 1o assess whether assets may return to a higher stage. Accordingly, a 3-
month probation period is observed for the transition from stage 3 to stage 2 which is extended to 12 months in the
evant of restructuring duea to financial difficullies.

For the transition from stage 2 to stage 1, a probation period of two years is observed for loans that have been
restructurad due to financial difficulties.

1.e.5 COSTOFRISK

Cost of risk includes the following items of income:

- impairmant gains and losses resulling from he accounting of lees allowances for 12-manth expectaed credit
lossas and ifetime expected credit losses (“stage 17 and “stage 27) relating to debt instruments measured al
amaortised cost or at fair value through shareholders” equity, loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts
that are nol recognised at fair value as well as lease receivables, contract assets and trade receivables;

. impairment gains and losses resulting from the accounting of loss allowances relating 1o financial assels
(including those at fair value through profit or loss) for which there s objective evidence of impairment ("stage
37}, write-offs on irecoverable loans and amounts recovered on [cans writien-off.

In specific circumstances, BMP Paribas Personal Finante may recegnise addiional adjustments in cost of risk, where
RECASSArY.
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1.0.6 Financial instrumeants at fair value through profit or loss

Trading portfolio and other financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss

The trading portfolic includes instruments held for trading (frading transactions), including derivatives.

Other financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss include debt instruments that do not meet the
“erllect” or "collect and sale” business madal criterlon or that do not meet tha cash-fow criterion, as well as equity
instruments for which the fair value through sharehalders” equity option has not been retained. Finally financial assets
may be designated as at fair value through profit or loss if this enables the entity to eliminate or significantly reduce
a mismatch in the measurement and accounting treatment of assets and liabilities that would otherwisa arise if they
wera o be classified in separate categorias.

&ll those financial instrumeants are measured at fair value at injtial recognition, with transaction costs directly posted
in profit or loss. Al the reporiing date, they are measurad al fair value, with changes presented in “Net gainfloss on
financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss™, Income, dividends, and realised gains and kosses on disposal
related o held- for- frading transactions are accountad for in the same profit or loss account.

Financlal liabilities designated as at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities are recognised under option in this categary in the two following situations:

for hybrid financial instruments containing one or more embedded derivatives which otherwise would have been
separated and accounted for separately. An embedded derivative is such that its economic characteristics and
risks are not closely related o those of the host contract;

- when using the option enables the entity to eliminate or significantly reduce a mismatch in the measurement
and accounting treatment of assets and liabilifies that would otherwise arise if they were to be classified in
separate categories,

Changes in fair value dusa to the own credit risk are recognised under a specific heading of shareholders” equity.

1.e.7 Financial liabilities and equity instruments

A financial instrument issued or its various components are classified as a financial liability or aquity instrument, in
accordance with the economic substance of the legal contract.

Financial instruments issued by the Group are qualified as debt instruments if the entity in the Group issuing the
instruments has a contractual obligation 1o deliver cash or another financial asset to the: halder of the instrument. The
same applies if the Group Is required to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under
canditions that are patentially unfavourable Lo the Group, or to deliver a variable number of the Group's cwn equity
instruments.

Equity instruments result from confracts evidencing a residual interest in an entity’s assets afler deducting all of its
liabilities.
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Debt securities and subordinated debt

Debl securities and subordinated debt are measured al amorlised cos! unless they are recognised at fair value
through profit or loss.

Dbt sacurities are inifially recognised at the issue value including transaction costs and are subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest mathod.

Issued bonds redeemable or convertible into cwn equity may contain a debl companent and an equity companent,
determined upon Initial recognition of the transaction. In this case, they will be qualified as compound financial
instruments.

In this respect, the Group has elected to record contingent converible bonds (ssued, without maturity, when
convertible into & variable number of own shares on the occurrence of a predetermined trigger event (e.g. a decrease
in the solvency ratio below a threshold), as compound instruments, to the axtent that the coupans on these bands
are paid digcretionarily.

Equity instruments

The term “own equily instruments” refers to shares issuad by the parent company BNP Paribas Personal Finance
SA and by its fully consofidated subsidiaries. External costs that are directly attributable 1o an issue of new shares
are deducted from equity net of all related taxas.

Own equity instruments held by the Group, also known as treasury shares, are deducted from consalidated
shareholders’ equity irrespectiva of the purpose for which they are held. Gains and losses arising on such instruments
are aliminated from the consolidated prafit and loss account.

When the Group acquires aquity instruments issued by subsidiaries under the exclusive control of BNP Paribas
Personal Finance, the differance batwean the acquisition price and the share of net assets acquired is recorded in
retained earnings atiributable to sharsholders' equity. Similardy, the liability corrasponding to put oplions granted to
minority shareholders in such subsidiaries, and changes in the value of that liability, are offset against minority
interasts, with any surplus offset against retained eamings attributable to shareholders” equity. Until these options
have been exercised, the portion of net income attributable to minarity interests is allocated 1o minority nterasls in
the profit and loss account. A decrease in the Group's interest in a fully consolidated subsidiary is recognised in the
Group's accounts as a change in shareholders” equity.

Financial instrumenis issued by the Group and classified as equity instruments (nofably the undated super
subordinated notas) are presented in the balance sheet in “Capital and retained eamings”.

Distributions from & financial instrumant classified as an equity instrument are recognised directly as a deduction
from aquity. Similarly, the transaction costs of an instrument classified as equity are recognisad as a daduction from
shareholders” equity.

Own equity instrument derivatives are treated as follows, depending on the mathod of settiament:

- @s equity instruments if they are settled by physical delivery of a fixed number of own equity instruments for a
fixed amount of cash or other financial asset. Such instruments are not revalued;

- as derivalives if they are setled in cash or by choice by physical delivery of the shares or in cash. Changes in
value of such instruments are aken to the profit and loss account.

If the: contract includes an obligation, whether contingent or not, for the bank to repurchase its own shares, the Bank
recognises the debt at its present value withi an offsatiing enfry in shareholdars” agquity.
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1.e.8 HEDGE ACCOUNTING

The Group retained the oplion provided by the standard to maintain the hedge accounting requirements afl 1AS 39
until the future standard on macro-hedging is entered into force. Furthermaore, IFRS 9 does not explicitly address the
fair valua hedge of the interest rate risk on a portfalio af financial assets or liabilities. The provisions in 1AS 33 for
these portiolio hedges, as adapled by the European Union, continue to apgply.

Derivatives contracted as part of a hedging relationship are designated according 1o the purpose of the hedge.

Fair value hadges are particularly used to hedge interest rate risk on fixed-rate assets and labilities, both for ientified
financial instruments {securities, debt issues, loans, borrowings) and for portfolios of financial instruments ({in
particular, demand deposilts and fixed-rate [oans).

Cash flow hedges are parficularly used 1o hedge interest rate risk on floating-rate assels and liabilites, including
rolbovers, and foreign exchange risks on highly probable forecast foreign cusrency revenusas.

At the inception of the hedge, the Group prepares formal documentation which datails the hedging relationship.
identifying the instrument, or partion of the instrument, or portion of risk that Is being hedged, the hedging strategy
and the type of risk hedged, the hedging instrumant, and the methods used io assess the effectiveness of the hedging
redationship.

On inception and at least quarterly, the Group assesses, in consistency with the original documentation, the actual
(ratrospective) and expected (prospective) effectiveness of the hedging relationship. Retrospective effactiveness
lests are designed to assess whether the ratio of actual changes in the fair value or cash flaws of the hedging
instrument to these in the hedged item is within a range of 80% to 125%. Prospective effectiveness tests are designed
lo ensure that expected changes in the fair value or cash flows of the derivative over the residual life of the hedge
adequately offset those of the hedged item. Far highly probable forecast transactions, effectiveness is assessed
largehy on the basis of historical data for similar iransactions.

Under IAS 39 as adopted by the European Union, which excludes certain provisions on porifolio hedging, interest
rale rigk hedging relationships based on porifolios of assets or liabilities qualify for fair value hedge accounting as
follows: In this contaxt:

the risk designated as being hedged is the interest rate risk associated with the interbank rate component of
interest rates on commercial banking transactions (loans to customers, savings accounls and demand
deposits);

: the instruments designated as being hedged correspond, for each maturity band, to a portion of the interest
rate gap associated with the hedged undarlying;

- the hadging instruments usad consist exclusively of “plain vanila” swaps!

- prospective hedge effectiveness is established by the fact that all derivatives must, on inceplian, have the efiect
of reducing interest rate risk in the portfolio of hedged underlying. Retrospectively, a hedge will be disqualified
from hedge accounting once a sharifall arises in the underlying specifically associated with that hedge for each
maturity band (due to prepayment of loans or withdrawals of deposits).

The accounting treatment of derivatives and hedged items depends on the hedging strategy.

In & fair value hedging relationship, the derivative instrument is remeasured at fair valug in the balance sheet, with
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss in "Met gainfloss on financial instruments at fair valua throwgh profit
or loss”, symmatrically with the remeasurement of the hedged item to reflect the hedged risk. In the balance sheet,
the fair value remeasurement of the hedged companent is recognised in accordance with the classification of the
nedged item in the case of a hedge of identified assels and liabilities, or under “Remeasurement adjustment on
interest rate risk hedged portfolios™ in the case of a portfolio hedging relationship.

If a hedging relationship ceases or no longer fulfils the effectiveness criteria, the hedging instrumant s transferred to
the trading book and accounted for using the treatment applied to this calegary. In the case of identified fixed-income
instruments, the remeasurement adjustment recognisad in the balance sheet is amortised al the effective interest
rate over the remaining life of the instrument. In the case of interest rate risk hadged fixed-income partfolios, the
adjustment is amortised on a straight-line basis over the remainder of the original term of the hedge. If the hedged
ilem no longer appears in the balance sheet, in particular due to prepayments, the adjustment is taken to the profit
and loss account immediately. L 4
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In a cash flow hadging relationship, the dervative is measured at fair value in the balance sheal, with changes in fair
value taken to shareholders’ equily on a separata line, “Changes in fair value recognised directly in equity”. The
amounts taken to shareholdars’ equity over the life of the hedge are transfarmed to the profit and loss account under
“Net interest income” as and when the cash flows from the hedged item impact profit or koss. The hedged items
conbinue to be accounted for using the treatment specific o the category 1o which they balong.

If the hedging relationship ceases or no longer fulfils the effectiveness criteria, the cumulative amounts recognised
in shareholders’ equity as a result of the remeasurameant of the hedging instrument remain in equity until the hedged
transaction itsell impacts profit or loss, or until it becomes clear that the transaction will not occur, at which point they
are transfarred to the profit and loss account.

If the: hedged item ceasas to exist, the cumulative amounts recognised in shareholders” equity are immediately taken
to the profit and loss account

Whataver the hedging strategy used, any ineffective portion of the hadge is recognised in the profit and loss account
under “MNet gain/ loss on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss”,

Hedges of net foreign currency investments in subsidiaries and branches are accounted for in the same way as cash
flow hedges. Hedging instruments may be foreign exchange derivatives or any ather non-derivative financial
instrurment.

1..8 DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUE

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
betwesn market participants in the principal market or most advantageous market, al the measurement date.

The Group determines the fair value of financial instruments either by using prices obtained directly from external
dala or by using valuation techniques, These valuation techniques are primarily market and income approaches
encompassing genarally accepted models (e.g. discounted cash flows, Black-Scholes moded, and imerpolation
techniques). They maximise the use of obsarvable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs, They are
calibrated to reflect current market conditions and valuation adjusiments are applied as appropriate, when some
factors such as model, liquidity and eredit risks are not captured by the models or their underlying inputs but are
nevertheless considerad by market participants when setting the exit prica.

The unit of measurement is generally the individual financial asset or financial liability but a portfolio-based
measurement can be elected, subject to cerain conditions. Accordingly, the Group retains this portfolio-based
measurement excaplion io determing the fair value when some group of financial assets and financial liabilities and
other contracts within the scope of the standard relating fo financial instruments with substantially similar and
offselling market risks or credit risks is managed on the basis of a net exposure, in aceordance with the decumented
risk management strategy.

Ageels and liabdlities measured or disclosed at falr value are categorised into the three following levels of the fair
value hierarchy:

Level 1: fair values are determined using directly quoted prices in active markets for identical assels and
liabilities. Characteristics of an active market include the existence of a sufficient frequency and volume of
activity and of readily available prices.

Level 2: fair values are determined based on valuation technigues for which significant inputs are observable
markel dala, either directly or indirectly. These techniques are regulardy calibrated and the inpuls are
corroboraled with information from active markets,

Level 3: fair values are determined using valuation techniques for which significant inputs are unobservable or
cannot be comroborated by market-based cbservalions, due for instance to illiquidity of the instrument and
significant moded risk. An unobservable input is 8 parameter for which there are no market data available It
therefore comes from in-house assumplions about the data that would be used by the other market participants.
Tha assessment of the absence of liquidity or the identification of a model risk assurﬂas‘ the' edarcisa of

judgement. The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the asset or liability is categonsed in its En‘[ﬂ'ﬂl}f is
based upan the lowest level input that is significant to the entire fair value measurement.  Tradurl’=

For financial instruments disclosed in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, and marginally mn]e |n5{rurnen'|.s dm::h]es&d

Co
Lo ]

_EE_ 3 .'l-

*
i
T (4
e



=

o R PSSl T L P s S L | Y i e ]

Consolidated financial staterments for the year ended 31 December 2024

in Level 2, a difference between the transaction price and the fair value may arise al initial recognition. This “Day
One Profit” is deferred and released to the profit and loss account over the period during which the valuation
paramelers are expected 1o remain non-observable. When parameters that were originally non-obsarvable become
abservable, or when the valuation can be substantiated in comparison with recent similar tfransactions in an active
market, the unrecognised partion of the day one profit is released 1o the profit and loss account.

1.2.10 DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Derecognition of financlal assets

The Group derecognises all or part of a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows of the asset
axpire, or when the Group transfers the asset — either on the basis of a transfer of the contractual rights to its cash
flows, or by retaining the contractual rights to receive the cash flows of the asset while assuming an obligation to pay
the cash flows of the asset under an eligible pass-throwgh arrangement = as well as substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset.

Where the Group has transferred the cash flows of a financial asset but has neither fransferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial assat and has nol in practice retained control of
the financial asset, the Group derecognises the financial asset and then records separately, if necassary, an assal
or liability representing the rights and obligations created or held as part of tha transfar of the asset. If the Group has
retained control of the financial assat, it maintains it on its balance sheet to the extent of its continuing invalvemant
in that asset.

Upan the derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, a gain or loss on disposal is recognised in the profit and
loss account for an amount equal Lo the difference between the carmying amount of the asset and the value of the
consideration received, adjusted where appropriate for any unrealised gain or loss previously recognised directly in
equity.

If all these conditions are not met, the Growp retains the asset in ils balance sheet and recognises a liability for the
ohbligations arising on the transfar of tha assat.

Derecognition of financial llabilities

The Group derecognises all or part of & financial liability when the Rability is extinguished, i.e. when the obligation
specified in the contract is extinguished, cancelled or expired. A financial liabiity may also be derecognised in he
avent of a substantial change in its contractual terms or if exchanged with the lender for an instrument with
substantially different contractual terms.

Repurchase agresments and securitles lending/bomowing

Securithes tempaorarily sold under repurchase agreements continue 1o ba recognised in the Group's balance sheet in
the category of securities to which thay balong. The comesponding liability is recognised at amartised cost under the
appropriale “Financial liabilities. at amortised cost” category on the balance sheet, axcept in the case of repurchase
agreements contracted for trading purposes, for which the corresponding liability is recognised in “Financial liabilities
al fair value through profit or loss”,

Securities temporarily acquired under reverse repurchase agreements are not recegnised in the Group's balance
shael. The corresponding receivable is recognised at amortised cost under the appropriate “Financial assets at
amortised cost” category in the balance sheet, except in the case of reverse repurchase agreements contracted for
trading purpases, for which the corresponding receivable is recognised in “Financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss",

Securities lending fransactions do mol resull in derecognition of the lent securities, and securities Borrawing
transactions do not result in recognition of the borrowed securities on the balance sheet. In caSes where the borrowed
securiies are subsequently sold by the Group, the obligation to deliver the bmrﬂﬂec[ﬁecgfrﬂﬁa on- maturity is
recognised on the balance sheet under “Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or Ioss™" T
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1.e.11 OFFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

A financial assat and a financial liability are offset and the net amount is presented in the balance sheet if, and only
if, the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts, and intends either o sattle on a net
basis, or o realise the asset and seiils the liabiity simultaneoushy,

Repurchase agreements and derivatives thal meet the two criteria set oul in the accounting standard are offset in
the balance shesat.

1.f.  Property, plant, equipment and intangible assets

Proparty, plant and equipment and intangible assets shown in the Group's consolidated balance sheet are composed
of assets used in oparations and investment property. Rights-of-use related to leased assels (see nofe 1.9.2) are
presented by the lessee within fixed assets in the same category as similar assets held.

Assets used in operalions are those used in the provision of services or for administrative purposas, and include nan-
property assets leased by the Group as lessor under operating leases.

Investment property comprises property assets held to generate rental income and capital gains.
Investmeant property is recognised at cost.

Property, plant, equipment and intangible assets are initially recognised at purchase price plus directly attributable
costs, together with borrowing cosls where a long pericd of construction or adaptation is required before tha asset
can ba brought into service,

Software developed internally by the BMP Paribas Parsonal Finance Group that fulfils the criteria for capitalisation is
capitalised at direct development cost, which includes axiernal costs and the labour costs of employees directly
attributable to the projact.

Subsequent (o initial recognition, fixed assats are stated at cost less accumulated depraciation or amortisation and
any impairmant losses.

The depreciable amount of fixed assels is calculated after deducting its residual value. Only assats leasad by the
Group as the lessor under operating leases are presumed to have a residual value, as the useful life of property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets used in oparations is generally the same as their economic life.

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are depraciated or amortised using the straight-line mathod owver
the usalul life of the asset. Depreciation and amortisation expense is recognised in profit or loss under “Depreciation,
amoriisation and impalrment of property, plant and equipment and inlangible assels”.

Whera an asset consists of a number of componenis which may require replacement at regular intervals, or which
have different uses or generale aconomic benefits at different rates, each component is recognised saparately and
amortised wsing a method appropriale to that component. The BWP Paribas Group has adopted the
component-basad approach for property used in operations and for investment property.

The depreciation periods used for office property are as follows: 80 vears or 60 years for the shell (for prime and
other property respaclively), 30 yvears for facades; 20 years for general and technical installations; and 10 years for
fixtures and fittings.

Software is amortised, depending on its type, over pericds of no more than 8 years in the case of infrastructure
developments and 3 years or 5 yaars in the case of software developed primarily for the purpose of providing services
fo customers.

Software maintenance cosls are axpensed as incurred. Howewver, expenditure that is regarded as upgrading the
software or exiending its useful life iz included in the initkal acquisition or production cost

Depreciable property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are tested for impairment if there is an indication of
pﬂt&ntla! impairment at the balance sheet date. Mon-depreciable assets are tested for mpalrrngn-l ‘at least Ehg.melly
using the same method as for goodwill allocated to cash-ganerating units.

If thara is an indication of impairment, the new recoverable amount of the asset is compared ﬁﬂh EI'E& ::Brrg,;ring ammml
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If the asset is found to be impaired, an impairment bss is recognised in the consolidaled profil and loss account. This
loss is reversed in tha event of a change in the estimated recoverable amount or if there is no longer an indication of
impairment. Impairment losses are taken to the consclidated profit and loss account under “Depraciation,
amoriisation and impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets”.

zains and losses on disposals of propery, plant and eguipment and inlangible assats used in operations are
recognised in the profit and koss account in “MNet gain on non-current assats”.

Gains and losses on disposals of investment property are recognised in the profit and loss account in “Income from
other activities” or “Expense on other activitias”.

1.09. Leases

Group companies may either be the lessas or the lessor in a leases agreemant.

1.9.1 GROUP COMPANY AS LESSOR

Leasas confracied by the Group as the lessor are classified as either finance leases or operating leases.

. Finance leases

In & finance lease, the lessor transfers subsiantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of an assetl to the lessee.
It is treated as a loan mada Lo tha lesses 1o finance the purchase of the assat.

The present value of the lease payments, plus any residual value, is recognized as a receivable. The mel income
earned from the leasa by the lessor i equal to the amount of interast on the loan and is taken to the profit and loss
account under “Interest income”. The lease payments are spread over the leasa term and are allocated to reduction
of the principal and to interest such that the net income reflects a constant rate of return on the net investment
autstanding in the lease. The rate of interest used is the rate implicit in the lease.

Impairment of these receivables are determined using the same principles as applied o financial assets measured
at amoriised cosl.

. Operating leases

An operating lease is a contract under which most of the risks and rewards of ownership of the leased asset are not
ransfarred to the lasses.

The leesed assel is initially recognised by the lessor as a tangible asset for its acquisition price less residual value
and subsequently depreciated on a straight-line basis over its useful life, The assat depreciation charge and lease
payments are recognised in profit and loss over the lease term respectively in "Income from other activities™ and
"Expense on othar activities™ lime ems.

Vahicles leased by the Group and dlassified under operaling leases are assels with an average lease term of batwesan
ane and five years.

Tha cost of acquiring these assets includes their purchase price, as wall as any directly attributable costs necessary
o make the vehicle available to the lessee customers. Residual value is a statistical model estimate of the resales
valug of the assel and is reestimated twice a year, taking into account, in particular, historical data on the sale of
vehicles in the sacond-hand marke! and the specific context of each geographical area. In tha event gf a change in
the amount of the residual value of the asset relative 1o its estimated valee, a forward- lmlung ”adjl.mun&hbm tha
depreciation plan is made vehicle by wehicls,
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1.9.2 GROUP COMPANY AS LESSEE

Lease confracts conclsded by the Group, with the exception of contracts whose term Is shorter than or equal to 12
months and low-value contracts, are recognised in the balance-shaet in the form of a right-of-use on the leased assat
presented under fixed assets, along with the recognition of a financial liability for the rent and other payments lo be
made over the leasing period. The right of use assets is amortised on a straight-line basis and the financial liabilities
are amortised on an actuarial basis over the lease period. Dismantling costs corresponding to specific and significant
fittings and fixtures are included in the initial right-of-usa astimatian, in counterparty of a provision liability.

The key hypatheses used by the Group for the measurement of rights of use and lease liabilities are the following:

«  [he lease larm correspands to the non-cancellable period of the contract, together with periods covered by
an extension option if tha Group is reasonably certain to exercise this option. In France, for example, the
standard commercial lease coniract is the so-called “three, six, ning” contract for which the maximum period
of use is nine years, with a first non-cancellable period of three years followed by two optional extension
periods of three years each; hence, depending on the assessment, the selected lease lerm can be of three,
six or ning years, depending on the reasonably foreseeable economic duration of the contracts. When
investments like fittings or fixures are paformed under the conlract, the lease term is aligned with their
useful lives. For tacitly renewable contracts, with or without an enforceable period, related right of use and
lease liabilities are recognised basad on an estimate of the reasonably foreseeabls economic life of the
confracts, minimal occupation period included;

«  the discount rate used to measure the right of use and the lease liability is assessed for each contracl as the
interest rate implicit in the lease, if that rate can be readily determined, or more generally based on the
incremental borrowing rate of the lessee al the date of signature. The incremental borrowing rale |s
determined considering the average term (duration) of the contract;

+  when the contract s modified, a new assessment of the lease liability is made taking into account the new
residual term of the contract, and therefore a new assessment of the right of use and the lease liability is
astablished.

1.h. Assets held for sale and discontinued operations

Where the Group decides to sell assets or a group of assets and liabilities and it is highly probable that the sale will
oceur within 12 menths, these assets are shown separately in the balance sheet, on the line “Assats held for sala”.
Any liahilities associated with these assets are also shown separately in the balance shaet, on the line “Liabilities
associaled with assets held for sale”. When the Group is committed 1o a sale plan invalving loss of control of a
subsidiary and the sale is highly probable within 12 months, all the assets and liabilies of that subsidiary are
classified as held for sale.

Onca dassified in this category, assels and the group of assets and liabilities are measurad at the lower of carrying
amount of fair value less costs to sell,

Such assets are no longer depreciated. If an asset or group of assets and liabilities becomes impalred, an impairment
loss is recognised in the profit and loss account. Impairment lossas may be reversed.

Where a group of assets and liabilities held for sale represents a cash generating unil, il s calegorised as a
“discontinued operation”. Discontinued operations include operations that are held for sale, operations that have
been shut down, and subsidiaries acquired exclusively with a view to resall,

In this case, gains and losses ralated to discontinued operations are shown saparately in the profit and loss account,
an the line “Met gainloss on operations held for sale”. This line includes after tax profits or losses all discontinued
operations, after tax gain or loss arising from remeasurement at fair value less costs to sell, and after tax gain or loss
on dispasal of the operation.
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1.i. Employee benefits

Employee benefits are classified into four categories:
short-term benefits, e.g. salaries, annual leave, profit sharing and employer contributions;

long-term benefits, including compensated absences, long-service awards, and other types of cash-based
deferred compensation;

termination bemnelits:

- post-employment benefits, including top-up banking industry pensions and retirement bonuses in France and
pension plans in other countries, some of which are oparated through pansion

" Short-termn benefits

The company recognises an expense when it has used the senices renderad by its members of staff in exchanges
far benafits granted to them.

’ Long-term benefits

These are benefits, other than short-term bansfits, post-employmeant benafits and termination banalits. This relates,
in particular, to compensation deferred for more than 12 months payable in cash and not linked to the BMP Paribas
shara price, which is accrued in the financial siatemeanis for the period in which this compensation is earned.

The actuarial tachniques used are similar o those used for defined-benefit post-employment benefits, except that
the revaluation ltems are recognized In the profit and boss account and not in equity.

" Termination benefits

Termination benefits are employes benefits payable in exchangs for the termination of an employee’s contract 8s a
result of either a decision by the Group to lerminate a confract of employmant bafara tha lagal ralirameant age, or a
decision by an employee o accept voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefitz. Termination benefits due
more than 12 months after the reporting date are discounted o present valua,

. Post-employment benefits

In accordance with IFRS, the BMP Paribas Personal Finance Group draws a distinction between defined-contribution
plans and defined-benefit plans.

Defined-contribution plans do ot give rise to an obligation for the Group and do not require a8 provision. The amaount
of the employer's contributions made during the financial year is recognised as an axpanss.

Only dafined-benadit schames give nse to an obligation for the Group. This obligation must be measured and
recognised as a liability by means of a provision.

Thie classification of plans into these two categories is basad on the economic substance of the plan, which is
reviewed to determine whether the Group has a legal or constructive obligation to pay the agreed benefits to
employeas.

Post-employment benefit obligations under defined benefit plans are measured using aciuarial technigues that take
into account demographic and financial assumplions.

The nel liability recognised with respect to post-eamployment benafit plans is the differance between the presant valus
of the defined-benafit obligation and the fair value of plan assets (if any). A
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The present valua of the dafined-banefil obligation is measurad on the basis of the actuanial assumptions applied by
the Group, using the projected unit credit method. This method takes into account various parametars, specific to
each country or Group anlily, such as demographic assumptions, the probability that employees will leave before
retirement age, salary inflation, a discount rate, and the general inflation rate,

When the valua of the plan assels exceads the amount of the obligation, an assel is recognised if it represenis a
future economic benefit for the Group in the form of a reduction in fulure contributions or a future partial refund of
amaounts paid info the plan.

The annual expense recognised in the profit and lees account under "Salaries and employes benefils™, with respect
to defined-benefit plans includes the current service cost (the rights vesied by each employee during the period in
return for service rendered), the net interests linked to the effect of discounting the net defined-banalit labiity (assat),
the past service cosl arising from plan amendmeants or curtailments, and the effect of any plan settliements.

Remeasurements of the net defined-benefit liability (asset) are recognised in sharehalders’ equity and are never
reclassified to profit or loss. They include actuarial gains and [osses, the return on plan assets and any change in the
affect of the asset celling {excluding amounts included in net interest on the defined-benef liabiity or asset),

1.j. Share-based payments

BWP Paribas grants stock oplion plans and free share plans to emplovees of the BMP Paribas Personal Finance
Group.

Share-based payment fransactions are paymenis based on shares issued by the Group, whether the transaction s
settled in the form of equity or cazh of which the amount is based on trends in the value of BNP Paribas sharaes.

*  Stock option and share award plans

The expense related to stock option and share award plans is recognised over the vesting period, if the benafit is
conditional upon tha grantee’s continued presance al tha vesting date.

Stock options and share award expenses are recorded under salary and employes benefits expenses, with a
correspanding adjustment to shareholders’ equity. They are calculated on the basis of the overall plan value,
determined at the date of grant by the Board of directors.

Im the absence of any market for these instruments, financial valuation modets are used that take inlo account any
performance conditions relaled to the BMP Parbas share price. The total expense of a plan 5 determined by
multiphying the unit value per option or share awarded by the estimated number of oplions or shares awarded vestad
at the end of the vesling period, taking into account the conditions regarding the grantee’s continued employment.

The only assumptions revised during the vesting period, and hence resulting in a8 remeasurement of the expansa,
are hase relating to the probabaity that employess will leave the Group and those relating 1o performance conditions
that are not linked to the price value of BNP Paribas shares,

* Share price-linked cash-settled deferred compensation plans

The expense related to these plans is recognised in the year during which the employee rendered the cormespoanding
SEMVICEs.

If the payment of share-based varable compensation is explicitly subject o an enforceable condition consisting in
the emploves’s conlinued presence at the vesting date, the services are presumed 1o have been rendered during the
vesting period and the cormesponding compensation expense is recognised on a pro rata basis over that pericd. The
expense is recagnised under salary and employes benefits expeanses with a comespanding liability in the balance
sheat. It is revised to ake into account any non-fulfilrment of the continued presence or perfemance conditions and
the change in BMP Paribas share price.
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If there is no continued presence enforceable condition, the expense is not deferred, but recognised immediately
with a correspanding liability in the balance sheat. This is then revised on each reporting date until sattiemant to take
into account any performance conditiens and the change in tha BNP Paribas share price.

1.k. Provisions recorded under liabilities

Provisions recorded under Nabilithes (oiher than those relaling to financial instruments and employes benefits) mainky
redate to restruciuring, claims and ltigation, fines and penalties,

A provision is recognised when it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic bensfits will be
required to settle an obligation arising from a past event, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amounit af the
obligation. The amount of such obligations is discounted, whera the impact of dizcounting is material, in order o
determine the amount of the provision,

1.1.  Current and deferred tax

The current income tax charge is determined on the basis of the tax laws and tax rates in force in each country in
whiich tha Group operates during the period in which the income s generated.

Deferred taxes are recognised when temporary differences arise batween the carrying amount of an asset or liability
in the consolidated balance sheel and its tax basa.

Defarred tax liabilites are recognised for all taxable temporary differences other than:
taxable tempaorary differences on initial recognition of goodwill;

taxable temporary differences on investments in enterprises under the exclusive or joint control of the Group,
where the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temparary difference and it is probable that
the temparary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable fulure,

Deferred lax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences and unused camyforwards of tax losses
only to the extent that it is probable that the antity in question will generate Tulure taxable profite against which these
temporary differences and tax kosses can be offset,

Defermed tax assels and liabilities are measurad using tha liability mathod &l the lax rate expeclad to apply to tha
pericd in which the asset is realised or the liability ks settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been or will
hawve been enacted by the balance shest dale of that period. Thay are not discounted.

Dieferred tax assels and liabilities are offsel when they arise within the same tax group, they Fall under the jurisdiction
of a single tax authority, and there is a legal right to offsst.

As regards the assessment of uncartainly over incoma tax treatmaents, the Group adopls the Tollowing approach:
- e Group assesses whether it is probable that a taxation authority will eccept an uncertain tax treatment;

- any uncertainty shall be reflected when determining the taxable profit (loss) by considering either the most likely
amount [having the higher probability of occurrence), or the expecied value (sum of the probability-weighted
amounts),

Current and deferred taxes are recognised as tax income or expenses in the profit and loes account, except for those
relating to a ransaction or an event direcily recognised in sharehalders’ equity, which are alse recognised in
shareholders’ equity. This concerns in particular the tax effect of coupons paid on financial instruments izsued by the
Group and qualified as equity instruments, such as undated super subordinated notes.

When lax credits on revenues from receivables and securities are used to settle corporate income I:Eix.]:ayr'al:llﬂ Fowr
the penod, the tax credits ara recognised on the same line as the income to which they relate: The mrraspuru:rim
lax expanse continues o be camied in the profit and loss account under “Caorporate income Ea:t ikt
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1.m. Cash flow statement

The cash and cash equivalents balance is composed of the net balance of cash accounts and accounts with central
banks, and the nel balance of interbank demand loans and depasits.

Changes in cash and cash equivalents related to operating activities reflect cash flows generated by the Group's
operations, including those relating to financial investments of insurance activities and negotiable certificates of
deposit,

Changas in cash and cash equivalents ralated to investing activitias reflect cash fiows rasulting from acquisitions and
disposals of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures included in the consolidated Group, as well as acquisitions and
disposals of proparty, plant and equipmeant excluding nvestment property and property hield under oparating leasas.

Changes in cash and cash equivalents related to financing activities reflect the cash inflows and cutflows resulting
from transactions with shareholders, cash flows related to bonds, subordinated debt and debt securities {excluding
negoiiable certificates of deposit).

1.n. Use of estimates in the preparation of the financial statements

Preparation of the financial statements requires managers of core businesses and corporate functions to make
assumplions and estimales that are reflected in the measuremeant of income and expense in the profit and loss
account and of assels and labdities in the balance sheet, and in the disclosure of information in the notes o the
financial stalements, This requires the managers in question to exercise their judgement and to make use of
information available al the date of the preparation of the consoldaled financial statements when making thelr
estimates. The actual fulure results from operations where managers have made use of estimales may in reality
differ significantly from those astimates, mainly according to markel conditions. This may have a material effect on
the financial statements.

This applies in particular to:
the analysis of the cash flow criterion for specific financial assets;

the measurement of expected credit losses. This applies in parficular o the assassmeant of significant increasa
in credit risk, the models and assumptions used o measure expected credit losses, the determination of the
different economic scenanos and their weighting;

the analysis of renagotiated lans, in order 1o assess whether they should b2 maintained on the balance sheet
of derecognised;

the assassmeni of an active market, and the use of inlemally devaloped models for the measurement of tha
fair value of fimancial instruments not quoted in an active market classified in “Financial assets at fair value
through equity®, or in “Financial instruments at fair value through profil or loss®, whether as assets or liabilities,
and more generally calculations of the fair value of financial instruments subject to a fair value disclosure
requarameant:

the appropriateness of the designation of certain derivative insfruments such as cash flow hedges, and the
measurement of hedge effectivensss;

= impairment tests performed on intangible azsels;

- the estimation of residual assets values under simple lease agreements. These values are used as a basis for
the determination of depreciation as well as any impairment, natably in relation to the effect of environmental
considerations on the evaluation of future prices of second-hand vehicles;

- the deferred tax assets;

- the measurement of uncertainty over income tax reatments and other provisions for lighiliies and charges. In
particular, while investigalions and litigations are ongaing, it iz difficult o foreses thelr cutcome and potential
impact. Provision estimation is established by taking into account all available information at-the'date, of the
praparation of the financial statements, in particular the natura of the dispula, the undaﬂ:,-_'mﬁ facts, the ongoing
legal proceedings and court decisions, including those related to similar cases, and settiement agreements with
third parties. The Group may also use the opinion of experts and independent legaladvisers to exarcise its
judgement. . Experie e 14 -
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2. NOTES TO THE PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

2.a. Netinterest income

The BNP Paribas Personal Finance Group includes in “interest and similar income” and “inlerest and similar
expenses” all income and expense from financial instruments measured at amortised cost (interest. fees and
transaction costs) and from financial instruments measured at fair value through equity.

These items also include the interest income and expense of non-trading financial instruments the characteristics of
which do not allow for recognition at amortised cost or at fair value through equity, as well as of financial insiruments
that the Group has designated as at fair value through profit or loss. The change in fair value on financial instruments
at fair value through profit or loss (excluding accrued interast) is recognisad under “Net gain on financial instruments
al fair valua through profit or loss™.

Interest income and expanse on derivatives accounted for as fair value hedges are included with the revenues
generated by the hedged item. Similarly, interest income and expense arising from derivatives used to hedge
transactions designated as at fair value through profit or lass is allocated 1o the same accounts as the interest income
and axpansa ralating 1o the underlying frangaciions.

2074

Financial instruments at amortisad cost s62 (S5 2012 &%5 (05 2119
Depesits, leang and bomawings 4554 (3,207) 1477 4855 [2.7&3) 1872
Repurchase agreements 2 5 3 2 (5 ]
Finance |sasas s a: @54 B354
Dabt secunties g g 14 14
bsued debl secuilies and subcedinaled dell [ {40 [418) 413

Financial inslruments &l fair '.'alu=1l:.'r\-;|"u‘-a__l'_._t;|!.ﬂ' ___w __ =
Dabt securities

Financial Iinstruments &1 fair valus through predit or oss

(Yracing securities exchicled) S — 2 X 23 .. S

Cash Now hedge Instruments ) 128 (225 103 3ng (182 123

Interzst rate portfolic hedge instruments S _§m [31) _4TR B0 (%) =

Lesge labiliies I (3 3 - (2 i2)

Total inderast incomsiie spansa) B, 453 (3811 2552 625 3419 LEM

Interest on financial instruments at amortized cost includes inlerest incoma and expenses on customer and interbank
items and dabl issued by the Group,

Interest on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss cormesponds (o interest inu:.mnehaﬁd"axﬁm BS ON
nen-trading financial instruments whose characteristics prevent their classification at amortisad cost ar at fair value
thraugh aquity. ey Tradt I._:1|'|._i..'. #
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Interest income on individually impaired loans amounted to EUR 83 million for the year ended 31 Decamber 2024,
compared fo ELUIR 86 million for the year ended 31 December 2023.

2.b. Commissions

Transackons with cuslomers and credit inslitutions 168

Securtiss and derivalives Iransactions =
Financing and guaranbes commitments 3
Azse| managemenl and other services 44

]
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)]
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™

.5 R®
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Commission income and expenses Th4
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- of which nel commission imcome relalad lo sl

and simlar activiies through which the Group

holds or imesls assets on bahal of cosfomeans,

Inusfz, pancion &nd personal sk funo's or alhar

instdufians

- of which pommission meoame and expenss on

Linancisl nslnaments nof maaswred & far value 120
Ihrough pealil ar s
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™

44
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2.c. Net gain (loss) on financial instruments at fair value through profit or

loss

Met gain on financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss includes all profl and loss items relating
to financial instrurments held for trading, non-trading equity instruments that the Group did not choose to measure at
fair value through equity, &5 well as debt instruments whose cash flows are not solely repayments of principal and
intarest on the principal or whose business model is not to collect cash flows nor 1o collect cash flows and sall the

assals,

These income items include dividends on these instruments and exclude interas! income and expense from financial
instruments whose cash flows are not only repayments of principal and interest on the principal or whose business
model is nat to collect cash flows nor to collect cash flows and sell the assats, which are presented in “Met interest

incoma” (ses note 2.a).

Trading baok

Interest rate and credil instruments
Forsign exchange financial instrumenis
Loans end repuechase agreemants

Oiher financial instrumenis ak fair value fhrough praf o lass

ek insinumaenis
Equity instruments
Impact of hadga accounting

Farvaue hedging derivatives
Hedged ems in fair value hadga

——— ===

Hot gain {loss) on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss
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Met gains or kosses on financial instruments held for trading in 2024 and 2023 includes a non-material amount related
lo tha ineffective portion of cash flow hedges.

Fotential sources of ineffectiveness can be the differences between hedging instruments and hedged items, natakbly
ganeraled by mismatches in the terms of hedged and hedging instrumeants, such as the frequency and timing of
imterest rates resetting, the frequency of payment and the discounting factors, or when hedging derivatives have a
nan-zero fair value at inception date of the hedging relationship. Credit valuation adjustments applied to hedging
derivatives are also sources of ineffectiveness.

Curmulative changes in fair value related to discontinued cash flow hedge relationships, previously recognised in
equity and included during 2024 in prafit and loss accounts are nol material, in all cases, whather the hedged item
ceased to exist or nol

2.d. Income and expenses from other activities

=4 | - I H

Met income fiom imsesiment propesty 2 1 3 {1 2
Met income from assets held under operating leases = ,.2..13 {1804 145 {117} 28
Othar nel income 108 {78 =] (151 10
Tedal nat ingoma from other ectivities 123 {267) 56 44 {204) i
2.e. Other operating expenses

External senvices and obhar nperaling expanses {BBZ) {888
Taxes!! - (289 {65)
Tobal ather aperaling expenses {321) {1,653

I Contebes ions 10 the Single Resolution Fusd, ncleding enceplional conlrbufions, were zeo i 2034 compared with EUR 48 million in 2023,

2f. Costof risk

The general models for impairment described in note 1.e.4 used by the Group rely on the following two steps:
- assassng whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition; and

- measuring impairment allowance as either 12-month expected credit losses or ifetime expected credit loss
{i.e. loss expected at malturity).

Forward-looking information is taken into account at these two steps for entities using the “statistical mathod for
measuring expected credit losses based on EAD, PD, LGD" and at the second step for enfities using the “historical
slatistical mathod®,
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Forward-looking Information

Regarding the measurament of expacted credit losses, the Group has chosen 1o use 4 Macroeconemic scenarios by
geographic area covering a wide range of potential future economic conditions:

- & baseline scenario, consistent with the scenario used for budgeting and forecasling;

- a favourable scenario, capturing situations whera the economy performs better than anticipated;

- an adverse scenario, corresponding 1o the scenario used for the Group's quarterly stress tests;

- a severe scenark correspending to @ shock of magnilude greater than that of the adverse scenario.

The link between the macroeconomic scanarias and the ECL measurement is mainly achievad through @ modelling
of the probabilities of defaull and deformation of migration matrices based on internal rating {or risk parameter). The
prababilities of default determined according to these scenarios are used to measure expecled credit losses under
each scenaria.

Forward-locking information Is also considered when determining the significant deterioration in credit risk for entities
using the “statistical method for measuring expected credit losses based on EAD, PD, LGD". As a matter of fact, the
probabilities of default used as the basis for this assessment include forward-looking multi-scenario information in
the same way as for the calculation of the expecled |osses.

The weight to be attributed ta the expectad credit losses calculated in each of the scenarios is defined as follows:
- the weight of the baseline scenario is 50%,

- the weight of the three alternative scenarios is defined according to the posilion in the credit cycle. In this
appraach, the adverse and severe scenarios carry more weight in situations at the upper end of the cycle
than those at the lower end of the cycla, in anlicipation of & poatential downturm in the econoamiys;

- the weight of the favourable scenario is at least 10% and at most 40%,;

- the total weight of adverse scenarios fluctuates symmetrically with the favourable also within a range of
10% to 40%:; with a savere component representing 20% of this weight with a minimum weight of 5%.

Whean appropriale, the ECL measurement can take into account assal sale scenarios.

Macroeconomic Scenanos
The four macreeconomic scenarios are defined over a three-year projection horizon, They comespand o

- & bassaline scenario, which describes tha most likely path of the economy over the projection horizon. This
scanario is updated on a quarterly basis and is prepared by the Group Economic Research Depariment in
collaboration with varicus experts within the Group. Projections are designed for each key market of the
Group (France, ltaly and the Eurozone) using key macroecanomic variables (Gross Domestic Product - GOP
- and iis components, unemployment rate, consumer prices, interest rates, foreign exchange rates. real
estate prices, etc.) which are key drivers for modelling risk parameters wsad in the siress test procass;

an adverse scenanio, which describes the impact of the materialisation of some of the risks weighing on the
baseline scenario, resulting in a much less favourable economic path than in the baseling scenano The GDP
shock is applied with varying magnitudes, but simultaneously, to the economies under consideration.
Generally, these assumptions are broadly consistent with those proposed by the regulalors The calibration
of shocks on other variables (e.g. unemployment, consumer prices, interest rates, elc.) is based on models
arvd expert judgement;

- a sevaraly adverse scenarno, which is an aggravated version of the adverse scenario;
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- @ favourable scenario, which reflects the impact of the materialisation of some of the upside risks for the
economy, resuling in @ more favourable ecomomic path. The favourable shock on GDP |5 deducted from the
adverse shock on GDP in such a way that the probabilities of the two shocks are equal on average over the
cycle. Other variables (g.g9. unemployment, inflation, interest rates, etc.) are defined in the zame way as n
the adverse scenario.

The link betweean the macroeconomic scenarios and the measuremeant of the ECL is complameanted by an approach
allowing to take inlo account anticipation aspects not captured by the models in the generic approach. This is
particularty the case when unprecedented avents in the hislorical chronicle taken into account to build the modals
ccur or are anficipated, or when the nature or amplitude of change in macroeconomic parameter calls inlo questan
past correlations. Thus, the situation of high inflation and the level of interest rates previously recorded were not
chserved in the reference history, In this context, the Group has developed an approach 1o take into account the
future economic outlaok whan assassing the financial strength of countenparties. This approach invalves projecting
the impact of higher inferest rates on customers’ financial ratios, nolably considering their level of indabledness.
Credit ratings and associated probabilities of default are revalued based on these simulated financial ratios,

Baseling scenania

In 2024, global activity grew at a relatively moderate pace. In the Eurozone, activity returned to growth, supported by
the positive impact of disinflation on real incomes and consumplion, and the gradual easing of manatary conditions.
Al

31 December 2024, annual growth forecasts were +0.8% in tha Eurozone (comparead to expeciations of +0.8% at 31
Decamber 2023).

Owear the 2025-2027 pariod, the baseline scenario asswumes a gradual continuation of the recovery in the Eurozone,
which would result from a strengthening of private domestic demand, as public spending is axpacted to ba mare
constrained.

Inflation has continued to slow over the course of 2024, maving closer to the targets of major central banks, This has
allowed most of them (ECE, Federal Reserve, Bank of England, e1c.) to slart a rale cut cycle. This monetary policy
adjusiment is expected to extend in 2025. Then, central bank rates are expected fo remain stable over the following
vears (2026-2027), in the presence of contralled inflation, evalving around 2%.

Long-term interest rates in 2023-2024 reached levels not seen in more than a decade and are assumed o remain
relatively stable over the projection horizon (with no significant changes in growth and inflation scenarios).

The uncertainty surrounding the baseline scenario appears to be relatively high. The current geopolitical context,
marked by two major ongoing conflicts {invasion of Ukraine, conflict in the Middle East) and significant tensions in
other regions (in Asla in particular), is likely to evolva rapidly. Addifionally, the presidential shift in the United States
in January 2025 may kead to notable changes in economic policy, particulary conoeming customs duties, which could
impact the global economy.

The graph below presents a comparison of Eurozone GDP projeclions used in the baseline scenario for the
calculation of ECLE an 31 December 2024 and 31 Decembear 2023,

Euraécre GO irdas basa 100 g tha fourih quarie of 31018

Bovaling scenwio ol 31 Decermine JE11
Buriegirs sconarin ol 31 Ducernbar 2024

o 3 Y
Decil  Duc il Pl  Dec-H  Dec-B2 Dwcdd  Dec-dd Dec-E  Dec-H Bwedd * i L]
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= Macroeconomic variables, basaline scenario at 31 December 2024

GOF growth rata e
Eurarone E% 1.7% 15% 1.8%
France 1.7% 0% 1.5% 1.6%
Naly 05% 0% 1.3% 1.3%
Unimploymant rata

Eurnzore Ed%h A% 4% (%
France T.65% . 4% i
Naly L% 6% Bl% 0.7
Infation raie =g = e

=0 2a% 19% 20% 21%
France 23% 14% 19% 19%
italy 1.4% 15% 2% 1%
year souerign bond yields T S
Garmary 23 RaS% £5M% 250
Franza 18% 1% 125% 135%
ety iM% A% 1 Bl 180%

Adverse and severely adverse scenanos

The adverse and severely adverse scenarios are based on the assumption that certain downside risks will
materialise, resulting in much less favourable economic paths than in the baseline scenario,

Thea following main risks are identified:

- Geopolitical isks, Geopolitical tansions can weigh on the global econamy thraugh various channels, such
as shocks on commodity prices, financial markets, business confidence, supply chains and trada. These
developments are likely to lead simultansously to higher inflation and a slowdown in aclivity, further
complicaling the task of central banks;

= Trade and globalisation. Tensions related io trade and globalisation have increasad in recent years,
lzading to some fragmentation of the global economy. While tariff and non-tarill barfers have already
increased significantly, additional protectionist measures between main economic areas (e.g. US, China, and
the EU) are likely. They are susceplible to lead to higher prices and weigh on activity.

« Public finances. Numerous governments face a combination of elevated debt levels, highar borrowing
coste and moderate growth. This constitutes a challenging environmant for public finances at a time when
governments face major structural challenges (climate action, defance capabilities, age-related outlays).
These developments could give birth in some countries to market tensions (widening soversign bond
spreads) and affect activity through several channeds (higher intarest rates. higher taxes, reduced government
spending).

The adverse and severe scenarios assume the materialisation of these identified risks fram the first quarer of 2025,
While downside risks are shared by these scanarios, the impacts are assumed to be markedly higher in the saveraly
adverse scenario, due to both more proncunced direct shocks notably higher commodity prices, and the developrment
of a negative spiral between key driving factars (activity, public dabt, bond yields, equity markets).

Amang tha considered countries, GDP levels in the Eurozone in the adverse scenario are B.2% lower than in the
baseline scenaria af the end of the shock period. In the savera scenario, GDP levels in the Eurgzons are 12.1%
lower than in the baseline scenario at the end of the shack period,
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ascenanio weighting and cost of risk sensitivity

Al 31 December 2024, the weight of the favourable scenarip considered by the Group was 28%, and 17% for the
adverse scenario and 5% for the severe scenano. At 31 December 2023, the weight of the favourable scenano was
33%, 12% for the adversa scenario and 5% for the severe scenario.

Post-model adjustments

Post-model adjustments are made when system limitations are identified in a particular context, for instance, in the
case of insufficient statistical data to reflect the specific situation in the models,

Matably, additional adjustments were made in 2022 and 2023 to take into account the effects of inflation and interest
rate hikes when this effect is not directly estimaled by the models. For example, adjusimenis were considered for the
catagories of customers most sensitive 1o tha gradual decline in the level of their net income. Given the evolution of

the macroeconomic context in 2024, these adjustments have been fully reversed,

. Cost of risk for the period:

et allowance bo mparment {1,103 {1,143)
Recoveres on loans and recelables presdousdy wiithen aff 84 78

P = m._ en ol e L T = = P Em_]
Total cost of rigk for the pericd N o (1,125 {1,221]

L Cost of risk for the period by accounting category and asset type:

Loans and recehvables dus from customers and credit instutions [1,131) (1,228
Cther assats @ i)
Gommiments ghen and olher tems B 12
Totsl costofrish forthe period S TRGT s [1,128) T (L)
Cost o risk om aimpiived asses and commaments 180 @)
Of which stoge 1 54 7
Of which stags 2 125 139
Cast of isk on impaied ssets and commiments - stags 3 (1,305 (1,154)
x | " 5
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5 Credit risk impairmant
Changes in impairment by accounting category and asset type during the pericd

Changes i scaps,
hange rates. | 31 Decamber 2024
and other lems

Kt allowdance o

Impairment

Asset impairment
Financial assets af amartised cosl a5 1121 (1,304} (7] 3,302
Loans and receiatibis asm 1121 {1,304) (17 3302
Other msels i 1 _ .
Total impairment on financial ssels 3,508 1,122 {1,384) {17} 1308
Of which siaga 1 818 45 i3 {18} 574
O which slaga 2 i) [128) 23 {7 473
Of which slaga 3 234 1.205 11,368 i 2262
Provisions récognised as Eabilities
Prorwigiorss for commilmenls Fi | 1] (3 L]
CHthes prenasions a3 (10] ) 3 25
Total provisions recogrised for credit i 85
= 3 114 (15] [11)
O which stage 1 ] & 16
Of which staga 7 " {2 :]
wichaed i @ () . =
Tedal Empairmant and provisions 3712 1,103 {1.408] (18] 134

Change in impasrment of amortised cost financial assets during the period

Al 31122023

Het allowance o mpairmant [45) 1128 143 1,120
Financiel Bssets purchased or originated during the period 31 15 356
Financial aszets derecogrised during fhe period 71 [127] {146} {186) (489)
Transfer (o siage 2 =1y 19 [TE) T80
Trangler o siage 3 [11) {5504 8 a3
Transfer 1o staga 1 i {299 [11) (231)
Other alicwancesrevessals without stage ransfer & (233 [T1) 678 =i

Imipairment provigions used ] (23 (1.358) (1.384)

Changes in exchange rates 1 F] 2 5

Changes In scope of consolidation and other fems (17} [1=]] 5 {H)

A8 31202 T4 471 3,255 3,302

11l Inehuting disposals.

1 Inchucing amnartisaton o L4 . "
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2.g. Other net expenses for risk on financial instruments

In 2023, the Group modified its accounting policy relating to the risk of loss of cash fows on financial instruments
granted that are not linked to the counterpariy’s default, such as legal risks calling info question the validity or
enforceability of such contracis.

The effect on expected cash flows dug to these risks is now considered as a change in the contract’s cash flows, in
accordance with IFRS 9 B5.4.6, and ks recorded as a decrease in the gross value of the assel.

It was previously recognised separately in accordance with A3 37 in "Provisions for confingencies and charges” (see
note 5.m). Expaclted losses on derecognised finandial instruments, as is the case when bans have baen repaid,
continue to be recognised in accordance with |AS 37,

The corresponding expected and realised cash flow lossas are now presanted under “Other net losses for risk an
fimancial instruments”.

In 2024, the expense thus recognised relate to foreign currency loans issued by BNP Paribas Personal Finance that
are nod material (compared with EUR 221 million at 31 December 2023, presented under "Met banking income™).

2.h. Net gain on non-current assets

Galn or kxss on irvestments in consolidabed undertakings (note Buc) " (258
Gain or ks on fangibla and intengible asssts 12 (=)
Resulis from net monetary postion - -
Mat gain on mon-current asseds B5 (3T
2.i. Corporate income tax
Irt il res of Tax rate
BUFGE

Theoretical fax expense on pre-fax ned incame at standard tax rate applicable n ' _.
FIE"IEEI:: ['d:rl Ish 2':':' 25-3 ] ]
Impsact of diferent Lax rates on foreign profils ) 1088 {12 185
impact of reduced tax rate on dividends and disposals of securities [ 5% (110 14.7%
DR =< P T () 5%
of which imypact of umracognised faw kass camyfonvands'™ 234} 127.4% {0 r.TH
Carparsls incams t3x expenss (284} 154. 7% H 44%
Curranf tax expense fov Ihe yearbo 21 Decembar =] . a7

Dsorneaf feer spronecn b s o o 1 Clocermbiar ook S48) i g 53

" Rustawd kor the sham of profits in equity-methed enlities and goodil impaiment
% Felipainy] Lhe gigning of an smendmant 10 the tas consoldalion sgreemenl in 2324 Betwasn BNF Pantas 54 sad BNP Paribas PP SA, Tha agreement reeans (0 & “slandand”
regime; B, pairs and losaes related 5 integration ate relained [y 1he head ol he Group.
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3. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Within the BNP Paribas Group, the BMP Paribas Personal Finance Group provides retail finance services through its
cansumer finance activities. As part of these activities, the Group has extended its offering to include insurance and

savings products.

The BNP Paribas Personal Finance Group also has a residential morigage lending business, a significant portion of
which is managed in runoff.

+ The breakdown of income and outstanding loans and receivables due from customers between the two
business segments is as follows

Income by business segment

Conswomer loans Hume kaans
Revenues 3402 (57 B (471
Operaling expanses (2.048) (3 {2,458) [58)
Cost of risk [1.124) i1 {967) (254
Other net expenses for isk an Tnanclal instruments - - {221) -
Operating income 230 {111} (41) (257
Share of ne income of SMEs 16 {12} % :
Man-aparating ilams it y (312) (4
Pre-tax income m {143) [360( (#11)
- Dutstanding loans and receivables by business segment
Caonsumer loans 75,035 76320
N e i e
Tokal Group 1,853 4.0
*  Revenues by geographic area
Falrl]
France B45 1008
Oiher European couniries 24 2282
Americas = 161
Rzt of the wod 157 147
Total Group 3345 3,589
ok s
i b e ¥ £ &
v . |l|.

¥ Traduetrice e
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France (24} [43)
Cehar Ewropean countries [BT4) (T3
Americas i) 38
Fest of the world (148 [58)
Tedal Grm.lp_ B [1,125) {1.221)
. Total assets by geographic area

H December 2024
France 30500 30835
Chiher Europesan couniries 33, &S B 0a
Americasll : 37
st of the wordd 1,137 10656
Tatad Groug &5, 42 BE 343
1 Disposal of Celalem 54 da GV in Mexico.
*  Loans and receivables due from custemers by geographic area

31 December 3024
Franca 2.2
Other Eurapean counlies 57,617 BE.288
Amercas™ : 2 BT
e L N 855 6%
Total Group a1,853 B4012

m Disposal of Cetelam SA de CV in Mexica,




Consolidated hnandcial statements 1or the year ended 3.1 LeCemBEr U

4. RISK EXPOSURE

4.a. Summary of risks

The BNP Paribas Personal Finance Group is specialised in the sale of consumer loans (in particular automobile
financing), home loans and credit consolidation services to individual customars.

The Group has (dentified six major risks related to its business:
- credit risk arising fram the failure of a customer to pay its dabt to the Bank {see Nate 4.b);

- Interast rate risk (market risk) related to the banking book (see Note 4.c): The BNP Paribas Personal
Finance Group provides loans 1o individuals andlor businesses under tarms and conditions defined upon
inception. To ensure the Group remains profitable in the long term, the margin offered must be protected
against changes in the economic environment, particularly as regards market rates (interest rate risk),

- liquidity risk {see Mote 4.d). The BNP Paribas Personal Finance Group must ensure the availability of the
funds lent o its customers throughout the life of the loans,

- foreign axchange risk (see Note 4.8);

- operational risk is defined as tha risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, or
defiberate acts, accidanls or natural events occurring outside the Group;

- compliance risk refers to the non-compliance with laws, regulations, and professional and ethical
standards.

4.b. Credit risk

Credit risk is the consequence resulting from the likelihood that & borrower or counterparty will fail to meet its
obligations in aceordance with agreed terms and commitmants given. |t is related to changes in the cradil quality of
the Bank's debtors, which may ultimately lead to their default, The probabiity of default assessment and the expected
recovery on the koan or racetvable in the event of a default are key components of the credit quality assessment.

CREDIT RISK MANAGEMENT

Transaction selection procedures
The gelection procedures depend on the lype of laans granted.

For consumer loans, the procedures include the selection and manitaring of the distribution netwark, particularly the
sellars’ approval, the choice of business sactors, and the targeting of eligible customers by direct marketing. The
grant process is basad on scores and assisted by expert systems.

In the case of home and seller kpans (mainly involving car dealers). the grant process is designad to promate personal
loans and is therefore based on individual case assessments, the segregation of analysis and decision-making
functions, and delegations of authaority.

For seller loans, amounts above a cerlain threshald are subject to the approval of axeculive management fallowing
a favourable opinion issued by the Group's Risk Managemant department. s E
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Risk measurement and monitoring system

The BMP Paribas Personal Finance Group's risk management activities are provided by & central Risk unit fully
independant fram operating unit managers and reporting to the BNP Parbas Group's Risk Management department,

This Personal Finance Risk (PF-R) unit is responsible for the following:

« Defining the BNP Paribas Personal Finance Group's risk policy consistent with the Group's strategy and the
BMNP Paribas Group's risk policies;

* Ensuring objective risk managemant through an independant review of the commercial strategies:

* Providing fast, reliable and comprehensive information on risk status and caling attention to potential
increasas in risk levels;

+  Promoting consistently high-risk management standards:

=  Confributing to the quality of mathods and procedures;

+ Establishing and maintaining & data aggregation and reporting system in compliance with regulatory
requiremeants and maating the needs of BMP Paribas Personal Finance.

The Risk department has three levels:

a- Risk teams within each entity, who ensure the management of the risks pertaining to their entity and related
to both the granting of credit facllities and the ongaing monitoring of commitmeants,

b- Regional risk managers responsible of veripus entities across several countries, who provide an additional
leved of supervision and technical support 1o local risk teams,

c- A caniral team in charge of defining and validating the approval policies, ganerating scores, parforming enfity
audit risks, Group-level raporting, controlling provisions and reviewing seller lans exceading the approval
threshold of country-level delegation authorties.

Risk monitoring is the responsibility of Group-level committees (central committees), Risk Managamant departmant
committees and country-level commitieas.

*  Doubtful loans

e e —eaeae ey S

Doubitd lapas Bngd receivables des from custamars 411 [£255 1,754 IS
Firaifcing commilsants ghes | 2 4] 2 [t}
Guaranies commitmenis given i {3 2

Doubtfe off-balance sheel commibeents L] |5 ] 1
TOTAL T 2200, 1822 4

Doubliul ksans xnd recabvablas dus from cugbomsrs 4§38 Frea e 1) 1,618 443
Firancing commitments given 45 3 42 1
Guaranfes commil mamts givan i 3 b Ha T s
Doublfe! of-balance stael commit=enls - 115 | ¥} i 4 i1
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» Change in stage 3 gross amounts

The table below provides the data related to the change in stage 3 gross amounts:

Impalrad exposures (slage 3] at start of the pericd 41 4,515

Transor to stage 3 ' ) T 2307
Transfer b0 stags 2 or sigge 1 praT) $505]
Wsln-pi {14564 [1.381)
(Cther miremants - (B 1725]
Impairad Elp-_l]'.-;lle!-[*ilaili 3 at and of fha parled - - 4.0 4 I

— e — e e c— e

4.c. Interest rate risk (market risk) related to the banking portfolio

GENERAL FRAMEWORK OF THE GROUP'S INTEREST RATE RISK MANAGEMENT

Thie BNP Paribas Personal Finance banking book basically consists of;

- banking intermediation, geared predominantly to retail activities (property Banking intermediation, geared
predominantly to retail activities (property and consumar laans)

- transactions aimed at reducing the interest rate risk issued from thesa ratail activities.

IRRBE (Interest Rate Risk in the Banking Book) is defined as the risk that the bank's net interest margin will be
affected by changes in markel intanest rates,

BMNP Paribas Personal Finance's exposure io interest rate risk is limited insofar as fixed-rate assats, which represent
most of the assets, are largely hedged by fixed-rale financing or by floating-rate financing hedged by fixed-rate
borrower swaps.

However, in certain cases, assets and liabilities may not be perfectly matched, for example:

- changes in the level of prapaymants, which may lengthen or sharten the assal’s amortisation profile

- for eertain subsidiares (depending on the operating set-up or currancy). fixed-rate financing not available or intergst
rate swaps not available to hedge fixed-rate ban production

As a result, the nat interest margin can be sensitive to changes in interest rates: this is referred to as a fixed-rale
position, measured by fixed-rate gaps.

Tha ALM PF Treasury Personal Finance management perimater comprises numerous legal enlities [several dozen)
that contribute to this exposure. This exposure arises from the origination of fixed-rate loans (most of which are
amortising loans, the most complex being revolving loans). Hedging is carried out mainly by means of fixed rate
borrowings (from the BNP Paribas freasuries in Paris or abroad and failing that, in the market) and for some large
entities via borrower fixed rate swaps.

In compliance with banking regulations, the Interest Rate Commitiee must put inferest rate hedging in place at the
end of the month by means of fixed rate borrower swaps (or fixed rate barrowings if the “Liquidity Committee” has
reported a need of liguidity) so that the consolidated interast rate positions do not exceed their respective limits at
the end of the quarier. Hedges decided on by the Interest rate Committes may take the form of a program o optimise
execution timing. Hedges are decided following & presentation of the macroeconomic contex, the #Wnﬁl‘n:'—g agerda
and forecast risk indicators. ® *
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ALK Treasury

Committes [(Group ALCo). The Group ALCo delegates the oparational management of IRRBE to the local Group
ALCos (at entity or group of entities level), such as the BMP Paribas Personal Finance ALCo, so that each entity s
covarad by an ALCo.

As part of the BNP Paribas Personal Finance sub-group’s Risk Appetite Statement. two interest rate risk indicators
arg monitored by the Board of Directors: income sensitivity (NIS: Met Interest Income Sensitivity ) and value sensitivity
([EVES: Economic Yalue of Equity Sensitivity).

4.d. Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that the bank does not have the funding reguired to mest its commitmeants.

BMP Faribas Personal Financa is a fully owned subsidiary of BNP Panbas 58 whose main activity 15 to offer
consumer and properly loans directly via partnerships. BNP Paribas Personal Finance has a limited depesit-taking
business. BMP Paribas Personal Finance's liquidity risk management policy ks to refinance itsall with the BMP Paribas
Group, barring exceplions.

In rare cases, due fo local organisational or regulatory constraints, some subsidiaries of BNF Paribas Personal
Finance may have access to financng from lecal markets.,

Wherever possible, the BMP Paribas Personal Finance entities will recaive financing fully matched to the assat being
financed. Support from BMNP Panbas can be requested in bolh normal and stressed comditions.

Thus, the liquidity risk of BNP Paribas Personal Finance is mosily transferred io BNP Paribas. The residual risk is
managed appropriately.

&5 par of the Personal Finance sub-group’s Rigk Appetite Statement, two liquidity risk indicalors are monitored by
the Board of Directors: the one-year bquidity gap and the one-month liquidity gap.

4.e. Foreign exchange risk

The foreign exchange risk carmed by an institution is the risk relaling to veluation differences relaled to the holding
of a position in a currency other than its reference currency. These valuation differences are due to fluctuations in
the exchange rate between the two currencies,

The currency risk can be:
- “operating” when the forelgn exchange position is linked to commercial activity;
= *struciural” when the forgign exchange position is linked to an investmant in an entity located in a country
with a diffarent currency.

BWP Paribas Personal Financa's exposure to “operating” foreign exchange risk arises from nal resulls generated in
currencies olher than the euro. BNP Parbas Personal Finance’s policy is to make its net profit less sensitive (o
changes in exchange rates.

BMP Paribas Personal Finance's exposure to “structural” foreign exchange risk arises mainly from equity investments
in foreign currencies financed by buying the investment currency. These equily investments thus create a foreign
exchange pasition impacting equity. A wk® g
To reduce this risk, BMP Paribas Perscnal Finance proceeds, where possible, to ’r'nanmnreag:y:( I.'Ilmrqwmg .-The
borrowing financing the equity investments thus cancels the resulting currency position. Fina

prefarmad when borrowing ratas in the currency in which the position is generated are a'.laqlﬁbfu lmm In snﬁna

. Coudgd 3
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geographies (e.g. Brazil), the high level of rates is likely to make it less expensive to carry the foreign exchange
position rather than to hedge it by bormowing.

It should be noted that another source of “structural” foreign exchange risk is the current income recognised by
entities located outside the euro zone.
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2. NOTES TO THE BALANCE SHEET AT 31 DECEMBER 2024

5.a. Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair (market ar model) value through profit or loss consist of held for trading
ransactions, including dervatives and of non-trading instruments whose characteristics prevent their accounting at
amortised cost or at fair value through eguity.

31 December 2024

Sacurties porthalo P
Loans and repurchase soreements s
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR YALUE THROUGH FROFIT OR LOSS | 74

= _—

The positive or negative fair value of derivative financial instruments classified as held for trading represents the
replacernent value of these instruments. This value may fluctuate significantly in response 1o changes in market
parameters (such as interest rales or foreign exchange rates).

M December 2024

Interest rate dervatives H M

Derivative financial instromaents 10 " M M

The table below shows the total notional amount of trading derivatives. The nofional amounts of derivative financial
instruments are merely an indication of the volume of the Group's activities in financial instrument markets, and do
nat reflect the market risks associated with such Instruments.

31 December 2024
Inleres] fale deshatives 1,032 B4z

Derivalive financlal Instrumants 1,032 . E 842

A ey

Transactions in derivative mstruments ara carried aul ovar the counier,

5.b. Derivatives used for hedging purposes

The table below shows the notional amounts and the fair value of derivatives used for hedging purposes.

Mothonal | Hegative
amolnts maried valse
Fair waloe hedges 28,351 T 5 31,044 aig 299
Inleres] rele derhatives i i) wr 205 31,040 gD 0
Cash Fh'r'!'_hl_ﬂgﬁ 160,668 58 220 12_,!]?5— - T
Interest rate dervatives 10,558 88 220 1205 ~° T +,
Fereign exchangs dervaiives . ok R
i L) B S PR L L e e g 2 '1'r"l:||'l":1'l'-lﬁl-- i v
Dprivative used for hedging purposes 349,018 475 515 92 w0 BT o, =259
i IS 2R PRI ks - - e
. D._.;._..ﬂ s
it " E ‘l
" 2
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The table balow presents the detail of fair value hedge relationships for identifiad financial instruments and portfalios
of financial instruments that are continuing as at 31 December 2024;

Hedging nstrasents

Cumulative
cEangas In Tl
5 the

inr|prasd-raba risk hadged porfolios 26,351 -1 O - - 28,50 8 &
Imierest raie derfeatives hedging the
interest rate risk related o ol a - &) i “ o
Loans and eeaivabies 28,256 ara 287 (6] 24,504 “
Daposils ] | ] 1] - - ar
Total fair value hadge kL) | n ik k]| 8,504 = ar

Cumulathie | Metcamying | Comulative
amaunt = 3
NabETty valua = Fahility

G}
L]

5}

4]

The notional ameount of cash low hedge derivatives is EUR 10,668 million at 21 December 2024, Changes in assets
and liabilities recognised directly in equity amount to ELIR -169 million,

The table balow presants the nominal amounts of hedging dervatives by maturity:

Maturity date
Betwesn 1 and 5 Mo than 5

Fairvalwahedges 625 13511 iR FE.351
e - : e e .-._.H.IE.E. : ...1!9” = S
Cash Mew hedgas 3,450 S M5 - 18713 10,668
Wlerestrale deshalives 3480 535 181 105%
Foreign exchanga dervaives

5.c. Financial instruments at fair value through equity

3 December 2074

of which changes in

value Eaken directiy ba
eguity

qu.ut:,r :-Bcuntlus

Total finenclal as=eis ai falr wvalue through equlty | i ) |

The option 1o recognise certaln equity instruments at fair value through equity was retained in particular for shares
held through strategic partnerships and shares that the Group is required to hold inorder to carry out cerain aclivities.

Mana of thase investments ware sold in the 2024 financial year. 1. LA o,
Dwring the yvear ended 31 December 2023, the Group disposed of one sale of these investments ann:l a EI-JE 1 rnlrhun
latent gain was reclassifiad in retrained samings. :? Trad . A

=R
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5.d. Measurement of the fair value of financial instruments

INSTRUMEMNT CLASSES AND CLASSIFICATION WITHIN THE FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY FOR ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE

As explained in the summary of significant accounting palicies (see Mate 1.e.10), financial instrumeants measured at
fair value are categorised into a falr value hierarchy consisting of three levels.

* Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss or through equity

Traflog bock Financisl axasts ol Fadr wilza heziigh aquly

TN SR T N S T I M S [ I
. a . = E 15 1] H F = 1 ]

Seourities p-urlfdh-
Gouernmesy . %
it chiet daaaniings - 15 15 1
Euatal i Gl injuily scsibii - - % 18 . 1 : |
Leaan and mpurchass agrsasenty . . . - . ' . ' : - - '
Lixgns = ] 1
Reegutch pd Bgrasrmasty

ERUANC AL ASEETSE AT Fail WALUE ' ] ' = L 15 1& 3l F ] 1 3

Suurilig Fﬁl:_'fi: - » B + = & L] 1] ] 1 5 1 )
iy e P Sl - e

Ciheer desiyt secunies: : L}

Eustiess gl oihe ey SecLNTbes - L 1]
Leans and repuschase agresments .

Loats »

Fipusch 252 SOrOETIE, g

FRLANCIS, ASSETS AT FAIR WALLE : : : : . 1 0 ™ i : i 3

= Derlvative financlal Instruments

Tradlag Bock Hecging dertantives

T T TR T T T T T
| it rais dprival s W i} 75 a5
Iy T " a3 o
———— T ' o 55 5
Pagative markei valie " L] 515 _;1
Inferesi rae cerrvatraas L] M
P o L )l . 1 H
Irierenl s cemarnssy M b

Hegatrse markat walue : k1] H
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Transfers between levels may occur when an instrument fulfils the defined criteria, which are generally market and
product dependent. The main factors influencing transfers are changes in the observation capabilities, passage of
time, and events affecting the transaction Ifetime.

5.e. Financial assets at amortised cost

Detail of loans and advances by natura

I December 2024

Wt carmying
amednt

Loams and advances o ersdit instiutions 5ATH . BoTE  6OR b, 062
Cin demand accounts 2187 - a7 2350 - 2,350
Loans 37287 - AT 36448 - 146
Regurchass agreements B4 = o4 66 - 4
Loans and advances io customers . 85,185 {3,302} §1.893 O - R L
Diernand Becounts i : 0 5 - 5§
Loans to cusiomers 69,789 (3,101} 65,508 74,258 [3.404) T axe
Finance legses 15,356 (201) 15,185 13,344 (1855 13,155
Tatad laans and advences &t smodtised cost 81,173 {3,303 __ETam 83,857 (3563 80,074

. Detail of dabt securities

3 December 2024

Gross value
before
Impalrnent

Impasnment | Hel carmying
{reabe 2.6) amo

Govamments . . . 4 4
Credil inslifions 17 . 17 a . an
Oihers 128 - . 128 188 . 188

——— e = e = arrm

Total debt securities at amortised cosi 145 . 145 221 . 221

e —
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. Detail of loans and advances and debt securities by stage

Loans and advances | crecht inatibulions 5878 . 5878 5,062 - 062
Stage 1 5978 5,578 6,062 o apar
Loans and advances io cuslamers 85,185 {3,303) g1,883 £7.604 (3553 84,012
Stage 1 75930 {574) 75,356 AT (538 77.335
Slage 2 5,204 (L] 478 5370 [B31) 4739
Stage 3 4011 12,253 1,756 4261 2323 183
Dibl securities 145 145 Fry - 221
Stage 1 15 - 5 7 - 77
Todal financial assels at amortised sl 1,313 {3,303 LA 1 B3.847 (3552 90,253
- Breakdown of finance leases
31 Decapnbar 2024

Gross invesimenl 16,815 14,501
Racababla within 1 year 5,922 4,945
Racelabis afer 1 year but within § ysars 10,538 2440
Recaivable beyond § years s 115

Urnearmed interest inoame (1.43%) {1,158)

Het Inwestment befors impairman 15336 11,343
Recanabie il 1 yesr 5414 4478
Rocaivabhe @l 1 ywee id withn 5 yodn 0 545 B 757
Recsable bayond 5 years T 10

Impalrmant provisians {201) (129}

Wed investment after impairment 15,185 13,154
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5.f. Financial liabilities at amortised cost due to credit institutions and

customers
Duwe 1o credit insditubians BT, T4T T0,314
On demand accounts Rt a7 28
Irerbank Bomowings T 62975
Rapurchaze agreaments ] i
Deposits from custamers = 238 5,734
Denand depasils 343 3,768
Saving sooounls 2 2
Term sccounts o i) 1,068

5.g. Debt securities and subordinated debt
Thiz note covers all debt sacurities in issue and subordinated debt measured at amortised cost

DEBT SECURITIES AT AMORTISED COST

H Decomber 2024

Megofizble debt securties o
Bonds 5461
Total debt secienties measured u_:_n:-:-_g_iﬂd_:g_d_ _ . _ 4,286 6,388
SUBDRDIMNATED DEBT AT AMORTISED COST
3 December 2024
Riedeemable subordinaled debt 1,703 1,816
Perpatual subordinaied debt 110 110
Tatal suberdinated debt at amordised cost 1,811 1,838

*  Redesmable subordinated debt

Redesmable subordinated debl issued by the Group includes medium- and long-lerm securities treated as saimple
subordinated notes whose early redemplion before the contraciual maturity date in the event of the liquidation of the
issUing company would cccur after the other creditors but before tha holders of profit-sharing loans and profit-sharing

securities.
After appraval of tha banking supervisory authority and at the issuer's discration, thase debl issuas may contain a

call provision authorsing the Group o redeem the securities prior to maturity by repurchasing them in the stock
market, via public tender offers, or in the case of private placements over the counter,
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5.h. Current and deferred taxes

¥ December 2024

Cument fakes 37
Delemed fines &7l
Current and deférned bax assets Ta7 1,065
Cuwment taxes 45 a7
Dedeared taxes M 110
Curment snd deferred tax linbditizs 216 147

Change in deferred tax by nature over the period:

3 December
024

Financial instuments (122) (&7 i) % (1
Prowisions for employee banalit obligations H -] (4 -
Unrealisad finance lease ressne (132 15 - 15
Credit rick impairmant 5682 (&3] - (1)
Ti Inss camyformrds 3 [£] ¥ (1
Cthar items 143 [115) - (15) 13
Total nst delferrad faxss Geg (L] F i) (4] (14 il
Defermed b= asssts 678 458
Defiermed tax lishilidas (11 171}

Unracognised defarred lax assels tolalled EUR 1,417 million at 31 December 2024 compared with EUR 1,193 million

at 31 December 2023.

5.i.  Accrued income/expense and other assets/liabilities

31 December 2024

Guaraniee depodits and bank guaranbess paid 156 ]
Collection accounts 4 53
Accrued income and prepand expentes 2 il
Ceher debbors and miscellangous assels - 1,865 1,580
Tatal acerued incorne and ather a34els 2134 1,858
Guararies deposils recened o0 &1
Colleclion aceounty - 3
Aorrued expersa and defered incoms ] T
Lease lighillias - o =] ' a5
Diher ciedibas and miscellansous Tabillies 1,255" ‘ Lem

Tatal accrued expenses and ather liabllities

187 Tl 2%

[
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Equity-method investments

Cumulative financial information of associates and joint ventures is presented in the following table:

N DecomBar

Equity-methed

Jaint venlures &3] 2] 566
Asgociahes i [1] il 4 dﬂ
Taolal equity-method entitiss (TEl {14} d i) {85} 1,028

Financing and guarantes commitments given by the BNP Paribas Personal Finance Group to joint vantures are listed

in Mote &.f "Other related parties”,
The camying amount of the Group's investment in the main joint ventures and associates (s presented in the following
table:
Jaind vanfures
Lirion de Credilos inmobiliarics Spain Morigage laans 40 185 il
Associates o
Carmefour Banque France Cengumer loansg 40 m e
Sendcios Financieros Camefowr EFC Spain Distribasion of kans 4085 145 167
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5.k. Property, plant, equipment and intangible assets used in operations,

investment property

3 December 2024

Curmulagive

depraclation f
amartiestian
and imgpairment
provisions

Gross camying
amraunt

Ned earrying
amaLnt

Inwestmen| praperty T — 53 (27} i 42 A 1) 21
Land and buildings 3 (251 15 440 {205} 145
Equipment. furniure and fixtures 178 [158) a0 Mz (173} 2%
Flant and equl e

E_WE:TH O I 49 (18} 4 852 85 B0B
Other intangible assels 218 [115) 103 204 {123} g
Propery, plant and equipmant 121 (540 &7 1,498 {637} 851
O which right-of-sae ] (216 Ll 344 (256 T
Proparty, plant and equipmeand and Investment
i 1,263 [563) 837 1,540 {658} 62
Purchased solware 241 (218) 3 27 (235) 35
Intemally-developad sciware 1,038 {BEE) 178 62 (802 130
Other intangible asssts ;57 {11 15 {101} 178
Intampible assets - 154 {1,157} L) 1,530 {1,135 |

" Intangible assets

Other intangible assets mainly include leasehald rights, goodwill and trademarks acquired by the Group.

E Depreciation, amortisation and impairment

Net depreciation and amortisation expense amounted to EUR 185 million in 2024, compared with EUR 171 million
in 2023.

Met impairment losses on proparty, plant and equipment and intangible assets was zero in 2024, compared with EUR
0.8 milion in 2023.

5.1. Goodwill

Hel canrying Amgusi at beginntg of period 1,218 (K]

fcqutsiions (L] v

Dhesimants 154 3

Reclasshicaion &8 non-cumént assets held for sale (Nole 8.0 - L7

Eschenge raie adjusiments ] i

Impairmeni bases secognisad during the perigd - .

Ciher miragmants

Net canrying amount at end of pericd 1,136 oy e 1,254 4
-.l

Geives caeTying Bmounl 1.6 " "

Cumulafve mpairmenl iscognited al end of peniod ®| & e
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Goodwill impairment tests are carried out using three different valuation methods: one based on the review of
transactions involving entities with similar activities, a second consisting of identifying market parameters induced by
lested entities with similar activities, and a third using the expected fulure profitability (discounted cash flow method -
DCF).

If ane of the two methods based on similar entities suggests a need to recognise an impairmant loss, the DCF method
is used to validate this result and possibly determine the appropriate amount.

The DCF methad relies on a number of assumptions regarding forecast revenue flows, expanse flows and cost of
risk (cash flows) based on medium-term (five-year) businass plans. Cash flows are projected beyond five years
based an a growth rate to infinity and can ba normalised when the shari-term environment does not reflect the normal
BCONOMC cyche.

5.m. Provisions for contingencies and charges

31 Dstamber 2024

Provisions for empleyee beneli obligations M n 18} 1 2

of which post-employment benefits (Nole 7.b Fr 5 (5] i 5

of whizh provision for othar keng-tarm Besalils (Note o) & 7 i) g i &

of which provatsion dor share-based payments T 4 il s . &
Frovisions for Snancing commitments (Hote 21) 1 (19 (1) % 1 85
Provisions for litigation E55 7 {167) . - 05
Oter proviions for contingeacies snachorgss. M9 - 1) - @ “
Total provisices for contingancies and chages Tz i [¥1T] 1] {1 M

The provisions for disputes cover, in particular, disputes relating to the interpretation of and changes in regulations
on loans o individuals.

5.n. Transfers of financial assets

As parl of the proprietary securilisation business described in Mole B.d, the Group caries out securitisation
fransactions, somea of which are partially rafinanced by outside investors,

Financial assats that have been transfemed but not derecognised by the Group are mainly composed of securitised
asseis. The liahilities associated with thase securitised assels consist of the securitisation nofes subscribad by third
parties.

*  Repurchase agreements:
Securilies sold under repurchase agreemenis totalled EUR B4 million at 31 December 2024 (EUR 110 million at 31

December 2023). Liabilities associated with securities sold under repurchase agreements were recorded under
“Repurchase agreements” for ELIR 84 million at 31 Dacember 2024 (EUR 110 million at 31 December 2023).

' Securitisation transactions partially refinanced by external investors, whose recourse is limited to the
transferred assals: 8 * il
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Carrying ameourt '::'"_-"'ing. Fair walue of the |  Fair value of
of transfermed :EI:"';:: “;1:'; transfennesd a'.:b:i.?lr.'d Nef pasition
In millicns of cures, at 31 December 2024 Ll liabilities il S
Securitisation
Financial assos al amorised cosi - 312 2637 313 2638 T
Takal R 2RI 113 2538 484

——— e

Securilisation

Financial assets  amorised cost 5164 41 5184 4,108 1076

———

Total 5,184 41 R R 4,108 1,074

e

A number of securitisation unis, which were subscrbed by BNP Paribas Parsonal Finance ilsalfl and have tharalore
mal bean reporied in the consolidated balance sheet, are lent. At 31 December 2024, the cammying amount of lent
securities was EUR 7,089 milion (EUR 7,526 million at 31 Dacember 2023).

The Group also made transfers of financial assets resulting in thelr full derecognition with continuing Imvalvement due
to provided collateral, for which i received commissions, The Group set aside provisions in respect of the collateral
reported under "Provisions for conlingencies and charges”.

Rirognised come 18d asperdes

Condnuing iveahemen: a i s

Lot i Tl e by HE H ki b 14 A (24

I'.urJ:rll.lrl!lm:IJHr!rg:

i R COMITA SRRl ki bt ] L] HE 14 F] L]




6. COMMITMENTS GIVEN OR RECEIVED

6.a. Financing commitments given or received

Contractual value af financing commitments given or received by the Group:

Financing commitments given
ko credif institulions
o eusbomears

Credil {acbtiss

Of which stags 1
Of which slage 2
O which slage 3
Financing commitments received
fram credit iInstiutions
from cusbomers

Tokal financing commitmands received

31 Decembser 2024

Consglidated hinandcial statements 1or the year ended 31 tecember JB:25

6.b. Guarantee commitments given by signature

Guarantes commiltments given
1o credit instiutlions
1o cusbomers
Fianeial quaranizes
Oiher guarsntess

Todal guaranies commilments given

20,253 19,584

20,253 16,584

- 02 19,594

18,580 19,283

228 255

35 45

1 1,536

e B51 153
3 Decomber 2024

40 383

4 -

41 Ab

o - 381 )

34 353

&7 70
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6.c. Other guarantee commitments

- Financial instruments given as collateral

31 Decembser 2024

Financial assels pledged es collalersl or iransactions with ¢ redit insfufions and financtal
Cushonmers

Sacurites sold under repurchise agreements &4 110

Financial instruments given as collateral or transferred under repurchase agreemenis by the Group that the
beneficiary is authorised 1o sell or reuse as collateral amounted to EUR 151 million at 31 December 2024 (EUR 121
millicn at 31 Decamber 2023).

6.d. Securitisation transactions

*  Proprietary securitisation activities {orlginator)

As part of BNF Paribas Personal Finance's day-to-day cash management activities and its objective of reducing risk-
weighted assets, less liquid assets such as customer loans (consumer loans, auto loans and home loans) can be
quickly converied to cash through securitisation.

The BNP Paribas Personal Finance Group's 2024 securitisation plan has been heavily impacted by lower than
expected production levels of aulo leans and consumer lpans, Ag the size of eligible deposils is smaller, several
transactions had to be postponed until 2025,

However, BMP Paribas Parsonal Financa issued three SRT transactions during the year.

ECARAT DE 2024, a cash credil risk transfer securitisation (SRT) within the meaning of regulation 575-2013,
contributed significantly o the reduction in the capital requirements of the BNP Paribas Persanal Finance group.
Donatello 1, BNPF PF's first synthetic securilisation, was also launched in December 2024. This represents a
securilisation lood that complements cash securitisation in arder 1o meet the RWA reduction targets of BNPP PF and
the BMP Paribas Group.

Securitisation | Significant | Type Date Country | Originator | Type of assets | Outstandi
Risk ngs
Transfer securitise
(SRT) d

ECARAT DE Yes Cash June 2024 [ Germany | Siellantls Auto loans EUR 373M

2024 | —_— Germany

Donatello 1 Yes Synthetic December | France Findomestic | Consumer loans| EUR S00M

2024

The securities subscribed by BMP Paribas Personal Finance's originator entities and lent to BMP Paribas SA,
amaunted to EUR 7.1 billion at 31 December 2024 compared with EUR 7.5 billion at 31 December 2023

Tha tatal stock of securnbsed receivables amounted to EUR 12.2 billion at 31 December 2024 across thifieen
transactions.
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7. SALARIES AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

7.a. Salaries and employee benefit expenses

Fined and wariable remuneration, incenthe boruses and proft-shaning 756 80
Employes benefil expense 163 453
Payulltawes L= vt - .. : 5
Talal salary and employes banefit axpanse 1,015 1,3

7.b. Post-employment benefits

|45 19 distinguishes between two calegories of plans, each handled differently depanding on the risk incumred by the
enfity. When the antity Is only committed to paying a fixed amounl, stated as a percentage of the beneficiary's annual
salary, for example, to an extermnal entity handling payment of the benefits based on the assets available for each
plan member, it is described as a defined-contribution plan. Conversely, when the entity’s obligation is to manage
the financial assets funded through the collection of contributions from employees and to bear the cost of banefits
itself or to guarantee the final amount subject o future events, it is described as a defined-benefit plan. The same
applies if the entity entrusts the managemant of the collection of premiums and payment of benefits to a separate
entity but retains the risk arising from the management of the assets and/or from future changes in the benefits.

«  Main defined-contribution pension plans for BNP Paribas Personal Finance Group

In France, the BNP Paribas Personal Finance Group pays contributions to mandatory state and complementary
pension schames.

Since defined-benefit plans have been closed to new employees in most countries oulside France, they are offered
the benefit of joining dafined-contribution pension plans.

The amount paid into defined-contribution post-employment plans for the year endad 31 December 2024 was EUR
54 million, compared with EUR 52 million for the year ended 31 Decambar 2023.

The breakdown by geographic area is as follows:

a4
France 28 28
Haky 1B 17
Obwrs B -
TOTAL -2 ¥

«  Main defined-benefit pension plans for BNP Paribas Personal Finance Group entities and retirement
bonuses and end-of-service awards

Defined-banelit pension plans have all been dosed to new entrants. This mainly concerns plans benefiting
employees of entities located within Stellantis Bank SA Niederlassung Deutschiand and PS# Bank Deutschland in
Germany, whose plans were almost 100% funded ai 31 Dacamber 2024, compared with 93% at 31 December 2023,
and within Stellantis Financial Services UK Ltd in the United Kingdom, whose plans was Ti80% funded a:c 31
December 2024, unchanged from 31 December 2023. o ; i

im Caour
w
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= Cther post-employment banafits

The employees of the BNP Paribas Personal Finance Group companies are offered various contractual benefits such
as retirement bonuses and end-of-service awards. In France, the obligations for these benafits are fundad through a
contract held wath a third-party insurer outside the BNP Paribas Personal Finance Group. At 31 December 2024,
125% of this commitmant was covered by financial assets, compared with 111% at 31 December 2023, Abroad,
commitments in respect of these other benafits are concentrated in taly, whera rights were frozen on 31 December
2006,

Obligations under defined-benefit pension plans and indemnities payable on retirement

- Assels and liabilities recognised on the balance sheat

of witich
ohlpation

Fair valum of plan

nsals

CGagrmany 13 1% (0 1] i
Frans 1 1 L] 45 = (10} 1
Unied Kingdem a 3 450 i ]

Cihess e i 13 13 . [k
TOTAL 155 7] [ 208 - 75| T
Gesmany g 118 (1104 L !
Frarnce 5 i 5 {54 ) (111 1
Uinétest Kingdam 2 o (e )] ] 1]} .
Ohars 12 g 12 i 12
TOTAL 142 1 3 [HE7) B {14 Er

- Changa in the present value of the defined-benefit cbligation

Present valus of defined-benslit ohligalion af star of period 205 150
Current service cost " 3 3
Interest cost 7 ¥
Past sanvice cosl 3 i)
Actuanal (gains) bosses on changs in demographic assumpdons
Acuanial {gainsh losses on change in financial assumptions )] "
Actuarial |gains) losses on experisnce adustments - ]
Banefits paid drecty by te employer {1
Banefits paid from assstz {B) 18}
Exchangs rabe (gaingllesses on obligalion 1
{Gainsklosses on chligation relaled bo changes in the consolidation scope 1 51
Ciher moverngnis - _ - -
Prasant value of definad-banadit obligation at end of parad 203 205
zainicind ixl = — o
o »
& raduetiit,
L gles 3
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s =

Fair walue of assels at slart of period 145
Expected refum on agssis 7 ]
Actuarial gains/{lsses) on assets 1 1B}
Benefits paid from assets 1B} (8)
Exchange rate (gains)iasses on obligation 2
{(Sains}ioss=s on obligation related o changes in the corsclidation scape _ (M s,
Fair value of aasels at end of pariod 208 157
- Components of the cost of defined-benefit plans
Bervice cost . L
Cawment sersica cost 3 |
Pasl service cost E] 7
Zemlements 5 :
Mef financial expends . (M
Intarest cost T i
Irterest income on plan assals - i) B 11}
Totsl recognisad in salary and employes benelil expense B ial
Other items recognised direcily in eguity
Other items recognised directly In equity o ) ki = Ul
Actuarial gains Jossas) on plan assets n L
Actuanial (losses)igaing of demographic assumplions on the present value of obiigations ; )
Actuarial losses)igains of financial assumplions an Bhe present value of obligations T (1)
Exparience losses)'gains on obligations {5) 1

= Main actuarial assumplions used to calculate obligations

In the Eurczone, the BNP Paribas Personal Finance Group discounts its obligations using the yields of high-quality
corporate bonds, with a tarm cansistent with the duration of the obligations.

The fallowing discount rate ranges have been used:

I Decembar 2024

Balary increase e [

Germany 140R% 250% 320 2,308 1n 2.50%
France 340% 2 0% o d_10% 3.20% ol Aanﬁ
Uinited Kingdam 500 M 530% o » 320 ¢,

Cehers 0% 3.50%
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Average discount rates weighted by obligation amounts are as follows:

= inthe Eurozone: 3.38% al 31 December 2024 for a weighted average duration of 12,7 years, compared with
3.22% a1 31 December 2023 for a weighted average duration of 12.7 years;

= imthe United Kingdom: 5.00% at 31 December 2024 for a weighted average duration of 14.1 years, comparad
with 5.29% at 31 December 2023 for a weighted average duration of 14.7 years.

The impact of a 100bp change in discount ratas on the present value of post-employment benefit obligations is as

follows:
31 December 2024
Discount mta -1006p | Discount rate +H00Ebp
(Germany 18 (15) 17 (14}
France 5 4] 5 i4)
Liniiad Kingdom 3 4 4 )
Oithers 1 (1] 1 (1

The inflation assumptions used to calculate obligations are determined locally depending on the monetary area,
except for the Eurozone for which the assumption iz determined canirally.

Average discount rates weighted by obligation amounts are as follows:
= in the Evrozone: 2.10% at 31 December 2024 compared with 2.30% at 31 December 2023;

- in the United Kingdom: 3.15% at 31 Decamber 2024 compared with 3.20% at 31 December 2023.

The impact of a 100bp increase in inflation rates on the present value of post-employment banalil obligations s as

follows:
31 Decesmnbeer 2024
Gamary 15 14
France g 3
Unrited Kingdom 4 4

Chers

Variation effects of discount and inflation rates presented above are nod cumulative.

Actual rafe of returm on plan assats over the period

k|

Gemany 10.50%5 fo 15.50% BE5% b 11.505%%
France 250 26
Linitesd Kingdom T8 A100%

Dihers wfunded
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Breakdown of plan assels
3 December 2024
HM I:l H I

Gerrsgap Ha 5 Y (1] % 2 M M a5 1] 1. b1 T Y
Frame 17% 2118 15% gt M M s 5y % 1% M M 100
Unded Kingdom e % % &% i (1. 100% B g N 100%
BNP Paribas Parsorsl - o ik : . : : e 3 = o
Pt e i 1% & 1% (M N L T | 15 1% £ J 1z I_‘-'if

In Frarge, 152 bagadont of [or B3Rl fonesporady |5 e brpshauan of e gerandl furd o 1 i ance m Nal fandes the commimests

The BMP Paribas Personal Finance Group introduced an asset managament govemance process for assets backing
defined-banefit pension plan commitments, the main objectives of which are the managemeant and control of the risks
in tarme of imvestments,

It sets out investment principles, in particular, by defining an investment strategy for plan assets, based on financial
objectives and financial risk management, to specify the way in which plan assets have to be managed via financial
management servicing conlracts.

The invesiment strategy is based on an assets and Rabilities management analysis that should be realised at |east
every three years for plans for which assets value is mora than EUR 100 million

7.c. Other long-term benefits

The BMP Paribas Personal Finance Group offers its employees vanous long-term benefits, mainly long-service
awards and the ability to save up paid annual leave in time savings accounts.

The net provision of the cormespanding obligation amountad to EUR 29 million at 31 December 2024 (EUR 31 million
at 31 Decembar 2023).

As part of the BNP Paribas Group's variable compensation policy, annual defermed compensation plans are sat up
for certain high-performing employees or pursuant 1o special regulatory frameworks. Under these plans, payment i
deferred over time and is subject to the performance achieved by the business lines, divisions and BNF Paribas
Group.

Since 2013, tha BNP Paribas Group has had a Group loyalty scheme with a cash paymenit, at the end of a three-
year vesting period {or four years from 2022), which fluctuates according to the Group's intrinsic parfarmance. The
airn of this scheme Is to involve different categories of managerial staff in the Group's development and profitability
objectives. These personnel are representative of the Graup's talent and the breadth of its managerial framework,
i.e. senior managers, managers in key positions, line managers and experts, high-polential managers, high-
performing young managers with good career devalopment prospacts and key contribuiors to the Group’s resullts.

The amaunts allocated under this plan are linked to changes in the Group's operational perfarmance over the duration
of the plan (for 80%) and to the achievement of the Group'’s Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) targsts (for 20%).
These ten targets are in line with the four pillars on which the Group's CSR palicy is based. In addition, the final
payment |s subject to continuous service within the Group between the grant date and the payment dale, provided
that the Group's operating income and pre-lax income for the year prior to payment are strictlly positive. For
employees subject to special regulatory framewarks, this loyalty scheme is adjusted in accordance with the CRD
European Directive.

The netl obligation related to deferred compensation plans and loyalty schemas amounts 1o EUR 13 million at 31
December 2024 (EUR 13 million at 31 December 2023).

% b b Hi £ ¢
H December 2024 oy &

Wl provisions for oher king-temm benefits & Teaducrice 44
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7.d. Termination benefits

Tha BMP Paribas Personal Finance Group has implemented various voluntary redundancy plans and headcount
adaptation plans for employvess who meel certain eligibility criteria. The obligations io eligible actve employeas undar
such plans are provided for as soon as a bilateral agreement or a bilateral agreamant proposal for a paricular plan
iz made. Furthermore, BNF Paribas Personal Finance records charges related to redundancy plans due o
restruciunng orca the Group has established a formalksad and detailed plan which has been announced to the paries
concerned

3 December 2074

Prewigion for wolunlary depariure, early refirement plang, and headoount adaplaticn plans 183 L)

7.e. Share-based payments

As parl of the Group’s varable remuneration policy, deferred annual compensation plans offered to certain high-
performing employees or set up pursuant to special regulatory frameworks may entitle banaficiaries 1o variable
compensation sattled in cash bul linked to the shara price, payable over several years.

Variable compensation for employees, subject to special regulatory frameworks

Since the publication of the Decree by the French Ministry of Finance on 13 December 2010, and following the
provisions of the European Directive CRD 4 of 26 July 2013, modified by the CRD 5 Directive of 20 May 2018,
transposed into the French law in the Manetary and Financial Code by the Ordinance of 20 February 2014, and the
Ordinance of 21 December 2020, as well as the Dacrees and Orders of 3 November 2014 and 22 December 2020
and the Delegated Ewropean Regulation of 25 March 2021, the variable compensation plans apply o Group
employeas performing activities that may have a material impact on the Group's risk profile.

Under these plans, payment iz deferred over time and ks contingent on the performance achieved by the business
lines, core businesses and Group.

Sumes will mastly be paid in cash linked to tha increase or dacreasa in the BNP Paribas share price.

Deferred variable compensation for other Group employees

Sums due under the annual deferred compensation plans for high-performing employees are partly paid in cash
linked fo the increase or dacreasa in the BMP Paribas share price.

) Expense of share-based payments

Priar defiesmed compensaton plars . (1
Deferred compensation plans for tha year 4 3
2

Toedal 4
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8. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

8.a. Changes in share capital and earnings per share

*  Share capital transactions

At 31 December 2024, tha share capital of BNP Paribas Personal Finance was divided into 88,182,845 fully paid-up
shares with 8 nominal value of EUR T each (83,404,922 shares at 31 December 2023).

' Subardinated Debt eligible to equity

BNP Paribas Personal Finance has issued subordinated koans that pay subscribers a variabla rate coupon and that
can be redeamed al the end of a fixed period and then on each coupan date.

The following table summarises tha characleristics of this issue:

BMP Paribas Personal Finance X December 2017 ELR 280 3-enandh Euribor + 4,16% Syears  3-manth Exribor + 4,16%
EMP Paribas Personal Finance 18 December 2019 ELR 560 3-enanth Euriber + 4. T4% Syears  3-month Eudibor + 4,74%
BNP Paribes Personal Finance &2 Febngary 2043 ELR 1003-manth Euribor + 4.75% 5 years  3-month Euribor + 4.75%
Todal as a8 31 Decembar 2024 el

. Earnings per share

Basic eamings per share are calculated by dividing the net incomea for the period attributable to holders of ardinary
shares by the weighted average number of ordinary shares cutstanding during the period.

Diluted eamings per share correspond to the nel income for tha period atiributable to holders of ordinary shares
divided by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period as adjusted for the maximum effect
of the conversion of dilutive aguity instruments into ordinary shares.

As the BNP Paribas Personal Finance Group has no dilutive instruments convertible into ordinary shares, basic
earnings per share are equal to diluted earmings per share,

At 31 December 2024, the average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period was 83,744,337
(80,277,307 shares at 31 December 2023).

Basic earnings per share for 2024 amounted o EUR -2.70 (EUR -10.83 for 2023),

*  Capital Increase

By a decision of the Board of Direclors on 27 November 2024, acting on a delegation of authorty granted by
exiraordinary resclution of the shareholders dated 14 May 2024, the company's share capilal was increased by EUR
33,445,461, through the issue of 4, 777,923 new shares with a nominal value of EUR 7 each, to EUR 817,279,815,
and additional paid-in capital of EUR 466,554,539 was recorded.

This capital increase was recorded by decision of the Chief Executive Officer on 5 December 2024,
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8.b. Business combinations and loss of control or significant influence
Operations of 2024
- Cetelem SA de CV

On 27 March 2024, BMP Paribas Personal Finance sold 80% of its stake of its Mexican subsidiary Cetelem SA de
Cw.

The BMP Paribas Group lost exclusive control of this entity but kepl a significant influence.

This partial disposalis accompanied by an agreement for the future disposal of the residual interest, thereby depriving
tha Group of the returm on the shares held, and leading 1o the recognition of a debt of ELIR 125 million.

The loss of control led to the recognition of a met gain on disposal of ELIR 119 million and to 8 decrease of the Group’s
balance shaet by EUR 3.1 hillion, in particular in financial assats at amortised cost.

ENP Paribas Personal Finance Bratislava branch (Slovakia)

The activibes of the BMNP Parbas Personal Finance Bratislava Branch in Slovakia were sold on 2 April 2024, This
disposal resulted in a gain on disposal of EUR 0.8 million and a reduction in the Group's balance sheet of EUR 53
rdllicn.

. Magyar Cetelem Bank ZRT (Hungary)

On 30 Saptembear 2024, BNP Paribas Parsonal Finance sold 100%: of its stake in its Hungarian subsidiary, Magyar
Cetelern Bank ZRT, to Cofidis SA.

The BNP Paribas FPersonal Finance Group lost exclusive contral of this enlity, resulting in the recognition of a loss
on disposal of EUR 42.8 millien and a decrease in the Group's balance sheet of ELR 247 million, mainly in financial
assets at amortised cost,

These disposals were classified as an aclivity held for sale in the 2023 consolidated financial statements of the BMP
Paribas Personal Finance Group and described in Mote 8.c Activities held for sale

Operations of 2023
" Partnership with Stellantis
On 3 April 2023, BMP Paribas Parsonal Finance became the exclusive pariner of Stellantis captive company in 15

financing activities across three strategic markets: Germany, Ausiria and the United Kingdom,

This oparation involved the purchase of three entities in these three counfries, in conjunclion with the sale of activities
1o various Stellantis joint venlures in France, italy and Spain. In the 2022 consolidated financial statements, the
dispesal of the ftalian and Spanish retail portfolios was treated as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5.

This restructuring increased the Group's balance sheet by EUR 8 billion, in particular in financial assets at amortized
cost, and led to the recognition of a net gain on disposal of EUR 54 million and of a goodwill of EUR 7.3 million.
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8.c. Minority interests

Minority interests

Ealangg at | January 2823 TE? 3 18] L
Appropriation of netincome for 2022 m : by
Incegsas in copital oo s ne . I
Fermuneration on undsiesd supsr subordinated noles ] - (3
Impact ol intamal irarssciions o minonty sharahokiees {17 . (7
Change in commitmants o sepurchase minonty sharsholders” inberesty 1 - i
Ot e amenis - . -
Changes in asssts and labdiies secogrised dirsctly i equily - # 18 12
Ml incoms 44 4k 31 Decisbar 2003 133 - - 15
Balancs at 31 December 2023 1,204 {1 ] 1,305
Appropriation of net income far 2023 {12y . i Fa!)
Increases in capial and Eies .
Capilel reducions or repaymenta -

Figmungraiion on undaied supar subondingled ol [:]] . L]
Impact ol intsmal ranascHons o menonity 4 hamholdars. - -
Change in commilmants I mpuschase mingrity shangholiers intemesis 4 . ]
O miamenis | . 1
Changes in asseis and abiites recignead deecly in aouly - 1 H &
Mal incoms as at 31 Decemiar 3034 i - = 110
Balascs at 31 Decembar 2004 1,188 1 i 1,210

A Main minorty Interests

The assessment of the material nature of minority interests is based on the contribution of the relevant subsidiaries
lo the Group balance sheet (before elimination of intra-group balances and transactions) and to the Group prafit and
loss account,

Contritation of Emilants Bank 54

: % 134 128 1
group snities i o a i i
Other l'lll'lﬂl'lt:|I -——“.; i} R § T & 4
— = L= 2
ey iy e N
TOTAL V. 11n.ir.lﬂ.t_1'-c'l"-*_l‘nu R
i e g —— -
. =i 7 e Ll
ik A o
I:.-- i ll'lE Tl h =
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Conbributian of Beellants Bank B4

group emises W0H 56 23 24 5% 113 112 )
Other minority interests 1" Fi |
TOTAL 11 145

There are no particular contractual restrictions on the assels of Stellantis Bank 5A related to the presence of the
minority sharahaldear.

. Commitments to repurchase minority shareholders' Interests

In connaction with the acquisition of cartain entitias, the Group granted minarily shareholders put oplions on their
holdings al a fixed price

The total value of these commilments, which are recorded as a reduction in shareholders’ equity, amounted to EUR
59 million at 31 December 2024, compared with ELIR 61 millicn at 31 December 2023,

8.d. Significant restrictions in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates

Significant restrictions related to the ability of entities to transfer cash to the Group

The ability of entities to pay dividends or to repay Ioans and advances depends, irfer alia, on local regulatory
requirements lor capitalization and legal reserves, aswell as the entities” financial and operating performance. During
2023 and 2024, no BMP Paribas Personal Finance Group enfity was subject to significant resiricions other than
thasa relaled to ragulatory requirements.

Significant restrictions relative to the Group's ability to use the assets lodged in consolidated structured
entities

Accass to the assets of consolidated structured entities in which third-party investors have invested is limited
ingasmuch as these enlities’ assels are reserved for the holders of unils or shares, The tofal amount of thase assels
is shown in Mote 5.n “Transfers of linancial assets”.

Significant restrictions related to the Group's ability to use assets pledged as collateral or under repurchase
agreameants

The financial instruments pledged by the BNP Paribas Persanal Finance Group as collateral or sold under repurchase
agreements are listed in Notes 5.n “Transfers of financial assats” and 6.c “Other guaraniee commitments”.
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8.e. Remuneration awarded to the Group's corporate officers

Compensation and benefils awarded to directors and officers totalled EUR 1,375 million far 2024, comparad with
EUR 1,537 million for 2023.

8.f.  Other related parties

Other related parties of the BMP Paribas Personal Finance Group comprise consolidated companies (including
antities accounled for using the equily method), ofthar BNP Paribas Group entities and entities managing post-
employment benefit plans offered o Group employvees (except for multi-employer and multi-industry schemes).

Transactions between the BNP Paribas Personal Finance Group and related parties are carred out on an arm's
length basis,

RELATIONS BETWEEN COMSOLIDATED BNP PARIBAS PERSONAL FINANCE GROUP COMPANIES AND
THE BMNP PARIBAS GROUP

A list of companies consolidated by the BMP Paribas Personal Finance Group is provided in Mote B "Scope of
consalidation®. Transactions and outstanding balances batween fully-consolidated entities are eliminated. The tables
bedow show transactions with entities accounted for under the equity method, They also include all iransactions with
other fully-consolidated BNP Paribas Group companias.

*  Dutstanding balances with related parties

Besides, securitisation unite self-subscribed by BMP Parlbas Personal Finance (see Mote 6.d) and other securities
ware lant or sold under repurchase agreaments to BMP Paribas S&

. Profit and loss items with related parties

1 Docombar 1144
Dthir

cunsolidated ENP
Paritas Group
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BMP Paribas
Group comganies
Interes! income T 18 053 &
injerest expense 13.314) @73
COfmmission ncoms i k[
Cafmisgian Bopenss [ (V&]
Services provided 2 "
Seriied moakad (i 28]
Lease income 5 E]
Totd [2,350) 14 T 2

8.g. Fair value of financial instruments carried at amortised cost

The infarmation supplied in this note must be used and interpreted with the greatest caution for the following reasons:

these fair values are an estimate of the valwe of the relevant instruments at 31 December 2024. They ars iabla
1o fluctuate from day to day as a result of changes in various paramaters, such as interest rates and credit
quality of the counterparty. In particular, they may differ significantly from the amounts actually received or paid
an maturity of the instrument. In most cases, the fair value is not intended to be realised immediately. and in
practice might not be realised immediately. Consaquently, this fair value does not reflect the actual valus of
the instrumeant to BNP Paribas Personal Finance as a going concem,

most of these fair values are not meaningful, and hence are nat taken into account in the management of BNP
Paribas Personal Finance activities which use these instruments;

estimating a fair value for financial instrumenls carried at historical cost often requires the use of modelling
techniques, rules and assumptions that may vary from bank to bank. This means thal comparisons between
the fair values of financial instruments carried at historical cost as disclosed by different banks may not be
mieaningiul;

the: fair values shown below do not include the fair values of finance keases, nen-financial instruments such as
praperty, plant and equipment. goodwill and other intangible assets such as tha value attributed 1o demand
deposit portfolios or customer relationships. Consequently, these fair values should not be regarded as the
actual contribution of the instruments concerned to the overall valuation of the BMP Paribas Parsonal Finance

Group.
Carrying valus

FIMAMCIAL ASSETS

Loars and advances i ciedil peliulin snd cuslomens” 180 0,008 72230 Ta5Th
Dkt sescuriies al asonissd cosl foole Se) T i 13 5 145
FIMAMCIAL LIABILITIES

Onposis hom credit natislon and oustonss 6,561 TE.561 75,056
Dbt smperities (noks 550 g3 1475 4188 4305
Subord inaled debl fnode 5 1,778 1,778 1813

4



Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024

FMARCIAL ASSETS
Loans and aduances io cepdit inglibulicns and coshomarns ' .6 goaes 18584 18,4918
Dbt sacurtiss at amorisad cost (oole 59 130 Ly -] 0 &

FIMANCIAL LIABILITIES

Dagosis from madd nstitusons and Cuslomies T 451 76461 76,083
Dekt securties fncte 5g) &2 5761 8,385 £382
Subordnated dest jnofe Sgi 188 1,483 1928
e i AR i i

The valuation fechniques and assumplions used by BMP Paribas Personal Finance ensure that the fair value of
financial assels and liabilities camried at amortised cost is measured on a consistent basis throughout the Group. Fair
value is based on prices quated in an active market when these are availlable. In other cases, fair valug is determined
using valualion techniques such as discounting of estimated future cash flows for koans, liabilities and debt sacurilies
at amoerised cost, or specific valuation modeds for other financial instruments as described in Maote 1 "Summary of
significant accounting policies applied by the Group®. The description of the fair value hierarchy lavels is also
presented in the accounting principles (Mote 1.2.9). In the case of loans, Rabilities and debt securities at amortised
caost that have an initial maturity of less than one year (including demand deposits) or of most regulated savings
products, fair value aguates to carrying amounl. Thess instrumeants have been classilied in Level 2, except for loans
o customers, which are classified in Level 3.

8.h. Events after the reporting period

On 230 January 2025, the Spanish Supreme Court handed down an unfavourable ruling on the aspecis of
transparancy. This event after the reporting period was coverad by an additional provision in Banco Celalem's local
financial statements in addition fo the existing provision and was not included in BNF Paribas PFs consolidated
financial slatements at 31 Decamber 2024,
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8.i Scope of consolidation
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Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
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8.j. Fees paid to the statutory auditors

Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
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Audit fees paid to external auditors who are not part of the network of the extemal auditors cerfifying the individual
and consolidated financial statements of ENFP Paribas Personal Finance, mantionad in the table above, amouwnted to
EUR 14 thousand for the yvear ended 31 December 2024,
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

(IFRS) as adopted by the European Union

The cansolidaled financial statemants of the BNP Paribas Persanal Finance Group are presented for the years ended
31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023. Information for the year ended 31 December 2022 is included in the
consofidaled financial slatements for the year ended 31 December 2022, which are available on the websile of the
French Official Joumal of legal announcements (www journal-official gou. ir).

INCOME STATEMENT FOR THE 2024 FINANCIAL YEAR

Inksres] incame 2a
Inberis! enparse 28
Cammission incama 2h
Caammission expansa 2h
Pded gain {loss) on financial instruments &t fair value through profit or less ¥
Mgt gain fioss) on financial inginements & lair value (hrough equity
Income from ather actiilies ad
Expense an olher acthities 24
HET BANKING INCOME _ - -
Salariss and emphyes bensfil eapanes Ta
Other aperating expanzs 4
Disprecizfon, amodsation and impaimnant of propesty, plant and equipment and 5k
inlangie aasets = e S
GROS5 OPERATING I?-'ED"JE -
Cost of rigk 21
Cithar nel mxperees for risk on financial nstruments 2n
OPERATING INCORE
ﬂmﬂmufnum-ﬁuﬂm e lities 3
el gain an nan-cumrenl Msels 2h
Goodwil al
PRE-TAX INCOME
Comporale income: b 2
NET INCOME

Netincome a.i.rlmtﬂ:ie : Loy einory interests Ad
HE[ MCOME ATTH IELIT-!-E-LE TO EQUITY HGLDERE
Eﬂnh‘g:.puﬂm Ba

2024
5,483 5253
(B.811) (3419
754 BT
(123) {81}
g 1
P 244
{267 {204}
3388 3560
T {1.331)
(e21) [1.083)
[1E5) I_H 11
1,244 1044
i (1221}
s f221)
11-;- (398}
{18 4
&5 (37
168 {1m)
—5 i
----- = |T|E] |-|'3-|"I
A =
I.tin'l I:"l":'l
[ET':II [matﬂ
. ¥
% e
&
L9



STATEMENT OF NET INCOME AND CHANGES IN ASSETS AND

LIABILITIES RECOGNISED DIRECTLY IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR

ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
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BALANCE SHEET AT 31 DECEMBER 2024
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) as adopted by the European Union

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
APPLIED BY THE GROUP

1.a. Accounting standards

1.a1. Applicable Accounting standards

The consolidated financial statements of the BNP Parbas Personal Finance Group have bean prepared in
accordance with international accounting standards (International Finaneial Reporting Standards - IFRS) as adopted
for use in the European Union'_ Aceordingly, eertain provisions of IAS 39 on hedge accounting have bean axcluded.

Information on the nature and extent of risks relating to financial instruments as required by IFRS 7 “Financial
Instruments: Disclosures” along with information on regulatory capital required by 1AS 1 "Presentation of Financial
Statements” will be presented in the “Risks and Capital Adequacy of the BNP Paribas Personal Finance Group as at
31 December 2024 report. Chapter 3 Credit risk of Pillar (Il presents, in particular, IFRS 7 information on credit risk
exposures and related impairment broken down according to whether the underlying loans are parforming o non-
performing, by geographic area and by indusiry.

- Further lo the Pillar Il recommendations of the Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD)
in relation to the intermational tax reform, the European Union adopted in Decamber 2022 the 202272523 directive
instituting a minimum corporate income tax for international groups, effective 1 January 2024, This directive was
ransposed by the 2024 Finance Act in France in December 2023,

To clarify the directive’s potential impacts, on 23 May 2023 the IASE issued a series of amendments to 1AS 12
“Income Taxes”, which were adopled by the Ewopean Union on B Movember 2023. In accordance with the
provisions of these amendments, the Group apphes the mandatory and temporary exception not to recognise
daferred taxes associated with this additional taxation.

The Pillar |l reform had no impact on the Group when adopted, as at 1 January 2024 the Group has no subsideary
with a tax rala of lass than 15%..

- In France, changes resulling from the pension reform enacted on 14 April 2023 constitute a change in
post-employment benefits, based on 1AS 19 § 104. The non-matarial impact of this change was recorded in the
profit and koss account for the pericd.

Thi introduction of other standards. amendments and interpretations that are mandatory as from 1 January 2024, in
parficular the amendment to IFRS 16 on Lease liabilities in a sale and lease back, had no effect on the Group's
financial statements at 31 December 2024,
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1.a.2. New major accounting standards, published but not yet applicable

The Group did not early apply new standards, amendments and interpretations endorsed by the European Union
whan the application in 2024 was optional,

The impact assessmant of tha new standards and amandmeants not yet apglicable by the Group is presented below:

Amendments to IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments™ and IFRS T "Financial Instruments: Disclosures™ relating to the
classification and measurement of financial instruments.

On 30 May 2024, the IASE published amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7, which will be applicable for annual periods
beginning on 1 January 2026, These amendments:
* clarify the date of recognition and derecognition of certain financial assets and liabilities, with a new
axceplion for certain financial liabilitizs selfled through an alectronic payment syslam;
* clarify and add Iindications for assessing whether a financial asset meets the cash flow criteron, e.g. its
cash flows ara solaly paymants of principal and interest on the principal cutstanding (SPPI);
* require disclosuras in the notes to financial staterments for certain instruments with contractual terms that
can change the time or amount of cash flows upon the coourence or non-occurence of a contingent event
(e.g. financial instruments with characteristics linked to the achievement of environmental, social and
governance cbjectives); and
* update the information requirements for equity instruments designated at fair value through equity.

* Publication of IFRS 18 *Prezentation and dizsdosure in financial statements” in replacement of 1AS 1.
IFRES 18 will be mandatory from 1 January 2027, with retrospective application,

IFRS 18 includes many of the requiremants of A3 1 without changes and supplemeants them with new requirements
relating to:

* the presentation of specific calegories (operating, investment and financing) and sub-fiotals in tha
statement of profit or loss account;

* [nformation to be disclosed in the notes o the financial statements on management-defined perdormance
measures [MPRL);

= aggregation and disaggregation of information in the statemant of prafil or loes account.

The Bank is cumrently assessing the detailed implications of applving IFRS 18 to the Group’s consolidated fimancizl
statemeants.

1.b. Consolidation

1.b.A1 SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements of BMP Paribas Personal Finance include all entities that are controlled by the
Group, jeintly controlled, and under significant influgnce, with the exceptlion of thase entifies whose consalidation is
regarded as immaterial 1o the Group. Companies that hold shares in consolidated companies are also consolidaled.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains effective contrel, Entities under temiparary
control are also included in the consolidated financial statemeants undil the date of disposal.
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1.b.2 CONSOLIDATION METHODS

Exclusive control

Controlled entities are fully consolidated. The Group controls a subsidiary when it is exposed, or has nights, to vanabla
returns from its involvemeant with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns throwgh ts power over the entity,

For entities governed by voting righls, the Group generally controls the entity if it holds, direcily or indirecily, the
majority af the voting rights {and if there are no contractual provisions that alter the powar of these vating rights) or if
the power 1o direct the relevant activities of the entily is conferred on it by confractual agreements.

Structured entities are entities established so that they are not governed by voting rights, for instance when those
vating rights only refate o administrative decisions, whereas the relevant aclivities are directed by means of
contractual arrangements. They often present characteristics such as limiled activities, a precise, clearly-defined
purpose and imsufficient equity to alow them to finance their activities without requiring subordinated financial
support,

For these antities, the analysis of control consider the purpose and design of the entity, the risks to which the enlity
is designed to be exposed and to what extent the Group absorbs the related variability. The assessmant of canlrol
shall consider all the facts and circumstances relevant to the Group's praciical ability to make decisions that could
significantly affect its returns, even if such decisions are contingent on uncertain future events or circumstances.

In assessing whather it has power, the Group considers only substantive rights which it holds or which are beld by
third parties. For a right to be substantive, the holder must have the practical ability 1o exercise that right when
decisions about the relevant activities of the entity need to be made.

Control s reassessed if facts and circumslances indicate that there are changes o one or mare of the elemanis of
contral.

Where the Group contractually holds the decision-making power, for instance where the Group acts as fund manager,
it shall determine whether it is acting as agent or principal. Indeed, when associated with a cartain level of exposure
to the variability of retumns, this decision-making power may indicate that the Group is acting on its ewn account and
that it thus has condral ovar thosa entitias.

Minority interests are presented separately in the consalidated profit and loss account and balance sheal within
consolidated equity. The calculafion of mimority interasts takes into account the outstanding cumulative preferred
shares classified as equity instruments izsued by subsidiaries, when such shares are held outside the Group.

As regards fully consolidated funds, units held by third-party investors are recognised as dabls at fair value through
profit or loss, inasmuch as thay are redesmable at fair value at the subscriber’s initiative

For transactions resulting in a loss of contral, any equity interest ratained by the Group is remeasured at its fair value
throwgh profit or loss,

Joint control

Whera the Group carmies out an activity with ora or more pariners, sharing control by virue of a contraciual
agreement which requires unanimous consent on relevant activities (i.e. those that significantly affect the entity’s
returns), the Group exercises joint contral over the activity. Whera tha jointly contralled activity is structured through
a separate vehicle in which the partners have rights to the net assets, this joint venture is accounted for using the
aquity method Where the jointly controlled activity is not structured through a separate vehicla or whera the pariners
hawi rights to the assels and obligations for the liabllities of the jointly confrolled activity, the Group accounts for its
share of the assets, liahilities, revenues and expenses in accordance with the applicabla IFRS.

Significant influence

Entities over which the Group exercises significant influence (associates) are accounted for using the equity method.

Ergmru:ant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of a company without
exercising control, Significant influence is presumed 1o exist when the Group directly or indirectly Rolds 20% ormore
of an entity's voting rights. Interests of less than 20% can be included in the consolidatiofi sco ﬁ if fhe Group
effectively exercises significant influence. This is the case for example for entities developed in pa ip with othar
associates, where the BMP Paribas Personal Finance Group participales in sirategic dﬂdsmﬁ!- :‘.ll l:h& en[ergrlse
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through representation on the Board of direclors or equivalent goveming body, or exercises influence owver the
enterprise’s aperational management by supplying management systems ar senicr managers, or provides technical
assistance to support the enlerprise’s development.

Changes in the net assets of associates (companies accounted for under the equity method) are recognised on the
assets side of the balance sheet under “Investments in eguity-method entities™ and in the relevant component of
shareholders’ equity. Goodwill recorded on associates is also included under “Investmants in equity-method entities”.

Whenever there is an indication of impairment, the carrying amount of the Investment consolidated under the equity
method (including goodwill) is subjected to an impairment test, by comparning its recoverable value (the higher of
value-in-use and markel value less costs to sell) to its carrying amount. Where appropriale, impairment is recognised
under *Share of eamnings of equity-method entities” in the consolidated income siatement and can be reversed at a
later date.

If the Group's share of loszes of an equity-method entity equals or exceeds the carrying amount of its investimeant in
this entity, the Group discontinues including its share of furiher losses, The investment is reporied at nil valwe.
Additonal losses of the equity-method entity are provided for only 1o the extent thal the Group has a legal or
constructive cbiigation fo do 0, or has made payments on behalf of this enlity,

Where the Group holds an inleres! in an associate, directly or indirecily through an entity thal is a venlure capital
arganisation, a muwtual fund, an open-ended invesiment company or similar entity such as an investment related
insurance furnd, it may elect lo measure that intarast at fair value through profit or loss.

Realized gains and losses on invesiments in consolidated underiakings are recognised in the profit and loss account
under “Met gain on non-current assels”.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared using accounting policies that are consistent for similar
transactions and olher avents in similar circumstancas.

1.b.3 CONSOLIDATION RULES

. Elimination of intragroup balances and transactions

Intragroup balances arising from transactions between consclidated Group companies and the transactions
themsealves (including incoma, axpenses and dividends) are eliminaled. Profits and losses arising from inlragroup
zales of assets are eliminated, except where there is an indication that the asset sold is impaired. Unrealised gains
and losses included in the value of inancial instruments at fair value through egquity are maintained in the consolidated
financial statements.

Translation of accounts expressed in foreign currencies

Tha consolidated financial statements of BMP Paribas Personal Finance are prepared in euros.

The financial statements of enterprises whose funclional currency i not the euro are fransialed using the closing
rate method. Under this method, all assets and liabilities, both monetary and non-maonetary, are translated using the
spal exchanga ratle al the balance sheat date. Income and axpense ilems are iranslated at the average rate for the
period.

Financial statamants of the Group's subsidiaries located in hypernflationary economies, previously adjusted for
inflation effects by applying a general price index, are translated using the closing rate. This rate applies to the
translation of assets and labilities as well as incomea and axpansas. e
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Differences arising from the translation of balance sheet items and profit and loss items are recorded in shareholders’
adquily under "Foraign currancy translation adjustmeants” for the portion attibutable o equity holders of the parent and
urder “Minonly interests” for tha portion attributabla to other investors. Under the optional treatment permitied by
IFRS 1, the Group has reset to zero all foreign currancy ranslation adjustments attributable 1o shareholders and to
minarity interests by reclassifying them to retained eamings in the opaning consolidated balance sheet at 1 January
2004,

Upon liquidation or disposal of all or part of an interest hedd in & foreign enterprise located outside the Eurozons,
leading to a change in the nature of tha investment (loss of contral, koss of significant influence or loss of jeint control
without keeping a significant influence), the cumulative exchange difference at the date of Bquidation or sale is
racognised in tha profit and loss account.

Should the percentage of interest change without leading to a modification in the nafure of tha investment, the
exchange difference is reallocated betwaen tha portion attributable to sharehaldars and that aftiributabie to minority
interasts If the entity is fully consolidated; if the antity is consolidated under the equity method, it is recorded in profit
or loss for the portion related to the interest sald.

1.b.4 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND MEASUREMENT OF GOODWILL

- Business combinations

Business combinations are accountad for using the acquisition mathod.

Under this method, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed for the acquired entity are recognised
al the fair value at the acquisition dale, except for non-current assats classified as hald for sale which are recognized
at fair value lass costs to sell.

The acquiree's confingent liabilities are not recognised in the consolidated balance sheat unlass they represent a
prasent obligation on the acquisition date and their fair valua can ba measured reliakbly.

The acquisition cost is equal o the fair value, at the exchange date, of the assels transferred, lisbilities incurred or
assumed, and equity instruments issued to obtain control of the acquires. Costs directly attributable 1o the business
combination are treated as a saparate ransaction and recognised through profit or less.

Any contingent consideration, measured at its fair value at the acquisition date, is included in the acquisition cost
from the date the control ks obtained. Subsequent changes in the value of any contingent consideration classified as
a financial liability are recognised through profit ar loss.

The Group may recognisa any adjusiments o the provisional accounting within 12 months of the acquisition date.

Goodwill represents the difference between the acquisition cost and the acquirer’s interest in the fair value of the
identifiable assels and liabilies at the acquisition date. Positive goodwill is recognised in the acquirer's balance
sheet, while negative goodwill is recognised immediately in profit or loss, at the acquisition data. Minanty interests
are measured at thair share of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities. However, for each
business combination, the Group may elect (o measure minority interests at their fair value, in which case a portion
of goodwill is allocated to them, To date, the Group has never usad this |atter opticn.

Goodwill is recognised in the funclional currency of the acquiree and translated at the closing exchange rate.

On the acquisition date, any previously held equity interest in the acquires is remeasured at its fair valee through
prafit or loss. In the case of a step acquisition, the goodwill is therafore determined by reference to the acquisition-date
fair value,

Since the revised IFRS 3 has been applied prospecltivaly, businass combinations completed prior to 1 January 2010
were not restated for the effects of changes to IFRS 3.

As permitted under IFRS 1, business combinations that took place before 1 January 2004 and were recorded in
accordance with the previous applicable French accounting standards (French GAAP), had not been restated in
accordance with the principles of IFRS 3, LA
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' Measurement of goodwill
Tha Group tests goodwill for impairment on a regular basis.

- Cash-generating units

The Group has split all its aclivities into cash-generating units” representing major business lines. This split is
consistent with the Group's organisational structure and management methods and reflects the independence of
each unit in terms of results and management approach. It is reviewad on a regular basis to take into account any
evenis thal could affect the composition of cash-generating units, such as acquisitions, disposals and major
rearganisations.

- Testing cash-generating units for impairment

Goodwill allocated to cash-ganerating units s tested for Impairment annually and whenever there is an indicaticn that
a unit may be impaired, by comparing the carrying amount of the unit with its recoverable amount, If the recoverabile
amount i less than the carrying amount, an imeversible impairment loss s recognised, and the goodwill is written
down by the excess of the camrying amount of the unit over its recoverable amaunt.

- Recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of a cash-generaling unit iz defined by s value in use.

Valug in use is basad on an estimate of the future cash flows to be generated by the cash-generaling unit, dermsad
fram the annual forecasis prepared by the unit's managemeant and approved by Group Executive Management, and
from analyses of changes in the refative positioning of the unit's activities on their market. These cash flows are
discounted at a rate that reflects the return that investors would require from an investmeant in the business sector
and region imdoheed.

1.c. Translation of foreign currency transactions

The methods used to account for assats and liabilities relating 1o foreign currency transactions carried out by the
Group, and to measure the foreign exchange risk arising on such transactions, depend on whether the asset or
liability in question is classified as a monetary or a non-monetary item.

» Monetary assets and liabilities® expressed in forelgn currencies

Monatary assets and liabilities expressed in foreign currencias are translated into the functional currency of the
relevant Group entity at the closing rate. Foredgn exchange differences are recognised in the profit and loss account,
excapl for those arising from financial instruments designated as a cash flow hedge or a net foreign invastment
hedge, which are recognised in shareholders’ equity.
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« Non-monetary assets and liabilities expressed in foreign currencies

Mon-monelary assets may be measured either at historical cost or at fair valug, Non-monetary assels expressed in
foreign currencies are converted using the exchange rate af the date of the transaction, meaning the date of initial
recognition of the non-monatary asset, when measured at historical cost. When measured at fair value, the closing
rate is considered.

Foreign exchange differences relating to non-monetary assets denominated in foreign currencies and recognised al
fair valuse [equity instruments) are recognised in profit or koss when the asseal is classiied in “Financial asszets at fair
value through profit or loss” and in equity when the asset is classified under "Financial assets at fair valug through

aquity”.

1.d. Net interest income, income and expenses from commissions and
other activities

1.d1 NET INTEREST INCOME

Income and expenses relating to debt instruments measured at amortised cost and af fair value through shareholders”
aequily are recognised in the income statemeant using the effective intaresl rate mathod.

The effective interest rate iz the rate that ensures thal the discounted estimated future cash flows through the
expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period, is equal to the carrying amount of the
asset or Nability in the balance sheet. The effective interest rate measuremen! conslders:

fees received or paid that are an integral part of the effective interest rate of the contract (e.g. credit
underwriting faas),

fransaction costs (e.g. referral fees paid to an intermediary),

and pramiums and discounis.

Commissions considered as an additional component of interest are included in the effective interest rete and are
recognised i tha profit and loss account in “Met interest incomea”™. This category includes nolably commissions on
financing commitments when it is consldered thal the setting up of a loan is maore likely than wunlikely. Commissions
received in respect of financing commitments are deferred wntil they are drawn and then included in the affective
interest rate calculation and amortised over the life of the loan.

Referral fees on unused revolving credit cards are recorded directly as interest expense.

1.d.2 INCOME AND EXPEMSES FROM COMMISSIONS AND OTHER ACTIVITIES

Commissions received with regards to banking and similar services provided (except for those that are integral part
of the effective interest rate), revenues from property development and revenues from services providad in
connection with lease contracts fall within the scope of IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Cusiomens”,

This standard defines a single model for recognising revenue based on five-step principles. These five staps anable
o identify the distinct performance obligations included in the confracts and allocate the transaction price among
them, The income related fo those performance obligations is recognised as revenue when the latter are satisfied,
namaly when the controd of the promised goods or servicas has been ranslerred.

The price of a service may contain a varable component, Variable amounis may be recognised in the income
statement only if it is highly probable that the amounts recorded will not result ina significant downward adjustrmeant.

LA T
% b i a
& *
- v
e Tradntit e .

L

.

L
; 1Lt
gl AT

" L=

+ - 1& . 1L

- al il g
- =
T o
o T [

“Tmamil

l';I'r"lm. i-"'a-



AL L TN S NL bl b Sl R TIreaiia LD LS el Diaioud L DL SiRrUer LML

Commissions

The Group records commission incomea and expenses in profit or loss:

over time as the sarvice i rendared when the client receives continuous service. Thesa include, for exampla,
certain commissions on ransactions with customers when services are rendered on a conlinuous basis,
commissions on financing commitments that are not included in the interest margin, because the probability that
they give rise 1o the drawing up of a loan is low, commissions on financial guarantees, clearing commissions on
financial instruments, commissions related to trust and similar activities, securities custody fees, ete.

Commissions received under financial guarantes commitments are deemed fo represent the initial fair value of
the commitment. The resulting liability i subsequently amortised over the lerm of the commilment, n
COMMISSIonN INcome; or

at a point in time when the service s renderad, in olher cases. Thase include, for example, distribulion feas
received (g.g. for the distribution of insurance products), advisory fees, ate.

Income and expenses from other activities

Income and expenses from services provided in connection with lease contracts are recorded under “Income from
olher activities™ in the profit or loss account.

Regarding income from services provided In connection with lease contracts, the Group records them in profit or boss
as thae service is rendered, i.e. in proportion 1o the cosis incurred for maintenance contracts

The coresponding expenses are recognised whan the sarvice is rendered.

1.e. Financial assets and financial liabilities

Financial assats are classified at amortised cost, at fair value through shareholders’ equity or at fair value through
profit or koss depending on the business model and the contractual features of the instruments at initial recognition.

Financial liabilities are classified at amortised cost or at fair value through profit or loss at initial recognition,

Financial assets and labdities are recognised in the balance shest whean the Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrumeant. Purchases and sales of financial assets made within a period established
by the regulations or by a convention In the relevant marketplace are recognisad in the balance sheet at the
sedtlement date.

1.e.1  Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are classified at amortised cost if the following two crileria are mel: the business model aobjective is
to hold the instrument in crdar to collect the contractual cash flows and the cash flows consist sclely of payments
relaling to principal and interest on the principal.
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Business model criterion

Financial assets are managed within a business model whose objective is 1o hold financial assets in order to collect
cash flows through the callecton of contractual payments owver the life of the instrument.

The realisation of disposals close to the maturity of the instrument and for an amount close to the remaining
confractual cash flows, or due 1o an incraass in the counterparty’s credit risk is consistent with a business madel
whose objective Is to collect the contractual cash flows (“collect”). Sales imposed by regulatory requirements or to
manage the concentration of credit risk (without an increase in the assel’'s credit risk) are also consistent with this
business model whan they are infrequent or insignificant in value,

Cash flow criterion

The cash flow criterion is satisfied if the contractual terms of the debt instrument give rise, on specified dales, lo cash
flows that are solely repayments of principal and interest an the principal amount outstanding.

The criterion is not met in the event of a contractual characteristic that exposes the holder 1o risks or 1o the volatility
of contractual cash flows that are inconsistent with those of a non-structured or “basic lending” arrangement. It is also
nat satisfied in the event of leverage that increases the variability of the contractual cash flows,

Interest consists of consideration for the time value of maney, for the credit risk, and for the remuneration of other
risks (e.g. liquidity risk), costs (e.g. edministration fees), and a profit margin consistent with that of a basic lending
arrangament. The axistence of negative interest does not call into question the cash flow criterion.

The time walue of money i3 the component of interest - usually referred to as the “rate” component - which provides
considaration for anly the passage of time. The relationship between the interest rate and the passage of tima must
not be modified by specific characteristics that could call into question the respect of tha cash flow criterion,

Thus, when the variable interest rate of the financial asset is periodically reset at a frequancy that does not match
the duration for which the interest rate is established, the tima valua of manay may be considered as modified and,
depending on the significance of that modification, the cash flow criterion may not be met, Some financial assets hald
by thi2 Group present a mismatch between the interest rate reset frequency and the maturity of the index, or interest
rates indexed on an average of benchmark rate. The Group has developed a consistent methodology for analysing
this alteration of the time value of maney.

Some contractual clauses may change the timing or the amount of cash flows. Early redemption options do not call
into question the cash flow criterion if the prepayment amount substantislly represents tha prncipal amount
outstanding and the interest thereon, which may include reasonable compansation for the early termination of the
contract, For example, as regards loans o relail custemers, the compensation limited to & months of interast or 3%
of the capital outstanding is considered as reasonable. Actuarial penalties, corresponding to the present value of the
difference between the residual contraciual cash flows of the loan, and their reinvesiment in a loan fo a similar
counlarparty or in the interbank market for a similar residual maturity are also considered as reasonable, aven when
the compensation can be positive or negative (Le. “symmetric” compensation). An oplion that permits the issuer or
the holder of a financial instrument to change the interest rate from floating to fixed rate doas not breach the cash
flow criterion if the fixed rate is determined at arigination, or if it represents the time valee of money for the residual
maturity of the instrument at the date of exercise of the option,

In the particular case of financial assets contraciually linked to paymants received on a portfolio of underlying assets
and which include a priority order for payment of cash flows between investors (“tranches™), thereby crealing
concentrations of credit risk, a specific analysis is camed out. The contractual characteristics of the ranche and those
of the underlying financial instrument portfolios must meet the cash flow criterion and the credit risk exposure of the
tranche must be equal to or lower than the exposure to credit risk of the underlying pool of financial instruments,

Certain loans may be “non-recourse”, either contractually, or in substance when they are granted to a special purpose
entity. That is particularly the case af numerous project financing or asset financing loans. The cash flow criterion is
met if these loans do not represent a direct exposura on the assels acting as collateral. In practice, the sole fact that
the financial assel explicilly gives rise to cash flows that are consistent with payments of principal and interest is not
sufficient to conclude that the instrument meels tha cash flow critericn. In thal cage, the underlying as-aejs: to which
there is limited recourse shall be analysad using tha “leok-threugh” approach. If those assets do not hemselies, meel
the cash flow criterion, an assessment of the existing credit enhancement is performed. The following aspacls‘ar-e
considered: structuring and sizing of the transaction, own funds level of the structure, e:-:peﬂad mpr;:bﬂf repaa'slme’nt
price wolatility of the undarlying assels.
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Tha “financial assels al amortised cost™ category includes, in particular, loans granted by the Group, as well as
reverse repurchase agreements and securities held by the Group ALM Treasury to collec! contractual flows and
meefing tha cash flow criterion,

Recognition

Cin initial recognition, financial assets are recognised at fair value, including transaction costs directly attributable o
the ransaction as well as commissions related to the orgination of the loans.

They are subsequently measured at amorised cosl, including accrued interest and net of repayments of principal
and interest during the past period. These financial assets are also subject from their initial recognition, 1o the
measurement of a loss allowance for expected credil losses (note 1.1.5)

Interest is calculated using the efiective interest methed determined at inception of the contraci.

1.2.2 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH EQUITY

Dbt Instruments

Debt instrumenis are classified at fair value through shareholders’ equity if the following two criteria are met:

business madel critarion: financial assets are held in a business model whose objective is achieved by both
halding the financial assels 1o collect contractual cash flows and salling the financial assels (“collect and sale™).
The latter is net incidental but is an integral part of the business model;

- cash flow criterion: the principles are identical to those applicable to financial assets at amortised cost

The securities held by the Group ALM Treasury to collect contractual flows or to be sold and meeting the cash flow
criterion are classified in this category

On initial recognition, financial assets are recognised at fair value, including transaction costs dirsctly attributable to
the transaction. Thay are subsequently measured at fair value and changes in fair value are recognised under a
specific line of shareholders’ equity entitled “Changes in assets and Habilities recognised directly in aquity that may
be reclassified fo profit or loss”™, These financial assets are alse subject to the measurement of a loss allowance for
axpacted credil [osses on the same approach as for debt instruments at amortised cost. The counterparty of the
related impact in cost of risk is recognised in the same specific line of shareholders’ equity. On disposal, changes in
fair value praviously recognisad in sharehalders” equity ara reclassified o profit or loss.

In addition, interest is recognized in the income stalement using the affective interest method determined al the
inception of the contract.

Equity instruments

Investmenis in equity instruments such as shares are classified on oplion, ard on a case by case basis, at fair value
through shareholders’ equity (under a specific line). On disposal of the shares, changes in fair value previously
recognised in equity are nod recognised in profit or loss, Only dividends, if they represent remuneration for the
invastment and nol repayment of capital, are recognised n profit or loss. These instruments ara not subject to
impairment,
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Imvestmanis in mutual funds puttable to the issuer do not meat the definition of equity instfrumemts. They do not meet
the cash flow criterion elther and thus are recognised at fair value through profit or loss.

1.e.3  FINANCING AND GUARANTEE COMMITMENTS

Financing and financial guaraniee commitments that are not recognised at fair valug through profit or loss are
presented respectively in notes 6.a and 6.b. They are subject to the measurement of a loss allowance for expected
credit losses. These loss allowances are presented under “provisions for liabilities and charges”,

1.e4d IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST AND DEBT INSTRUMENTS
MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

The impairment model for credit risk is based on expecied losses.

This modal applies o loans and debl instruments measured at amortised cost or fair value through equity, to loan
commitments and financial guarantee contracts that are not recognised at fair value, as well as 1o lease receivables,
trade receivablas and contract assats.

BMP Paribas Personal Finance applies two impairment models: the general model and the simplified model described
below,

To be noted that the general model includes two methods for measuring expected credit losseas:

- Statistical method based on EAD (Exposura at defaull), PD (Probabdity of default) and LGD (Loss Given
Default) of expected credit losses

- Histarical statistical method for measuring expected credit losseas

Since the introduction of IFRS9, BNP Paribas Parsonal Finance has been using a specific statistical mathod for
measuring expected credit losses for all its entities (historical statistical method for measuring expacted credit losses)
compared with the BMP Paribas Group's method, which is based on Basel concepts (statistical method based on
EAD PD. LGD).

During the 2024 financial year, for the purposes of harmonisation with the BNP Paribas Group, the measurement of
expected credit losses on the retail portfolios of some of BMNP Paribas Personal Finance geographias (ltaly, France,
Spain and the Metherlands) was determined by applying & new method based on Basel concepts (EAD, PD, LGD).

The other geographies do not have these parameters yet and kept on using the historical statistical meathad for the
2024 financial year,

« General model

The Group identifies three “stages” that correspond each to a specific status with regards to the evolution of
counterparty credit risk since the initial recognition of the assal.

12-month expacted credit losses (“stage 1°): If at the reporting date, the credit risk of the financial instrument
has not increased significantly since its initial recognition, this instrument is impaired at an amount equal to
12-month expected credil [osses (rasulting from the risk of default within the next 12 months)

- Lifatime expectad credit losses for non-impaired assets ("stage 27): the loss allowance is measured al an
amount equal to the lifetime expected cradit losses if the credit risk of the financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition, but the financial asset i not considered credit- -rnpnalra:l or gutpﬁul

- Lifetime expected credit losses for credit-impaired or doubtful financial assels ("slage 3°); 1tl'ml Inss alln‘mﬂg&
is also measured for an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit losses. L=
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This genaral model iz applied to all instruments within the scope of IFRS 2 impairmeant. &
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The IFRS 9 expected credit loss approach is symmetrical, Le. if lifstime expected credit losses have been recognised
in & previous reporting period, and if it is assessad in the current reparting period that there is no langar any significant
increasa in credit rigk since initial recognition, the loss allowance revearls to a 12-months expecited credit loss,

Az regards imterest income, under “stages” 1 and 2, it i8 caloulated on the gross camying amount. Under “stage 37,
interest incoma is calculaled on the amorised cost {i.e. the gross carrying amount adjusted for the loss allowance).

Definition of default

The definition of default is aligned with the Basel regulatony default definition, with a rebutiable presumption that the
default occurs no later than 90 daye past due. This definition considers the EBA guidelines of 28 September 2016,
particularly those regarding the thresholds applicabde for the counting of past-due and probaticn periods.

The definition of defaull is used consistently for assessing the increase in credit risk and measuwring expeclad credit
losses.

Doubtful credit-impaired financial assets

Definition

A financial asset is congidered doubtful and classified in “stage 3° when one or more events thal have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of that linancial asset have ocourmed.

At an individual level, objective evidance thal a financial aszet is credit-impaired includes observable data regarding
thee following events: the existence of accounts that are more than 80 days past due; knowledge or indications that
the barrower is experiencing significant financial difficulties, such that a risk can be congidered to have arisen
regardiess of whether the borrower has missed any payments; any concession granted fo the bormower ai the credit
term that the lender would not have considered if the borrower had not been in financial difficully (see saction
“Restructuring of inancial assats for financlal difficulties").

Speciic case of purchased or onginated credit-impaired assels
In some cases, financial assels are credit-impaired at thelr initial recognition.

For those assets, no loss allowance is recorded on initial recognition, The effective interest rate is calculated
considering the lifetime expectad credit losses in tha initial astimated cash flows. Any change in lifetime expected
credil losses since initial recognition, positive or negative, is recognised as a kboss allowance adjustment in profit or
loss,

Significant increase in credit risk

A& significant increase in credit risk may be assessed on an individual basis or on & collective basis (by grouping
financial instruments according 1o common credit risk characterstics), considering all reasenable and supportable
information and comparing the risk of defauli of the financial instrument at the reporiing date with the risk of default
of the financial instrument at the date of initial recognition.

There s alzo, according to the standard, a rebuttable presumpdion that the credit risk of an instrument has significantly
increased sinca initial recognition when the confractual paymeants are mora than 30 days past due.
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For entities still applying the Histarical Stafistical Method for measuring expected credit losses as at 31 December
2024, the assessment of daterioration is also basad on the existenca of a regularised payment incident that has
cccurred over the past 12 months,

The principles applied to assess the significant increase in credit risk are detailed in note 2.f Cost of risk.

Measurement of expected credit losses

Expected credit losses are defined as an estimate of credit losses (i.e. the present value of all cash shortfalls)
welghted by the probability of cccurrance of these lossas over the expecied life of the financial instruments.

Statistical Method for measuring expected credit losses based on EAD, PD, LGD

In practice, for axposures classified in stage 1 and stage 2, expected cradit losses are measured as the product of
the probability of default ("PD™), Loss Given Default (“"LGD") and Exposure al Default ("EAD™), discounted at the
effective interest rate (or an approximation thereof) of the exposure. They result from the risk of default within the
next 12 months (stage 1), or from the risk of default over the maturity of the facility (stage 2).

For exposures classified in stage 3, expecled credit losses are measured as tha value, discounted at the effective
interest rate (or an approximation thereof, of all cash shortfalls over the life of the financial instrument. Cash shortfalls
rapresent the differance betwean the cash flows that are dus in accordance with the contract, and the cash fows that
are expected (o be received. Where appropriate, the estimate of expected cash flows takes into account a cash flow
scenario arising from the sale of the defaulted loans or groups of loans, The proceads from tha sale are recognised
net of disposal costs,

Maturify

Al contraciual terms of the financial instrument are taken into account, including prepayment, extension and similar
options, In the rare cases where the expected life of the financial instrument cannat be estimated reliably, the residusl
conlraciual term is used. The standard specifies that the maxzimum penod fo consider whan maasuring axpactad
credit losses is the maximum contractual period. However, for revolving credit cards and overdrafis, in accordance
with the excaption provided by IFRS 0 for these products, the maturity considered for measuring expectad credit
losses is the period ower which the entity iz exposed 1o credit risk, which may extend beyond the contractual maturity
(notice period ). For revolving credits and overdrafts to mon-retail counterparties, the contractual maturity can be used,
for example if the nexi review date is the contraciual maturity as they are individually managed.

Probabilities of Default (PD)
Probability of Default is an estimate of the lkelihood of default over a given time harizan.

The measuremeant of expacted credit losses requires the esfimation of both 1-year probabilities of defaull and lifatimsa
probabiliies of default.

1-year POs are derved from long term average requlatory “thrawgh the cycde” PDs to reflect the current situation and
MACroBCoNomic scenarios

Lifetime FDs are determined based on the raling migration matrices reflecting the expected changas in the rating of
the exposure until malurity, and the associated probabilities of default.

Loss Ghven Defaull (LGD)

Loss Given Default is the difference between contraciual cash flows and expected cash-flows, discounted wsing the
effective interes! rate (or an approximation thereof) al the default dale. LGD i expressed as a percentage of the
Exposure at Default (EAD).

The estimate of expected cash flows takes into account cash flows resulting from the sale of collateral held or olher
credit enhancements if they are part of the contractual terms and are not accounted for separately by the entity (for
example, a mortgage associated with a residential loan), net of the costs of obtaining and selling the collateral. .

For guaranteed kboans, the guaraniee is consldered as integral to the loan agreement if ifis_englllqggd-ded in the
contractual clauses of the loan, or if it was granted concomitantty fo the loan, and if the Ef‘plec‘léﬂ"réimhursamarq
amount can be altached to a loan in particular {i.e. absence of pooling effect by means of a tranl:ﬁlng_Mar_l!sm, ok
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Coniolidated financial statermenis for the year ended 31 December L0249

the existence of a global cap for & whole portfolio). In such case, the guarantes is taken into account when measuring
the axpected credit losses. Otherwisa, It is accounted for as a separale reimbursement assel

Exposire at Defawlt (EALDY)

Exposure at Default (EAD) of an instrument is the anticipated outstanding amount owed by the cbligor at the time of
default It is determined by the expected payment profile taking into account, depending on the product type: the
contractual repayment schedule, expectad early repayments and expected futura drawings for revalving facilities.

Forward-looking infarmation
The amount of expected credit losses is measured on the basis of probability-weighted scenarios, in view of past
events, current conditions and reasonable and supporiable economic forecasts,

The principles applied 1o take inte account forward leoking information when measuring expecied credil kossas are
detailed in note 2.f Cost of risk.

Historical Statistical Method for measuring expected credit losses

This method is based on discounted loss rales afler term fordeilure and on the probability of transition to term
forfeiture. The measurement of these parameters Is performed on a statistical basis for homogensaus populations.,

In practice, for exposures classified in stage 2 and stage 3, expected credit losses are calculated as the product of
the probability of transition to term forfeiture, the loes in the event of term forfeiture and the amount of the exposure
{outstanding + use of off-balance sheet items) discounted at the effective interest rate (or an appraximation theraof).

For exposures classified in stage 1, expected credit losses are measured as the product of the probability of transition
to default [stage 3) at 12 months, the loss associated with the stage 3 fo which they migrate and the amount of the
exposure (outstanding + use of off-balance sheet items) discounted al the conlractual cuslomer irtefesl rate.

Prohabilities of transilion o larm farfeilure

The probabilities of transition o term forfeiture are determined using migration matrices composed on the basis of a
portfolio history showing the 1-year trend in the status of contracts and their outstandings.

For stage 1, the probability of transition o stage 3 is defined directly from the matrices.

For stage 2 and stage 3 excluding term forfeiture, the 1-year migration matrices are ilerated, assuming that the
bahaviour of a stalus remains the same over time, in order 1o define the probabilities of term forfeiture at maturity.

Lozs rate in the evenl of ferm farfeifure

They are calculated on the basis of actual cash-lows per “buckels” recorded per generation of entry info term
forfeilure, by extrapolating future cash receipls per "time step” in order to compose a curve of cash receipts owver tha
gntire term; thesa cash receipis are discounted with an average confractual interest rate; the loss rate is equal (o (1
- discouniad cash receipts rate).
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Twio logs rales are then calcwlated:

- & loss rate on new transition to term forfeiture. This rate applies to cases that will fransgition to term forfeiture, It is
determined by taking into account all cash receipts expecied on term forfeitura;

= A lozs rale on outstanding contracts already in tarm forfeiture. It i determingd by taking inlo account the amounts
siill to be received by generation of term forfeiture,

Far guaranteed Ioans, the guarantee is considered as integral o the loan agresment if it is embedded in the
contractual clauses of the koan, or if it was granted concomitantly to the lean, and if the expecied reimbursement
amount can be attached to a loan in particular. In such case, the guarantes is takan inlo account whan maasuring

the expected credit losses,

Exposureg

Exposure s defined as thae sum of oulstandings and the use of af-balance sheal items at the reporting date. In order
to define the off-balance sheet portion fo be hedged, annual use matrices based on historical data are composad
with a direct reading of the 1-year use of confracts in stage 1 and thelir iteration to define the use at maturity for siages
2 and 3 excluding term forfeiture.

Fomard-locking infarmation

The amount of expected credit losses is measured on the basis of probability-weighted scenarios, in view of past
avents, currant conditions and reasonable and supportable economic forecasts.

The principles applied to take inte account forward looking information when measuring expected credit losses are
detailed in note 2.f Cost of risk.

* Simplified model

The simplified approach consists in accounting for a loss allowance comresponding to lifetime expecied credit losses
since initial recognition, and at each reporting date.

The Group applies this model to trade receivables with & maturity shorter than 12 months.
= Write-offs

A wrile-off consists in reducing the gross camying amount of a financial assel when thare are no longer reasonable
expectations of recovering that financial asset in its entirety or a porion thereof, or when it has been fully or partialky
forgiven. The write-off is recorded when all other means available to the Bank for recovering the receivables or
guaraniees have failed, and also generally depends on the specific context 1o each jurisdiction.

If the amount of loss on wrile-off is greater than the accumulated loss allowance, the difference is an additional
impairment loss posted in *Cost of risk”. For any recovery once the financial assel {or part therecf) iz no longer
recognised on the balance sheet, the amount received is recorded as a gain in "Cost of risk’”.

* Recoveries through the repossession of the collateral

¥hen a loan iz secured by a fimanclal or & non-financial asset serving a5 a guarantee and the counterparty ks in
default, the Group may decide to exercise the guarantee and, depending on the jurisdiction, it may than becomsa
owner of the asset. In such a situation, the lean is written-off in countarparty of the asset recefved ag mllatuﬂl.

Once ownership of the asset iz effective, it is recognised at falr value and classified amnrdinﬂ,th‘the inlg:]f:.gl ﬁe:
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Restructuring of financial assets for financial difficulties

A restructuring due to the borrower's financial difficulities is defined as a change m tha tarms and conditions of tha
initial tramzaction that the Group i considering only for economic or legal reasons relatad 1o the borrower's financial
difficullies.

For restructurings nol resulling in derecognition of the financial assel, the restreciured assel is subject 1o an
adjusiment of its gross carmying amount, o reduce it 1o the discounted amouwnt, ai the original efiective interest rate
of tha assat, of the new axpacted future flows. The change in the gross camying amount of the asset is recorded in
the income statement in "Cost of risk”.

The existence of a significant increase in credit risk for the financial instrument is then assessed by comparing the
risk of defaull after the restructuring (under the revised contractual lerms) and the rek of default at the initial
recognition date (under the original contractual terms). In order to demonstrate that the criteria for recognising fatime
expected credit losses are no konger met, good quakity payment behaviour will have to be observed over a cerfain
pericd of time.

When the restructuring consizts of a pariial or Iotal exchange against olher substantially different assets (for example,
the exchange of a dabt instrument against an equity instrument), it results in the extinction of the onginal asset and
the recognition of the assels remilled in exchange, measured at their fair value at the date of exchange. The
difference in valua is recorded in the income statemeant in "Cost of risk”

Madifications of financial assats that are not due o the borrower's financial difficulties, or granted in the contaxt of a
maratarium (i.e. commercial renegotiations) are generally analysed as the early repayment of the former koan, which
is then derecognised, followed by the set-up of a new loan at market conditions. If there is no significant repayment
panally, they consist in reselting the interast rate of the loan at market conditions, with the cliant baing in a position
to change lender and not encountering any financial difficulties.

Probation perieds

The Group applies observation periods 1o assess whether assets may refurn to a higher stage. Accordingly, a 3-
manth probation peried is observed faor the transition from stage 3 to stage 2 which is extended to 12 months in the
envent of restructuring due (o financial difficulties.

For the transition from stage 2 to stage 1, & probation period of two years is observed for loans that have been
restruciured due o financial difficulties.

1.e.5 COST OF RISK

Cost of risk includes the following items of income:

impairment gains and losses resulting from the accounting of loss allowances for 12-moenth expecled credit
losses and lifetime axpected credit losses (“stage 17 and “stage 2°) relating 1o debt instruments measured at
amortised cost or at fair value through shareholders” equity, loan commitments and financial guarantes contracts
that ara nof recognized at fair value as well as leass recaivablas, confract assets and trade recaivables;

= impairmant gains and losses resuliing from the accounting of loss allowances relating to financial assets
(including those at fair valua through profit or loss) for which there is objective evidence of impairment (“stage
"), write-offs on imecoverable loans and amounts recoverad on loans written-off.

In specific circumstances, BMP Paribas Personal Finance may recegnise additional adjustments in cost of risk, where
nNecessary.

. LA o
It also includes axpenses relating to fraud and to disputes inherent 1o the iinancing activity. B “a




1.e.6 Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss

Trading portfolio and other financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss

The trading portfolio includes instruments held for trading (trading transactions), including derivativas.

Other financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss include debl instruments that do not meet the
“‘coflact” or “collect and sale” business model criterion or that do not mest the cash-flow criterion, as well as aquity
instruments for which the fair value through shareholders’ equity option has not been refained. Finally financial assets
may be designated as at fair value through profil or loss if his enables the entity to eliminate or significantly reduca
a mismatch in the measurement and accounting treatment of assets and liabilities that would otherwise arise if they
ware (o be classified in separale calegories.

All those financial instruments are measured at fair value at indtial recogrition, with transaction costs directly posted
in profit or loss. Al the reporting dale, they are measured at failr value, with changes presented in "Met gain/loss on
financial instruments at fair valwe throwgh profit or loss”, Income, dividends, and realised gaing and losses on disposal
related to held- for- frading transactions are accountad for in the same profit or loss account.

Financial liabilities designated as at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities are recognised under option in this category in the two following situations:

= for hybrid financial instruments containing one or more embedded derivatives which otherwise would have baen
separated and accounted for separately. An embeddad derivative is such that its economic characteristics and
ricks ara not closely related to those of the host contract;

when using the oplion enables the enlity to eliminale or significantly reduce a mismatch in the measurement
and accounting treatmant of assels and llabilities that would otherwise arise if they were o be classified in
separate calegories,

Changes in fair value due to the own credit risk are recognised under a specific heading of shareholders’ equity,

1.e.7 Financial liabilities and equity instruments

A financial instrumant Issued or it varous components are classified as a financial liability or equity instrument, in
accordance with the economic substance of the legal contract.

Financial instruments ssued by the Group are qualified as debl instruments if the entity in the Group isswing tha
instruments has a contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial assat 1o the holder of the instrument. The
same applies il the Group is required to exchange financial assets or financial liahilities with anather entity undes
conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the Growp, or to deliver a variable number of the Group's own equity
mslrumants.

Equity instruments result from contracts evidencing a residual interest in an antity’s assaets after deducting all of its
habilities.
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Debt securltles and subordinated debt

Debt securities and subordinated debt are measured at amorntised cost unless they are recognised at fair value
throwgh profit or loss.

Debt securities are initially recognised at the issue value including transaction costs and are subsequently measured
at amortized cosl using tha effective interest mathod.

Issued bonds redeemable or convertible into own equity may contain a debl component and an equity component,
determined upon initial recognition of the fransaction. In this case, they will be qualified as compound financial
instrurments.

In this respect, the Group has elected to record confingent convertible bonds issued, without maturity, when
caonverible inlo a variable number of own shares on the occurrence of a predeterminad trigger event {e.g. a decraase
in the solvency ratio below a threshold), as compound instruments, to the extent that the coupons on these bonds
are paid discretionarily.

Equity instruments

The term “own equity instruments” refers to shares issued by the parent company BMP Paribas Parsonal Finance
S& and by its fully consolidated subsidiaries. External costs that are directly attributable to an issue of new shares
are deducted from equity net of all related taxes.

Owin aquity instruments held by the Group, also known as treasury shares, are deducled from consolidated
shareholders’ equity irrespective of the purpose for which they are held. Gains and losses arising on such instruments
are aliminated from the consolidated profit and loss account.

When the Group acquires equity instruments issued by subsidiaries under the exclusive control of BNP Paribas
Fersonal Financa, tha difference babtwean the acquisition price and the share of net assets acquired is recordaed in
retained earnings atiributable to shareholders’ equity. Similarty, the liability comesponding to put options gramted to
minarity shareholders in such subsidiaries, and changes in the value of that liability, are offset againsl minority
interests, with any surplus offset against retained earnings attributable to shareholders' equity. Until these options
have been exercised, the portion of net income attributable to minority interests is allocated 1o minority intarasts in
the profit and loss accounl. A decrease in the Group's interest in a fully consolidated subsidiary i recognized in the
Group's accounts as a change in sharehalders” equity.

Financial instruments issusd by the Group and classified as equity instruments (natably the undated super
subordinated notes) are presented in the balance sheet in “Capital and retained eamings”.

Distributions from a financial instrumeant classified as an equity instrument are recognised direcily as & deduction
fram equity. Similarly, the transaction costs of an instrument classified as equity are recognised as a deduction from
sharehalders’ equily.

Chwen equily instrument derivatives are treated as follows, depending on the method of selilement:

= as equity instruments if they are setled by physical delivery of a fixed number of own eguity instruments for a
fixed amount of cash or other financial assel. Such instrumeants are not revaluad,

= as derivatives if they are settled in cash or by choice by physical delivery of the shares or in cash, Changes in
valua of such instruments are takan lo the profit and loss account.

If the: coniract includes an obligation, whether contingent or not, for the bank to repurchase its own shares, the Bank
recognises the debt at its present value with an offsetting entry in shareholders’ equity.
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1..8 HEDGE ACCOUNTING

The Group retained the option provided by the standard to maintain tha hedge accounting requiremenis of |AS 39
until the future standard on macro-hedging is entered into forca. Furthermare, IFRS 9 does not explicitly address the
fair value hedge of the interast rate risk on a portfolio of financial assets or liabilities. The provisions in 1AS 39 for
these portfolio hedges, as adopied by the European Linion, confinue ta apply.

Derivatives contracted as part of a hedging relationship are designated according to the purpose of the hedge.

Fair value hadges are particularly used to hedge interest rate risk on fixed-rate assets and liabilities, both for identified
financial instruments (securities, debt ssues, loans, borrowings) and for portfolics of financial instruments (in
particular, demand daposits and fixed-rate [oans).

Cash flow hadges are particularly used to hedge interest rate risk on floating-rate assets and liabilibes, including
rollovers, and foreign exchange risks on highly prabable foracast foraign currency revenues.

At the inception of the hedge, the Group prepares formal documentation which details the hedging redatonship,
identifying the instrument, or portion of the instrument, or portion of risk that is baing hedged, the hedging strategy
and tha type of risk hedged, the hedging instrument, and the methods used to assess the effectiveness of the hedging
redationship.

On incaplion and at least quarterly, the Group assesses, in consisiency with the original documentation, the actual
{retrospective) and expected (prospective) effectiveness of the hedging relationship. Retrospective effectiveness
tasts are designad lo assess whethar the ratio of actual changes in the fair value or cash flows of the hadging
instrument to those in the hedged item is within a range of 80% to 125%. Prospective alfectivenass tesis are designed
to ensure that expectad changes in the fair value or cash flows of the derivalive over the residual life of the hedga
adequately offset those of the hedged item. For highly probable forecast transactions, effectiveness is assessed
largety on the basis of historical dalta for similar ransactions.

Under 1AS 39 as adopled by the European Union, which excludes certain provisions on portfolio hedging, interest
rate risk hedging relationships besed on porifolios of assets or liabilities qualify for fair value hedge accounting as
fallows: In this confext:

the risk designated as being hedged is the intarest rate risk associated with the interbank rate component of
interest rates on commercial banking fransaclions (loans 1o customers, savings accounts and demand
deposits):

the instruments designated as being hedged correspond, for each maturity band, 1o a porfion of the interes!
rale gap associated with the hedged underlying;

the hedging instruments used consist exclusively of “plain vanilla® swaps;

prospective hedge effectiveness is established by the fact that all derivatives must, on incaption, have the effect
of reducing interest rate risk in the porifolio of hedged underlying. Retrospectively, a hedge will be disqualified
from hedge aceounting once a shertfall arizes in the underlying specifically associated with thal hadge for each
maturity band {due to prepayment of loans or withdrawals of deposits).

The accounting treatment of derivatives and hedged items depends on the hedging strategy.

In a fair value hedging relationship, the derivative instrument is remeasurad at fair value in the balance sheet, with
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss in “Mal gainfloss on financial instruments at fair value through prafit
or loss”, symmetrically with the remeasurement of the hedged item to reflect the hedged risk. In the balance sheet,
the fair value remeasurement of the hedged component is recognised in accordance with the classification of the
hedged item In the case of a hedge of identified assets and liabilities, or under “Remeasurement adjustment on
inferest rate risk hedged porifolios” in the case of a porifolio hedging relationship,

Il a hedging relationship ceases or no longer fulfils the effectiveness criteria, the hedging instrurment is transferred to
the trading book and accounted for using the treatment applied 1o this category. In the case of identified fixed-income
instruments, the remeasuremen! adjustiment recognised in the balance sheet is amortised at the affective inlerast
rale over the remaining ife of the instrument. In the case of interest rate risk hadged fixed-income portfolios, the
adjustment is amoriised on a straight-ling basis over the remainder of the original term of the hedge. If the hedged
itemn no longer appeaars in the balance sheal. in particular due to prepayments, the adjustment is takan 1o the profit

and lass account immediately. T
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In a cash flow hedging redationship, tha derivative is measured at fair value in the balance sheet, with changes in fair
value laken to shareholders’ equity on a separate line, “Changes in fair value recognised directly in equity”. The
amaunts taken to shareholders’ equity ower the life of the hedge are transferred to the profit and loss account under
“Met interest income” as and when the cash flows from the hedged item impact profit or loss. The hedged ilems
continue to be accounted for using the treatment specific to the category to which they balong.

If the hedging relationship ceasas or no longer fulfils the affectivenass criteria, the cumulative amounts recognised
in shareholders’ equity as a result of the remeasurement of the hedging instrument remain in equity until the hadged
fransaction itself impacts profit or koss, or until it Becomes claar that the ransaction will not cocur, 8t which point they
are transferred to the profit and loss account.

If the hedged tem ceases to exist, the cumulative amounts recognisad in shareholders” equity are immediately taken
ta the profit and loss account.

Whatever the hedging strategy used, any ineffective portion of tha hedge is recognised in the profit and loss account
urdar “Met gain' loss on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss”,

Hedges of net foreign currency investments in subsidiaries and branches are accounted for in the same way as cash
flow hedges. Hedging instruments may be foreign exchange derivatives or any other non-darivative financial
instrument.

1.2.8 DETERMIMATION OF FAIR VALUE

Fair valua is the price that would be received to 2ell an asset or paid to transfer a liabdlity in an orderly transaction
betwesn market participants in the principal market or most advantagaous markal, at the measurement date.

The Group determinas the fair value of financial instruments either by using prices obtained directly from exiernal
data or by using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques are primarily markel and income approaches
encompassing generally accepted models (e.g. discounted cash flows, Black-Scholes model, and interpolation
techniques). They maximise the use of observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. They are
calibrated to reflect current market conditions and valuation adjustments are applied as appropriate, when some
factors such as model, liquidity and credit risks are not captured by the models or their underlying inputs but are
mevertheless considered by market participants whan setting the exit prica.

The unit of measurament is genarally the individual financial asset or financial liability but a portfolio-based
measurement can be elected, subject to certain conditions. Accordingly, the Group retains this portfolio-based
measurement exception to determine the fair value when some group of financial assets and financial liabilites and
other confracts within the scope of the standard relating to financial instruments with substantially similar and
offsetting market risks or credit risks is managed on the basis of a net exposure, in accordance with the documentad
risk management strategy.

Assals and llabilities measured or disclosed at fair value are categorised into the three following levels of the fair
value hierarchy:

- Level 1: fair values are determined using directly quoted prices in aclive markels for identical assals and
lighilities. Characteristics of an active marke! include the existence of a sufficient frequency and volume of
activity and of readily available prices.

Level 2 fair values are determined based on valuation technigues for which significant inpuls are cbservable
market data, either directly or indirectly. These techniques are regularly calibrated and the inputs are
corraborated with information from active markets.

Level 3: fair values are determined using valuation techniques for which significant inputs are unchservable or
cannot be corroborated by markel-based observations, due for instance to illiquidity of the instrument and
signific:ant model risk. An unobservable input is a parameater for which there are no market data available It
tharafora comes from in-house assumptions about the data that would be used by the other market participants.
The assessment of the absence of liquidity or the identification of a modal risk assumes the exercise of
judgement. The lavel in the fair value hierarchy within which the asset or Kability ks l:atewnaed in its E.nl;lrel:f is
basad upan the lowest level input that is significant to the entire fair value measurement. o L,

For financial instruments disclosed in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, and marginally mm‘hslq:,rnmadmcmﬂd
in Level 2, a difference betwaen the transaction price and the fair value may anse at Jnlllar-ranngnllr-:n Thlis Day
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One Profit” is deferred and released to the profit and koss account over the perod during which the valuation
parameters are expected o remain non-observable, YWhen parameters that were originally non-observable bacome
pbsarvable, or when the valuation can ba substantiated in comparison with recant similar Iransactions in an aclive
market, the unrecognised portion of the day one profit is released to the profit and loss account,

1.e.10 DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises all or parl of a financial asset when the contraciual rights to the cash flows of the asset
expire, or whan the Group transfers the asset — either on the basis of a transfer of the contractual rights o ils cash
flows, ar by retaining the contraciual rights o receive the cash flows of the asset while assuming an obligation to pay
the cash flows of the asset under an eligible pass-through amrangement — as well as substantially all the risks and
rewards of tha assat.

Where the Group has transferred the cash flows of a financial asset but has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial assel and has not in practice retained contral of
the financial asset, the Group derecognises the financial asset and then records separately, if necessary, an asset
or liability reprasenting the rights and obligations created or held as part of the transfer of the assat. If the Group has
retained contred of the financial asset, it maintains it on s balance sheet to the extent of its continuing involvement
in that asset.

Upon the derecognition of a financial assst in its antirety, a gain or loss on digposal is recognised in the profit and
loss account for an amaount equal o the difference between tha carrying amount of tha assel and the value of the
consideration received, adjusted where appropriate for any unrealized gain or loss previously recognised direcily in
equity.

If all these conditions are not mat, the Group retains the asset in its balance sheet and recognizes a liability for the
ohligations arising on the transfer of the asset.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognisas all or par of a financial liability when the Kability i extinguished, i.e. when the obligation
specified in the contract is extinguished, cancelled or expired. A financial liability may also be derecognised in tha
evanl of a substantial change in its contractual terms or il exchanged with the lender for an instrument with
sulbstantially different contractual terms.

Repurchase agreements and securities lending/bormowing

Secirities temporarily sold under repurchase agresments continue 1o be recognised in the Group's balance sheet in
the category of securities to which they belong. The corresponding liability ks recognized al amoriised cost under the
appropriate “Financial Nabilities at amortised cost” category on the balance sheel, except in the case of repurchase
agreements contracted for frading punposas, for which the corresponding liability is recognised in “Financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss”.

Secwities temporarily acquired under reverse repurchase agreements are not recognised in the Group's balance
sheal. The corresponding receivable is recognised alt amorlised cost under the appropriate “Financial assets at
amortised cost” categaory in the balance sheet, except in the case of reverse repurchase agreements confracted for
trading purposes, for which the corresponding receivable is recognisad in “Financial assets at fair value through profit
of loss”.

Secwities lending transactions do not result in derscognition of the lent securities, and s!lﬂur!tlﬂs Eﬂrrﬂ'ﬁ'mg
transactions do not result in recognition of the borrowad securities on the balance sheet. In cases; rethe erliTwed
securities ara subsequantly sold by the Group, the obligation to daliver the borrowed smrﬂlas I:Irql |[nglu
recognised on the balance sheet under “Financial labilities at fair value throwgh profit or |EIE|5,- Trady
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1.e.11 OFFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and the net amount is presented in the balance sheat if, and anty
if, the Group has a legally enforceabls right to set off the recognised amounts, and intends either 1o settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and selile the lkability simultaneously.

Rapurchase agreements and derivatives that meat the two criteria set out in the accounting standard ane offset in
the balance sheet.

1.f.  Property, plant, equipment and intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets shown in the Group’s consolidated balance sheet are composed
of assets used in operations and investment property. Rights-of-use related to leased assets (see nole 1.0.2) are
presemed by the lessee within fixed assels in the same category as similar assets held.

Assets used in operations are those used in the provision of services or for administrative purposes, and include non-
propery assels leased by the Group as lessor under cperating leases.

Invesiment property comprises properly assets held te generate rental income and capital gains.
Invastment property is recognisad al cost.

Property, plant, equipment and infangible assets are initially recognised at purchase price plus direcily attributabde
costs, together with borrowing costs where a long period of construction or adaptation is raquired befora the asset
can ba brought into service.

Software developed intermally by tha BNP Paribas Personal Finance Group that fulfils the criteria for capitalisation is
capitalized at direct development cost, which includes external cosis and the labour cosis of emplovees directly
aitributable to the project.

Subsequent lo initial recognition, fixed assats are slated al cost less accumulated depreciation or amortization and
any impairment losses,

The depreciable amount of fixed assets is calculated after deducting ils residual valea. Only assels leased by the
Group as the lessor under operating leases are presumed o have a residual value, as the useiul life of property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets used in oparations is genarally the same as their economic lifa.

Property, plant and equipmant and intangible assets are depreciated or amaortised using the straight-line method over
the useful life of the asset. Depreciation and amortisation expense is recognised in profit or koss under "Depreciation,
amortisation and impairment of proparly, plant and equipmant and intangible assels”.

Where an asset consisis of @ number of componenis which may require replacement at regular intervals, or which
have different uses or generate economic benefits at differant rales, each component is recognised separately and
amorlised using a method appropriate to that component. The BMP Parbaz Group has adopled the
component-based approach for property used in operations and for investment property.

The depreciation periods used for office property are as follows: BD years or B0 years for tha shell {for prime and
other property respectively); 30 years for facades; 20 years for general and technical installations; and 10 years for
fixtures and fitings.

Software is amortised, depending on its type, over perods of mo more than & years in the case of infrastruciure
developmenis and 3 vears or 5 years in the case of software developed primarily for the purpose of providing services
fo cusiomaears.

Software maintenance cosls are expensed as incurred, However, expendiure that is regarded as wpgrading the
software or extending its useful life is included in the initial acquisition or production cost.

Depreciable property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are tesied for impairment if there is an indication of
potential impairment at the balance shest date. Mon-depreciable assels are tested for |mpmnmngat ledst aqnusllll_.l
using the same method as for goodwill allocated 1o cash-generating units. i " 4

If thesra is an indication of impairmant, the new recoverable amount of the asset is mnpareuwﬂh thd Emr!.nhg ammnt
If the asset is found to be impaired, an impairment loss is recognised in the consolidated profit antd "',’.5.5 account. This




loss is reversed in the event of a change in the estimated recoverable amount or if there is no langer an indication of
impairment. Impairment losses are taken to the consolidated profit end loss account under “Depreciation,
amortisation and impairment of propary, plant ard equipment and intangible assets”.

Gains and losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets used in operalions are
recognised in the profit and koss account in "Met gain an non-current assels™.

Gains and losses on disposals of invesiment properly are recogmised in the profit and loss account in “Income from
other activities” or “Expense on other activities”,

1.g. Leases

Group companies may either be the lessees or the lessor in a lease agreement.

1.9.1 GROUP COMPANY AS LESSOR

Leazes contracted by the Group as the lessor are classified as either finance leases or operating leasas.

. Finance leases

In a finance lease, the lessor transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of cwnership of an asset to the lessee.
It is treated as a loan made 1o the [essee to finance the purchase of the assst,

The present value of the lease payments, plus any residual value, is recognised as a receivable, The net income
earned from the lease by the lessor is equal to the amount of interest on the loan and is taken to the prafit and loss
account under *Interest income™. The lease payments are spread over tha lease term and are allocated to reduction
of the principal and to interast such thal the net income reflects a constant rate of return an the net invesimant
outstanding im the lease. The rate of interest used is the rate implicit in the leasa.

Impairmeant of these receivables are datermined using the same principles as applied to inancial assets measured
at amorntised cosl.

: Operating leases

An operating lease is a contract under which most of the risks and rewards of ownership of the leased assal ane nol
fransfarred to the lesses.

The leased assal i initially recognised by the lessor as a tangible asset for its acquisition prica less residual valua
and subsequently depreciated on a straight-line basis over its useful life. The asset depreciation charge and lease
payments are recognised in profit and loss over the lease lerm respectively in “Income from other activities™ and
"Expense on other aclivities” line items.

Vehicles leased by the Group and classified under oparating leases are assels with an average lease term of between
ane and five years.

The cost of acquiring these assets includes their purchase price, as well as any directly attributable cosis necessary
o make the vehicla availabla to the lesses cuslomers. Residual value is a statistical model estimate of tha resale
value of the asset and is resstimated twice a year, taking into account, in particular, historical data on the sale of
wahicles in the second-hand market and the specific context of each geographical area. In the event of a change in
the amount of the residual value of the asset redative to its estimated value, a forward-looking adjustment to the
depreciation plan is made vehicle by vehicle, PR
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1.9.2 GROUP COMPANY AS LESSEE

Laase contracts concluded by the Group, with the exceplion of confracts whose term s shorter than o equal (o 12
months and low-valua condracts, are recognised in tha balance-sheet in the form of a right-of-use on the leased asset
presented under fixed assets, along with the recognition of a financial liakility for the rent and othar paymenis to ba
made over the leasing pericd. The right of use assets i amaorlised on a strasghil-line basis and tha financial liabilities
are amartised on an actuarial basis over the lease pericd. Dismantling costs comresponding to specific and significant
fittings and fixtures are included in the initial right-of-use estimation, in counterparty of a provision liability.

The key hypotheses used by the Growp for the measurement of rights of use and lease liabilittes are the following:

*  Ithe lease term corresponds to the non-cancellable period of the contract, together with periods covered by
an extension opticn if the Group ks reasonably cerain o exercisa this option. In France, for example, the
siandard commercial lease contract is the so-called “thres, six, ning” coniract for which the mazimum period
of usa is nine years, with a first non-cancellable period of three years followed by two optional extension
periods of three years each; hance, depending on the assessment, the salected leasa term can be of three,
six or ming years, depending on the reasonably foreseeable economic duration of the contracts. When
imeastments like fittings or fixtures are performed under the contract, the lease term is aligned with their
usaful lives. For tacitly renewable contracts, with or without an enforceable period, related right of use and
lease liabilities are recognised based on an estimate of tha reasonably foreseeabla economic life of the
contracts, minimal ccocupation pericd included,

+  the dizcount rate usad Io measura the right of use and the lease lishility is assessed for each contract as the
imterest rate implicit in the lease, if that rate can be readily datermined, or more ganerally basad on the
incremental borrowing rate of the lessee at the date of signature. The incremental bomrowing rate is
determined considering the average term (duration) of the conlract;

* when the contract is modified, a new assessment of the lease liabidity is made taking into account the new
residual term of the conitract, and therefore a new assessment of the rght of usa and the lease liability is
established.

1.h. Assets held for sale and discontinued operations

Where the Group decides to sell assets or & group of assets and liabilities and it is highly probable thal the sala will
occur within 12 months, these assets are shown separately in the balance sheet, on the line “Assets held for sale”,
Amy liabilities associated with these assetls are also shown separately in the balance sheet, on the line “Liabilities
associated with assets held for sale”. When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of control of a
subsidiary and the sale is highly probabe within 12 months, all the assets and labilities of that subsidiary are
classified as held for sals.

Once classified in this category, assets and the group of assels and liabilities are measured at the lower of carrying
amount ar fair value less costs to sl

Such assels ang no longer depreciated. If an assel or group of assels and liabilities becomes impaired, an impairmeand
loss is recognised in the profit and koss account. Impairment ksses may be reversed,

Where a group of assets and liabilities held for sale represents a cash generating unit, it is categorised as a
“dizcontinued operation”, Discontinued operations inclede operations that are held for sale, operations that have
bean shut down, and subsidiaries acquired exclusively with a view to resell,

In this case, gains and losses relaled to discontinued operations are shown saparately in the profit and loss account,
an the ine “Mal gainfloss on operations hedd for sale”. This line includes after tax profits or losses of discontinued
operations, afier tax gain or loss arising from remeasurement at falr value less cosls to sell, and after tax gain or loss
an disposal of the oparation.



1.i. Employee benefits

Employee benefits are classified into four calegories:
- short-term benefils, e.g. salares, annual leave, profit sharing and employer contributions;

- long-term banefits, including compensated absences, long-service awards, and other types of cash-based
deferred compeansation;

- termination benaflits:

post-employment benefits, including top-up banking industry pensions and retirement bonuses in France and
pension plans in other countries, some of which are operated through pension

. Short-term benefits

The company recognises an expense when it has used the services renderad by its members of staff in exchange
for benafits granted ta tham.

* Long-term benefits

These are benefits, other than shorlderm banefits, post-employment benefits and termination banefits. This relates,
in particular, to compensation deferred for more than 12 months payable in cash and not linked o the BNP Paribas
share price, which is accrued in the financial stataments for the period in which this compensation is eamed.

The actuarial techniques used are similar 1o those vsed for defined-benefit post-employment benefits, except that
the revaluation items are recognised in the profit and loss account and naot in adquity.

" Termination benefits

Termination benefits are employee benefits payable in axchange for the termination of an employes’s contract as a
result of either a decision by the Group 1o terminate a contract of employment before the legal retirement age, or a
decision by an employes to accept voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. Termination benefits due
more than 12 months after tha reporting date are discounted to present value,

¥ Post-employment benefits

In accordance with IFRS, the BMP Paribas Personal Finance Group draws a distinclion between defined-contribution
plans and defined-benefit plans.

Defined-contribution plans do nof give rise to an abligation for the Group and do not require a provision. The amaunt
of the amployer's contributions made during the financial year is recognised as an expense.

Only defined-benefit schames give rise to an obligation for the Group. This obligation must be measured and
recognised as a lability by means of a provision.

The classification of plans into these two categories is based on the economic substance of the plan, which is
reviewed to delerming whether the Group has a legal or constructive obligation to pay the agreed benefits to
employees,

Paost-employment benafit obligations under defined benefit plans are measured using actuarial techniques that take
into account demographic and financial assumptions.

The net liability recognised with respect to post-employment benefit plans is the difference between the present value
of the defined-benefit obligation and the fair valua of plan assats (if any).
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The present value of the defined-benefit obligation & measured on the basis of the aduarial assumiplions applied by
the Group, using the projected wnil credit method. This method takes into account various parameters, specific to
gach country or Group entity, such as demographic assumptions, the probability that employvees will leave belora
retirement age, salary inflation, a discount rate, and the general inflation rate.

Whan the value of the plan assets exceeds the amount of the obligation, an asset is recognisad if it represents a
future economic benefit for the Group in the form of a reduction in future contributicns or a future partial refurd of
amounis paid into the plan,

The annual expense recognised in tha profit and loss account under “Salaries and employee benefits”, with respect
to defined-benefit plans includes the current service cost (the rights vesled by each employvee during the period in
return for service rendered), the net interests linked to the effect of discounting the net defined-benefit liability (asset),
the past sarvice cost arising from plan amendmants or curtailments, and the effect of any plan settlemants.

Remeasurements of the net defined-benalit llability (asset) are recognised in shareholders” equity and are never
reclassified to profit or loss. They include aciuarial gains and knsses, the return on plan assets and any change in the
effect of the asset ceiling (excduding amounts included in net inferest on the defined-banafit liabiity or assat).

1j. Share-based payments

BMP Paribas grants siock oplion plans and free share plans to employees of the BMP Paribas Parsonal Finance
Group.

Share-based payment fransactions are payments based on shares issued by the Group, whether the fransaction is
settlad in the form of equity or cash of which tha amount is based on trends in the value of BMP Paribas shares.

. Stock optlon and share award plans

The axpense related to stock option and share award plans ks recognised over the vesting period, if the benefit |s
conditional upon the grantee's continued presence at the vesting date,

Stock options and share award expenses are recorded under salary and employes benefits axpansas, with a
corresponding adjustment to shareholders’ equity. They are calculated on the baszis of the overall plan value,
determined af the date of grant by the Board of directors.

In the absence of any market for these instruments, financial valuation models are used that take into account any
parformance conditions related to the BMP Paribas share price. The tofal expense of a plan is detarminad by
multiphdneg the unit wvalue per option or share awarded by the estimated number of options or shares awarded vested
at the end of the vesting pericd, taking into account the conditions regarding the grantee’s continued employmeant.

The only assumplions revised during the vesting period, and hence resulling in a remeasurement of the expensze,
are those relating to the probability that employees will lzave the Group and those relating o perfformance conditions
that are not linked to the price value of BMP Paribas shares.

. Share price-linked cash-settled deferred compensation plans

The expense related to these plans is recognised in the year during which the employes rendered the cormesponding
SEMVICces,
If the payment of share-based variable compensation is explicitly subject 1o an enforceable condition consisting in
the employee's continued presence at the vesting date, the services are presumed to have been rendered during the
vesting pericd and the corresponding compensation expense is recognised on a pro rata basis over that peried. The
expense is recognized under zalary and emplovee benefits expenses with a comesponding liability in the balance
shest. It is revised Io fake into account any non-fulfilment of the centinued presence or performance conditions and
the change in BMP Paribas share price. R ey
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If there is no continued presence enforceable condition, the expensa is not deferred, but recognised immediately
with a corresponding liability in the balance sheet. This i then revised on each reporting date until seftlemant to lake
inio account any performance conditions and the change in the BNP Fanbas share pnce.

1.k. Provisions recorded under liabilities

Provisions recorded under liabilities (other than those relating to financial instruments and employee benefits) mainky
relate to restructuring, claims and litigation, fings and penalties.

A provision is recognised when it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to sattle an abligation arising from a past event, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation. The amount of such obligations is discounted, whare the impact of discounting is material, in order 1o
defermine the amount of the provision.

1.l Current and deferred tax

The current income tax charge is determined on the basis of the tax laws and tax rates in force in each country in
which the Group operates during the pericd in which the income is genaratad.

Deferred taxes are recognised when temporary differances arise batween the carrying amount of an asset or liability
in the consolidated balance sheet and its tax base.

Deferred tax liabilitias are recognisad for all laxable lemporary differences other than;
- laxable temporary differences on initial recognition of goodwill;

- taxable temporary differences on invesiments in enterprisas undar the exclusive or joint control of the Group,
whera the Group is able o control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differance and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foresesable future.

Deferred tax assels are recognised for all deductible lemporary differences and unused carmyforwards of lax lossas
only to the extent that it is probable that the entity in question will generate future taxable prafits against which these
temporary differences and tax losses can be offset.

Deferred lax assats and liabllities are measured using the liability method at the tax rate axpacted 1o apply to the
period in which the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on lax rates and tax laws that have been or will
hava bean enactad by the balance sheet dale of that period. They are not discountad,

Deferred tax assats and liahilities ara offsat when they arise within the same tax group, they fall under the jurisdiction
of a single lax authority, and there s a legal right to offset.

As regards the assessment of uncertainty over income tax treatments, the Group adopts the following approach:
the Group assesses whether il is probable thal a faxation authority will accept an uncariain tax irealrmant,

any uncertainty shall be reflected when determining the taxabla profit {loss) by considering either the most likely
amount (having the higher probability of occurrance), or the axpected value (sum of the probability-weighted
amounts).

Current and deferred taxes are recognised as tax income or expansas in the profit and loss account, except for those
relating to a transaction or an avent directly recognised in shareholders’ equity, which are also recognised in
shareholders’ equity. This concems in particular the tax effect of coupans paid on financial instruments issued by the
Group and qualified as equity instruments, such as undated super subordinated notes.

When tax credits on revenues from receivables and securifies are used to settle corporale income tax payable for
the period, the tax credits are recognised on the same line as the income to which they relate, T.hh mraspﬁndlng
lax expensa continues to be carried in the profit and koss account under “Corporate income tmu -

1.m. Cash flow statement
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The cash and cash equivalents balance is composed of the net balance of cash accounits and aceounls with central
banks, and the net balance of interbank demand loans and deposits.

Changes in cash and cash equivalents related to operating activities reflect cash flows generated by the Group's
operations, including those relating 1o financial invasiments of insurance aclivities and negotiable cerdificates of
depasit,

Changes in cash and cash equivalents related to investing activities reflect cash flows resulting from acquisitions and
disposals of subsidiaries, assoclates or joint ventures included in the consclidated Group, as well as acquisitions and
disposals of property, plant and equipmeant excluding investment property and property hald under operating leases.

Changes in cash and cash equivalents related Io financing aclivilies refllect the cash inflows and outflows resulting
from transactions with shareholders, cash flows related to bonds, subordinated debt and debl securities (excluding
negotiable cedificates of daposit).

1.n. Use of estimates in the preparation of the financial statements

Preparation of the financial statements requires managers of core businesses and corporate funclions to make
assumplions and estimates that are reflacied in the measurement of income and expense in the profit and loss
account and of assetz and liabllites in the balance sheet, and in the disclosure of information in the notes to the
financial statements. This requires the managers in question to exercise their judgemant and to make use of
information available at the date of the preparation of the consolidated financial statements when making their
estimates. The attual future results from operations where managers have made usa of estimates may in reality
differ significantly from those estimalas, mainky according 1o markat condibans. This may have a material effect on
the financial statements.

This applies in particular to;
- the analysis of the cash flow criterion for specific financial assets;

- the measurement of expecled credit losses, This applies in parficular 1o the assessment of significant incraase
in credit risk, the models and assumplions used to measure expected credit losses, the determination of the
different economic scenarics and their weighting;

- the analysis of renegotiated loans, in order 1o assess whalher they should be maintained on the balance sheet
of derecognised;

- the assessment of an active market, and the use of internally developed modets for the measurement of the
fair value of financial instruments ot quoted in an active market classified in "Financial assets at fair value
through equity”, or in *Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss”, whether as assets or liabilities,
and mora generally calculations of the fair value of financial instruments subject to a fair value disclosure
requirement;

- the appropriateness of the designation of certain derivative instruments such as cash flow hedges, and the
measurement of hedge effectiveness;

- impainment tests performed on intangible assats;

- the estimation of residual assets values under simple lease agreements. These values are used as a basis for
the determination of depreciation as well as any impairment, notably in relation 1o the effect of emvironmental
considerations on the evaluation of future prices of second-hand vehicles;

- the deferred tax assels:

- the measurement of uncertainty over income tax treatmenis and ciher provisions for liabilities and charges. In
particular, while investigations and litigations are ongaing, it is difficult to foresee their outcome and potential
impact. Provision estimation is eslablished by taking into account all available information at the date of the
preparation of the financial statements, in particular the nature of the dispute, the undarying facts, the ongoing
legal proceedings and court decisions, including those related 1o similar cases, and setlement agreements with
third parties. The Group may also use the opinion of experts and independent legal advisers ’E:r._qergisa its
judgement, R £
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i NOTES TO THE PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Z2.a. Netinterest income

The BMP Paribas Personal Finance Group includes in “interest and similar income” and “interest and similar
expensas” all income and expense from financial instruments measured at amorised cost (interest, feas and
trangaction costs) and from financial instruments measured at fair value through eguity.

These items also include the interest incomea and expense of non-trading financial instruments the characteristics of
which do not allow for recognition at amortised cost or at fair value through equity, as well as of financial instruments
that the Group has designated as at fair value through profit or loss, The change in fair value on financial instruments
at fair value through profit or loss (excluding accrued interest) is recognised under “Met gain on financial instruments
at fair value through profit or loss”,

Interest income and expensa on derivalives accounted for as fair value hedges are included with the revenues
generated by the hedged item, Similarly, inferest income and expense arising from derivatives used to hedge
Iransactions designaled as at fair value through profit or loss is allocated to the same accounts as the interest income
and expense relating to the underlying transactions.

Financial instrumenis at amorised cosl 624 (3552 2,072 528 (3.2 3,118
Daposits, loans and borowings 4 BE4 (3207 1477 4 555 [2.TEX) 1,872
Rapurchase agresmanls 2 (=) (1] 2 (5 ]|
Financa leasas 2 n2m 54 54
Diebt securiies ] ] 14 14
Essund debt securiies and subaniinated deld [H0) (3410 (418 (18}

Financial ingdrumants at fair valwe through squity 2

Dbl securiies
Financlal Instruments at (alr vales thraugh peadlt or loas
(ocngsecoitesencioded ¢ - 2 3 A 2
Eu‘l Flu'.uh_"gﬂrl!_.lrl_.,rl:._ﬁ:.ﬂ: . o . 3!5_ - EEEEI L _1I:|l_ .Z!.-IZIE_ ) |;1_E_E! 123
Interest rate parthalic hedge instruments . SR | . K B S
L. IR | [ | . 2 @
Total intsrest inpome!|expenss] £ b.453 [3,511) 2552 B253 [3,415) 2834

Interest on financial instruments at amortised cost includes interest income and expenses on customer and interbank
items and debt issued by the Group,

Interest an financial instrurmants at fair value throegh pralit or loss corresponds 1o nterast income and expenses on

non-trading financial instruments whose characteristics prevent their classification at amortised {:l:p'r qr,a'r falr valug

through equity. o ¥

- |: -

Interest income on individually impaired loans amounted o EUR 83 millkon for the year audeq,ﬁt Dﬂcemb-er 2&4
ol
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compared to EUR 96 million for the year ended 31 Dacembar 2023,

2.b. Commissions

Transachions with cuslomers and crédil inglilulions 168 [47] 121 M [B5) 165
Securities and derivatives transactions - (2} 12 - 2 2
Financing and guarantes commilments 3 (5) L] ] =] .
Hs5et management and olher services 44 . Lt 474 - 474
Cthers £ 15:1]] 20 174 [1E5]) &8
Coernemigsion income and sdpenses 54 (123) “53-I BET (1&1) 708

- of winch mef commission income related Jo tust

and similar acfiviies through which the Group

fodids or ivests Faseds on bahalf of cusfomars.

frirsts, pengion and personal ik Ams or alher

el

= ol wdtwich comvission moame el EXpeTse o

firrawacial irsfrumrionats ol measuad af far valve 10 {22 84 191 {400 151

hrough profif o loes

2.c. Net gain (loss) on financial instruments at fair value through profit or
loss

Mat gain on financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss includes all profit and loss items redating
to financial instruments held for trading, non-tfrading equity instruments that the Group did net choose o measure at
fair value through equity, as well as debl instruments whose cash flows are not solely repayments of principal and
interest on the principal or whose business model is not to collect cash flows nor to collect cash flows and sall the
assets,

These income items include dividends on these instruments and exclude interest income and expense from financial
instruments whose cash flows are not only repayments of principal and intarast on the principal or whose business
model is not to collect cash flows nor 1o collect cash flows and sell the assets, which are presented in “Net interest
income” (zee note 2.a),

Trading bock 3 H
Interes rate and cradit nsirumants . B
Foreagn exchangs financsl insiruments 2 4
Loans end repurchass agreements 1 1
Other financial insiruments at fair value threugh prefit or laas 3 [E]]
Debt instrurments &

Equity nstrumanis 3 3
Impact of hedge accounting . e — .. 1
Fair vaka hedging dervalies 3353 {798}
Hedgad items in fair value hedge 315 JLkA i

Ml Eii" ||Im.-|.| an financial in:uu_qplg_ql_th value Ehraugh prolil or Il}l-!-_ —
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Metl gains or kosses on financial instruments held for trading in 2024 and 2023 includes a non-malerial amount related
io the ineffective portion of cash flow hedges.

Potential sources of ineffectiveness can be the differences between hedging instruments and hedged items, notably
generated by mismatches in the tarms of hadged and hedging instruments, such as the frequency and timing of
interest rates resefting, the frequency of payment and the discounting factors, or when hedging derivatives have a
nan-zero fair value at inception dale of the hedging relationship. Credit valuation adjustmenls applied 1o hedging
derivatives are also sources of ineffectiveness.

Cumulative changes in fair value related to discontinued cash flow hedge relationships, previously recognisad in
equity and included during 2024 in profit and loss accounts are not matersal, in all cases, whether the hedged item
ceased to exist or not.

2.d. Income and expenses from other activities

Incame Expanses

Het income from irvestment property 2 (1 1 a {1l 2
Het income from assets held under aperating leases 23 [150) 3 .. I 10 2
Other net incoma 108 [TE] 32 98 {Ba} 10
Todal met Income fram akher activides ke | [N 25 244 1204} |

2.e. Other operating expenses

2024

Extemnd services end cther aperaing expeniss Ha2y (=88
Tanes™ (25 (%)
Takal ofher cparaling eipendes 1921) [I.{|53|

1" Contribuions to the Single Resokution Fund, including exceptional contritutions, were pero in 2024 compared mith EUR 12 milion in 2023.

2f.  Costofrisk

The general models for impairment described in note 1.e.4 wsed by the Group rely on the following two steps:
- assassing whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition; and

- maasuring impairmant allowance as either 12-month axpacted credit losses or lifetime axpecied credit loss
(i.e. boss expected at maturity).

Forward-looking information is taken inlo account al thase two sleps for enlies using the “statistical method for
measuring expected credit losses based on EAD, PD, LGD" and at the second step for entities wusing the "hisiorical
slalistical mathod®,
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Forward-looking information

Regarding the maasuramant of expecied credit losses, the Group has chosen o use 4 Macroecanamic scenarios by
geographic area covening a wide range of potential fulure economic conditions:

- 8 baseline scenaria, consistent with the scenario used for budgeting and forecasting;

- a favourable scenario, capluring siluations where the acaonomy parforms batter than anticipated;

- gn adverse scenang, cormesponding te the scenario used for the Group's quarterly siress tests,

- B savere scanaria commesponding o a shock of magnitude greater than that of the adversa scanana.

The link between the macroeconomic scenarios and the ECL measurement is mainly achieved through a modedling
of the probabilities of default and deformation of migration matrices based on intemal rating {or risk parametar). The
probabilities of default determingd acconding to thesa scenarnos are used to measure expected credit losses under
each scenario,

Forward-looking information is also considered when determining the significant deterioration in credit risk for entities
using the "statistical method for measuring expected credit losses based on EAD, PD, LGD", As a matter of fact, the
probabilities of default used as the basis for this assessment include forward-looking multi-scenario information in
the same way as for the calculation of the axpectad losses.

The weight to be attributed to the expected credit losses calculated in each of the scenarios is defined as follows:
- the weight of the basaline scenario is 50%:;

= the weight of the three altemative scenanos is defined according 1o the position in the credit cycle. In this
approach, the adverse and severe scenarios carmy more waight in situations at the upper end of the cycle
than thoze al the lower end of the cycha, inanticipation of a polential downiurm in the sconomy;

- the weight of the favourable scenario is at least 10% and at most 40%;

- the lotal weight of adverse scenarios fluciuates symmetrcally with the favourable also within a range of
105 1o 40%; with a severe component representing 20% of this weight with & minimum weight of 5%,

When appropriate, tha ECL maasurameant can take into account asset sale scanarios.

Macrosconomic scenarios
The four macroeconomic scenanos are defined over a three-year projection horizon, They correspond o

- 8 basaling scanano, which describas the mosl likely path of the economy over the projection horizon. This
scenario s updated on a quarterly basis and is prepared by the Group Economic Research Department in
collaboration with various experts within the Group. Projections are designed for each key market of the
Group (France, Haly and the Eurozone) using key macroeconomic variables {Gross Domestic Product - GDP
- and its components, unemployment rate, consumer prices, interest rates, foreign exchange rates, real
astate prices, ate.) which are key drivers for modelling risk parameters used in the siress tesl process:

an adverse scemaria, which dascribes the impact of tha materiaksalion of soma of the risks weighing on the
baseding scanario, resulting In a much less favourable economic path than in the baseline scenario The GDP
shock is applied with varying magnitudes, but simultanecusly, to the economies wnder consideration.
Ganerally, thase assumptions are broadly consistent with those proposed by the regulators The calibration
of shocks on other variables (e.g. unemployment, consumer prices, interest rates, elc.) is based on models
and exparl pudgement,

- a severely adverse scenario, which is an aggravated version of the adverse scenario;
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- & favourable scenario, which reflects the impact of the materalisation of some of the upside risks for the
aconomy, resulting in a more favourable economic path, The favourable shock on GOP is deducted from the
adverse shock on GDP in such a way that the probabilities of the two shocks are equal on average over the
cydla. Olher variables (e.g. unamployment, inflation, interest rates, etc.) are defined in the same way as in
the adverse scenario.

The link batwean the macroeconomic scenarios and the measurement of the ECL is complemented by an apgroach
allowing to take into account anticipation aspects not caplured by the models in the generic approach. This is
particularly the case when unprecedented evenis in the historical chronicle taken into account to build the models
pccur or ara anticipated, or when the nature or amplitude of change in macroeconomic parameater calls into question
past correlations. Thus, the situation of high inflation and the level of interest rates previously recorded were not
ohserved in the reference hislory. In this context, the Group has developed an approach to take into account tha
future economic outlook when assessing the financial strength of counterparties. This approach invohves projecting
tha impact of higher Interest rates on customners’ financial ratios, notably considering their level of indebledness.
Credit ratings and associated probabilities of default are revalueed based on these simulated financial ratios.

Bassaline scenarno

In 2024, global activity grew at a relatively moderate pace. In the Eurozona, activity returned 10 growth, suppoarted by
the positive impact of disinflation on real incomeas and consumption, and the gradual easing of moneatary conditions.
At

31 December 2024, annual growth forecasts were +0.8% in the Eurozone (compared o expectations of +0.8% at 31
Decembear 2023).

Owver the 2025-2027 period, the baseline scenario assumes a gradual continuation of the recovery in the Eurozone,
which would result from a strengthening of private domestic demand, as public spending is expacled lo be more
constraimed,

Inflation has continuwed to slow over tha course of 2024, moving closer 1o the targets of major central banks. This has
allowead most of them (ECB, Federal Reserve, Bank of England, etc.) to start a rate cut cycha. This monetary policy
adjustment is expectad to extend in 2025. Then, central bank rales are expecied to remain stable over the following
years {2026-2027), in the presence of controlled inflation, avolving around 2%

Long-term interest rates in 2023-2024 reached levels not seen in more than a decade and are assumed 1o remain
relatively stable over the projection hosizon (with no significant changes in grawth and inflation scenarios).

The uncerainty surrounding the bassline scenario appears to be relatively high. The current gecpolitical context,
marked by two major ongoing conflicts (invasion of Ukraine, conflict in tha Middle East) and significant tensions in
other regions (in Asia in particular), is ikely o avaolve rapidly. Additionally, the presidential shift in the United States
in January 2025 may lead to notable changes in economic policy, particularly concarming customs duties, which could
impact the global economy.

The graph below presents a comparison of Eurozone GDP projections wsed in the baseline scenario for the
calculation of ECLs on 31 December 2024 and 31 Dacember 2023,
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* Macroeconomic variables, baseline scenario at 31 December 2024

m

GOF growth rate o

Eumzoea 1.E% 1L.1% 1.5% 1.6%
France 1.7% 0% 1.5% 1.6%
Italy 0.5% 0% 1.9% 1.3%
Unesnployment rate =

Euffiisie B4% BE% BA% Bl%
Franss TES M™% TA% BET%
faly LT 0% % %
nfistiomente - =
Eurzong 14% 1.5% bl %
Frarce 1.3% 14% 1.0% 1.5%
Raky L1% 15% 3% 2%
10-pear soveseign bomd yiehds 00000 -

Germarny i1irs 345% a50% 2.5M%
Frarce R A20% el 1.08%
kaly ATES 175% 180% 1E0%

Adverse and severely adverse scenanos

The adverse and severely adwerse scenarios are based on the assumplion that cerain downside risks will
materialisa, resulting in much less favourabla economic paths than in the baseline scenario.

The following main risks are identified:

- Geopolitical risks, Geopolitical tensions can weigh on the global econamy through various channels, such
as shocks on commodity prices, financial markats, business confidence, supply chains and trade. Thase
developments are likely to kead simultanecusly to higher inflation and a slowdown in activity, further
complicating the task of central banks:

= Trade and globalisation. Tensions related to trade and globalisation have increased in recent years,
leading to some fragmentation of the global economy, While tarnff and non-tariff barriers have already
increased significanily, additional profectionist measures betwaen main economic areas (e.g. US, China, and
the EU) are likely, They are susceptible 1o lead to higher prices and weigh on activity,

= Public finances. Numerous governmenis face a combination of elevated debt levels, higher bormowing
costs and moderate growth, This constitutes a challenging environment for public finances at a tme when
governmenis face major struciural challenges (climale action, defence capabiliies, age-related outlays),
Thasa developments could give birth in some countries to market tensions (widening sovereign bond
spreads) and affect activity through several channels (higher interest rates, higher taxes, reduced government
spanding).

The adverse and severe scenarios assume the materialisation of these kentified risks from the first quarier of 2025.
While downiside risks are shared by thesa scenarios, tha impacts ara assumed ta ba markadly higher in the savearaly
adverse scenario, dues 1o both more pronounced direct shocks notably higher commoedity prices, and the development
of a negative spiral between key driving factors (activity, public debt, bond yields, equity markets).

Among the considered countries, GDP levels in the Eurozong in the adverse scenarie are B.2% lower than in the
baseline scenana at the end of the shock period. In the severe scenario, GDP levels in the Eurozone are 12.1%
lawer than in the baseline scenario at the and of the shock pariod. o A c,
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Spanario weighfing and cost of risk sensilivity

Al 31 December 2024, the weight of the favourable scenario considered by the Group was 28%, and 17% for the
adverse scenario and 5% for the severe scenario. At 31 December 2023, tha weight of the favourable scenario was
33%, 12% for tha adverse scanario and 5% for the severs scenario,

Post-moadel adjustments

Post-model adjustments are made when system limitations are identified in a particular context, for instance, in the
case of insufficient slalistical data to reflact the specific situation in the modelks,

Maotably, additional adjustments were made in 2022 and 2023 to take into account the affects of inflation and intarest
rate hikes when this effect is not directly estimatad by the models. For axample, adjustmenis were considersd for the
categories of customers maost sensitive to the gradual decline in the level of their net income. Given the evolution of
the macroeconomic context in 2024, these adjustments have been fully reversed.

_ Cost of risk for the period:

Het sllowance o impaiment {1.108) {1,145)
Recovarias on kians and recaivables praviously written of M .—.-.E
Losses on imecoverable loans {106} (154)
Total cast of risk for the pariod [1,125) (1,221)

¥ Cost of risk for the period by accounting category and asset type:

Loans and receiables due from cuslomers and credit institutions {1,131 {1,228
Other sgzels Fy] i)
Commilmants given and other fems ] .
Total cast of risk for the period B B :il-,",?i?,_. L
Cosl of risk on paimpeied assels and commiments 180 127

Of which stage 1 54 7

O wiich sfge 2 126 {34

Coat of risk on impaired assalz and commitments - slage 3 (1,308 {1,164)




Lonsolidated nnancial statemands tor the year ended 31 Beceémber LULS

C Credit risk impairment

Changes in impairment by accounting calegory and assel bype during the pericd

Ergairmant
proviskons wsed

M Decamber Hrd

Asset impaimment
Financial assals at amartised cost 3,552 1.1 (1,385 (17 3 a0
Loans and receivaties 3,582 iR Ky 1,384 (17 3302
Oher assels B 1 7
Total impairment an financial assets 3,508 1122 i1,304) {17 3308
O which slage 1 i45) &) (1) ar4
O which stage 2 &3 {128} 123 ] 473
OF which slage 3 2320 125 {1,368) & 226
Provisians recegnised as liabalities
Pravisions for commitments 71 & & &0
Cer provisians 43 (10 {1 3 25
Total provisions recognised for credit 114 19 (1) 1 B5
Cofmmilents
Of which slage 1 ol 1] 16
Of which stage 2 " @ g
Of which slage 3 ™ 1] (11) . B0
Total impairment and provisions Tz 1,103 (1,405 [18) 3,384

Change in impairmeant of amortised cost financial assats during the parod

Impairmant on
aonbttul assots
[Staga 34

At 32023
Med allowanee ta impalrmend

Financial assels puchased o anignaled during e period
Financial assets derecognized during the period 19

Transder io siage 2

Transder to slage 3

Transher to slage 1

Ceher aliowences!reversals without stage transfer @ i228) 7 &ra L
Impairment provisions esed * (23 {1,368) 1.3}
Changes in exchange rates 1 2 2 5
Changes in scope of consalidstion and other items {17) ] 5 @2
AL 22024 574 aT 2,258 N
! induding disposals '.__." ) - .
# ncluding amarisation. Y Tradueinge ¢

5 .
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2.g. Other net expenses for risk on financial instruments

In 2023, the Group modified fis accounting palicy relating to the risk of loss of cash flows on financial instruments
granted that are nol linked 1o the counterparly’s default, such as legal risks calling into question the validity or
enforceability of such contracts.

The effect on expected cash flows due to these risks is now considered as a change in the contract’s cash flows, in
accordance with IFRS 9 B5.4.6, and is recorded as a decrease in the gross value of the asset.

It was previously recognised separately in accordance with LAS 37 in *Provisions for conlingencies and charges” (see
noteé 5.m). Expected losses on derecognised financial instrumenis, as is the case when loans have been repaid,
continue ta be recognised in accordance with |AS 37.

Tha correspanding expected and realised cash Now losses are now presented under “Oiher net losses for risk on
financial instruments”.

In 2024, the expense thus recognised relals o foreign currency loans issued by BNP Paribas Personal Finance that
are not material (compared with ELUR 221 million at 31 December 2023, presented undar "Net banking incoma®).

2.h. Net gain on non-current assets

Gain of loss on investments in consolidaled underiakings (nate B.ch n 58]
Gain of loss on tangible and intangible assels 2 K]
Riesuits from net monetary position - B i s O
Mel gain an non-current asssts B (377

2ii. Corporate income tax

In millions of LA

Thearetical tax expense on pre-tax net incoma at standarnd tax rate spplicalle in 4T 26.8% 200 E:%
France!"

Irnpa:tufdihmrtmﬂm:mhugn prafis (200 1065 {14 15%
Irripesct of rediaced ban rale on dividend and disposals of securlies 16 -B.5% {10 42%
Oiher iberns (233 128.8% [44) 5%
of which impact of wirecogrised lax foss comdonwands™ e e sz A (£34) 127.4% L. F.7%
Corparale income s expense S [E24) 15:.7% M 44%
mulmmh’mmmaim {4 a7

Duadierred foe gpinget for the pear fo 37 December jnofe S0} [ > Gy

1"l Realatad fhar the ehase ol prolis in squity-=ethod enlites and goodedl mpaimant

21 Fllorwing (he sgring of 65 B=andmant b e lx consabdalion sgreemenl in 2024 betessn BN Farkas 54 and BN° Parkas PF 54, mngurrmrrmq_l !-I:nim!
negime: thus, gains and loszes retaled fo lax imegration ane refainad by the head of the Group ¥ -'.i-
t‘r. TI-":I-I:I'I"II-.H'P-:-FP..”
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3. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Within thie BMNP Paribas Group, the BNP Paribas Personal Finance Group provides retall fimance services through its
consumer finance activities. As part of thesa aclivities, the Group has extendad its offering to inclede insurance and
savings products.

The BNP Paribas Personal Finance Group also has a residential mortgage lending business, a significant portion of
which is managed in runofi.

* The breakdown of income and outstanding loans and recelvables due from customers between the two
business segments is as follows

- Income by business segment

Consumer [oans Homea koans
Revenuis 3,402 157} 3548 47
Operaling expanses (2048} {53 [2.458) ]
Cost of isk (1124} {1 (567 (234
Other nel expenses for sk an fnancial instruments . - (Z21) :
Operating Incoma 30 (111} [41] (35T}
Share of nel income ol SMES 16 (32) . E
Mon-oparating items 5 - (315) =}
Pre-fax income M (143) (0] 1)

- Qutstanding loans and receivables by business segment

31 December 2024

Consumer loans 75035 74,3209
Home loans . . — Mm@ TR
Tedal Group 81,8583 B4,012

R ———— i = S e

+  Revenues by geographic area

Frangs
Crhar Ewropaan countries

Amerncas
Riest of e veorld

LS RS US a S e SR S

Takal Graup




= Cost of risk by gecgraphic area
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France (257 (343
Cither Euncpan countries [ET4) {783y
Amesicas 1] {38
Rest of the workd (148 {58
Tatal Graup 1,125 11.221)
«  Total assets by geographic area
31 December 7024
Franca 30,500 30835
Other Ewropesn couniies B3, 765 iG3,08%
Amegrcas™ = 3,250
[Fest of the wordd 1137 1,066
Total Group 05 402 0g,341
™ Disposal of Celelem 34 de GV in Mexico,
. Loans and receivables due from customers by geographic area
1 December 2024
Frame M2
Cither European counfries SrEIT Shas
Amaricas/l 5 2B47
Fest of the waorld G55 g3
Total Group B1.883 &4012
1% Disposal of Cetelemn SA& de GV in Mexico,
A K g
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4. RISK EXPOSURE

4.a. Summary of risks

The BMP Paribas Personal Finance Group is specialised in the sale of consumer loans (in particular auvtomabile
financing), home loans and credit consolidation services to individual customars.

Tha Group has identified six major risks related to is business:
- credit risk arising from the failure of a customer to pay its debt to the Bank (see Nole 4.b);

- Interest rate risk (market risk) related to the banking book (see Mote 4.c): The BNP Paribas Personal
Finance Group provides loans to individuals andlor businesses under terms and conditions defined upon
inceplion. To ensure the Group remaing profitable in the long term, the margin offered must be protected
against changes in the economic environment, pariculary as regards market rates (interast rale risk),

- liquidity risk [sea Note 4.d). Tha BNP Paribas Personal Finance Group must ensure the availability of the
funds lent Io its customears throwghout the life of the loans,

= foreign exchange risk (sea Mote 4.8)

- aparational risk is defined as the risk of koss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, or
deliberate acts, accidents or natural events occurring outside the Group;

- compliance risk refers to the non-compliance with laws, regulations, and professional and ethical
standards.

4.b. Credit risk

Credit risk iz the consequence resulling from the likelihood that & borrower or counterparty will fail to mest its
obligations in accordance with agreed terms and commitmeants given. |1 is related to changes in the credit quality of
ihe Bank's deblors, which may ultimately lead to their default, The probability of default assessment and the expected
recovery on the loan or receivable in the event of a default are key components of the cradit quality assessmant.

CREDIT RISK MANAGEMENT
Transaction selection procedures
Tha selection procedures dapand on the type of loans granted.

For consumer koans, the procedures include the selection and monitering of the distribution network, particularly the
sellers’ approval, the choice of business sectors, and the targeling of eligible customers by direct marketing. The
grant process i based on scores and assisted by expert systems.

In the case of home and seller [sans (mainly involving car dealers). the grant process iz designed o promote personal
lmans and is therefore based on individual case assessments, the segregation of analysis and decision-making
functions, and delagations of authority.

For seller loans, amounts above a certain threshold are subject to the approval of executive mﬂnagqrnent.i‘ulrnwng
a favourable opinion issued by the Group’s Risk Managemeani departmant.

_.-.



Risk measurement and monitoring system
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The BMP Paribas Personal Finance Group's risk managemeant activities are provided by a central Risk unit fully
indapandant from operaling unit managers and reporling to the BNP Paribas Group's Risk Management department.

This Personal Finance Risk (PF-R) unit is responsible for the following:

+ Defining the BMP Paribas Personal Finance Group's risk policy consistant with the Group's strategy and the

BMP Paribas Group's rigk policles;

« Ensuring objective risk management through an independent review of the commercial strategies;
+ Providing fasl, reliable and comprehensive information on rsk status and calling attention to potential

incraasas in risk levels;

=  Promoting consistently high-risk management standards;

*  Confributing to the quality of methods and procedures;

= Establishing and maintaining a data aggregation and reporing system in compliance with regulatary
requirements and meeting the needs of BNP Panbas Personal Finance.

Tha Risk department has three levels:

a- Risk teams within each entity, who ensure the management of the risks pertaining to thair enlity and ralatad

to both the granting of credit faciliiss and the ongoing monitoring of commitmenis,

b- Regional risk managers responsible of various entilies across several coundries, who provide an additional
leveal of supervision and technical support to local risk teams,
c- A central team in charge of defining and validating the approval policies, generating scores, performing entity
audit risks, Group-level reporting, controlling provisions and reviewing seller loans exceeding the approval

threshold of country-level delegation authorities.

Risk manitoring is the responsibility of Group-level committees (central committeas), Risk Managemen! department

commiltees and country-level commitless.

Daubtful loans

11 December 2024 T

—— — e ——— e ——

Ooubthul loans

Jifi= |'-_I:|':|:.||::.r§.f|::r|

Collataral recanmd

Doubtiael loans and receivakles due fram cusiomess

4,011 2,239 1,736 L]
Financing commiimants ghen % (3 a2 L
Busrantse comimiments gaen = 32 H
Doubtiel olibalance sheqt commitmenss 101 {350 86 10
TOTAL T4 2,280 1822 35
Doubbe lnes and recalvaiias dug Trom cesiocemag " 1] 2323 1,034 LIk |
Firancing commiimants ghien L5 1% 432 "
Gusranise commilments given 0 (EE]] EH £

o T ——— - il »

Doubtiy of:balance shest commitments 115 [3E) 1\-'?1;' * & ]|
i SRS et — e e e T DT e I \,_.'.'__.,H,_-_
TOTAL 4378 . d

Change in stage 3 gross amounts

(2.358
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The table below provides the data related Io the change in stage 3 gross amounis:

ImgaIrad sxposuras {stagd 3] at start of the perod £ 31 4,574
Tegnslor b slega 3 255 137
Tensinrio stage 2 or stage 1 [T (505)
rile-ol (1.456) [1.381)
s e - ) B . |
impaired exposares (stage ¥ at end of the paried 481 4 MW

4.c. Interest rate risk (market risk) related to the banking portfolio

GENERAL FRAMEWORK OF THE GROUP'S INTEREST RATE RISK MANAGEMENT

The BMP Paribas Personal Finance banking book baskcally consists of:

- banking intermediation, geared predominantly to refail acliviies (property Banking intermediation, geared
predominanily 1o retail activities (property and consumer loans)

= fransactions aimed at reducing the interest rate risk issued from these retail activities.

IRREEB (Interest Rate Risk in the Banking Book) is defined as the risk that the bank’s net interast margin will be
affected by changes in market interest rates.

BNF Paribas Personal Finance’s exposure to interest rate risk is limited insofar as fixed-rate assets, which represent
most of the assets, are largely hedged by fixed-rate financing or by floating-rate financing hedged by fixed-rate
bormower swaps.

However, in cerlain cases, assets and liabilities may nof be perdfecily matched, for example:

- changes in the level of prepayments, which may lengthen or shorlen the asset's amortisation profile

- for certain subsidiares (depending on the operating set-up or currency), fixed-rate financing not available or interest
rate swaps nol available to hedge fixed-rate loan production.

Ag a result, the net interest margin can be sensitive to changes in interest rates: this is referred to as a fixed-rate
position, maasurad by fixed-rata gaps.

The ALM PF Treasury Personal Finance management perimeter comprises numerous legal entities {several dozen)
that contribute to this exposure. This exposure arises from the ongination of ficed-rate loans (maost of which are
amortising loans, the most complex being revalving koans). Hedging Is carred out mainly by means of fixed rate
borrowings (from the BNF Paribas treasuries in Paris or abroad and failing that, in the market) and for some large
anlities via borrower fixed rate swaps.

In compliance with banking regulations, the Interest Rate Committes must put interest rate hedging in place at the
end of the month by means of fixed rate borrower swaps (or fixed rate borrawings if the “Liquidity Committaa”™ has
reported a need of liquidity) so that the consolidated interest rale positions do not excesed their respective limils at
the and of tha quarter. Hedges decided on by the Interest rale Committee may fake the form of a program 1o oplimise
execution iming. Hedges are decided following a presentation of the macroeconomic context, the economic agenda
and forecast risk indicators.

The CED appointed by the Board of BMP Paribas delegates the management of IRREB 1o the EI'-IF' E‘a_rlhastﬁmup
ALM Treasury & {

Committee (Group ALCo). The Group ALCo delegates the operational management of IRR.EYB JQTE‘-H I'Dhar.‘erp}

=

=
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ALCos (at entity or group of entities lavel), such as the BMP Paribas Perscnal Finance ALCo, so that each enlity is
covered by an ALCo.

Az part of the BNP Paribas Personal Finance sub-group’s Risk Appetite Statement, two interest rate risk indicators
are monitored by the Board of Directars: income sensitivity (NIIS: Net Interest Income Sensitivity) and value sensitivity
(EVES: Economic Value of Equity Sensitivity].

4.d. Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that the bank does not have the funding required to meet its commitments.

BMP Paribas Personal Finance ks a fully owned subsidiary of BNP Paribas SA, whose main aclivily is 1o offer
consumer and property loans directly via partnerships. BNP Paribas Personal Finance has a limited deposit-taking
businass. BNP Paribas Parsonal Finance's liquidity risk management policy is to refinance itsell with the BNP Paribas
Group, barring exceptions,

In rare cases, dug to local organisational or regulatory constraints, some subsidiaries of BMP Paribas Personal
Finance may have access to financing from local marksts,

Wherever possible, the BNP Paribas Personal Finance entities will receive financing fully matched 1o the asset baing
financed. Support from BNP Paribas can be requested in both normal and stressed conditions.

Thus, the liquidity risk of BMP Paribas Parsonal Finance is moslly transferred to BNP Paribas. The residual risk is
managed approprialehy.

As part of the Personal Finance sub-group's Risk Appetite Statement, two liquidity risk indicators are monitored by
the Board of Directors: the one-year liquidily gap and the one-month liquidity gap.

4.e. Foreign exchange risk

Tha foreign axchange risk carned by an institution |3 the risk relating to valuation differences relaled 1o tha holding
of a position in & curmency other than its referance currency. These valuation differences are due to fluctuations in
the exchanga rate babwean tha wo curmancias.

The currency risk cam be:
- “pperating” when the foreign exchange position is linked 10 commercial activity;
- “structural” when the foreign exchange position is linked to an investment in an entity located in a country
with a different currancy.

BMP Paribas Personal Finance's exposure to "operating” foresgn exchange risk arises from nel results generated in
currencias other than the euro. BMP Paribas Personal Finance's policy is to make its net profil less sensitive o
changes in exchange rales.

BMP Paribas Personal Finance's exposure to “struciural” foreign exchange risk anses mainky from equity investments
in foreign currencies financed by buying the Invesiment currency. These equity investments thus create a foreign

exchange position impacting equity,

To reduce this risk, BMF Paribas Personal Finance proceeds, where possible, to financing by borrowing. The
borrowing financing the equity investments thus cancels the resulting currency pasition. Financing by borrowing is
preferred when borrowing rates in the currency in which the position s generaled are w&ilﬂhlﬁ.ﬂﬂﬂéﬁd;-? somea
geagraphias (e.q. Brazil), the high level of rates is likely 1o make it less expensive to camy.he foreign exchange
position rather than to hedge it by borrowing, & L
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vonsolidated tinancel sStalEments Tor the year ended 31 LeCember JULq

It should be noted that another source of “structural’ foreign exchange risk is the currant income recognised by
anfitizs located oulside the euro zone.
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5. NOTES TO THE BALANCE SHEET AT 31 DECEMBER 2024

5.a. Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair {market or model) value through profit or loss congiet of held for trading
transactions, including derivatives and of non-trading instrumeants whose characteristics prevent their accounting at

amoriized cost or at fair value through equity.

Secunties porfoiio £ i
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT QR LOSE H [

The positive or negative fair value of derivative financial instruments classified as held for trading represents the
replacement value of these instruments. This value may fluctuate significantly in response o changes in market
parameters (such as inferest rates or foreign exchange rates).

1 December 2124

Positive market value |Megatea market valus

Interest rata dervatives k| M

Derivative financial instrumants 10 i M H

The table below shows the total notional amount of trading derivatives. The notional amounts of derivative financial
instruments are merely an indication of the volume of the Group's activities in financial instrument markets, and do
net reflect the market risks associated with such instruments.

31 December 2074

Inderest rate dervatives - 1032 842

Derivative inanclal Instruments 1,032 a42

Transactions in dervative instruments are carried out owver the counter.

5.b. Derivatives used for hedging purposes

The table below shows the notional amaounts and the fair value of derivatives used for hedging purposes.

31 Decomber 2024

Heticnal £ilive mark Negative
amaunts madrket value
Falr walue hedpes 28,351 amn 205 31,044 810 Fath]
Inlerast rate darivaties 28351 anm 5 30,048 Bl ZH
Cash Raw hedoes 10,668 i} 2 12075 T
Interast rate darivalies 10668 88 20 12075 7
Foreign exchange dervatives . L P
) o
Devivvative used lar hatdging purposss 18,03 475 §15 43138 = -...ﬁ.ﬂﬁ .
............... - - — --______.:.-_qﬂl},u_u.- ..:
|'. ':"'
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The table below presents the detail of fair value hedge relationships for identified financial instruments and portfolios
of financial instruments that are continuing as at 31 December 2024

Hadged Instremants

Cumiuli |l|-l
.

Poshive Cumulitive

markat valua

Interasdrata risk hedged pestiolins 23,351 T e ] 1] 4,54 L a (8}
Interest rale derivatives hedging the
intorast rate risk related 1o il L 5 (62 2,50 5 o (1
Loans and rssnables 28,245 k- A7 (58] .50 54
Dmai; b5 2 8 I51 s g or i
Tu-ul lalr '-.:Iul hm;n 26,351 n 55 (F) | !-!I !D-'l 2] ar L]

The national amount of cash flow hedge derivatives is EUR 10,668 million at 31 Decamber 2024. Changes in assets
and liabilities recognised directly in equity amount to EUR - 169 million.

The table below presants the nominal amounts of hedging derivatives by maturity:
QS R Mty RO T R

Mare Hean 5
Yyaars

Falr valug hedges 2,182 28,351
Intarast ate dervafes 2182 2835
Gash flow hedges o - 15m 10,668
Irtarest rale daivaties 1,873 10,6868
Foreign enchange deratves
5.c. Financial instruments at fair value through equity
31 Decemiber 20024
al which changes In
value taken direcily to
Uity

Equity sscurities Z 1
Tofal finercial assets at (air value through equity 3 F i |

The option to recognise certain equity instruments at fair value through equity was retained in particular for shares
hald through strategic partnerships and shares that the Group is required 10 hold in order to camy out certain activities.

Maone of thess investments were sobd in the 2024 financial year,
Dwring the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group disposed of one sale of these Investments aqd'ﬂ ELIR 1 mi‘l1|qn

latent gain was reclassified in refrained earnings. ¢ gk )
N L -
"‘ 'I:uu-r ,,- i :- | pcrzai j
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5.d. Measurement of the fair value of financial instruments

INSTRUMENT CLASSES AND CLASSIFICATION WITHIN THE FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY FOR ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE

As explained in the summary of significant accounting policies (see Mote 1.e.10), linancial instruments measured al
fair value are categorised into a fair value hierarchy consisting of three levels,

+  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss or through equity

Fleanclal sasets ot fair valza Hrroagh egukty

Ted o
| Lova 1 Lovet 2 | v 3 | Tetud | Lo 1 [ Lo 2 | Lo | mmm“
v ' v . . 13 15 n ' 1 )

Securitss periabn
sy - -
Citreer Jebl secunbes - 15 15 -
Ezudies ard piker #3uy SeZalids - - . 16 -] 2 1 k]
Leans aud pepurchase apeeemanis

Losare

Fepurchass agecmasis

FRANCIAL RESETE AT FAIR WALLE . . . - - i5 L] H F . i k'l

s SRR A PRI L B =SS i SRR L e

Secarities parifois . " i = d ] 1] ] 1 . I 1

Girvertiménia L .

Daber cel seunities 3 ] Fi

Equlas and ofhar aguily Secisisay - k| i) 1 1 1
Lapid il rgpeesbdid breangngy S . - . : - L > 3 ] ¥
Lzems

Fsmpct e pgridmen

FINAHCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR ‘VaLUE ' i ' 1 i b bl 1 . 1 1

+  Derivative financial instruments

Trading beak

PSR T (Bt Blragd L} ili] ars 475
Paskve markei value il 10 41 it
Irdzomst raba davealrees 1] n 515 LEE
Mesgatrae markef value n 1 513 i
Irievest rabe deviaiees u kL] ElT EIT
Fopdive markst vaiug : 34 1] ; #ir 3 b LA g5 N §ir
Indacsest: rabe damanirees i k- s < -]
s EL N L s
bt vl : U 3 ; LR P
o : u S AL L
- Expenie s
Jr el de L0031
3 s apEe
n g -
ik o' 5, 5 s e
5 .
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Transfers babweean levals may occur whan an instrument fulfils the defined criteria, which are generally market and
product dependant. The main factors influencing transfers are changes in the observation capabilities, passage of
time, and events affecting the transactan lifalima.

5.e. Financial assets at amortised cost

. Detail of loans and advances by nature

cemiber 2024

Gross valus
before
impairment

Nek camying
amaumnt

Loans and advances Io crediinstituons 5078 il 24 L o
On demand accounts 2187 - 287 2350 - 2,350
Loans 3,727 - KR 3,648 . 3,646
Repurchaze agresments ] - 64 66 - 66
Loang and advances fe cusiomens ] HE-,‘.IEE =ty (3202} &1 693 BT BOS I:I-,ﬁ'iﬂ-j 84,002
Demand accourds 10 . 10 5 - 5
Loana b ouslamer 60,780 (3.101) 5 550 74,250 (3404 T0B5Z
Finance ke 15,355 (a01) 15,195 13,344 (1B 13,155
Tatad lpans and advances at amartised cost 81,173 (L302) &TET1 3,657 [3.58%) 50074

- Detail of debt securities

1 December 2024

Grees value P i
Gl e h-.. camylng
s - Arnaunt
impairment
Goverments - - = 4 : 4
Credil inglitutions 17 - 17 i | - i
Oihers 128 - 128 & - 186
Tedal debl sscurlties al amortized cost 145 i 14% g . |
o o I'“_I.-_{
> W
= TT'H'-'II"-'CI'TI'.:' I:-...-- q:
L= i
M Papirie 7= .I;.c:'..'n =
= CourdEPET B
L e LR ) =
- o zﬁ E -Q:-1
0



. Detail of loans and advances and debt securities by stage

Laans and advances 1o eradit imstibuliana 5878 SaTh EOE2 & 08z
Siaga 1 5GTE - 5578 6.0E2 6,062
_Loans and advances bo cuslomers B 155 [%.502) &1,803 &7.604 {3,582) 84,012
Stage 1 75,000 [574) 75,356 Trana {538} 77335
Siane 2 L (473 4781 5370 31} 473
Sage 3 4,011 (2.255) 1,756 4251 {2,323} 1438
Debd securitias 145 - 145 221 221
Thaga 1 145 - 15 3H M
Tedal inancial pssets at smartised cost M8 13.302) A, 018 3,887 {3,555 0,255
* Breakdown of finance leases
4] Decernbear 20024

Gross invesimeant 16,835 14,501

Recakatde wifin 1 year Sz 4 946

Recakaiis @ter | year bul within § years 10538 9440

Recalatls beyond 5 pears KT 115

Uneamed Imberesl income {1.438) (1,158}

-h-lil.imnrhmm hlfurul-impaimnt - . 16,396 13,343

Recabmatie witin 1 yesr 5414 4476

Recaiatde sifer 1 yesr bl willin 5 years 8 645 8,757

Recaiatis beyomd 5 peas k) i

Impairmeant provisions (201} {189

Het investment after impairment 15195 R 13,154

ol
& o Ce "
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5.1. Financial liabilities at amortised cost due to credit institutions and

customers
I Decomber 2024
I]ut to credid instibubians 67,141 T0,314
ﬂndamamlmmts e i :'!EI;_ ____-?EE
Inlerbank bamowings G7 347 59,675
Repurchase agresments A4 11
Deposits from customers S I - 5,738
Demand depasils 3548 3, 7E8
Saning aocounts g F)
Term ocourns 4 560 1,569

5.9. Debt securities and subordinated debt

This nota covars all dabl securities in issus and subordinaled dabt measurad at amorised cosl

DEBT SECURITIES AT AMORTISED COST

Megotighle debl sacuriles ang £ v
Bands i 3.9_@4 0 ﬁ_.4ﬂ1
Tatal debt ‘E-H!IJHIIEE rnuasurad ut arn-:lm:-ad mst 4,236 6,333

SUBORDINATED DEBT AT AMORTISED COST

3 December 2024

Redeemable subordnated debl 1,73 1818
P-erpehsl subordinated debt 110 11l:]
Tatal subondinated dabe alam-:-rlllsed cost 1813 1 ‘BE:-

. Redeemable subordinated debt

Redeemable subordinated debt isswed by the Group includes medium- and long-term securities Ireated as simple
subordinated notes whose early redemplion before the contractual maturity date in the event of the liguidation of the
issuing company would occur after the other creditors but before the holders of profit-sharing leans and prafit-sharing
seclnlies.

After approval of the banking supervisory authority and at the issuer's discretion, these debt issues may contain a
call pmmslm authorising the Group to redeem the secunties prior io maturity by repurchasing tham |n. | the siunk
markel, via public tender offers, or in the case of private placemenis ower the counter, i

L
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5.h. Current and deferred taxes

H December 2024

Cument fanes ar
Defemed laes &l
Current and deferred fax a9a8ks 1,085
Cument faees S 45 a7
Digtamed fanes i 110
Curent and deforrad tax labilites 216 187

Change in deferred tax by nalure over the period:

31 December
2024

Financial inslnumants {122) &) & -

Provisions for employee bersil obiigations M {5 - 4)

Unresized finance lease resere {132 15 - -

Credit risk impaimmeanl 282 K]

Te ks camyfonvants 73 ]

Oifer il 143 (115} - - (15 13
Talal mel dederred tazes L1 {378} ai (L] 14 298
Defamed tax assats &78 ' 450
Defered {ax abiltias m {171)

Unrecognised deferred tax assets totalled EUR 1,417 million at 31 December 2024 compared with EUR 1,183 million
at 31 Decamber 2023,

5.i.  Accrued income/expense and other assets/liabilities

M December 2024

Guaranies deposits and bark guarantees paid 156 63
Colleclian aceounts 4 53
Accnaed income and prepaid expenses i) Frs ]
Omher deblors and miscellanaous essets - s 1,695 1,560
Tatal accreed income and ather assets 244 185
Guaraniea depcsils receivad o B
Collection accounds < 2
Arcrped experse and deferned income E28 LT
Less bt e R B i &
Oithar creditirs and miscellanaous abiities 1255 =« 1850
Tolal accrued expenses and ather liabililies 1.9];2?‘ Traducirice 288 -

— - — - ml._.._-.- - iraseand .
5.j. Equity-method investments .



Cumulative financial information of associates and joint ventures is presentad in the Tallowing table:

Shane of net

mcoma and

Equity-method

i venhss i o S 568

Associates 15 (o 24 L S I 4 430
Tatal equity-method sntitiss (18] (4 30 1004 L (6} {65} 1,028

Financing and guarantes commitments given by the BNP Paribas Personal Finance Growp to joint ventures are listed
in Note 8.1 "Other refated partias®,

The carrying amount of the Group's investment in the main joint ventures and associates is presanted in the following
lable:

Jaint venfures

Union de Creditos Inmobilarios Epain Morigags loans 0% 186 05
Associates B

Carmafour Bangue France Consumear loans % it 296
Banicics Financieros Cammefour EFC Spain [is inbwfion of loans 40Fs 146 167
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5.k. Property, plant, equipment and intangible assets used in operations,
investment property

31 December 2024

Gross camying
Bmeaunt

Investmant proparty 51 (2T 6 i _ W w
Land and buildings 35 (251) 15 440 {205 145
Equipment, fumiture and fixtures 178 [158) b a2 173y %
Flant and equipment leased a5 lessor under

operating leases 40 (16) 41 Ba2 148) 606
Other inlangitle sdiats A (115 103 iﬂ-l gocs (123 3:1
Proparty, plant and agquipmant 1.211 (=44 BT 1498 [637) BE1
OF whict right cfse 79 (216] (i 4 [255) &4
Property, plart and equipment snd lnvestmand "

proparty 1,263 [5E8) BT 1,540 (258 aa
Purchased scfterarg 24 (18] 3 FI | 5 k=
imemally-developed softerarg 1038 [E5E] 178 a42 (&) 180
Other intangible sssets 267 [111) 156 nr (101] 17
Intangible assets 1,544 {1,187} 357 1,530 {1,139) )|

. Intangible assets

Other intangible assets mainly include leasehold rights, goodwill and trademarks acquired by the Group.

% Depreclation, amortisation and Impairment

Met depreciation and amortisation expense amounted to EUR 165 million In 2024, compared with ELUR 171 millign
in 2023,

Met impairment bsses on property, plant and equipment and intangible assets was zero in 2024, comparad with ELUR
0.8 millliom in 2023.

5.1 Goodwill

= — e e e o s == el e

Hal eariying Amount 8 baginnisg ol parcd 1318 1325
Foquishong &) 2

Do Imans LS} d
Reclaealfication B fon-cumen] 3eselE hald for eals (Nola Be ) - [
Eschangs tale sdjusiments - (=]
ImpasRant o reoaghided during hs parad - -

(Eher movamants

Nl earrying gt &l end of period 1,138 _— L L
(0ss Campng amauni 1,810 5 M ¢

Cumalative impaimment recogrised at and of perind [ Tradpiict .
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Goodwill impairment tests are camied out using three different valuation methods: one based on the review af
fransactions invalving entities with similar activities, a second consisting of identifying markel parameters induced by
listed entities with similar activities, and a third using the expected future profitability (discounted cash flow method -
DCF).

If o af the two methods based on similar entities suggests a need to recognise an impairment loss, the DCF method
iz used to validate this result and possibly determine the appropriate amount

The DCF mathod relies on a number of assumptions regarding forecast revenua flows, expense flows and cost of
risk (cash flows) based on medium-term (five-year) business plans. Cash flows are projected beyond five years
based on a growth rate te infinity and can be normalised when the short-term environment doas not reflect the normal
economic cycle,

5.m. Provisions for contingencies and charges

31 Dacembar 2124

Provsions for employee heneSt obiigations 04 # ) i61

of which posl-smpioyment banafits fHole 7.b) ) § [ 1]

ol which provision lor oihar long-Sam banalits Mole 7o) 4 7 5] : i a

of which provision for share-tased paymenis T 4 (a3 ]
Proviskcns for finandmg commitmants {Hote 1.1 1 {19} 1) " 1 BS
Provissans for itigation 25 1 (1T 0
Other pravisions for contingancius and charges 108 ; W - o ﬂ
Todal provisions for contingencies and charges a2 Fi-} Hn {E3 {17 1

m— x —_—

The provisions for disputes cover, in particular, disputes relating to the interpretation of and changes in regulations
on loans to individuwals.

5.n. Transfers of financial assets

As part of the proprietary securitisation business described in Mote 6.d. the Group carres oul securitisation
transactions, some of which are partially refinanced by oculside investors.

Financial assets thatl have been transfered but not derecognised by the Group are mainly composed of securitised
assels. The liabllities associated with these securitised assels congist of the securitisation notes subscribed by third
parties,

*  Repurchase agreements:

Securities sold under repurchase agraements totalled EUR 84 million &t 31 December 2024 (EUR 110 million at 31
December 2023). Liabilities associated with securities sold under repurchase agreements were recorded under
“Repurchase agreements” for EUR 84 million at 31 December 2024 (EUR 110 million at 31 December 2023).

. Securitisatlon transactions partially refinanced by external investors, whose recourse is ll[!'ltt&pl tn th.a
transferred assats: . 4,

b - L]
¥ Traducirice -
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Carrying amount] 2 Fair valua of the
of transferred i T fransfemed 5 ] Het pasition
In milliors of sxires, at 31 December 2074 i il
Ezcurilisation
Financial assets & amortised cast 3132 2637 3w 263 '
Todal 1% 2,837 iR 2,838 434

Securitisation

Financial aszets at amortized cost 5184 4111 5184 4,108 10075
Tatal 5184 4111 5164 4,108 1,078

A number of securitisation units, which were subscribed by BNP Paribas Personal Finance itself and have therefore
n been reported in the consclidated balance shest, are lant. At 31 December 2024, the carmying amount of lant
sacurities was EUR 7,089 million (EUR 7,526 million at 31 December 2023).

The Group also made transfers of financial assets resulting in their full derecognition with continuing involvement due
io provided collateral, for which it received commissions. The Group set aside provisions in respect of the collateral
reparted undar “Provisions for contingencies and charges”.

Contiruing imeclvement : g - ’ .
Guargrbe pommirmenls M i} 2= e 14 H [ 1]

Lonliswng Iraghaermend

Gsaramios SoTmd =t ks ETH k] i e (1 2 0
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6. COMMITMENTS GIVEN OR RECEIVED

6.a. Financing commitments given or received

Contractual value of financing commiimenis given ar recedved by the Growp

H Decembear 2024

Finamcing commitments glven
to credit institutions : !
to customers 20,253 18,564
Coredit faciifes 20,253 18,584
Other financing commilments given
Tatal inancing commitrmans given 20,253 15,584
Of which slage 1 14 590 18,285
Of which stage 2 J28 258
O which slage 3 35 45
Finaneing commitments recehved - .
fram credit inséitutions B&1 1,536
fram cusiomars
Total financing commitmanls received a1 1538
6.b. Guarantee commitments given by signature
31 Decernber 2024
BGuaranies commitmends given - "
to credit instibstions 0 383
bo customers 4 a,
Financial guarantees 4 40
Oither gquarantess .
Tn-tn;l guaranies commitments gt'-.;n_ . gl - m
O winch stags 1 a4 253
OF wtich sfage 2

O wiich stage 3 67 7l




6.c. Other guarantee commitments

= Financial instruments given as collateral

Financial assels pledged & colabénal for transaclions vwith cred insliliions and financial

omstomenrs

Securiies sold under repurchise agresminis B 110

Financial instruments given as collateral or transfemed under repurchase agreements by the Group that the
beneficiary is authorised to sell or reuse as collateral amounted to EUR 151 milllon at 31 December 2024 (EUR 121

million &t 31 December 2023).

6.d. Securitisation transactions

*  Proprietary securitisation activities {originator)

As part of BNP Paribas Personal Finance's day-to-day cash management aclivities and its ohjective of reducing risk-
waighted assets, less liquid assets such as customer loans (consumer lcans, aulo kbans and home loans) can be
quickly converted to cash through securitisation,

The BMP Paribas Personal Finance Group's 2024 secwritisation plan has baen heavily impacted by lower than
expected production levels of auto koans and consumer loans. As the size of eligible deposits is smaller, saveral
fransactions had o be posiponed untl 2025,

However, BNP Paribas Personal Finance iesued three SRT transactions during the year,

ECARAT DE 2024, a cash credit risk transfer securitisation (SRT) within the meaning of regulation 575-2013,
contributed significantly 1o the reduction in the capital requirements of the BNP Paribas Personal Finance group.
Donatelle 1, BNPP PF's first synthetic securitisation, was alse leunched in December 2024. This represents a
securitisation ool that complements cash securitisation in order 1o meet the RWA reduction targets of BMPP PF and
the BMP Paribas Group.

Securitisation | Significant | Type Date Country | Originator Type of assets | Outstandi
Risk ngs
Transfer securitise
[SRT) d

ECARAT DE Yes Cash Jurme 2024 | Germany | Stellantis Aute lnans EUR 375

20249 Ciermany

Danatelln 1 Yeou Svnthetic December | France Findomestic | Consumer loans| EUR 'EH:IUM1

2024

The securities subscribed by BNP Paribas Personal Finance’s originator entities and lent to BMP Paribas SA,
amounted to EUR 7.1 billion at 31 December 2024 compared with EUR 7.5 billion at 31 Decembar 2023.

The total stock of securilised recevables amounied to EUR 122 bdlien at 31 December 2024 across thirteen
transactions.




7. SALARIES AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

7.a. Salaries and employee benefit expenses

Fixed and variable rermonenation, incenive boruses and profil-3haring T84 &0
Employes benafil experse 163 453
Payroll taxes — T —— e

Tatal salary and emplayes hér‘-eﬁte:peﬂse 1015 1.5-3|

7.b. Post-employment benefits

1435 19 distinguishes between two categories of plans, each handled differently depending on the risk incurred by the
entity. When the entity is only commitied to paying a fixed amount, stated as a percentage of the beneficiary’s annual
salary, for examgple, to an external entity handling payment of the benefits based on the assets available for each
plan member, il is described as a defined-contribution plan. Convarsaly, whan the entity's obligation is 1o manage
the financial assets funded through the collection of contributions from emplovees and 1o bear the cost of benefits
itsalf ar to guarantae the final amount subjact to future events, it is described as a defined-banafit plan. The samea
applies if the enlity entrusts the management of the collection of premiums and payment of benefils 1o a separate
entity but retains the risk arising from the management of the assets andior from future changes in the benefits.

+*  Main defined-contribution pension plans for BNP Paribas Parsonal Finance Group

In France, the BMP Paribas Persenal Finance Group pays contribufions o mandatory state and complementary
pension schemeas.

Since defined-benefit plans have been closed to new employees in most countries oulside France, they are offered
the benefit of jgining defined-contribution pension plans.

The amount pald into defined-contribution post-employment plans for the vear ended 31 December 2024 was EUR
54 million, compared with ELIR 52 miillion for the yvear ended 31 December 2023,

The breakdown by geographic area is as follows:

France 28 28
ey 18 17
Cithers B 7
TOTAL 54 52

Main defined-benefit pension plans for BMP Paribas Personal Finance Group entities and retiremant
bonuses and end-of-service awards

Defined-benafit pansion plans have all been closed to new entranis. This mainly concems plans banefiting
amployees of entities located within Stellantis Bank S& Miederassung Deutschland and PSA Bank Deutsehland in
Germany, whose plans were almost 100% funded at 31 December 2024, compared with 93% at 31 December 2023,
and within Stallantis Financial Services UK Lid in the United Kingdom, whose plans wash-a rhmdadoat 37,

December 2024, unchanged from 31 December 2023 0
: ﬂ_'ll::; ‘ f ;.. 1 Joaal
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= Oiver post-emplayment banefits

The employees of the BMP Paribas Personal Finance Group companbes are offered various contractual benefits such
a&s retirement bonuses and end-of-service awards, In France, the obligations for thesa benefits ara funded through a
contract held with a third-party insurer outside the BMNP Paribas Personal Finance Group. At 31 December 2024,
125% of thizs commitment was covered by financial assets, compared with 111% at 31 December 2023. Abroad,
commitments in respect of thase other benefils are concentralad in lMaly, whar righls were frozen on 31 December
2006,

=  Obligations under defined-benefit pension plans and indemnities payable on retirement

- Assals and liabilities recognised on the balance shest

Gemany gl 14 {113} L] i
Francs » 1 4 48} & 12 1
Uit Kingdom 3 n 0y L] 18 :
Otran 13 1 . R S 1
TOTAL 153 7] 2 (203} 5 25 #
BTy g 1§ (11 ] §
Feance 45 i a4 (53 H#l 4] 1
Linited Kingdem 2% % (37 15 = e
Cithass 2 12 12 e ot
TOTAL 152 12 0% {19m L {14 ] ﬂ

= Change in the present value of the defined-baneflit cbligation

Prazent walua of defined-bansfit obligaticn at start of period 205 150
Cument service cost - 3
Irilerest cosl 7 7
Parst service cost ] )

Acluaral (gains} losses on change in demogragin: assunplions

Actuarial (gaing) losses on change in financial assumplicns M 1
Actuarsal (gans) losses on experience adusiments § {1}
Banefits paid drecty by the employer (1
Benefis paid from assels &) 18
Exchange raia (gains) losses on obligation 1
{Gains Mosses on obligation related o changes in tha corsolidation scope 1 51
Other movements s
Prasent walue of defired-bamelit shillgation at end of perad 20 205
Lkd o
o6 . <,

~ : +
% TPradectrice s

angia ]

B f__ll...I 1 -I ¥
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F.|ir valu= of nasats at stant of perlod 157 144
Expecled retum on assels T B
Achuanal geinslosses) on assels 1" 1T}
Banefits paid from assets 1] i)
Exchange rate (gaing)losses on obigation 2

{Gainsplos=es on obligation relabed fo changes in the consalidation scops (1] &8
Fair valug of assats al end of period il 187

- Components of the cost of defined-banafit plans

Sarvice cost
Cumant sanice cost -
Past sanvice cosl {3
Sefflemers -

Het financlal expenss
Inkenes] cas

3 Inbaresl income on plan assals i

Tetal recagnised in salary and employes banefit expansa

=i

- Dther items recognised directly in equity

Giher ibems recogrised dirscty in squily 13 (18]

Acluarial gains flosses) on plan assels 1 )
Actuarial (lossesygandg of demagraphic asumplions on the present vakee of abligatians . R
Actuarial (lossesigains of financial assumptions on the present value of obligations 7 ()
Enperience (losies) ‘gains an obligaions I i

= Main actuarial assumplions used to calculate obligations

In thea Eurozona, the BMP Paribas Personal Finance Group discounts its obligations using the yields of high-guality
corporate bonds, with a term consistent with the duration of the obligations.

The following discount rate ranges have bean used:

31 Decamber 2024

Salary increase rate ¢l

Gammany 40 2.30% A30% 230% k0 2.50%
France 34 2.10% 6 4,10 1.20% 3008
Unitad Kingdam 5 0% (T 5.30% s e,
R 3.10% 3.50% w0 ¢ 310% 4
[T ——— X
Average discount rates weighted by obligation amounls ane as follows: . Eapers -

& Cour < BFi

& =



- in the Eurozone: 3.38% at 31 December 2024 for & weighted average duration of 12.7 years, compared with
3.22% at 31 December 2023 for a weighted average duration of 12.7 years;

- inthe United Kingdom; 5.00% at 31 December 2024 for a weighted average duration of 14.1 years, compared
with 5.29% at 21 December 2023 for & weighted average duration of 14.7 years.

The impact of @ 100bp change in discount rates on the present value of post-employment benefit obligations is as
follaws:

M December 2024

Discount rate -100bp | Discount rate +1006p

Germany 18 (15) 17 (14)
France & (4] & i4)
Linited Kingdomn 5 i4) 4 i4)
Others ; (1 1 (1

Thea inflation assumplions used to calculate obligations are determined locally depending on the monelary area,
excepl for the Eurozone for which the assumplion is determined centrally.

Average discouni rates weighted by obligation amounts are as follows:
in the Eurozone: 2.10% at 31 December 2024 compared with 2.30% at 31 December 2023;

in the United Kingdom: 3.15% at 31 December 2024 compared with 3.20% at 31 December 2023,

The impact of & 100bp increase in inflation rates on the present value of post-employment benefil obligations is as
fallones:

41 December 224

Inflation rate +1000p

Garmany 14
Francs 5 5
Urited Kingdam 4 4
(Hhers
Variation effects of discount and inflation rates presented above are not cumulative,
Actua rate of return on plan asseis over the period
024
Garmany 10505 b 15.590% H85% 80 11.508:
France 2.00% 250%
United Kirngdom T.60% 0.00%
ODthers unfunded unfunded
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Breakdown of plan assets

[Germang % 2] (1] % s
Franos* 53% 3% 1% Fe 5 1R
LUnded Kngdam . L Eapl L » =2 10 Fa Gy ¥ 100
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The BNP Paribas Personal Finance Group introduced an asset management governance procass for assels backing
defined-benefit pension plan commitments, the main objectives of which are the management and control of the risks
in terms. of investmants.

It sets out imeestment principles, in particular, by defining an investment strategy for plan assels, based on financial
objectives and financial risk management, to specify the way in which plan assets have o be managed via financial
management sarvicing contracts.

The investment strategy is based on an assets and liabilities management analysis thal should be realsed at least
avery threa years for plans for which assels value is mora than EUR 100 million.

7.c. Other long-term benefits

The BMNP Paribas Personal Finance Group offars its employees various long-term benefits, mainly long-service
awards and the ability to save up paid annual leave in time savings accounts,

The net provision of the corresponding obligation amounted to EUR 28 million at 31 Dacember 2024 (ELUR 31 million
at 31 December 2023).

As par of the BNP Paribas Group's variable compensation policy, annual deferred compensation plans are sat up
for ceraln high-perfiorming employesas or pursuant 1o special regulatony frameworks. Under these plans, paymeant is
deferred over time and is subject to the parformance achieved by the business lines, divisions and BNP Paribas
Group.

Gince 2013, the BNP Paribas Group has had a Group loyalty scheme with & cash payment, at the end of a three-
vear vesting pericd {or four years from 2022), which fluctuates according to the Group's intrinsic performance. The
alm of this scheme iz to invelve different categories of managerial siaff in the Group’s development and profitability
objectives. Thesa personnel are represantative of the Group's talent and the breadth of its managerial framework,
& senlor managers, managers in key positions, line managers and experts, high-potential managers, high-
performing young managers with good career developmeant prospects and key contributors to the Group's results.

Tha amounts allocated under this plan are linked to changas in the Group's operational parformance owver the duration
of the plan (for 80%) and to the achievement of the Group's Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) targets (for 20%).
Thesa lan largets are in line with the four pillars on which the Group's CSR policy Iz based. In addition, the final
payment is subject o continuouws service within the Group between the grant dale and the payment date, provided
that the Group's operaling income and pre-lax income for the year prior o payment are strictly positive. For
emplovees subject to special regulatory frameworks, this loyalty scheme i adjusted in accordance with the CRD
European Directive.

The net cbligation refated to deferred compensation plans and loyalty schemes amounts (o EUR 13 million at 31
December 2024 (EUR 13 million at 31 Decembsar 2023).

M Deoember 20124
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7.d. Termination benefits

The BNP Paribas Personal Finance Group has implemented various voluntary redundancy plans and headcount
adaptation plans for emplovees who meet certain eligibility criteria. The obligations 1o eligible active employees under
such plans are provided for as soon as a bilateral agreement or a bilateral agreement propesal for a particular plan
is made. Furtharmore, BMP Parbas Personal Finance records charges related to redundancy plans due to
restructuring once the Group has established a formalised and detalled plan which has been announced 1o the parties
cancamed,

3 December 2024

Provizion for woluntary departure, eary refrement plans, and headcount edaplation plens 163 2H

= PE T o

7.e. Share-based payments

As part of the Group's variable remuneration policy, deferred annual compensation plans offered to cerlain high-
performing employess or sel up pursuant to special regulatory frameworks may entitle beneficiaries o variable
compensation setiled in cash but linked to the share price, payable over several years,

Variable compansation for emplovees, subject to special regulatory framewarks

Since the publication of the Decres by the French Mindstry of Finance on 13 December 2010, and following the
provisions of the European Direclive CRD 4 of 26 July 2013, modified by the CRD 5 Direclive of 20 May 2018,
fransposed into the French law in the Monetary and Financial Code by tha Ordinance of 20 February 2014, and the
Ordinance of 21 December 2020, as well as the Decrees and Orders of 3 November 2014 and 22 December 2020
and the Delegated Eurcpean Regulation of 25 March 2021, the varable compensation plans apply to Group
emplovees performing activities that may have a material impact on the Growp's risk profile.

Under these plans, payment is deferred over time and is contingent on the performancea achieved by the business
lines, core businesses and Group.

Sums will mostly be paid in cash linked to the increasa or decrease in tha BNP Paribas shara price.

Deferred variable compeansation for other Group employees

Sums due under the annual deferred compensation plans for high-pardorming employees ang partly paid in cash
linked to the increase or decrease in the BNP Paribas share price.

i Expense of share-basad payments

Prior defemed compensation plans - ()
Diefamed comperaation plans for the year 1 3
Takal 4 £
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8. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

8.a. Changes in share capital and earnings per share

. Share capital transactions

At 31 December 2024, the share capital of BMP Paribas Personal Finance was divided into 88,182,845 fully paid-up
shares with a nominal value of EUR 7 each (83,404,022 shares at 31 December 2023).

- Subordinated Debt eligible to equity

BMP Paribas Personal Finance has issued subordinated loans that pay subscribers a variable rate coupon and that
can be redeemed at the end of a fiead period and then on each coupon date.

The following table summarises the characteristics of this issuwe:

BHMF Paribas Persanal Finance ) Diesember 2047 ELS 2803-morih Euribor + 4,16% Syears  Jmnonlh Ewrbar + 4.16%
BMP Paribas Persanal Finange 18 December 2018 EUR 550 3-momih Euribor + 4.72% Syears  3-month Euribaor +4.74%
BMP Paribas Persanal Finance 22 Febngry 2033 EUR 100 3-manth Euribor + 4.75% Syears  3amonth Euribor + 4.75%

Todal a5 at 31 Decambar 2034

830

" Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net income for the period attributable to holders of ordinary
shares by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period.

Diluted earnings per share corespond to the net income for the period attributable to holders of ordinary shares
divided by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period as adjusted for the maximum effect
of the conversion of dilutive equity insfiruments into ordinary shares.

As the BNP Paribas Personal Finance Group has no dilutive instruments convertible into ordinary shares, basic
aamings per share are equal 1o diluted earnings per share.

At 31 December 2024, the average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period was 83,744,337
(B0, 277,307 shares at 31 December 2023)

Basic earnings per share for 2024 amounted to EUR -2.70 (EUR -10.83 for 2023).

+  Capital Increase

By a decision of the Board of Directors on 27 November 2024, acting on 8 delegation of autharity granted by
extraordinary resolulion of the shareholders dated 14 May 2024, the company's share capital was increased by EUR
33,445 461, through the issue of 4, 777,923 new shares with a nominal value of ELR T each, to EUR 617,278,815,
and additional paid-in capilal of EUR 468,554,530 was recordad,

This capital increase was recorded by decision of the Chief Executiva Officer on 5 December 2024,
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8.b. Business combinations and loss of control or significant influence

Operations of 2024
. Cetelem SA de CV

On 2T March 2024, BNP Paribas Personal Finance sold 80% of its stake of its Mexican subsidiary Cetelam S& de
Cv.

The BNP Paribas Group lost exclusive control of this entity but kept a significant influsnce.

This partial disposal is accompanied by an agreement for the future disposal of the residual interest, theraby depriving
the Group of the return on the shares held, and leading to the recognition of a debi of EUR 125 million.

The loss of contral led 1o the recognition of a net gain on disposal of EUR 119 million and 1o a decrease of the Group's
balance sheet by EUR 3.1 billian, in particular in financial assets at amortised cost.

. ENP Paribas Personal Finance Bratislava branch (Slovakia)

The aclivilies of the BNP Paribas Personal Finance Bratislava Branch in Slovakia were sold on 2 April 2024. This
disposal resulted in a gain on disposal of EUR 0.8 million and a reduction in the Group's balance sheet of EUR 53
millicon.

# Magyar Cetelem Bank ZRT (Hungary)

On 30 September 2024, BNP Paribas Parsonal Finance sold 100% of its stake in its Hungarian subsidiary, Magyar
Cetelem Bank ZRT, to Cofidis S&_

The BNP Paribas Personal Finance Group lost exclusive control of this entity, resulting in the recognition of a loss
on disposal of EUR 42.8 millicn and a decrease in the Group's balance sheeat of EUR 247 millian, mainly in financial
assels al amortisad cost,

These dizposals were classified as an aclivity held for sale in the 2023 consolidated financial statements of the BNP
Faribas Personal Finance Group and described in Mote B.c Activities held for sale.

Dperations of 2023
Partnership with Stellantls
On 3 April 2023, BNP Paribas Personal Finance becamea the exclusive partner of Stellantis captive company in its

financing activities across three strategic markets: Germany, Austria and the United Kingdom.

This cperation involved the purchase of three entities in thesa thres countrias, in conjunction with the sale of activities
to various Stellantis joint ventures in France, ltaly and Spain. In the 2022 consolidated financial statements. the
dispesal of the Ralian and Spanish ratail portfolios was treated as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5.

This restructuring increased the Group's balance sheet by EUR 8 billion, in particular in financial azsels al amortzed
cost. and led Lo the recognition of a nat gain on disposal of EUR 54 million and of a goodwill of EUR 73 millian,
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8.c. Minority interests

Minovity inlareits

Ealance & 1 Jamuary #12] ) . b1 5 {16 ) T
Appropriatice of nal incams for 2033 m - m
Foreaas i oapial and Esues Ho - Hia
Reerrurnislion on urdated supsr pebordinaed roles 13 - 13
impacl of nlesnal ransaciions on minority shareholders m - [
Crange in commitmenis 1o sspusthass mincrily sharahokiare imengsts 1 . 1
O ménsemenls - - 1
Changes in aigsls and Eaidies meognisad dissclly in poully : [6] ] 12
Het imcome as af 31 Decembar 1053 ) 123 - T 113
Bakance 81 31 Decamber 20323 1,28 s i 2 1205
Appraprision of net iscome for 2603 {123) . fiF2]
Increases in cagits &nd isguss . - &
Coapital erhucinm of segaymenis " - .
Remurgration on undaled super subasdinsled noles 4] ey
Impact ol islemal ienesciors on mingely shasholders = - .
Changs in COmMimants iy repurchase minorty sharehoiders” inleresls Z g 5
Cthas e srvs2nin 1 - 1
Chenges if 85383 and liabiklse racognised dmclly n equily - 3 a ]
Hel incoma i3 ot 31 Decamber 3024 I 1% - 110

Balamcs at 3 Decesbar 304 1,136 s i 1,210

C Main minority Interests

The assessment of the material nature of minority interests is based on the contribution of the redevant subsidiaries
to the Group balance sheet (before elimination of infra-group balances and Iransactions) and to the Group profit and
loss account.
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Other minority sgresls 11 k) 7

TaTAL 133 143 15

There are no paricular confractual restrictions on the assets of Stellantis Bank SA related to the presence of the
minarity shareholder.

] Commitments to repurchase minority shareholders' interests

In connection with the acquisition of cartain entities, the Group granted minority shareholders pul options on their
haldings at a fixed price.

The tofal value of these commitments, which are recorded as a reduction in shareholders' equity, amounted to ELR
58 million at 31 Decembsar 2024, compared with EUR 61 million gt 31 December 2023,

8.d. Significant restrictions in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates

Significant restrictions related to the ability of entities to transfer cash to the Group

The ability of entities to pay dividends or to repay loans and advances depends, infer alfa, on local regulatory
requirements for capitalisation and legal reserves, as well as the entities’ financial and operating performance. During
2023 and 2024, no BMP Paribas Personal Finance Group enlity was subject to significant restrictions other than
those related io regulatory requirements.

Significant restrictions relative to the Group's ability to use the assets lodged in consolidated structured
entities

Access to the assels of consolidated structured enfities in which third-party invesiors have invested is limitad
inasmuch as these entities” assets are reserved for the holders of units or shares. The tatal amount of these assets
i5 shawn in Mola 5.n “Transfers of financial assats™.

Slgnificant restrictions related to the Group's ability to use assets pledged as collateral or under repurchase
agreaments

The financial insirumenis pledged by the BMP Paribas Personal Finance Group as collateral or sold under repurchase
agreements are listed in Motes 5.n "Transfers of financial assets™ and &.c "Other guarantee commitmeants”,

LA
3 L p

e -
¥ Traductrice e
L i -
' i -
2 i . .
« -TB : a



U B LS TIPS LAl SLLETIIE]] - PR WP sl BEIRAEH J4 HELEITTERET Sl

8.e. Remuneration awarded to the Group’s corporate officers

Compensation and benefits awarded to directors and officers totalled EUR 1,375 million for 2024, compared with
EUR 1,537 million for 2023.

8.f. Other related parties

Other related parties of the BNP Paribas Personal Finance Group comprise consolidated companies (including
enlifies accounted for using the equily mathod), other BNP Paribas Group entities and entities managing post-
employment benafit plans offered o Group employees (except for multi-employer and multi-industry schemes).

Transactions betweean the BNP Paribas Personal Finance Group and related parties are carried out om an arm's
length basis,

RELATIONS BETWEEN CONSOLIDATED BNP PARIBAS PERSOMAL FINANCE GROUP COMPAMIES AND
THE BNFP PARIBAS GROUP

A list of companies consolidated by the BMP Paribas Personal Finance Group is provided in Mote B.j "Scope of
consalidation™. Transactions and oulstanding balances between fully-consolidated entities are eliminated. The tables

below show transactions with entities accounted for under the equity method. They also include all transactions with
other fully-consolidated BMP Paribas Group companies.

" Dutstanding balances with related partles

Besides, sacuritisation unils sall-subscribed by BNP Paribas Personal Finance (see Note §.d) and other securities
were lent or sold under repurchase agreements to BNF Paribas SA.

. Profit and loss items with related parties

3 Maceerkar Hid

ASSETS
On demand accounts 1,837 1,818
Leara i 1 1] i Faila]
Saouriies 18 13 . o il
Ciher assels 248 - 14 218 13
Teml 5 483 188 17 £ g 1
LIAEILITES
Cin demand accounts 166 145
(kher bormwings 86,673 68612
Oebl securities 1021 - - a0es
ther liabities o RS RS .| T ... S =
Tolal 13 Et B Fenal
FIMAMCING AMD GUARANTEE
COMMITMENTS EEEE B
st e e n
Guarpnlas come|mants givan M7 : : agq K _
Financiny) commiments gen : s = = TalulRR, v
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8.g. Fair value of financial instruments carried at amortised cost

The information supplied in this note must be used and interpreted with the greatest caution for the following reasons:

thesa fair values are an estimate of the value of the relevant instruments at 31 December 2024. They are liable
ta fluctuate from day to day as a result of changes in various paramelers, such as interest rates and credit
quality of the counterparty. In particular, they may differ significantly from the amounts actually received or pald
an maturity of the instrument. In most cases, the fair value is not intended 1o be realised immediately, and in
practice might notl ba realised immeadiataly. Consequanily, this fair value does nol reflect the actual value of
the instrument o BMNF Paribas Personal Finance as a going cancern;

most of thesa fair values are not meaningful, and hence are not taken into account in the management of BNP
Paribas Personal Finance activities which use these instruments;

estimating a fair value for financial instruments carried at historical cost often requires the use of modelling
lechniques, rubas and assumptions that may vary from bank to bank. This means thal comparisons between

the fair values of financial instruments carried at hislorical cost as disclosed by different banks may not be
rmaaningiul;

the fair values shown balow do nol include the fair values of finance leases, non-financial instruments such as
property, plant and equipment, goodwill and other intangible assets such as the value alfributed to demand
daposil portfolios or customer refationships. Consaguantly, thase fair values should not be regarded as the
actual contribution of the instruments concerned to the overall valuation of the BNP Paribas Personal Finance

Graup.
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FRIAMCIAL ABEETE
Loans and advances o cred insSiutions and cuslomens” .5 385 6584 s

Dbt securiies al amorissd cost fnofe 5.6 1] 1| &8 i m

FIMANRCIAL LIABILITIES

Deposits from credi institutions and custome s 76,451 76461 Té.053
Dbt sacuriies node 5.0 fie4 5761 g, 385 6.188
Subordinaled debl ot 5. 1.863 1,483 1.524
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The valuation technigues and assumplions used by BMP Paribas Personal Finance ensure thal the fair value of
financial assets and Habilities carried at amontised cost is measured on & consistent basis throughout the Group. Fair
value iz based on prices quated im an active market when thase are available. In olhar cases, fair value is determined
using valuation technigques such as discounting of estimated fulure cash flows for loans, liabilities and debl securities
at amortised cost, or specific valuation models for other financial instruments as described in Mote 1 *Summary of
significant accounting policies applhed by the Group®. The description of the fair value hierarchy levels is also
presemed in the accounting principles (Mote 1.2.9). In the case of Ipans, liabilities and debt securities at amortised
cost that have an indtial maturity of less than one year {including demand depesits) or of most regulated savings
products, fair value equates to carmying amount. These instruments have bean classified in Leval 2, axcepl for loans
o customers, which are classified in Leval 3.

8.h. Events after the reporting period

On 30 January 2025, the Spanish Supreme Court handed down an unfavourable ruling on the aspects of
fransparency. This event after the reporting period was covered by an additional provision in Banco Cetelam's local
financial statements in addition to the existing provision and was not included in BNP Paribas PF's consolidated
financial statemants at 31 Decamber 2024,
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8.j. Fees paid to the statutory auditors
Cw ] e
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Audit fees paid fo external auditors who are not part of the network of the external auditors cerifying the indnadual
and consolidated financial statements of BNP Paribas Persanal Finance, mentioned in the table above, amounted 1o
EUR 14 thousand for the year ended 31 Decembear 2024,
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